Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology 1312 Cell Biology and Translational Medicine

Kursad Turksen Editor

Cell Biology and Translational Medicine, Volume 11

Stem Cell Therapy – Potential and Challenges



Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology

Cell Biology and Translational Medicine

Volume 1312

Series Editor

Kursad Turksen (emeritus), Ottawa Hospital Research Institute, Ottawa, ON, Canada

Editorial Board

Pascal Pineau, Institut Pasteur, Paris, France Daisuke Sugiyama, Kyushu University, Fukuoka, Japan Jeffrey M. Gimble, Louisiana State University, Baton Rouge, LA, USA Pablo Menendez, Josep Carreras Leukaemia Research Institut, Barcelona, Spain Cesar V. Borlongan, University of South Florida Health, Tampa, FL, USA Essam M. Abdelalim, Diabetes Research Institute, Doha, Qatar Aaron W. James, Johns Hopkins Hospital, Baltimore, MD, USA Srikala Raghavan, Institute for Stem Cell Science and Regenerative Medicine, Bengaluru, Karnataka, India Tiziana A. L. Brevini, University of Milan, Milan, Italy Murat Y. Elcin, Ankara University, Ankara, Turkey Mario Tiberi, Ottawa Hospital, Ottawa, ON, Canada Nagwa El-Badri, Zewail City of Science and Technology, Giza, Egypt Panos Kouklis, University of Ioannina, Mpizani, Greece Benjamin Levi, The University of Texas Southwestern Medical Center, Dallas, TX, USA

Cell Biology and Translational Medicine aims to publish articles that integrate the current advances in Cell Biology research with the latest developments in Translational Medicine. It is the latest subseries in the highly successful Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology book series and provides a publication vehicle for articles focusing on new developments, methods and research, as well as opinions and principles. The Series will cover both basic and applied research of the cell and its organelles' structural and functional roles, physiology, signalling, cell stress, cell-cell communications, and its applications to the diagnosis and therapy of disease.

Individual volumes may include topics covering any aspect of life sciences and biomedicine e.g. cell biology, translational medicine, stem cell research, biochemistry, biophysics, regenerative medicine, immunology, molecular biology, and genetics. However, manuscripts will be selected on the basis of their contribution and advancement of our understanding of cell biology and its advancement in translational medicine. Each volume will focus on a specific topic as selected by the Editor. All submitted manuscripts shall be reviewed by the Editor provided they are related to the theme of the volume. Accepted articles will be published online no later than two months following acceptance.

More information about this subseries at http://www.springer.com/series/15838

Kursad Turksen Editor

Cell Biology and Translational Medicine, Volume 11

Stem Cell Therapy - Potential and Challenges



Editor Kursad Turksen *(emeritus)* Ottawa Hospital Research Institute Ottawa, ON, Canada

ISSN 0065-2598 ISSN 2214-8019 (electronic) Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology ISSN 2522-090X ISSN 2522-0918 (electronic) Cell Biology and Translational Medicine ISBN 978-3-030-71924-1 ISBN 978-3-030-71925-8 (eBook) https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-71925-8

 ${\rm (}{\rm \bigcirc}$ The Editor(s) (if applicable) and The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

This work is subject to copyright. All rights are solely and exclusively licensed by the Publisher, whether the whole or part of the material is concerned, specifically the rights of translation, reprinting, reuse of illustrations, recitation, broadcasting, reproduction on microfilms or in any other physical way, and transmission or information storage and retrieval, electronic adaptation, computer software, or by similar or dissimilar methodology now known or hereafter developed. The use of general descriptive names, registered names, trademarks, service marks, etc. in this publication does not imply, even in the absence of a specific statement, that such names are exempt from the relevant protective laws and regulations and therefore free for general use. The publisher, the authors, and the editors are safe to assume that the advice and information in

this book are believed to be true and accurate at the date of publication. Neither the publisher nor the authors or the editors give a warranty, expressed or implied, with respect to the material contained herein or for any errors or omissions that may have been made. The publisher remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

This Springer imprint is published by the registered company Springer Nature Switzerland AG The registered company address is: Gewerbestrasse 11, 6330 Cham, Switzerland

Preface

This next volume in the Cell Biology and Translational Medicine series addresses the topic of stem cell therapy. Contributors have covered the potential of stem cells for clinical applications and the attendant challenges. Amongst specialized topics, there are chapters on the use of stem cells in SARS-CoV2 infection, mesenchymal stem cells in cardiac repair, the role of exosomes in regenerative medicine and the potential utility of stem cells in diseases including diabetes, arthritis, aging and cancer.

I remain very grateful to Gonzalo Cordova, associate editor of the series, and acknowledge his continuous support.

I would also like to acknowledge and thank Sara Germans-Huisman and Mariska van der Stigchel, assistant editors, for their outstanding efforts in helping to get this volume to the production stages.

A special thank you goes to Shanthi Ramamoorthy for outstanding efforts in the production of this volume.

Finally, sincere thanks to the contributors not only for their support of the series, but also for their insights and efforts to capture both the advances and the remaining obstacles in their areas of research. I trust readers will find their contributions as interesting and helpful as I have.

Ottawa, ON, Canada

Kursad Turksen

Contents

Induced Pluripotent Stem Cell Derived Human LungOrganoids to Map and Treat the SARS-CoV2Infections In Vitro	1
Bipasha Bose, Saketh Kapoor, and Muhammad Nihad	
Embryonic Stem Cells in Clinical Trials: Current Overview of Developments and Challenges	19
Functions of Mesenchymal Stem Cells in Cardiac Repair Selçuk Öztürk, Ayşe Eser Elçin, and Yaşar Murat Elçin	39
Cardiac Progenitor Cells Shaimaa Shouman, Amr Zaher, Alaa Abdelhameed, Sara Elshaboury, Samar Sakr, Bahaa Eldin Fouda, Haya Mohamed, and Nagwa El-Badri	51
Cardiac Immunology: A New Era for Immune Cells in the Heart	75
Conventional and Alternative Mesenchymal Stem Cell Therapies for the Treatment of Diabetes	97
Mesenchymal Stem Cells: The Past Present and Future Noha Attia and Mohamed Mashal	107
Extracellular Vesicle Therapeutics in Regenerative Medicine Aya Imafuku and Sebastian Sjoqvist	131
Exosomes as Part of the Human Adipose-Derived Stem Cells Secretome- Opening New Perspectives for Cell-Free Regenerative Applications	139

A Museum of Stem Cells Points to Muse Cells as Robust	
Transplantable Cells for Stroke: Review	165
You Jeong Park, Jeffrey Farooq, Justin Cho, Blaise Cozene,	
Bella Gonzales-Portillo, Nadia Sadanandan, Madeline Saft,	
Jea Young Lee, and Cesar V. Borlongan	
Index	179



Induced Pluripotent Stem Cell Derived Human Lung Organoids to Map and Treat the SARS-CoV2 Infections In Vitro

Bipasha Bose, Saketh Kapoor, and Muhammad Nihad

Abstract

COVID-19 is the current day pandemic that has claimed around 1,054,604 lives globally till date. Moreover, the number of deaths is going to increase over the next few months until the pandemic comes to an end, and a second wave has also been reported in few countries. Most interestingly, the death rate among certain populations from the same COVID-19 infection is highly variable. For instance, the European populations show a very high death rate, in contrast to the populations from Chinese ethnicities. Amongst all the closed cases with an outcome (total recovered + total died), the death rate in Italy is 13%, Iran is 6%, China is 5%, Brazil is 3%, The United States of America is 2%, India 2%, Israel is 1% as of October 08, 2020. However, the percentage was higher during the early phase of the pandemic. Moreover, the global death rate amongst all the patients with an outcome is 4%. Here we have reviewed virus-transmitted various respiratory

B. Bose (🖂), S. Kapoor, and M. Nihad

tract infections and postulated a better understanding of SARS-CoV2 using lung stem cell organoids in vitro. Hence, here we propose the strategies of understanding first the infectivity/ severity ratio of COVID-19 infections using various ethnicity originated induced pluripotent stem cell-derived lung stem cell organoids in vitro. The greater the infectivity to severity ratio, the better the disease outcome with the value of 1 being the worst disease outcome. This strategy will be useful for understanding the infectivity/severity ratio of virus induced respiratory tract infections for a possible betterment of community-based disease management. Also, such a strategy will be useful for screening the effect of various antiviral drugs/ repurposed drugs for their efficacy in vitro.

Keywords

1

Coronavirus · COVID-19 · iPSC · Lung stem cell organoids · Respiratory tract infections · SARS-CoV2

Introduction

Virus induced respiratory infections had been known since time immemorial. Categories of such viruses as respiratory syncytial virus (RSV) causing mostly mild upper respiratory tract to

Saketh Kapoor and Muhammad Nihad contributed equally with all other contributors.

Stem Cells and Regenerative Medicine Centre, Yenepoya Research Centre, Yenepoya (Deemed to be University), Mangalore, Karnataka, India

e-mail: Bipasha.bose@yenepoya.edu.in; Bipasha. bose@gmail.com

severe lower respiratory tract infections and pneumonia in children have been extensively studied (Tahamtan et al. 2020). The majority (50–90%) of paediatric hospitalizations caused by RSV are for bronchitis and 5–40% for pneumonia (Hall 2001; Leader and Kohlhase 2002). From the experience of RSV, the severity and fatality mostly depend on the underlying conditions such as birth defects, chronic lung disease, congenital heart disease and immunodeficiencies such as paediatric cancers (Alvarez et al. 2013; Openshaw and Tregoning 2005).

Similar to infants, elderly people with compromised immune system, underlying conditions such as diabetes, hypertension and cardiac conditions, lung disease are most prone to severity of respiratory infections by viruses. Currently, the severe acute respiratory syndrome (SARS), Middle East Respiratory Syndrome (MERS), and now SARS-Corona Virus -2 (SARS-CoV2) infection, also known as Coronavirus disease-2019 (COVID-19) has been infecting people globally at almost an uncontrollable rate.

Of all of these, SARS-CoV2, also known as novel coronavirus, is the most infectious one that has originated in Wuhan, China and has spread worldwide (Wu et al. 2020). SARS-CoV2 is a zoonotic virus that has possibly originated in bats and then possibly transmitted to humans from the wet meat market in China via another intermediate animal host namely the endangered species Pangolin (Zhou et al. 2020). This indicates a cross species transmission of this virus (Guo et al. 2020; Vijaykrishna et al. 2007; Zhang et al. 2020a). This novel SARS-CoV2 has 96% homology with a bat coronavirus (Zhou al. 2020). Such diverse interspecies et transmissions of viruses have been seen earlier in case of SARS, MERS in humans and swine acute diarrhoea in pigs (Yang et al. 2019). Indeed, Wong et al., (2019) had alerted the presence of bats in wet markets in China as the most important cause of such dangerous global outbreaks of coronavirus infections (Wong et al. 2019).

Till October 07, 2020, the total number of people infected globally by novel SARS-CoV2 is 36,391,128 out of which there has been

1,060,443 deaths, and 27,408,566 recoveries (https://www.worldometers.info/coronavirus/). Most important, out of all the mortalities, two-thirds happen to be from Europe. Also, the mortality rates are highest amongst the European and American populations. Hence, there is a strong gap in the knowledge whether ethnicity plays a role in the severity of the novel SARS-CoV2 infection. There are currently no studies available for delineating the ethnicity specific infectivity/severity ratio for this novel SARS-CoV2. Hence, we propose an in vitro lung organoid model to delineate the infectivity/severity ratio in various ethnicities in global human populations, better understanding the disease and various therapeutic approaches.

2 History of Virus Transmitted Infections and Respiratory Tract Infections -Early Days Till Date with an Understanding of Global Distribution and Evolution

Various types of viruses infecting the human upper and lower respiratory tracts include influenza virus A and B (Flu-A and B), parainfluenza viruses 1, 2, 3, 4 (PIV-1, 2, 3 and 4); respiratory syncytial virus (RSV) mostly affecting children; human metapneumovirus (hMPV), rhinovirus (RhV) and enterovirus (EnV). Various infections from the above-mentioned respiratory tract attacking viruses are flu, pneumonia, otitis media, parotitis and encephalitis. Moreover, the respiratory tract infections caused by all the viruses present themselves clinically as similar symptoms such as running nose, throat pain, cough and in extreme cases difficulty in breathing that might lead to the depletion of tissue oxygen levels and hence long-term ventilation and often death. Due to similarities in symptoms, it becomes difficult to impossible to distinguish the virus just by clinical diagnosis. However, rapid detection becomes extremely essential to avoid antibiotic therapy, contagion, faster disease management using antiviral therapy, reduced hospital stay and hence, a lesser economic burden.

Moreover, lot of times, due to high mutation rates in viruses, lack of vaccines, severe complications arise. Hence, it is important to understand the origin and outbreak of virus transmitted epidemics and pandemics from a historical perspective.

The virus transmitted infections have been dated back since the Neolithic period around 12,000 years ago. During this time, human habitat changed from hunter-gatherers to more organised and densely populated agricultural communities. Plant viruses such as potyviruses of potato, animal virus- rinderpest of cattle; smallpox and measles for humans are the oldest viruses to have devastated human civilization in the form of endemic or even epidemic. The regions reported to have been infected by viruses are mainly Europe and North Africa before Christ (BC) era (McMichael 2004).

Viruses reportedly got transmitted in the new era during last 1000 years by the Europeans during Spanish conquest times. During this time, the local European people lacked natural resistance to viruses and hence, millions succumbed to the epidemics (McMichael 2004). Regarding respiratory tract infections, the influenza pandemics has been first recorded in 1580 after which they have been occurring with increasing frequency in the recent centuries. The deadliest/devastating flu pandemic was the Spanish flu (H1N1) that affected 500 million people from 1918 to 1920, exactly 100 years ago from today. Although the pandemic was global, the majorly affected people were from the Western countries from the Europe and America. This flu had affected one fourth of the World population then, and killed 40-50 million. Countries such as China were less infected.¹³ Hence, ethnicity might be playing a role in the infectivity/severity of respiratory tract viral infections. Similarly, the novel SARS-CoV2 also has the highest infectivity/severity ratio in the European countries and the USA (https://www.worldometers.info/coronavirus/).

Moreover, super hygienic circumstances, in the Western World renders less exposure of a child to infections and hence, might contribute to low immunity during the later years of life in Caucasians, as compared to the Asian population.

Finally, viruses became visible to humans with the advent of the electron microscope in 1930s, and virology research expanded. Despite that, various infections caused by viruses continued such as epidemics of poliomyelitis and the most pathogenic virus-human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) causing Acquired Immunodeficiency syndrome (AIDS) etc. Vaccines were also developed for virus transmitted diseases namely rabies, smallpox etc. pioneered by Louis Pasteur and Edward Jenner. Most importantly, from the evolutionary perspective most of the viruses are beneficial to mankind. Viruses reportedly drive evolution by cross-species transmission of genes, thereby playing an important role in the ecosystems and the life in totality (Park 2019). Now, the questions that arise in the current perspective regarding SARS-CoV2 pandemic are:

- (a) Are Caucasians more susceptible having a high infectivity/severity ratio?
- (b) Is this susceptibility of Caucasian ethnicity due to super hygienic practice during their childhood days resulting in low immunity physiology, or else, their genetic/epigenetic makeup?
- (c) Is the cross-species transmission from bats to possibly pangolin and now to humans indicate an evolutionary perspective that is beneficial to mankind?

Finally, the answers to the aforementioned questions from a to c might be able to find a preventive or protective strategy from high infectivity/severity ratio. Hence, in the rest of the sections we have tried to strategize the *in vitro* research technologies that might help us to find the answers to these questions.

3 Lung Stem Cell Organoids Generated from Induced Pluripotent Stem Cells

The severe cases of SARS-CoV2 manifest as lower airways/lower respiratory tract/ lung damage. This lung damage leads to the depletion in the oxygen supply in the entire human body, that cannot be even restored by the artificial process of ventilation in extreme cases leading to multiorgan failure and deaths. As lung is the organ, that is severely affected by SARS-CoV2, we need to elucidate the effect of this virus on *in-vitro* 3D human lung model systems. Such systems are indeed, better than 2D human lung cell lines. Kaye (2006) had reported the use of multiple cell lines for understanding SARS-CoV (Kaye 2006). However, during that time SARS-CoV2 was not known to the mankind, but it was rather the earlier version of SARS virus that had caused a less severe pandemic in 2002–2003 (de Wit et al. 2016).

Moreover, in this context, animal models will not be the best alternative in this scenario where our question is directed towards checking the infectivity/severity ratio of various human ethnic groups. Regarding the usage of multiple cell lines for understanding SARS coronaviruses, it became evident that SARS coronaviruses could not replicate in various cell lines that are routinely being used for respiratory virus isolation (Kaye 2006). Of all the cell lines tested, interestingly the human lung epithelial carcinoma cell line-A549 did not support the replication of SARS coronavirus (Kaye 2006). On the contrary, human cell lines derived from non-lung tissues such as HEK-293 derived from human fetal kidney, HEPG2 and Huh7-both hepatocellular carcinoma cell lines reportedly supported the replication of SARS coronavirus (Kaye 2006). Common cell line for virus replication studies such as Vero and Vero 6 + both kidney epithelial cell line from African green monkey proved to be conducive of replication of SARS coronavirus (Kaye 2006). Moreover, another coronavirus causing severe respiratory tract infection namely, betacoronavirus 2c EMC/2012, could reportedly be replicated well in A549 cell line (Chan et al. 2013).

In the recent past, human pluripotent stem cells (human embryonic and induced pluripotent) stem cells have been differentiated into this endodermal tissue namely lung in 2D monolayer culture by recapitulating the invivo lung development (Kadzik and Morrisey 2012; Longmire et al. 2012; Firth et al. 2014). Such 2D in vitro differentiation protocols have been successful to a certain extent and involves modulation of various signaling pathways. Eventually, human lung organoids, 3D in vitro counterparts of fetal human lung tissue have been reported by Dye et al (Dye et al. 2015). The steps involved firstly, the modulation of developmental signaling pathways for obtaining spheroids from ventralanterior foregut. Such spheroids upon in-vitro expansion resulted in the formation of human lung organoids (HLO). HLOs comprised of multiple cell types and compartments, namely epithelial and mesenchymal compartments of the lung structurally organized resembling a native lung. Moreover, various cell types present in HLOs included human upper airway-like epithelium comprising of basal cells, immature ciliated cells surrounded by smooth muscle and myofibroblasts and most important alveolar like structure with desired cell types (Dye et al. 2015). Hence, such in vitro lung organoids derived from human pluripotent stem cells from various ethnic origins are conducive models for testing the infectivity/ severity of SARS-CoV2. However, such lung organoids had challenges since they resembled a fetal lung airway, rather than an adult lung airway. Indeed, the SARS-CoV2 had been reported to have a reduced infectivity/severity and asymptomatic infection in pediatric patients, as compared to the elderly (Qiu et al. 2020). Hence, fetal lung 3D organoids derived from hPSCs from various ethnicities may not be the best option for studying the infectivity/severity of SARS-CoV2. So, the ideal lung organoids should be one resembling adult lung airways. Dye et al., have further modified the HLO from the earlier differentiated types by incorporating certain biomaterial such as poly (lactide-co-glycolide) (PLG) scaffolds or polycaprolactone (PCL) to obtain 3D HLO resembling human adult airways (Dye et al. 2015; Dye et al. 2020).

4 Strategies for Using Human Lung Organoids from iPSCs of Various Age Groups and Different Ethnicities for Assessing the Infectivity/ Severity Ratio of SARS-CoV2

As the methods for in vitro generation of human lung organoids (HLO) have been reviewed in the previous section, we propose to generate such HLO from the human induced pluripotent stem cells derived from various human ethnicities such as Caucasians, Chinese, Indians, Japanese, Africans, Malaysians. For decade, а recommendations have been made for the generation of such global iPSC library mainly for cell therapy applications, having a stock of iPSCs from all different ethnicities and age groups (Turner et al. 2013). With aggressive efforts, such iPSC bank namely the European bank for the induced pluripotent stem cells (EBiPSC) having a current stock of 894 iPSCs came into existence (De Sousa et al. 2017). The EBiPSC (https://ebisc.org/), opened to the public in 2016 has been generated as a global resource for research that stocks a large collection of quality controlled iPS cells available not only to the European researchers, but also to the worldwide researchers. EBiPSC is a joint initiative of the European Commission, and the European Federation of Pharmaceutical Institutes and Associations (EFPIA), in collaboration with a consortium of international experts from the iPSC community in academia, government and business after facing certain challenges has been operational (George 2018). The EBiPSC mainly operates by receiving the iPS lines from the depositors followed by extensive quality checks and approvals. Under the umbrella of EBiSC, The European Collection of Authenticated Cell Cultures (ECACC) in the UK is involved in distributing the vials to users. Moreover, the Fraunhofer Institute for Biomedical Engineering (IBMT) in Sulzbach, Germany serves as the longterm secure storage facility/ 'mirror bank' of EBiSC. Despite such challenges, we are highly grateful to the research, academia, government

and business partners who have successfully created such iPSC repository.

As far as the ethnicity and age of the donor is concerned, all the iPS cell lines of EBiSC are registered with the human Pluripotent Stem Cell Registry (hPSCreg) (https://hpscreg.eu/). This serves as a database maintained and hosted by the Charité Medical University, Berlin, Germany for human pluripotent stem cells (both Human Embryonic and Induced Pluripotent stem cells). The primary role of hPSCreg is collection and public release of the information regarding the various pluripotent stem cell lines and the groups deriving them. For example: The human Pluripotent stem cell line, UCSFi001-A-1 has been derived by the Allen Institute for Cell Science (AICS), USA from a healthy male Asian donor using non-integrating episomal vector and is allowed for distribution for research purposes only (https://hpscreg.eu/cell-line/UCSFi001-A-Similarly, the iPS cell line named 1). NIMHi001-A derived from the peripheral blood mononuclear cells of a Parkinson's disease (PD) -Indian female of East Indian Ethnicity using Sendai virus reprogramming method. The iPS cell line NIMHi001-A was derived in the National Institute of Mental Health and Neurosciences (NIMHANS), Bangalore, India is allowed for distribution for research purposes only (https://hpscreg.eu/cell-line/NIMHi001-A) (Datta et al. 2020). In this particular case, although the iPS cell line is from a PD patient, the same can be used for the generation of 3D lung organoids since PD patients do not have any lung defects. Moreover, it is best to use iPSC lines from varying ethnicities derived respectively from healthy donors. Example of another cell line registered in the Human Pluripotent Stem Cell registry from Caucasian Ethinicity derived from a 40-year-old male is CSSi001-A (Rosati et al. 2018a; Rosati et al. 2018b). The cell line CSSi001-A (https://hpscreg.eu/cell-line/ CSSi001-A) was derived from a healthy individual being a carrier of disease named Joubert syndrome by the Italian institute named Fondazione Casa Sollievo della Sofferenza IRCCS (CSS) the from dermal fibroblast tissue using non-integrative episomal vector method. This cell line is also available for research purposes. Hence, this iPSC line can be recommended for deriving lung organoids from Caucasian ethnicity as the patients with Joubert syndrome mostly suffer from brain developmental defects and not lung defects (Crawford and Dearmun 2017). Hence, before starting the differentiation of HLO from iPSC from various ethnicities, it is important to have a choice of iPS cell lines from the database. Accordingly, we have tabulated the list of such cell lines from various ethnicities that can be recommended for the derivation of lung organoids for further understanding the infectivity/severity/drug screening for COVID-19. The list of chosen iPS cell lines from different ethnicities is given in Table 1.

More recently, the bronchial transient epithelial cells, a type of progenitor cells has been reported to be more prone to SARS-CoV2 infection, as compared to any other lung cell type (Lukassen et al. 2020). In fact, in addition to HLO comprising of a mixed population of lung cells, the iPSCs from various ethnicities can be differentiated first in 2D into the lung progenitor cell type (bronchial transient epithelial cells) followed by 3D cultures of such cells. This approach will possibly be able to discern the distinct differences in various ethnicities, with respect to, infectivity/severity of SARS-CoV2 infections. Also, such in vitro approach for using the differentiated bronchial transient epithelial cells/progenitor cells in 3D will enable us to understand the distribution of Angiotensinconverting enzyme 2(ACE) receptor, the receptor for SARS-CoV2 entry into the cells (Fantini et al. 2020).

As far as infectivity/severity ratio is considered, we postulate using the 3D HLO models, as well as the 2D and 3D cultures of differentiated bronchial transient epithelial cells/progenitor cells. In fact, 2D cultures of related cell types namely (Human primary alveolar epithelial cells; Human bronchial epithelial cells; Human tracheal epithelial cells and human small airway epithelial cells) can also be used that can be procured from commercial vendors such as ScienCell Research Laboratories Carlsbad, California, USA. However, the challenge in commercially available primary cells is that we cannot have the cell types from multiple ethnicities. In this context, the 2D and 3D models can be infected with various doses of viruses, so as to mimic mild, moderate and severe exposure even during the time of initial infection. The postulated experimental designs are represented in Figs. 1 and 2.

Various parameters that need to be fixed for such in vitro experiments include, establishment of viral dose of SARS-CoV2 during the initial infection (Tseng et al. 2005; Chen et al. 2018). Secondly, we also can increase the viral dose gradually to obtain mild, moderate and severe infections in vitro. Thirdly, we propose to optimize the time with the given viral dose to obtain mild, moderate and severe infection in 2D and 3D human lung/lung cell in vitro models. Each of the spatial and temporal effects under 2D and 3D conditions from cells from various ethnicities can be assessed for the severity. The readouts of severity can be final viral load at various time points in vitro (Figs. 1 and 2); viral load at one fixed timepoint with mild, moderate and severe infections respectively (Figs. 1 and 2). Moreover, the transcript for the viral spike protein can be assessed at the aforementioned severities and timepoints. Furthermore, in order to understand the difference in severity of infections in cells from various ethnicities, the levels of ACE receptors can also be estimated using a simple western blot.

5 Strategies for Using Human Lung Organoids from iPSCs of Different Ethnicities for Antiviral/Repurposed Drug Screening Against SARS-CoV2

Till now, there is neither any specific drug, nor any vaccine against SARS-CoV2. Hence, the 3D lung organoid *in-vitro* model as proposed and discussed in the previous section can be of immense help in mimicking the *in vivo* conditions of infection. Accordingly, we have tried discussing the various stages at which the SARS-CoV2 can be targeted based on its life

Sr No	Name of the cell line and URL	Ethnicity/ Gender	Tissue donor- Healthy/Diseased (which disease?)	Reprogramming method used	Reference	Comments
1.	UCSFi001-A https:// hpscreg.eu/ cell-line/ UCSFi001-A	Asian/Male	Healthy	Non-integrating Episomal vector	Mandegar MA et al. CRISPR Interference Efficiently Induces Specific and Reversible Gene Silencing in Human iPSCs. Cell stem cell. 2016;18 (4):541–553.	Can be used for modelling Asian ethnicity HLO
2	NIMHi001-A https:// hpscreg.eu/ cell-line/ NIMHi001-A	Indian/Male	Parkinson's disease	Non-integrating Sendai virus	Datta I et al. generation of induced pluripotent stem cells (NIMHi001- A) from a Parkinson's disease patient of East Indian ethnicity carrying LRRK2 I1371V variant. Stem cell research. 2020 Mar 17;44:101768.	Can be used for modelling Indian ethnicity HLO
3	BIHi001-A https:// hpscreg.eu/ cell-line/ BIHi001-A	Caucasian/ Male	Healthy	Non-integrating Sendai virus	Fenske P et al. Autaptic cultures of human induced neurons as a versatile platform for studying synaptic function and neuronal morphology. Scientific reports. 2019 Mar 20;9 (1):4890.	Can be used for modelling Caucasian ethnicity HLO
4	HELPi001-A https:// hpscreg.eu/ cell-line/ HELPi001-A	Han/Female	Congenital Contractural Arachnodactyly	Integrating Lentivirus	Liu H et al. Establishment of a Beals syndrome patient-derived human induced pluripotent stem cell line HELPi001-A. Stem cell research. 2019 Oct;40:101535.	Can be used for modelling Chinese ethnicity HLO
5	MCRIi001-A https:// hpscreg.eu/ cell-line/ MCRIi001-A	Caucasian/ Male	Healthy	Non-integrating Sendai virus	Nur Patria Y et al. Generation of a SOX9- td Tomato reporter human iPSC line, MCRIi001-A-2, using CRISPR/Cas9 editing. Stem cell research. 2020 Jan;42:101689.	Can be used for modelling Caucasian ethnicity HLO
6	IGIBi001-A https:// hpscreg.eu/ cell-line/ IGIBi001-A	Indian/Male	Sickle cell Anemia	Non-integrating Sendai virus	Bhargava N et al. Generation and characterization of induced pluripotent stem cell line (IGIBi001-A) from a sickle cell anemia patient with homozygous β -globin mutation. Stem cell research. 2019 Aug. 39:101484	Can be used for modelling Indian ethnicity HLO

 Table 1
 List of iPS cell lines from different ethnicities

Sr No	Name of the cell line and URL	Ethnicity/ Gender	Tissue donor- Healthy/Diseased (which disease?)	Reprogramming method used	Reference	Comments
7	ULBi003-A https:// hpscreg.eu/ cell-line/ ULBi003-A	White/Male	Healthy	Non-integrating Sendai virus	Danesi C et al. Increased Calcium Influx through L-type Calcium Channels in Human and Mouse Neural Progenitors Lacking Fragile X Mental Retardation Protein. Stem cell reports. 2018 Dec 11;11(6):1449–1461.	Can be used for modelling Caucasian ethnicity HLO
8	IDVi001-A https:// hpscreg.eu/ cell-line/ IDVi001-A	Caucasian/ Female	Retinitis Pigmentosa	Non-integrating Sendai virus	Terray A et al. Generation of an induced pluripotent stem cell (iPSC) line from a patient with autosomal dominant retinitis pigmentosa due to a mutation in the NR2E3 gene. Stem cell research. 2017 Oct;24:1–4.	Can be used for modelling Caucasian ethnicity HLO
9	IRFMNi001- A https:// hpscreg.eu/ cell-line/ IRFMNi001- A	Caucasian/ M.0ale	Healthy	Integrating Lentivirus	Imberti B et al. renal progenitors derived from human iPSCs engraft and restore function in a mouse model of acute kidney injury. Scientific reports. 2015 Mar 6,5:8826.	Can be used for modelling Caucasian ethnicity HLO
10	IPTi001-A https:// hpscreg.eu/ cell-line/ IPTi001-A	Chinese Han/Male	Alzheimer's disease	Non-integrating Episomal vector	Zhang L et al. Generation of induced pluripotent stem cell line (IPTi001-A) from a 62-year old sporadic Alzheimer's disease patient with APOE3 (ɛ3/ɛ3) genotype. Stem cell research. 2019 Dec;41:101589.	Can be used for modelling Chinese ethnicity HLO
11	JTUi001-A https:// hpscreg.eu/ cell-line/ JTUi001-A	Chinese Han/Female	CHARGE syndrome	Non-integrating Episomal vector	He S et al. Establishment of an induced pluripotent stem cell line from a patient with CHARGE syndrome carrying a CHD7 (p. L1151Gfs*17) mutation. Stem cell research. 2020 Mar 20;45:101774.	Can be used for modelling Chinese ethnicity HLO

 Table 1 (continued)

Sr No	Name of the cell line and URL	Ethnicity/ Gender	Tissue donor- Healthy/Diseased (which disease?)	Reprogramming method used	Reference	Comments
12	JTUi002-A https:// hpscreg.eu/ cell-line/ JTUi002-A	Han/Male	Waardenburg syndrome	Non-integrating Episomal vector	Wang P et al. Establishment of an iPSC line (JTUi002-A) from a patient with Waardenburg syndrome caused by a SOX10 mutation and carrying a GJB2 mutation. Stem cell research. 2020 Mar 7;44:101756.	Can be used for modelling Chinese ethnicity HLO
13	PUMCHi001- A https:// hpscreg.eu/ cell-line/ PUMCHi001- A	Chinese Han/Male	Familial Partial Lipodystrophy Type 2	Non-integrating Episomal vector	Xiao C et al. Generation of an integration-free induced pluripotent stem cell line (PUMCHi001-A) from a patient with familial partial lipodystrophy type 2 (FPLD2) carrying a heterozygous p. R349W (c.1045C > T) mutation in the LMNA gene. Stem cell research. 2020 Jan;42:101651.	Can be used for modelling Chinese ethnicity HLO
14	MUi010-A https:// hpscreg.eu/ cell-line/ MUi010-A	Thai/Male	MYH9-Related Disease	Non-integrating Episomal vector	Tangprasittipap A et al. Generation of a human induced pluripotent stem cell line (MUi010-A) from skin fibroblast of patient carrying a c.2104C > T mutation in MYH9 gene. Stem cell research. 2019 Apr;36:101397.	Can be used for modelling Thai ethnicity HLO
15	IBMSi001-A https:// hpscreg.eu/ cell-line/ IBMSi001-A	East Asian (Taiwanese)/ Male	Autosomal dominant polycystic kidney disease	Non-integrating Sendai virus	Huang CY et al. generation of induced pluripotent stem cells derived from an autosomal dominant polycystic kidney disease patient with a p.Ser1457fs mutation in PKD1. Stem cell research. 2017 Oct;24:139–143.	Can be used for modelling Chinese/ Taiwanese ethnicity HLO

Table 1 (continued)

	Nome of the		Tissue dener			
Sr	cell line and	Ethnicity/	Healthy/Diseased	Reprogramming		
No	URL	Gender	(which disease?)	method used	Reference	Comments
16	IBMSi003-A https:// hpscreg.eu/ cell-line/ IBMSi003-A	East Asian (Taiwanese)/ Female	Autosomal Dominant Polycystic Kidney Disease	Non-integrating Sendai virus	Ho MC et al. Generation of an induced pluripotent stem cell line, IBMS- iPSC-014-05, from a female autosomal dominant polycystic kidney disease patient carrying a common mutation of R803X in PKD2. Stem cell research. 2017 Dec;25:38–41.	Can be used for modelling Chinese/ Taiwanese ethnicity HLO
17	MMCi001-A https:// hpscreg.eu/ cell-line/ MMCi001-A	Taiwanese/ Male	Deafness, Autosomal Recessive 1A	Non-integrating Sendai virus	Lu HE et al. Generation of induced pluripotent stem cells MMCi001-A from a Taiwanese hearing loss patient carrying GJB2 pV37I mutation. Stem cell research. 2020 Jan;42:101692.	Can be used for modelling Chinese/ Taiwanese ethnicity HLO
18	WISCi008-A https:// hpscreg.eu/ cell-line/ WISCi008-A	African/ Male	Healthy	Non-integrating Episomal vector	Yin Y et al. Generation of seven induced pluripotent stem cell lines from neonates of different ethnic backgrounds. Stem cell research. 2019 Jan;34:101365.	Can be used for modelling African ethnicity HLO
19	WTSIi001-A https:// hpscreg.eu/ cell-line/ WTSIi001-A	White British/ Female	Healthy	Non-integrating Sendai virus	Kilpinen H et al. Common genetic variation drives molecular heterogeneity in human iPSCs. Nature. 2017 Jun 15;546(7658):370– 375.	Can be used for modelling Caucasian/ British ethnicity HLO
20	WTSIi466-A https:// hpscreg.eu/ cell-line/ WTSIi466-A	British Asian – Indian/Male	Hypertrophic Cardiomyopathy	Non-integrating Sendai virus	Nil	Can be used for modelling Indian/ British (mixed?) ethnicity HLO
21	WTSIi479-A https:// hpscreg.eu/ cell-line/ WTSIi479-A	Indian/ Female	Spastic paraplegia	Non-integrating Sendai virus	Nil	Can be used for modelling Indian ethnicity HLO

Table 1 (continued)

Sr No	Name of the cell line and URL	Ethnicity/ Gender	Tissue donor- Healthy/Diseased (which disease?)	Reprogramming method used	Reference	Comments
22	WTSIi470-A https:// hpscreg.eu/ cell-line/ WTSIi470-A	African/ female	Rare hereditary Ataxia	Non-integrating Sendai virus	Nil	Can be used for modelling African ethnicity HLO
23	WTSIi483-A https:// hpscreg.eu/ cell-line/ WTSIi483-A	British Asian – Bangladeshi/ Male	Hypertrophic cardiomyopathy	Non-integrating Sendai virus	Nil	Can be used for modelling Asian/ British (mixed) ethnicity HLO
24	WTSIi496-A https:// hpscreg.eu/ cell-line/ WTSIi496-A	Czech/Male	Batten disease	Non-integrating Sendai virus	Nil	Can be used for modelling Caucasian ethnicity HLO
25	WTSIi563-A https:// hpscreg.eu/ cell-line/ WTSIi563-A	Portuguese/ Male	Batten disease	Non-integrating Sendai virus	Nil	Can be used for modelling Caucasian ethnicity HLO
26	PHAi003-B https:// hpscreg.eu/ cell-line/ PHAi003-B	Persian / Female	Primary immunodeficiency	Non-integrating Sendai virus	Arias-Fuenzalida J et al. Generation of a human induced pluripotent stem cell line (PHAi003) from a primary immunodeficient patient with CD70 mutation. Stem cell research. 2019 Dec;41:101612.	Can be used for modelling Eurasian ethnicity HLO
27	GENYOi004- A https:// hpscreg.eu/ cell-line/ GENYOi004- A	Spaniard Caucasian/ Female	ADNP syndrome	Non-integrating Sendai virus	Montes R et al. GENYOi004-A: An induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSCs) line generated from a patient with autism- related ADNP syndrome carrying a pTyr719* mutation. Stem cell research. 2019 May;37:101446.	Can be used for modelling Caucasian ethnicity HLO

Table 1 (continued)

Sr No	Name of the cell line and URL	Ethnicity/ Gender	Tissue donor- Healthy/Diseased (which disease?)	Reprogramming method used	Reference	Comments
28	GENYOi005- A https:// hpscreg.eu/ cell-line/ GENYOi005- A	Spaniard Caucasian/ Female	Familial Platelet Disorder With Associated Myeloid Malignancy	Non-integrating Sendai virus	Lamolda M et al. GENYOi005-A: An induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSCs) line generated from a patient with Familial Platelet Disorder with associated Myeloid Malignancy (FPDMM) carrying a p.Thr196Ala variant. Stem cell research. 2019 Dec;41:101603.	Can be used for modelling Caucasian ethnicity HLO
29	GENYOi006- A https:// hpscreg.eu/ cell-line/ GENYOi006- A	Spaniard Caucasian/ Male	Healthy	Non-integrating Sendai virus	Cabrera S et al. Generation of human iPSC line GRX-MCiPS4F-A2 from adult peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) with Spanish genetic background. Stem cell research. 2015 Sep;15 (2):337–40.	Can be used for modelling Caucasian ethnicity HLO
30	UKKi020-A https:// hpscreg.eu/ cell-line/ UKKi020-A	African/ Male	Healthy	Non-integrating Episomal vector	Nil	Can be used for modelling African ethnicity HLO

Table 1 (continued)







Fig. 2 3D models for in vitro assessment of infectivity/severity ratio of SARS CoV2 in various ethnicities

cycle inside the host. The life cycle of the SARS-CoV2, along with possible drugs/groups of drugs to be tested under *in vitro* 3D models is represented in Fig. 3.

First, the group of drugs that can inhibit the entry of virus can be tested on 3D lung organoid models. This can be achieved either by using antibodies against the spike protein of the virus rendering the virus unable to bind to the host cell surface. Monoclonal antibodies against the spike protein, or convalescent plasma from a recovered COVID-19 patient can also be tried (Shanmugaraj et al. 2020; Zhang et al. 2020b). Alternatively, binding of the virus to the host cell surface receptor, ACE, can also be blocked by either blocking the ACE receptor, or else manipulating/inhibiting the other proteins that help in virus binding/stabilizing the ACE receptor. Such proteins are TMPRSS2 (Transmembrane protease serine 2), Furin, sialic acid and Gangliosides present on the cell surface of the host protein (Hoffmann et al. 2020). Importantly, hydroxychloroquine has been reported to bind to sialic acid and gangliosides of the host cells thereby inhibiting the binding of the SARS-CoV2 to the host cells (Fantini et al. 2020). Moreover, recently a clinical trial conducted in France on PCR positive SARS-CoV2 infected patients reported a drastic reduction in viral load by treatment with a combination of hydroxychloroquine and Azithromycin by Day 6 of drug administration (Gautret et al. 2020). The readout of the viral load for the 3D *in vitro* models can be the qRT-PCR of the lysate of the 3D organoids for gene expression for genes corresponding to viral spike protein; human cell surface proteins-ACE receptor, TMPRSS2.

Secondly, after the virus enters the host cells, it releases the viral RNA, the positive strand (+RNA) in the host cytoplasm. Now, the host protein synthesis machinery/ribosome is being used for the synthesis of viral proteins for re-packaging the virus. Hence, the viral protein degradation is another possible target by proteolysis. Antiviral drugs such as Lopinavir-ritonavir which are protease inhibitors that prevent the proteolytic cleavage of new the viral proteins. Such inhibition of synthesis of new proteins hence can prevent viral packaging (Lu 2020). Moreover, a most recent clinical trial reported in the New England Journal of Medicine indicated no improvement in the clinical outcome, in terms of reduction of viral load when the severely ill SARS-CoV2 infected patients/participants have been treated with a combination of Lopinavir-Ritonavir (Cao et al. 2020). However, this drug combination has exhibited a substantial reduction in viral load in another coronavirus namely Middle East Respiratory Syndrome (MERS) (Arabi et al. 2018). Now, connecting the dots to our



Fig. 3 The life cycle of the SARS-CoV-2 along with possible drugs/groups of drugs to be tested under *in vitro* 3D models

proposed *invitro* 3D lung organoid models infected from different ethnicities infected with SARS-CoV2, the readout of drug response can be assessed by western blot. Western blots for virion protein expression in the whole cell lysates can indicate the presence or reduction in the expression of virion proteins after the drug treatment. Also, the viral titer can also be determined post drug treatment in the lysates of the SARS-CoV2 infected cells.

At the viral RNA replication level, a known antiviral drug called 'Remdesvir', also can be tested in the 3D lung organoid models. Remdesvir is otherwise a nucleoside (adenosine) analog that incorporates into viral RNA leading to its premature termination (Agostini et al. 2018). In the context of SARS-CoV2, a clinical trial with Remdesvir has been reported to reduce the viral load in the infected patients (Grein et al. 2020; Amirian and Levy 2020). Hence, in the SARS-CoV2 infected 3D lung organoid model, the therapeutic effect of remdesvir can be studied. The *in vitro* data readout can be again reduction in viral road from the infected cells or cell culture supernatant.

Having targeted individual viral entry, multiplication and survival machineries, a combinatorial approach can also be tested onto the invitro 3D lung organoid models. For example, a combinatorial therapy including the antibodies against the virion proteins, viral entry inhibitors such as hydroxychloroquine, antivirals such as protease inhibitors (Ritonavir-Lopanivir); nucleoside analog (Remdesvir) can be given together (Wang et al. 2020). Again, the dosage of the drug can be determined by extrapolating mg of drug per kg weight of the lung organoid. The best advantage, hence, with the 3D HLO model is that we can specifically check the cell types that are first one to respond to such a drug combination. Secondly, the other proposed 3D lung organoid model using bronchial transient epithelial cells (progenitor cells), would indeed be useful to give a specific readout using single mechanistic drugs, as well as combinatorial drugs.

6 Conclusions

This century has experienced the major outbreaks of coronaviruses such as SARS-CoV, MERS and now SARS-CoV2 (COVID-19). Amongst all the three, the COVID-19 has taken the lives of thousands of people, and affected the lives of millions of others globally. This substantial effect of SARS-CoV2 is mainly due to its highest infectivity. Although the severity of the SARS-CoV2 is lesser as compared to the earlier SARS-CoV and MERS, such high infectivity has taken a substantial toll on the lives of people globally. Hence, the proposition of basic research using 3D in vitro modes combined with the reviewed work is likely to give a strong direction to curb the COVID-19. Most importantly, ethnicity and infectivity/severity age-specific ratio, drug responses and combinatorial drug responses can be elucidated using such 3D invitro studies.

Acknowledgements The authors would like to thank Dr. Debprasad Chattopadhyay, Virologist from the Indian Council of Medical Research and Director, National Institute of Traditional Medicine, Belagavi, Karnataka, India regarding discussions for understanding various aspects of the SARS-CoV2. Authors deeply thank Dr. Mangesh Suryavanshi, National Post-Doctoral Fellow working in the Yenepoya Research Centre, Yenepoya (Deemed to be University), Mangalore, Karnataka for his voluntary initiative with the latest literature regarding SARS-CoV2. Dr. Ranajit Das, a population geneticist and Assistant Professor, Yenepoya Research Centre, Yenepoya (Deemed to be University) is also acknowledged for his insights regarding various human ethnic groups and possible difference in infectivity/ severity of SARS-CoV2. Finally, the authors thank the stringent COVID-19 lockdown situation which made strong reasons for writing this hypothesis and commentary article. No funding was utilized for preparing this manuscript.

Author's Contributions BB conceptualized, designed and wrote the manuscript; designed the figures and approved the manuscript. SK and MN edited the manuscript and made the figures.

Conflict of Interest The authors declare no potential conflicts of interest.

References

- Agostini ML, Andres EL, Sims AC et al (2018) Coronavirus susceptibility to the antiviral remdesivir (GS-5734) is mediated by the viral polymerase and the proofreading exoribonuclease. mBio 9(2):e00221-18. https://doi.org/10.1128/mBio.00221-18
- Alvarez AE, Marson FA, Bertuzzo CS, Arns CW, Ribeiro JD (2013) Epidemiological and genetic characteristics associated with the severity of acute viral bronchiolitis by respiratory syncytial virus. J Pediatr 89(6):531–543. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jped.2013.02.022
- Amirian ES, Levy JK (2020) Current knowledge about the antivirals remdesivir (GS-5734) and GS-441524 as therapeutic options for coronaviruses. One Health 9:100128. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.onehlt.2020. 100128
- Arabi YM, Alothman A, Balkhy HH et al (2018) Treatment of Middle East respiratory syndrome with a combination of lopinavir-ritonavir and interferon-β1b (MIRACLE trial): study protocol for a randomized controlled trial. Trials 19(1):81. https://doi.org/10. 1186/s13063-017-2427-0
- Cao B, Wang Y, Wen D et al (2020) A trial of Lopinavirritonavir in adults hospitalized with severe Covid-19. N Engl J Med 382(19):1787–1799. https://doi.org/10. 1056/NEJMoa2001282
- Chan JF, Chan KH, Choi GK et al (2013) Differential cell line susceptibility to the emerging novel human betacoronavirus 2c EMC/2012: implications for disease pathogenesis and clinical manifestation. J Infect Dis 207(11):1743–1752. https://doi.org/10.1093/ infdis/jit123
- Chen Q, Tang K, Zhang X, Chen P, Guo Y (2018) Establishment of pseudovirus infection mouse models for in vivo pharmacodynamics evaluation of filovirus entry inhibitors. Acta Pharm Sin B 8(2):200–208. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apsb.2017.08.003
- Crawford D, Dearmun A (2017) Joubert syndrome. Nurs Child Young People 29(5):15. https://doi.org/10.7748/ ncyp.29.5.15.s19
- Datta I, Sowmithra, Jagtap S, Potdar C, Yadav R, Pal P (2020) Generation of induced pluripotent stem cells (NIMHi001-A) from a Parkinson's disease patient of East Indian ethnicity carrying LRRK2 I1371V variant. Stem Cell Res 44:101768. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. scr.2020.101768
- De Sousa PA, Steeg R, Wachter E et al (2017) Rapid establishment of the European Bank for induced pluripotent stem cells (EBiSC) – the hot start experience. Stem Cell Res 20:105–114. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. scr.2017.03.002
- de Wit E, van Doremalen N, Falzarano D, Munster VJ (2016) SARS and MERS: recent insights into emerging coronaviruses. Nat Rev Microbiol 14 (8):523–534. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrmicro.2016.81
- Dye BR, Hill DR, Ferguson MA et al (2015) In vitro generation of human pluripotent stem cell derived

lung organoids. elife 4:e05098. https://doi.org/10. 7554/eLife.05098

- Dye BR, Youngblood RL, Oakes RS et al (2020) Human lung organoids develop into adult airway-like structures directed by physico-chemical biomaterial properties. Biomaterials 234:119757. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.biomaterials.2020.119757
- Fantini J, Di Scala C, Chahinian H, Yahi N (2020) Structural and molecular modelling studies reveal a new mechanism of action of chloroquine and hydroxychloroquine against SARS-CoV-2 infection. Int J Antimicrob Agents 105960. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.ijantimicag.2020.105960
- Firth AL, Dargitz CT, Qualls SJ et al (2014) Generation of multiciliated cells in functional airway epithelia from human induced pluripotent stem cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 111(17):E1723–E1730. https://doi.org/10. 1073/pnas.1403470111
- Gautret P, Lagier JC, Parola P et al (2020) Hydroxychloroquine and azithromycin as a treatment of COVID-19: results of an open-label non-randomized clinical trial [published online ahead of print, 2020 Mar 20]. Int J Antimicrob Agents:105949. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijantimicag. 2020.105949
- George CC (2018) The European Bank for Induced Pluripotent Stem Cells (EBiSC): opportunities & challenges through public-private collaboration. Studia Iuridica 73:29–41
- Grein J, Ohmagari N, Shin D et al (2020) Compassionate use of remdesivir for patients with severe Covid-19. N Engl J Med:NEJMoa2007016. https://doi.org/10.1056/ NEJMoa2007016
- Guo YR, Cao QD, Hong ZS, Tan YY, Chen SD, Jin HJ, Tan KS, Wang DY, Yan Y (2020) The origin, transmission and clinical therapies on coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) outbreak – an update on the status. Mil Med Res 7(1):11. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40779-020-00240-0
- Hall CB (2001) Respiratory syncytial virus and parainfluenza virus. N Engl J Med 344 (25):1917-1928. https://doi.org/10.1056/ NEJM200106213442507
- Hoffmann M, Kleine-Weber H, Schroeder S et al (2020) SARS-CoV-2 cell entry depends on ACE2 and TMPRSS2 and is blocked by a clinically proven protease inhibitor. Cell 181(2):271–280.e8. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.cell.2020.02.052
- Kadzik RS, Morrisey EE (2012) Directing lung endoderm differentiation in pluripotent stem cells. Cell Stem Cell 10(4):355–361. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.stem.2012. 03.013
- Kaye M (2006) SARS-associated coronavirus replication in cell lines. Emerg Infect Dis 12(1):128–133. https:// doi.org/10.3201/eid1201.050496
- Leader S, Kohlhase K (2002) Respiratory syncytial viruscoded pediatric hospitalizations, 1997 to 1999. Pediatr Infect Dis J 21(7):629–632. https://doi.org/10.1097/ 00006454-200207000-00005

- Longmire TA, Ikonomou L, Hawkins F et al (2012) Efficient derivation of purified lung and thyroid progenitors from embryonic stem cells. Cell Stem Cell 10(4):398–411. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.stem. 2012.01.019
- Lu H (2020) Drug treatment options for the 2019-new coronavirus (2019-nCoV). Biosci Trends 14 (1):69–71. https://doi.org/10.5582/bst.2020.01020
- Lukassen S, Chua RL, Trefzer T et al (2020) SARS-CoV-2 receptor ACE2 and TMPRSS2 are primarily expressed in bronchial transient secretory cells. EMBO J 39(10):e105114. https://doi.org/10.15252/ embj.20105114
- McMichael AJ (2004) Environmental and social influences on emerging infectious diseases: past, present and future. Philos Trans R Soc Lond Ser B Biol Sci 359(1447):1049–1058. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb. 2004.1480
- Openshaw PJ, Tregoning JS (2005) Immune responses and disease enhancement during respiratory syncytial virus infection. Clin Microbiol Rev 18(3):541–555. https://doi.org/10.1128/CMR.18.3.541-555.2005
- Park AW (2019) Phylogenetic aggregation increases zoonotic potential of mammalian viruses. Biol Lett 15 (12):20190668. https://doi.org/10.1098/rsbl.2019. 0668
- Qiu H, Wu J, Hong L, Luo Y, Song Q, Chen D (2020) Clinical and epidemiological features of 36 children with coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) in Zhejiang, China: an observational cohort study. Lancet Infect Dis:S1473-3099(20)30198-5. https://doi.org/10. 1016/S1473-3099(20)30198-5
- Rosati J, Altieri F, Tardivo S et al (2018a) Production and characterization of human induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSCs) from Joubert Syndrome: CSSi001-A (2850). Stem Cell Res 27:74–77. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.scr.2018.01.012
- Rosati J, Ferrari D, Altieri F et al (2018b) Establishment of stable iPS-derived human neural stem cell lines suitable for cell therapies. Cell Death Dis 9(10):937. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41419-018-0990-2
- Shanmugaraj B, Siriwattananon K, Wangkanont K, Phoolcharoen W (2020) Perspectives on monoclonal antibody therapy as potential therapeutic intervention for Coronavirus disease-19 (COVID-19). Asian Pac J Allergy Immunol 38(1):10–18. https://doi.org/10. 12932/AP-200220-0773
- Tahamtan A, Samadizadeh S, Rastegar M, Nakstad B, Salimi V (2020) Respiratory syncytial virus infection:

why does disease severity vary among individuals? Expert Rev Respir Med 14(4):415–423. https://doi. org/10.1080/17476348.2020.1724095

- Tseng CT, Perrone LA, Zhu H, Makino S, Peters CJ (2005) Severe acute respiratory syndrome and the innate immune responses: modulation of effector cell function without productive infection. J Immunol 174 (12):7977–7985. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol. 174.12.7977
- Turner M, Leslie S, Martin NG et al (2013) Toward the development of a global induced pluripotent stem cell library. Cell Stem Cell 13(4):382–384. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.stem.2013.08.003
- Vijaykrishna D, Smith GJ, Zhang JX, Peiris JS, Chen H, Guan Y (2007) Evolutionary insights into the ecology of coronaviruses. J Virol 81(8):4012–4020. https://doi. org/10.1128/JVI.02605-06
- Wang M, Cao R, Zhang L et al (2020) Remdesivir and chloroquine effectively inhibit the recently emerged novel coronavirus (2019-nCoV) in vitro. Cell Res 30 (3):269–271. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41422-020-0282-0
- Wong ACP, Li X, Lau SKP, Woo PCY (2019) Global epidemiology of bat coronaviruses. Viruses 11(2):174. https://doi.org/10.3390/v11020174
- Wu F, Zhao S, Yu B et al (2020) A new coronavirus associated with human respiratory disease in China. Nature 579(7798):265–269. https://doi.org/10.1038/ s41586-020-2008-3
- Yang YL, Qin P, Wang B et al (2019) Broad cross-species infection of cultured cells by bat HKU2-related swine acute diarrhea syndrome coronavirus and identification of its replication in murine dendritic cells in vivo highlight its potential for diverse interspecies transmission.
 J Virol 93(24):e01448–e01419. https://doi.org/10. 1128/JVI.01448-19
- Zhang T, Wu Q, Zhang Z (2020a) Probable pangolin origin of SARS-CoV-2 associated with the COVID-19 outbreak. Curr Biol 30(7):1346–1351.e2. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2020.03.022
- Zhang B, Liu S, Tan T et al (2020b) Treatment with convalescent plasma for critically III patients with severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 infection. Chest:S0012-3692(20)30571-7. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.chest.2020.03.039
- Zhou P, Yang XL, Wang XG et al (2020) A pneumonia outbreak associated with a new coronavirus of probable bat origin. Nature 579(7798):270–273. https://doi. org/10.1038/s41586-020-2012-7



Embryonic Stem Cells in Clinical Trials: Current Overview of Developments and Challenges

Ali Golchin, Alexia Chatziparasidou, Parviz Ranjbarvan, Zahra Niknam, and Abdolreza Ardeshirylajimi

Abstract

The first isolation of human embryonic stem cells (hESC) reported in the late 90s opened a new window to promising possibilities in the fields of human developmental biology and regenerative medicine. Subsequently, the differentiation of hESC lines into different precursor cells showed their potential in treating different incurable diseases. However, this promising field has consistently had remarkable ethical and experimental limitations. This

A. Chatziparasidou Embryolab Academy, Thessaloníki, Greece

Z. Niknam

A. Ardeshirylajimi

paper is a review of clinical trial studies dealing with hESC and their advantages, limitations, and other specific concerns. Some of the hESC limitations have been solved, and several clinical trial studies are ongoing so that recent clinical trials have strived to improve the clinical applications of hESC, especially in macular degeneration and neurodegenerative diseases. However, regarding hESC-based therapy, several important issues need more research and discussion. Despite considerable studies to Date, hESC-based therapy is not available for conventional clinical applications, and more studies and data are needed to overcome current clinical and ethical limitations. When all the limitations of Embryonic stem cells (ESC) are wholly resolved, perhaps hESC can become superior to the existing stem cell sources. This overview will be beneficial for understanding the standard and promising applications of cell and tissue-based therapeutic approaches and for developing novel therapeutic applications of hESC.

Keywords

Cell-based therapy · Clinical trial · Human embryonic stem cells (hESCs) · Macular degeneration · Regenerative medicine

A. Golchin (🖂) and P. Ranjbarvan

Department of Clinical Biochemistry and Applied Cell Sciences, School of Medicine, Urmia University of Medical Sciences, Urmia, Iran

e-mail: agolchin.vet10@yahoo.com; Golchin.a@umsu.ac.ir

Faculty of Paramedical Sciences, Shahid Beheshti University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran

Department of Tissue Engineering and Applied Cell Sciences, School of Advanced Technologies in Medicine, Shahid Beheshti University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran

SinaCell Research and Product Center, Tehran, Iran

ALS	Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis			
ART	Assisted reproductive technology			
CRISPR	Clustered regularly-interspaced short			
	palindromic repeats			
DA	Dopamine			
EMA	European Medical Administration			
GMP	Good manufacturing practice			
hESC	human Embryonic stem cells			
hESC-	hESC-derived mature dendritic cells			
DCs				
hiPSC	human-induced Pluripotent stem			
	cells			
iPSC	induced Pluripotent stem cells			
ISCBI	International Stem Cell Banking			
	Initiative			
IVF	in vitro fertilization			
LD	Lyme disease			
MHC	Major histocompatibility complex			
MS	Multiple sclerosis			
PD	Parkinson's disease			
SCNT	Somatic-cell nuclear transfer			
UCBS	human Umbilical cord blood serum			
wet-	Wet age-related macular			
AMD	degeneration			

1 Introduction

November 2019 was marked the 21th anniversary of the human embryonic stem cells (hESC) report (Thomson 1998). Over the past two decades, the unique characteristics and potency of stem cells have widely attracted the researcher's attention. Regenerative medicine and cell-based therapy have opened a new viewpoint in medicine. However, it has been hampered by the restricted availability of stem cell sources and the potentially hazardous aspects of pluripotent hESCs and induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSC).

Embryonic stem cells (ESC), as the name suggests, are derived from embryos. They were first derived from mice embryos; however, it was the extraction of ESC from the human embryo by James Thomson (1998) in Wisconsin, USA, that drew attention to these cells. Because of their unique properties, ESCs have been long studied and giving hope to many for the treatment of incurable diseases (SEMB 2005). ESC is also known as primary stem cells derived from inner cell mass (ICM) of blastocysts or early-stage pre-implantation embryos that can be used for regenerative medicine and cell therapy purposes. The first clinical study was administered for 3 years (2000–2002), during which time, the efficacy and safety of hESC lines were ascertained in 33 patients suffering from neurological and non-neurological disorders (Shroff 2016a).

Due to their pluripotent feature, ESC has drawn extensive attention great among bio-medical researchers; however, religious and ethical concerns impose limitations on their use (Volarevic et al. 2018). Based on religious and moral ethos, some believe that "human life begins at oocyte and sperm fertilization"; thus, an embryo is a person. According to their belief, an embryo has human rights that must be respected. From this viewpoint, taking a blastocyst and removing the inner cell mass to derive an ESC line is equivalent to killing (Lo and Parham 2009; Monitoring Stem Cell Research: A Report of the President's Council **Bioethics** on U.S. Government Bookstore 2004). On the other hand, every year, assisted reproductive technology (ART) clinics create many blastulae. After a couple has completed infertility treatment, they are destroyed because they are made in surplus. Therefore, supporters of hESC research/therapy hold that using ESC from these extra blastulae for research and developing medical treatments, which could help improve and rescue people's lives, is a much better option. Neglect of human rights, fertilization, and abortion only for the sake of deriving ESC, concerns about generating a target population, and seeking mere financial profits are among the ethical concerns (Fan 2007; Saniei and Baharvand 2018; Sivaraman and Noor 2016).

There are two ways to derive hESC, including 1- Oocyte and sperm fertilization and deriving embryo, and 2- Somatic-cell nuclear transfer (SCNT), where the nucleus from a somatic cell is transferred into an oocyte of which the nucleus is removed. In the first technique, fertilization can be performed in two ways: a- natural fertilization that happens in vivo, and b- in vitro fertilization (IVF) and culturing fertilized eggs. Deriving ESC from natural fertilization is limited to the cases of compulsory abortion. Under some therapeutic protocols and with the consent of the parents, ESC can be derived for therapeutic services. There are also limitations on culturing in vitro fertilized eggs to derive ESC since these cells have limited growth capacity in culture conditions (Golchin and Niknejad 2017). SCNT is carried out to reprogram somatic cells to pluripotent ESC by the somatic cell nuclear transfer (Tachibana et al. 2013). Through this technique, researchers can generate stem cells that are genetically similar to patients' cells, preventing tissue rejection in transplantation. SCNT is used to clone animals like pig, cow, goat, sheep, and recently horse and mule (Galli et al. 2008; Lee and Song 2007).

Depending on the objective, hESC can be used in different injection systems such as intramuscular (IM), intravenous (IV), surgery, tissue engineering protocols and the like (Shroff 2016b). Embryo pluripotent stem cells are considered as candidates of cellular-based therapy for treating different incurable diseases, for instance, degenerative neural diseases like Parkinson's disease (PD)(Lebedeva and Lagarkova 2018), amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS), spinal cord damage, and/or regenerative medicine application for the eye and pancreas tissues (Table 1) (Trounson et al. 2015). Some techniques have

Table 1 The list of important diseases that clinical usage of hESC for treating of these has been started

Candidate Diseases			
Neural diseases	Spinal cord injury, Amyotrophic		
	Lateral Sclerosis, Parkinson's Disease		
Heart diseases	Severe heart failure		
Diabetes	Diabetes type I		
Eye diseases	Myopic macular degeneration, Wet and dry Age-related macular degeneration, Stargardt's macular dystrophy		
Immunotherapy	Immunotherapy vaccine for lung cancer		

been developed to differentiate ESC into germ layers, and each one of these techniques can be a candidate to treat some diseases, and under specific conditions, ESC differentiate into different cell types (Fig. 1).

Recently, several clinical trials reported clinical use of hESC and opened new ideas in hESCbased therapy. Hence, there are many unclear mechanisms of neonatal differentiation that require more molecular studies before the entrance to the clinical application (Roshangar et al. 2010). However, ethical challenges regarding hESC research, such as concerns about the destruction of a human embryo, are the main factors that have limited the development of hESC-based clinical therapies. This study is a review of clinical studies dealing with hESCbased therapy and their advantages, limitations, and other specific concerns. This overview will be beneficial for understanding the standard and promising applications of cell and tissue-based therapeutic approaches and for developing novel therapeutic applications for hESC.

2 hESC for Clinical Trials

Clinical trial studies are carried out to secure clinical licenses for novel medical treatments for which early research (in vitro steps) and the preclinical stages have been successfully established. These studies provide satisfactory data as to the safety and efficacy of the new propositions for therapeutic purposes. Every clinical trial involves five phases: Early Phase 1 or Phase 0 (to review how or whether a drug affects the body), Phase 1 (to focus on the safety of a drug), Phase 2 (to investigate whether a drug works in bodies with а specific condition/disease), Phase 3 (to gather more information about a drug's safety and effectiveness by analyzing several populations and distinct dosages and by applying the drug in combination with other medicines) and Phase 4 (to gather additional data about a drug's safety, efficacy, or optimal performance after marketing), each corresponding to the stages of a clinical trial study. There are different databases of privately and publicly-funded



Fig. 1 A schematic representation of ESC differentiation pathways (a) and their delivery systems (b) for regenerative medicine applications

clinical trial studies conducted at country, region, and international levels. The most important clinical trial database is the U.S. National Library of Medicine (Clinicaltrials.gov), which contains the data of clinical studies from all around the world (Golchin et al. 2018a).

In the following, hESC-based clinical trials are described. Clinical applications of hESC have been summarized in (Fig. 2). Besides, the list of registered hESC-based therapy clinical trials in (https://clinicaltrials.gov/) has been provided in Table 2 that, according to these data, China has the first rank in hESC therapy clinical research,

and other countries are in progress (Fig. 3). Since hESC-based therapy approaches are scalable, free of xeno-products, and can be provided expeditiously, they can be used to treat a diversity of incurable and terminal diseases). In the following, hESC-based clinical trials are described.

3 Neurological Disorders

In 2001, a randomized clinical trial by Freed et al. was performed among 40 severe Parkinson's disease patients aged 34–75 years. The patients were



Fig. 2 A schematic representation of ESC culture features and using ESC in clinical trials

				Start/		
	Indication	Phase	Subject	Finish date	Country	Reference
Neural diseases	Spinal cord injury	Phase1	5	2010-2013	USA	Scott and
						Magnus (2014)
	Amyotrophic Lateral	Phase1 &	21	2018-2020	Israel	NCT03482050
	Sclerosis (ALS)	Phase2				
	Parkinson diseases	Phase1 &	50	2017-2020	China	NCT03119636
		Phase2				
Heart diseases	Severe heart failure	Phase1	10	2013-2018	France	NCT02057900
Diabetes	Diabetes type I	Phase1 &	69	2014-2021	USA	NCT02239354
		Phase2				
Reproductive	Primary ovarian	Phase 1	28	2019-2021	China	NCT03877471
insufficiency	insufficiency					
	Infertility	Not applicable	240	2017-2020	China	NCT02713854
	Infertility	-	40	2002-2025	Israel	NCT00353197
Eye diseases	Retinitis pigmentosa	Phase1	10	2019-2020	China	NCT03944239
	Retinitis Pigmentosa	Phase1 &	12	2019-2021	France	NCT03963154
		Phase2				
	Macular degenerative	Phase1 &	36	2018-2029	UK	NCT03167203
	disease	Phase2				
	Dry Age Related Macular	Phase1 &	10	2017-2020	China	NCT03046407
	Degeneration Disease (Dry	Phase2				
	AMD)					
	Dry AMD	Phase1 &	16	2015-2023	USA	NCT02590692
		Phase2				

 Table 2
 The list of reported and registered hESC-based clinical trials

				Start/		
	Indication	Phase	Subject	Finish date	Country	Reference
	AMD	Phase1 & Phase2	10	2018–2020	China	NCT02755428
	Stargardt's Macular Dystrophy (SMD)	-	12	2013–2019	UK	NCT02941991
	Dry AMD	Phase1	3	2016–2019	South Korea	NCT03305029
	AMD	Phase1&Phase2	12	2012–2020	South Korea	NCT01674829
	Outer retinal degenerations	Phase1 & Phase2	18	2015–2019	Brazil	NCT02903576
	SMD	Phase1 & Phase2	12	2011–2015	UK	NCT01469832
	SMD	Phase1 & Phase2	13	2011–2015	USA	NCT01345006
	Advanced Dry AMD	Phase1 & Phase2	13	2011–2015	USA	NCT01344993
	Age-related macular degeneration	Phase1 & Phase2	24	2015–2024	Israel	NCT02286089
	SMD	Phase 1	3	2012–2015	South Korea	NCT01625559
	SMD patients	-	13	2012-2019	USA	NCT02445612
	AMD	-	11	2012-2019	USA	NCT02463344
	AMD	Phase 1	2	2015-2019	UK	NCT01691261
	Retinal pigment	-	2	2016-2020	UK	NCT03102138
	Macular degeneration diseases	Phase1 & Phase2	15	2015–2019	China	NCT02749734
Immunotherapy	Non-small cell lung cancer	Phase1	48	2018-2022	UK	NCT03371485
Injury	Meniscus injury	Phase1	18	2019-2020	China	NCT03839238

Table 2 (continued)

randomized to implant dopamine (DA) neurons from a single embryo and/or sham surgery (Freed et al. 2001). The trial results demonstrated that the transplanted DA neurons were able to survive in patients and provided some clinical benefits in younger individuals as opposed to older patients.

The first clinical trial study on hESC approved by Food and Drug Administration (FDA), USA, was conducted by Geron Corporation in 2009 to transplant differentiated oligodendrocyte cells from hESC for treating patients with spinal cord injury (SCI) (Ilic et al. 2015). Patients with spinal cord injury received injections of oligodendrocyte progenitor cells derived from hESC. However, the company that launched the trial terminated it due to financial restrictions (Safety Study of GRNOPC1 in Spinal Cord Injury – Full Text

View – ClinicalTrials.gov n.d.). Achieving the goal of this trial could be a revolution in treating neurological disorders, therefore, in 2011, bio-plasma resumed this trial and after a 3-year follow-up, results of the five patients receiving the transplantation were published in 2014, according to which no patient had suffered from any serious adverse events to Date (Lukovic et al. 2014; Scott and Magnus 2014; Shroff et al. 2017). In 2016 at Keck Medical Center of University of the USA, neuroscientists treated a 21-year-old total quadriplegic patient with the injection of 10×10^6 stem cells (AST-OPC1) into the damaged cervical spine as a part of a multi-center clinical trial. The patient's upper body function had considerably improved 2 weeks after surgery, and 90 days later, he was able to move his hands



Fig. 3 Review of the clinical trials database (https:// clinicaltrials.gov) according to registered studies containing the term "hESC clinical trials", "hESC-derived cell types", plus their "Date", "Status" and "Country". (a): Summarize of hESC-based clinical trials and clinical use

of differentiated cells from hESC, (b): Pie chart of the registered clinical trials according to Date of registration, (c): Status of trials in Clinicaltrials.gov, and (d): Pie chart of the registered clinical trials according to registrant countries

(First Ever Quadriplegic Treated With Stem Cells Regains Motor Control in His Upper Body – Good News Network 2016; Shroff et al. 2017).

In the area of preclinical studies, Fandel et al. (2016) showed that transplanted hESC-derived cells significantly improved pain and bladder function in rodent SCI models (Blesch 2016; Fandel et al. 2016). A case report was published in 2016 in New Deli, India, on the clinical uses of hESC for one patient with multiple sclerosis (MS) and one with Lyme disease (LD) (Shroff 2016b). The results showed that the clinical use of hESC was a suitable treatment for patients with MS or LD. Also, the patients enjoyed considerable benefits in terms of daily motor skills, physical strength, learning capability, and physical power from cell therapy between 2014 and 2015. MRI-SPECT images and examinations also supported this finding. The two patients under study also received physiotherapy support and antibiotics after cell transplantation (Shroff 2016b).

On the other hand, previous studies on rats have shown that hESC-derived oligodendrocytes had a positive effect on remyelination of nerve fibers and body motor stimulation (Sharp et al. 2009).

A study was initiated in Australia to obtain hESC-derived neural cells to treat PD (Menasché et al. 2015a). One common issue in all such studies is the limitations in separating dopaminergic cells needed for treating PD from other neural cells like serotonergic cells (Schulz et al. 2012). There have been studies on transplanting embryonic abdominal mesencephalon pluripotent cells for treating PD. These cells are abundant in dopaminergic neural cells, which are needed in PD patients. Experiments on animals with the same disease have been promising, such that along with the revival of cells, the reticular formation was improved (ISCO completes dosing of 2nd cohort in Parkinson's disease clinical trial n.d.; Kushner et al. 2014). Moreover, academic associations have initiated activities to transplant ESC to PD patients, along with observing medical regulations (Canet-Aviles et al. 2014; Lindvall et al. 2004; Takagi et al. 2005). Hence, in future studies, dopaminergic neurons differentiated from pluripotent stem cells, including ESC and iPSC can play a primary role in cellular-based therapy of PD.

4 Cardiovascular Diseases

A large number of clinical trials have shown that stem cell therapy can be a promising novel therapeutic approach for the treatment of cardiovascular diseases. Studies have shown that hESCderived cardiomyocytes express cardiac transcription factors and display adult cardiomyocyte phenotype and pulsing activity in vitro (Cambria et al. 2017; Sanganalmath and Bolli 2013). A study in Paris Public Hospital, France, in 2013 entered trial Phase 1 (NCT02057900) in an attempt to survey the safety of cardiomyocyte progenitor cells (CD15+ Isl-1+) derived from hESC for 10 severe heart failure patients (Menasché et al. 2015b). The study used fibrin gel scaffold as cell-containing implants to provide the condition needed for the growth, proliferation, and differentiation of cardiomyocyte cells. Without developing tumors at the spot or the outer tissues, the cells were capable of generating cardiomyocyte cell lines. The study also surveyed aspects like stimulating the immunity system of the host and electrical stimulation of cardiomyocytes. The results of this clinical study as the first ESC-based clinical trial study were reported in 2015 and 2017. They demonstrated the feasibility of generating a clinical-grade population of hESC-derived cardiac progenitor cells and combining them within a tissue-engineered construct (Menasché et al. 2015b). One year later, the team introduced a protocol that generated a highly purified population of cardiovascular progenitors to be used in their clinical trial study. They demonstrated the technical feasibility of producing clinical-grade hESC-derived cardiovascular progenitor cells. They supported their short- and medium-term safety, thereby setting the grounds for adequately powered efficacy studies (Menasché et al. 2018). Additionally, ESC-derived exosomes displayed enhanced cardiac function and repair in infarcted mice (Khan et al. 2015). Investigations are continued in ESC-based therapy in the treatment of cardiovascular diseases.

5 Diabetes Type I

Literature reviews showed that several preclinical studies support the feasibility of using differentiated hESC for treating diabetes mellitus patients (Han'guk Palsaeng Saengmul Hakhoe, 심중현, 우**동**훈, & 김종훈 2007; Jacobson and Tzanakakis 2018; Xing et al. 2015). Recently, a clinical study that was initiated in the USA in 2014 and expanded to Canada in 2015 developed a cell culture of insulin-secreting β cells of the pancreas Langerhans Islets derived from hESC and without feeding layers to treat diabetes type I. Totally, 40 patients with type 1 diabetes mellitus participated in the study to place a device containing hESC-derived pancreatic precursor cells under their skin. The study led to exciting and reliable results, and the in vivo secretion of insulin in the patients was confirmed at the final stage of cellular differentiation and survey of reactions to glucose (Ilic et al. 2015). This clinical registered at www.clinicaltrials.gov study, (NCT02239354), was supported substantially by the California Institute for Regenerative Medicine (www.cirm.ca.gov) and global type 1 diabetes research organization JDRF (www.jdrf.org).

6 Ophthalmology

Given the regenerative and differentiative capacities of ESC, hESC-based therapy has been tested for retinal disorders, some of which have shown excellent prospects. One of the first hESCderived cells was transplanted into human patients with retinal disorders. In the first trial, Schwartz et al. reported that after 4 months, the hESC-derived retinal pigment epithelium (RPE) cells showed no signs of hyperproliferation, tumorigenicity, ectopic tissue formation, or apparent rejection (Schwartz et al. 2012). They extended their study by following up two openlabel, Phase 1/2 studies. Their clinical trial results were published in 2015 and supported the primary findings obtained in Ocata Company. The study utilized ECS for the differentiation of RPE to treat macular degeneration (Schwartz et al. 2015). The results showed 99% differentiation into RPE cells. Nine patients with macular degeneration (older than 55 years) and nine patients with Stargardt's disease (older than 18 years) were grouped into cell concentration groups 10×10^4 , 15×10^4 and 50×10^4 for each eye. The significant side-effects were rooted in surgery challenges and immunity system suppression. After 22 months, improvement in eyesight of 19 patients was confirmed, seven patients experino improvement, and one patient enced demonstrated symptoms of further loss of eyesight. An unbalanced expansion of the regenerated retinal epithelium was observed in 72% of the patients. The study results also indicated that in 3-12 months, the quality of life index of the patients, in terms of sight, improved from 16 to 25 in macular degeneration patients and from 8 to 20 in patients with Stargardt's disease (Schwartz et al. 2015). However, achieving a more balanced substrate of epithelium cells and better results requires further studies (Liu et al. 2018).

A similar study recently conducted in South Korea employed cell therapy and retinal transplantation with hESC-derived RPE in two patients with age-induced macular degeneration and two patients with Stargardt macular dystrophy (Song et al. 2015). The follow-up term was 1 year and no side effect indicating hyperproliferation at the transplantation site, tumor generation, ectopic tissue, or the like was observed. In addition, visual acuity in three patients improved by 9–19 points and remained unchanged in one patient. Ophthalmologic tests after the surgery indicated no complications (Song et al. 2015).

Recently, Chinese researchers have developed a clinical-grade hESC line under xeno-free conditions that were differentiated into RPE cells for the treatment of wet age-related macular degeneration (wet-AMD) patients (Liu et al. 2018). Other studies in the UK and USA were carried out on treating macular degeneration using RPE cells derived from ESC, where the derived epithelial cells were grown on a very thin scaffold to be injected below the photoreceptor cells. There are also reports by Japanese researchers of using epithelial cells derived from iPSC for retinal transplantation (Cyranoski 2014; Song et al. 2015).

7 Immuno-Therapy

Currently, stem cell studies have provided a new viewpoint for vaccine engineering to employ engineered cells as a vaccine for the prevention and treatment of some incurable diseases. Stem cell vaccines are effective in promoting the pre-existing anti-cancer immune responses. Therefore, Marek's disease (Vautherot et al. 2017), hepatic tumors (Zheng et al. 2017) and lung cancer (Yaddanapudi et al. 2012) are the candidate diseases essential for applying ESC-derived vaccines. **GRNVAC2** or AST-VAC2 is an hESC-derived cancer vaccine (allogeneic) designed to stimulate immune systems of patients with non-small-cell lung carcinoma. AST-VAC2 acts against telomerase, the main cancer protein rarely expressed in healthy adult cells. In 2014, a clinical trial of AST-VAC2 as hESC-derived mature dendritic cells (hESC-DCs) was designed to evaluate the safety and toxicity of the vaccine, its feasibility, stimulation of patient immune responses to telomerase and AST-VAC2, and clinical outcomes after AST-VAC2 administration in lung cancer patients (BioTime Subsidiary, Asterias Biotherapeutics, and Cancer Research UK and Cancer Research Technology Partner for Clinical Trial of Immunotherapy Vaccine for Lung Cancer | Business Wire 2014).

8 Guidelines About the Protocols of Using hESC in Basic Studies and Clinical Trials

Cell therapy techniques based on stem cells are advancing and many of them are in the clinical trial stage (Golchin et al. 2018a). Besides, the International Association of Stem Cells has proposed establishing an international bank of stem cells. The association is a national, and at the same time, an international group and it is aimed at conducting studies on stem cells to develop a principles (ethical-scientific) set of and techniques to store stem cells and to test, examine, and use hESC for therapeutic purposes (Crook et al. 2010). These guidelines are set by FDA, USA, along with recommendations for those in charge of judging proposals of stem cells therapeutic experiments. The good manufacturing practice (GMP) conditions recommended by FDA and European Medical Administration (EMA) are aimed at developing standards of using clinical guidelines and optimizing the safety and quality of stem cells used for cell therapy (Golchin and Farahany 2019).

In Japan, clinical works using hESC were virtually impossible before the adoption of "Guidelines on the Derivation of hESC" in late 2014 (Azuma 2015). All these guidelines and codes are designed to make sure that stem cells are supplied for clinical applications with the highest quality and functionality (Carpenter and Rao 2015; Unger et al. 2008). The notable point is that these guidelines do not guarantee the quality and effectiveness of the cells derived from hESC (Guidance for FDA reviews and sponsors content and review of chemistry, manufacturing, and control (CMC) information for human somatic cell therapy investigational new drug applications (INDS). | Search Results | IUCAT Kokomo n.d.). They are only designed to ensure the replicability of regeneration of stem cells and that it is possible to rely on specific and precise measures to guarantee the health and wellbeing of patients. The following sections discuss the challenges and meaningful solutions in using ESC for clinical trial studies.

9 hESC Culture for Clinical Trial Studies

Among the concerns and limitations of using embryonic pluripotent cells is the potential risk of the development of germ layer tumors, which has been observed in experimental studies on rats and other models (Benninger et al. 2003; Roy et al. 2006). It is essential, therefore, to consider ECS derivatives as candidates for tumor-free cell transplantation and replacement. Another concern is the differentiation of cells derived from embryonic lines into the cells of other tissues. For instance, imperfect transplants of stem cellderived myocardial cells to damaged myocardium may alter electrical activity (arrhythmic stimulation) (Gepstein et al. 2010). Therefore, there is a need for further optimization and development of differentiation and purification protocols for preclinical tests and clinical treatment to minimize the risk of ectopic cells. Since it is possible to culture and obtain specific types of cells using specific molecules at critical time points, most of these methods yield moderate enrichment that is not adequate or fit for clinical application.

Marker molecules are single-stranded oligonucleotides that generate fluorescent signals when bonding with their target mRNA; therefore, these cells can be recognized based on their fluorescent activities. The notable point is that the marker molecule has a short life term and does not change the genomic structure of hESC. Therefore, this method can be used to enrich cellular populations derived from suitable stem cells or to single out a variety of unwanted cells like undifferentiated ESC that can generate tumors (King et al. 2011).

10 Providing a Cell Culture System Free of any Xenobiotics for hESC

Many of the available ESC lines are obtained through isolation and *in vitro* proliferation in contact with animal products. This creates the risk of contamination with toxic materials, microorganisms, and unknown organisms that might stimulate an immune reaction.

Currently, the ESC line for microbiological tests is recommended by the International Stem Cell Banking Initiative (ISCBI). The FDA requires access to documents, sources, and information of genetic potential of the modified elements and diseases causing factors in each cell derived from hESC for clinical trial purposes. It is essential, therefore, to prevent any exposure to xenobiotics. Recently developed cultures for trial studies are required to ensure that stem cells are kept away from xenobiotics (Catalina et al. 2008; Stasi et al. 2014). Among the measures taken to this end are serum replacement without xenobiotics (e.g., Knockout Serum Replacer [Invitrogen]) and culture medium (e.g., HESGRO [Millipore] or TeSR [STEMCELL])(Hannoun et al. 2010; Ritner et al. 2011; Wong and Bernstein 2010).

There have been advances in the development of culture systems without feeding layers. These cultures minimize the contamination of ESC with xenobiotics compared with the cells cultured on feeding cellular layers (Fukusumi et al. 2013). Cultures without feeding layers and xenobiotics that contain a mixture of recombinant factors with features like controlling differentiation and preserving the pluripotent status of ESC are now commercially available. However, there are reports of high chromosomal instability and high risk of ESC instability from a genetics point of view (Catalina et al. 2008). This is one of the limitations of the clinical use of ESC for clinical trials. Embryonic stem cells fed by layers of human feeder cells like fibroblasts can attenuate these limitations to some extent (Ilic et al. 2009; Ström et al. 2010).

Moreover, the human umbilical cord blood serum (UCBS) matrix ensures the highest proliferation speed and preserves karyotype stability without using the feeding layers and serum up to the 10th passage (Ding et al. 2015). However, further progress toward the development of an ESC line suitable for clinical trial studies needs more studies, and the good news is that there are several studies underway in this field.

11 Genetic Anomalies in hESC Lines

Embryonic stem cells derived at the early stage of embryonic life possess the best specifications found in stem cells; however, having the most desired specifications and capacity does not necessarily mean that the cell line suits medical applications. There are reports of chromosome and genome instability in several hESC lines, along with losing heterozygosity or an increase in the diversity of cancer-related genes (Lefort et al. 2008; Närvä et al. 2010). Taking into account that these changes and mutations are less frequent in lower passage cells, it appears that mutations are more likely to appear in longterm cultures. Some of these instabilities and mutations occur through the early proliferation and cellular differentiation stages when cells adapt to the culture condition (Baker et al. 2007). Given the self-renewal and fast proliferation and differentiation of ESC in vivo and in vitro, the risk of DNA damage or DNA cut and break in double-stranded DNA is higher in genome. However, studies have the cells' recommended that the genome stability of ESC is higher than somatic cells and their genetic response to damage or repair of damage is more robust (Baker et al. 2007). At any rate, these observations prepare the ground for determining the standards of working with hESC lines and their specifications, especially in long-term cultures, which eventually leads to medical applications.
12 Inhibiting Immunity Rejection of Transplantation OF ESC-Derived Cells

The immunity system rejects the transplantation of ESC at the differentiation and proliferation stages as they express both major histocompatibility complex (MHC) I & II, and these tissue adaptation molecules trivially stimulate the immunity system (Bradley et al. 2002). Another factor stimulating the immune system of the receiver is the incompatibility of ABO blood type antigens of the donor and recipient (Lee et al. 2010). These two issues should always be taken into account for tissue and cell transplantation, as they are the causes of stimulation of the immune system and transplant rejection. The best way to avoid transplant rejection by the immune system is to use genetically identical cells from the donor and recipient. Therefore, SCNT is a solution to generate unique ESC lines. Through this method, enucleated egg cells grow to the blastocyst stage and then ESC is derived. The derived stem cells in this method possess an immunological profile compatible with that of the recipient so that they can be used for cell therapeutic purposes. This technique is used for ESC of different species. However, there is no SCNT-derived hESC available yet (Bradley et al. 2002). Another strategy to derive hESC with more compatibility with the recipient is cell engineering to develop a tissue with the lowest tissue incompatibility. For instance, one way is to use cells from a donor with blood type O and suppressed HLA expression (Drukker 2004).

Moreover, there have been proposals to create hESC line banks to supply ABO/HLA combinations that are potentially compatible with the majority of patients. There have been studies supporting such proposals (Nakajima et al. 2007; Taylor et al. 2005). For instance, Taylor et al. concluded that about 150 hESC cell lines express HLA that fit the majority of the USA and UK populations combined (Taylor et al. 2005).

13 Advantages of Using ESC Along with Other Stem Cells

Regardless of all the limitations of using hESC, they are still considered as a critical source of stem cells for clinical trial studies and cell therapy. Currently, there are thousands of hESC lines available for research worldwide; however, only 400 hESC lines are approved for use by the US federal funding, and only five hESC lines were used in preliminary studies (Ludwig et al. 2018). Other sources of stem cells are adult stem cells and iPSC. Despite hESC, iPSC can be derived from patients, which solves the limitation of allogeneic sources.

Moreover, the use of iPSC raises no moral and religious concerns that are the case in using ESC. However, there are many limitations in using adult stem cells and iPSC. Thus, in some cases, hESC are potentially preferred (Drukker 2004).

Adult stem cells are derived from non-embryonic tissues and they are generally positioned in their source tissues. Like hESC, adult stem cells are capable of self-renewal; however, they have a limited potential and can be differentiated into their source tissue cells only once. In general, adult stem cells cannot differentiate into different cells of the source tissue as embryonic stem cells can. Moreover, they cannot preserve their growth capacity in the long run. Another problem lies with using stem cells derived from aged individuals as they have a shallow potential of differentiation and proliferation (Phinney and Prockop 2007; Stenderup et al. 2003).

iPSC is generated by the differentiation of somatic cells that have reached the pluripotent stage through reprogramming. This was first reported in the study by Yamanaka et al. (2006) where cells demonstrated key features of early ESC developed through activating four relatively different factors (i.e., Sox2, Klf4, Oct4, and C-myc) in murine fibroblast cells. The technique was implemented on human cells in 2007 (Ilic

et al. 2015). Different methods have been employed to express these factors and iPSC (Somersall et al. 2013). There are methods available to transfer these factors to somatic cells and some of them, such as retrovirus, lentivirus, and adenovirus, are featured with the risk of hazardous and permanent genome contamination.

Moreover, some iPSC lines are not genetically stable and large-scale genomic rearrangements demonstrate instability and variations in the number of copies, many copies of a gene, and karyotypic anomalies even at the early stages of passage (Gore et al. 2011). There are strategies based on mixing without using plasmid to minimize genome damages and mutations, such as synthetic RNA transfer, viral RNA transfer, or adding purified cell-penetrating recombinant proteins (Kim et al. 2009; Zhou et al. 2009). However, these methods of deriving iPSC are less efficient compared with viral vectors (Golchin et al. 2018b). Also, in some iPSC lines, no positive change in terms of decrease of mutagenicity was observed without a virus vector. Recent studies have also shown that in addition to genomic changes, iPSC includes epigenetic specifications like improper or incomplete reprogramming. Among these are DNA mutations of iPSC, mostly resembling primary somatic cells and indicating that iPSC are not entirely at the pluripotent stage (Lister et al. 2011).

Moreover, there are reports of survival of ESC for 18 years, while there is no similar report for iPSC. It must be considered that iPSC were generated for the first time 13 years ago (Pruksananonda et al. 2012). However, patientderived iPSC is not suitable for age-related diseases since the somatic cells of the elderly probably have a considerable amount of genomic mutagens and hazardous epigenetic maps. However, the NIH twenty-first Century Cures Act in the USA excludes explicitly funding for hESCbased technologies. At the same time, it supports iPSC, even though an overwhelming amount of associated research, validation, and characterization works have been done on hESC, and the considerable progress in clinical trials has been achieved using hESC (Ludwig et al. 2018).

The most reasonable assessment based on the current knowledge is that hESC-based therapies have no considerable future in terms of clinical application, at least in the next few years. After the introduction of human-induced pluripotent stem cells (hiPSC), a comparison between pluripotency features of iPSC and hESC was made possible. While ethical problems have consistently limited hESC applications, iPSC display differences compared to hESC, including a higher propensity for specification toward particular cell types based on the memory retained from their origin somatic cell source (K. Kim et al. 2010; Noguchi et al. 2018).

The main restrictions regarding the clinical use of hESC are the possible immunogenic responses, a variety of non-differentiated cell types, and teratogens population. However, rapid and reliable methods for isolating hiPSC populations are primarily needed for quality control in cellularbased therapy applications. However, new studies introduced novel methods to distinguish and isolate undifferentiated and teratogenic cells from target cell populations for cell-based therapeutic purposes (Tomuleasa et al. 2014; Wang et al. 2011). Nevertheless, the newest EU innovation program for Horizon 2020 does not restrict researchers in their use of cell type (hESC or hiPSC). In addition to that, currently, iPSC provides a unique opportunity for creating different disease models and has attracted full attention from scientists in the field of regenerative medicine. There are ongoing studies on the safety and efficiency of iPSC. However, studies are continued for improving cellular therapy protocols and products by using different cell sources (Golchin et al. 2019; Golchin 2020).

14 Outlook and Future Directions

Stem cell-based therapy has created much excitement in the regenerative medicine field, as it allows us to the usage of human-derived cells and tissue in therapeutic targets. The application of hESC as a promising stem cell source for cellular-based therapies is expected to boost progress through to 2025. Specific features of ESC, including self-renewal and pluripotency (Itskovitz-Eldor et al. 2000) enable them to generate three embryonic germ layers (i.e., endoderm, mesoderm and ectoderm), while they can preserve their self-renewal capability. Despite all the difficulties and debates, clinical trial studies on the treatment of several incurable diseases, including spinal cord injury, retinal macular degeneration, type 1 diabetes and heart failure, are already underway. The global hESC market is anticipated to reach US\$ 1.06 billion by 2025 (Human Embryonic Stem Cells (hESC) Market Analysis By Application (Regenerative Medicines, Stem Cell Biology Research, Tissue Engineering, Toxicology Testing), By Country (U.S., UK, Germany, Japan, China), And Segment Forecasts, 2014-2025, 2017), with Europe accounting for a considerable share of the market following North America (Human Embryonic Stem Cells (hESC) Market Analysis By Application (Regenerative Medicines, Stem Cell Biology Research, Tissue Engineering, Toxicology Testing), By Country (U.S., UK, Germany, Japan, China), And Segment Forecasts, 2014–2025, 2017). Hence, hESC technology provides a unique opportunity for regenerative medicine applications in humans.

According to more than two decades of research in the hESC field, the potential applications of hESC in human basic developmental biology and regenerative medicine are vivid. However, several serious problems need to be resolved before the full potential of hESC in this field can be realized. Therefore, further progress in ongoing trials is necessary to develop a more efficient hESC culture system, develop a stable enzymatic passaging technique, improve techniques for genetic manipulation of hESC, enhance ES cell lines capability (SEMB 2005), design and pursue hESC clinical trials, and develop the therapies available in less developed countries. While hESC-based therapy products or

approaches have not extensively entered the clinic, the high costs of these therapies have raised some issues about the real cost-benefit analysis of these new therapies. For incurable and rare devastating diseases, these high costs may be supported if the treatment effect is significant, but for more general diseases, cost tags differing from \$300,000 to \$750,000 are not currently acceptable (Ylä-Herttuala 2019). However, the natural linkage between the destinations of basic and clinical hESC research and the industrial cellular-based therapy sector has continued to permeate the field about prospects for the regenerative medicine and cellular-based therapy fields among external observers, senior academic researchers involved in the field, clinicians, investors, policymakers, and health care manufacturers (Huang and Jong 2019; Klein et al. 2009; Mason and Manzotti 2009).

With recently discovered relatively specific genome editing techniques such as clustered regularly-interspaced short palindromic repeats (CRISPR), disease-specific mutations can be produced in manipulated fine hESC lines that have essential DNA methylation footprint of cells(Ilic and Ogilvie 2017; Jinek et al. 2014). After the progression of hiPSC, because of their free of ethical issues, hESC started to lose their unique appeal(Takahashi et al. 2007; Yu et al. 2007). However, as the critical difference between hESC and iPSC is the potentially modified genomic and epigenetic condition of iPSC, additional standards will be needed in hiPSC-based trials. These additional standards need additional cost and time that may provide some limitations for iPSC-based clinical applications.

On the other hand, hESC derivation provides a different occasion for early human development studies. The discovery of ESC represented a significant advancement in developmental biology, as it allowed the usual manipulation of the cell genome. ESC have been used extensively for generating cell mutants for more than two decades, and their application as a model for developmental biology has been improved.

15 Conclusion

Since the limitations of ESC have been preclinical demonstrated by studies and experiments on animals, the improvement of the culture environment and the derived cells needs further studies. On the other hand, the chance of treating hard-to-cure diseases and helping transplantation candidates using cell therapy is an exciting opportunity that justifies further studies. Contrary to the speed of hESC research from the laboratory to clinical trials, regulation and funding barriers have decelerated the progress. Moreover, ESC lines have been useful in designing therapeutic methods and discovering new drugs and they hold great promises. On the other hand, cell therapy is moving toward using differentiated cells derived from stem cells, among which ESC have attracted a great deal of attention thanks to their unique specifications. There are many scientific, ethical, and legal hurdles to deal with in clinical using ESC. It is good news, however, that clinical studies using hESC for therapeutic purposes have been already initiated and proper steps have been taken to differentiate hESC into specialized cells suitable for cell therapy. Such studies pave the way of using medical advantages of hESC in regenerative medicine, mostly for the age-related diseases that are going to be a severe issue for the health sector soon. Nonetheless, hESC are associated with numerous drawbacks, including the concomitant administration of lifelong immunosuppressive therapy, tumorigenicity, limited effectiveness, and ethical problems. As mentioned before, recent studies support the application of ESC in clinical settings. When all limitations of ESC are entirely overcome, ESC will become superior to the existing stem cell sources.

Author Contributions A.G. conceptualized the outline and contents of the paper. All authors contributed to writing and editing the manuscript, but A. C. more had an advisory role.

Disclosure of Potential Conflicts of Interest The authors confirm that this article content has no conflict of interest.

References

- Azuma K (2015) Regulatory landscape of regenerative medicine in Japan. Curr Stem Cell Rep 1(2):118–128. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40778-015-0012-6
- Baker DEC, Harrison NJ, Maltby E, Smith K, Moore HD, Shaw PJ et al (2007) Adaptation to culture of human embryonic stem cells and oncogenesis in vivo. Nat Biotechnol 25(2):207–215. https://doi.org/10.1038/ nbt1285
- Benninger F, Beck H, Wernig M, Tucker KL, Brüstle O, Scheffler B (2003) Functional integration of embryonic stem cell-derived neurons in hippocampal slice cultures. J Neurosci 23(18):7075–7083. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/12904468
- BioTime Subsidiary, Asterias Biotherapeutics, and Cancer Research UK and Cancer Research Technology Partner for Clinical Trial of Immunotherapy Vaccine for Lung Cancer | Business Wire (2014) Retrieved January 6, 2019, from https://www.businesswire.com/news/ home/20140911006326/en/BioTime-Subsidiary-Asterias-Biotherapeutics-CancerResearch-UK#. VbR2Y3iyXTR
- Blesch A (2016) Human ESC-derived interneurons improve major consequences of spinal cord injury. Cell Stem Cell 19(4):423–424. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.stem.2016.09.008
- Bradley JA, Bolton EM, R P, Bradley JA, Bolton EM, Pedersen RA (2002) Stem cell medicine encounters the immune system. Nat Rev Immunol 2(11):859–871. https://doi.org/10.1038/nri934
- Cambria E, Pasqualini FS, Wolint P, Günter J, Steiger J, Bopp A et al (2017) Translational cardiac stem cell therapy: advancing from first-generation to nextgeneration cell types. Npj Regenerat Med 2(1):17. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41536-017-0024-1
- Canet-Aviles R, Lomax GP, Feigal EG, Priest C (2014) Proceedings: cell therapies for Parkinson's disease from discovery to clinic. Stem Cells Transl Med 3 (9):979–991. https://doi.org/10.5966/sctm.2014-0146
- Carpenter MK, Rao MS (2015) Concise review: making and using clinically compliant pluripotent stem cell lines. Stem Cells Transl Med 4(4):381–388. https:// doi.org/10.5966/sctm.2014-0202
- Catalina P, Montes R, Ligero G, Sanchez L, de la Cueva T, Bueno C et al (2008) Human ESCs predisposition to karyotypic instability: is a matter of culture adaptation or differential vulnerability among hESC lines due to inherent properties? Mol Cancer 7:76. https://doi.org/ 10.1186/1476-4598-7-76
- Crook JM, Hei D, Stacey G (2010) The international stem cell banking initiative (ISCBI): raising standards to bank on. In Vitro Cell Dev Biol Anim 46 (3–4):169–172. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11626-010-9301-7
- Cyranoski D (2014, September 12) Japanese woman is first recipient of next-generation stem cells. https:// doi.org/10.1038/nature.2014.15915
- Ding Y, Yang H, Yu L, Xu CL, Zeng Y, Qiu Y, Li DS (2015) Feeder-free and xeno-free culture of human

pluripotent stem cells using UCBS matrix. Cell Biol Int 39(10):1111–1119. https://doi.org/10.1002/cbin. 10484

- Drukker M (2004) Immunogenicity of human embryonic stem cells: can we achieve tolerance? Springer Semin Immunopathol 26(1–2):201–213. https://doi.org/10. 1007/s00281-004-0163-5
- Fan R (2007) The ethics of human embryonic stem cell research and the interests of the family. In: The family, medical decision-making, and biotechnology, pp 127–148. https://doi.org/10.1007/1-4020-5220-0_10
- Fandel TM, Trivedi A, Nicholas CR, Zhang H, Chen J, Martinez AF et al (2016) Transplanted human stem cell-derived interneuron precursors mitigate mouse bladder dysfunction and central neuropathic pain after spinal cord injury. Cell Stem Cell 19(4):544–557. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.stem.2016.08.020
- First Ever Quadriplegic Treated With Stem Cells Regains Motor Control in His Upper Body – Good News Network (2016) Retrieved November 2, 2019, from Good News Network website: https://www. goodnewsnetwork.org/first-ever-quadriplegic-treatedstem-cells-regains-motor-control-upper-body/
- Freed CR, Greene PE, Breeze RE, Tsai W-Y, DuMouchel W, Kao R et al (2001) Transplantation of embryonic dopamine neurons for severe Parkinson's disease. N Engl J Med 344(10):710–719. https://doi. org/10.1056/NEJM200103083441002
- Fukusumi H, Shofuda T, Kanematsu D, Yamamoto A, Suemizu H, Nakamura M et al (2013) Feeder-free generation and long-term culture of human induced pluripotent stem cells using pericellular matrix of decidua derived mesenchymal cells. PLoS One 8(1): e55226. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0055226
- Galli C, Lagutina I, Duchi R, Colleoni S, Lazzari G (2008) Somatic cell nuclear transfer in horses. Reprod Domest Anim 43:331–337. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1439-0531.2008.01181.x
- Gepstein L, Ding C, Rehemedula D, Wilson EE, Caspi O, Gepstein A, Huber IOJ, Gepstein L, Ding C, Rehemedula D, Wilson EE et al (2010) In vivo assessment of the electrophysiological integration and arrhythmogenic risk of myocardial cell transplantation strategies Stem Cells. *Stem Cells* 28(12):2151–2161. https://doi.org/10.1002/stem.545
- Golchin A (2020) Cell-based therapy for severe COVID-19 patients: clinical trials and cost-utility. Stem Cell Rev Rep. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12015-020-10046-1
- Golchin A, Farahany TZ (2019) Biological products: cellular therapy and FDA approved products. Stem Cell Rev Rep 15(2):1–10. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12015-018-9866-1
- Golchin A, Niknejad H (2017) Cell therapy using embryonic stem cell source in clinical trial studies: advantages and limitations. J Mazandaran Univ Med Sci 27(148):161–175. Retrieved from http://jmums. mazums.ac.ir/article-1-9960-en.html&sw=Cell+Ther apy+Using+Embryonic+Stem+Cell+Source+in+Clini cal+Trial+Studies%3A+Advantages+and+Limitations
- Golchin A, Farahany TZ, Khojasteh A, Soleimanifar F, Ardeshirylajimi A, Soleimanifar F, Ardeshirylajimi A (2018a) The clinical trials of mesenchymal stem cell

therapy in skin diseases: an update and concise review. Curr Stem Cell Res Ther 13(1):22–33. https://doi.org/ 10.2174/1574888X13666180913123424

- Golchin A, Rekabgardan M, Taheri RA, Nourani MR (2018b) Promotion of cell-based therapy: special focus on the cooperation of mesenchymal stem cell therapy and gene therapy for clinical trial studies. In: Turksen K (ed) Advances in experimental medicine and biology, vol 1119, pp 103–118. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/5584_2018_256
- Golchin A, Shams F, Kangari P, Azari A, Hosseinzadeh S (2019) Regenerative medicine: injectable cell-based therapeutics and approved products. Adv Exp Med Biol:1–21. https://doi.org/10.1007/5584_2019_412
- Gore A, Li Z, Fung HL, Young JE, Agarwal S, Antosiewicz- Bourget J, Canto I, Giorgetti A, Israel MA, Kiskinis E, Lee JH, Loh YH, Manos PD, Montserrat N, Panopoulos ADRS, Gore A, Li Z, Fung H-L, Young JE, Agarwal S et al (2011) Somatic coding mutations in human induced pluripotent stem cells. Nature 471(7336):63–67. https://doi.org/10. 1038/nature09805
- Guidance for FDA reviews and sponsors content and review of chemistry, manufacturing, and control (CMC) information for human somatic cell therapy investigational new drug applications (INDS). | Search Results | IUCAT Kokomo. (n.d.). Retrieved January 3, 2019, from https://iucat.iu.edu/iuk/8244157
- Han'guk Palsaeng Saengmul Hakhoe, 심중현, 우동훈, & 김종훈 (2007) Development & reproduction. In Development & Reproduction, vol 11. Retrieved from http://db.koreascholar.com/article?code=1386
- Hannoun Z, Fletcher J, Greenhough S, Medine C, Samuel K, Sharma R et al (2010) The comparison between conditioned media and serum-free media in human embryonic stem cell culture and differentiation. Cell Reprogram 12(2):133–140. https://doi.org/10. 1089/cell.2009.0099
- Huang H, Jong S (2019) Public funding for science and the value of corporate R&D projects; evidence from project initiation and termination decisions in cell therapy.
 J Manag Stud 56(5):1000–1039. https://doi.org/10.1111/joms.12423
- Human Embryonic Stem Cells (hESC) Market Analysis By Application (Regenerative Medicines, Stem Cell Biology Research, Tissue Engineering, Toxicology Testing), By Country (U.S., UK, Germany, Japan, China), And Segment Forecasts, 2014 – 2025 (2017) Retrieved from https://www.researchandmarkets.com/ reports/4118840/human-embryonic-stem-cells-hescmarket-analysis/#rela1-2228035
- Ilic D, Ogilvie C (2017) Concise review: human embryonic stem cells-what have we done? What are we doing? Where are we going? Stem Cells 35(1):17–25. https://doi.org/10.1002/stem.2450
- Ilic D, Giritharan G, Zdravkovic T, Caceres E, Genbacev O, Fisher SJ et al (2009) Derivation of human embryonic stem cell lines from biopsied blastomeres on human feeders with minimal exposure to xenomaterials. Stem Cells Dev 18(9):1343–1350. https://doi.org/10.1089/scd.2008.0416

- Ilic D, Devito L, Miere C, Codognotto S (2015) Human embryonic and induced pluripotent stem cells in clinical trials: table 1. Br Med Bull 116:ldv045. https://doi. org/10.1093/bmb/ldv045
- ISCO completes dosing of 2nd cohort in Parkinson's disease clinical trial (n.d.) Retrieved January 3, 2019, from http://internationalstemcell.com/2018/03/14/inter national-stem-cell-corporation-completes-dosing-2ndcohort-parkinsons-disease-clinical-trial/
- Itskovitz-Eldor J, Schuldiner M, Karsenti D, Eden A, Yanuka O, Amit M et al (2000) Differentiation of human embryonic stem cells into embryoid bodies compromising the three embryonic germ layers. Mol Medicine (Cambridge, Mass) 6(2):88–95. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/10859025
- Jacobson EF, Tzanakakis ES (2018) Who will win: induced pluripotent stem cells versus embryonic stem cells for β cell replacement and diabetes disease Modeling? Curr Diab Rep 18(12):133. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/s11892-018-1109-y
- Jinek M, Jiang F, Taylor DW, Sternberg SH, Kaya E, Ma E et al (2014) Structures of Cas9 endonucleases reveal RNA-mediated conformational activation. Science 343 (6176):1247997–1247997. https://doi.org/10.1126/sci ence.1247997
- Khan M, Nickoloff E, Abramova T, Johnson J, Verma SK, Krishnamurthy P et al (2015) Embryonic stem cellderived exosomes promote endogenous repair mechanisms and enhance cardiac function following myocardial infarction. Circ Res 117(1):52–64. https:// doi.org/10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.117.305990
- Kim D, Kim C-H, Moon J-I, Chung Y-G, Chang M-Y, Han B-S et al (2009) Generation of human induced pluripotent stem cells by direct delivery of reprogramming proteins. Cell Stem Cell 4 (6):472–476. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.stem.2009.05. 005
- Kim K, Doi A, Wen B, Ng K, Zhao R, Cahan P et al (2010) Epigenetic memory in induced pluripotent stem cells. Nature 467(7313):285–290. https://doi.org/10.1038/ nature09342
- King FW, Liszewski W, Ritner C, Bernstein HS, King FW, Liszewski W, Ritner C, H B (2011) Highthroughput tracking of pluripotent human embryonic stem cells with dual fluorescence resonance energy transfer molecular beacons. Stem Cells Dev 20 (3):475–484. https://doi.org/10.1089/scd.2010.0219
- Klein RN, Doyle J, Siegel B (2009) It's about change... Regenerative medicine in the Obama era. Regen Med 4 (1):27–32. https://doi.org/10.2217/17460751.4.1.27
- Kushner JAA, MacDonald PEE, Atkinson MAA (2014) Stem cells to insulin secreting cells: two steps forward and now a time to pause? Cell Stem Cell 15 (5):535–536. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.stem.2014.10. 012
- Lebedeva OS, Lagarkova MA (2018) Pluripotent stem cells for modelling and cell therapy of Parkinson's disease. Biochem Mosc 83(9):1046–1056. https://doi. org/10.1134/S0006297918090067
- Lee E, Song K (2007) Autologous somatic cell nuclear transfer in pigs using recipient oocytes and donor cells

from the same animal. J Vet Sci 8(4):415–421. https:// doi.org/10.4142/JVS.2007.8.4.415

- Lee JE, Kang MS, Park MH, Shim SH, Yoon TK, Chung HM, Lee DR (2010) Evaluation of 28 human embryonic stem cell lines for use as unrelated donors in stem cell therapy: implications of HLA and ABO genotypes. Cell Transplant 19(11):1383–1395. https://doi.org/10. 3727/096368910X513991
- Lefort N, Feyeux M, Bas C, Féraud O, Bennaceur-Griscelli A, Tachdjian G et al (2008) Human embryonic stem cells reveal recurrent genomic instability at 20q11. Nat Biotechnol 26(12):1364–1366. https://doi. org/10.1038/nbt.1509
- Lindvall O, Kokaia Z, Martinez-Serrano A (2004) Stem cell therapy for human neurodegenerative disorders– how to make it work. Nat Med 10(July):S42–S50. https://doi.org/10.1038/nm1064
- Lister R, Pelizzola M, Kida YS, Hawkins RD, Nery JR, G H, Antosiewicz-Bourget J, O'Malley R, Castanon R, S K, Downes M, Yu R, Stewart R, Ren B, Thomson JA, Ecker JR (2011) Hotspots of aberrant epigenomic reprogramming in human induced pluripotent stem cells. Nature 471(7336):68–73. https://doi.org/10. 1038/nature09798
- Liu Y, Xu HW, Wang LL, Li SY, Zhao CJ, Hao J et al (2018) Human embryonic stem cell-derived retinal pigment epithelium transplants as a potential treatment for wet age-related macular degeneration. Cell Discovery 4(1):50. https://doi.org/10.1038/ s41421-018-0053-y
- Lo B, Parham L (2009) Ethical issues in stem cell research. Endocr Rev 30(3):204–213. https://doi.org/10.1210/er. 2008-0031
- Ludwig TE, Kujak A, Rauti A, Andrzejewski S, Langbehn S, Mayfield J et al (2018) 20 years of human pluripotent stem cell research: it all started with five lines. Cell Stem Cell 23(5):644–648. https:// doi.org/10.1016/J.STEM.2018.10.009
- Lukovic D, Stojkovic M, Moreno-Manzano V, Bhattacharya SS, Erceg S (2014) Perspectives and future directions of human pluripotent stem cell-based therapies: lessons from Geron's clinical trial for spinal cord injury. Stem Cells Dev 23(1):1–4. https://doi.org/ 10.1089/scd.2013.0266
- Mason C, Manzotti E (2009) New era dawns for US stem cell research. Regen Med 4(1):1–1. https://doi.org/10. 2217/17460751.4.1.1
- Menasché P, Vanneaux V, Fabreguettes J-R, Bel, A., Tosca, L., ... Larghero, J. (2015a). Towards a clinical use of human embryonic stem cell-derived cardiac progenitors: a translational experience. Eur Heart J, 36(12), 743–750. https://doi.org/10.1093/eurheartj/ ehu192
- Menasché P, Vanneaux V, Hagège A, Bel A, Cholley B, Cacciapuoti I et al (2015b) Human embryonic stem cell-derived cardiac progenitors for severe heart failure treatment: first clinical case report: figure 1. Eur Heart J 36(30):2011–2017. https://doi.org/10.1093/eurheartj/ ehv189
- Menasché P, Vanneaux V, Hagège A, Bel A, Cholley B, Parouchev A et al (2018) Transplantation of human

embryonic stem cell-derived cardiovascular progenitors for severe ischemic left ventricular dysfunction. J Am Coll Cardiol 71(4):429–438. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.jacc.2017.11.047

- Monitoring Stem Cell Research: A Report of the President's Council on Bioethics | U.S. Government Bookstore (2004). Retrieved from https://bookstore. gpo.gov/products/monitoring-stem-cell-researchreport-presidents-council-bioethics
- Nakajima F, Tokunaga K, N N, Nakajima F, Tokunaga K, Nakatsuji N (2007) Human leukocyte antigen matching estimations in a hypothetical bank of human embryonic stem cell lines in the Japanese population for use in cell transplantation therapy. Stem Cells 25(4):983–985. https://doi.org/10.1634/ stemcells.2006-0566
- Närvä E, Autio R, Rahkonen N, Kong L, Harrison N, Kitsberg D et al (2010) High-resolution DNA analysis of human embryonic stem cell lines reveals cultureinduced copy number changes and loss of heterozygosity. Nat Biotechnol 28(4):371–377. https://doi.org/ 10.1038/nbt.1615
- Noguchi H, Miyagi-Shiohira C, Nakashima Y (2018) Induced tissue-specific stem cells and epigenetic memory in induced pluripotent stem cells. Int J Mol Sci 19 (4). https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms19040930
- Phinney DG, Prockop DJ (2007) Concise review: mesenchymal stem/multipotent stromal cells: the state of transdifferentiation and modes of tissue repair-current views. Stem Cells 25(11):2896–2902. https://doi.org/ 10.1634/stemcells.2007-0637
- Pruksananonda K, Rungsiwiwut R, Numchaisrika P, Ahnonkitpanit V, Isarasena N, Virutamasen P (2012) Eighteen-year cryopreservation does not negatively affect the pluripotency of human embryos: evidence from embryonic stem cell derivation. BioRes Open Access 1(4):166–173. https://doi.org/10.1089/biores. 2012.0242
- Ritner C, Wong SS, King FW, Mihardja SS, Liszewski W, Erle DJ, Lee RJ et al (2011) An engineered cardiac reporter cell line identifies human embryonic stem cellderived myocardial precursors. PLoS One 6(1): e16004. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0016004
- Roshangar L, Rad JS, Afsordeh K (2010) Maternal tamoxifen treatment alters oocyte differentiation in the neonatal mice: inhibition of oocyte development and decreased folliculogenesis. J Obstet Gynaecol Res 36 (2):224–231. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1447-0756. 2009.01129.x
- Roy NS, Cleren C, Singh SK, Yang L, Beal MF, Goldman SA (2006) Functional engraftment of human ES cell– derived dopaminergic neurons enriched by coculture with telomerase-immortalized midbrain astrocytes. Nat Med 12(11):1259–1268. https://doi.org/10.1038/nm1495
- Safety Study of GRNOPC1 in Spinal Cord Injury Full Text View – ClinicalTrials.gov (n.d.) Retrieved January 3, 2019, from https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/ show/NCT01217008
- Sanganalmath SK, Bolli R (2013) Cell therapy for heart failure. Circ Res 113(6):810–834. https://doi.org/10. 1161/CIRCRESAHA.113.300219

- Saniei M, Baharvand H (2018) Human embryonic stem cell science in Muslim context : "ethics of human dignity" and "ethics of healing". Adv Med Ethics 4 (1):7–21. https://doi.org/10.12715/ame.2018.4.3
- Schulz TC, Young HY, Agulnick AD, Babin MJ, Baetge EE, Bang AG et al (2012) A scalable system for production of functional pancreatic progenitors from human embryonic stem cells. PLoS One 7(5):e37004. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0037004
- Schwartz SD, Hubschman J-P, Heilwell G, Franco-Cardenas V, Pan CK, Ostrick RM et al (2012) Embryonic stem cell trials for macular degeneration: a preliminary report. Lancet 379(9817):713–720. https:// doi.org/10.1016/s0140-6736(12)60028-2
- Schwartz SD, Regillo CD, Lam BL, Eliott D, Rosenfeld PJ, Gregori NZ et al (2015) Human embryonic stem cell-derived retinal pigment epithelium in patients with age-related macular degeneration and Stargardt's macular dystrophy: follow-up of two open-label phase 1/2 studies. Lancet 385(9967):509–516. https://doi.org/10. 1016/S0140-6736(14)61376-3
- Scott CT, Magnus D (2014) Wrongful termination: lessons from the Geron clinical trial. Stem Cells Transl Med 3 (12):1398–1401. https://doi.org/10.5966/sctm.2014-0147
- SEMB H (2005) Human embryonic stem cells: origin, properties and applications. APMIS 113 (11–12):743–750. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0463.2005.apm_312.x
- Sharp J, Frame J, Siegenthaler M, Nistor G, Keirstead HS (2009) Human embryonic stem cell-derived oligodendrocyte progenitor cell transplants improve recovery after cervical spinal cord injury. Stem Cells 28(1). https://doi.org/10.1002/stem.245
- Shroff G (2016a) Morphogenesis of human embryonic stem cells into mature neurons under in vitro culture conditions. World J Exp Med 6(4):72–79. https://doi. org/10.5493/wjem.v6.i4.72
- Shroff G (2016b) Transplantation of human embryonic stem cells in patients with multiple sclerosis and Lyme disease. Am J Case Rep 17:944–949. https:// doi.org/10.12659/AJCR.899745
- Shroff G, Dhanda Titus J, Shroff R (2017) A review of the emerging potential therapy for neurological disorders: human embryonic stem cell therapy. Am J Stem Cells 6:1), 1–1),12. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm. nih.gov/pubmed/28533935
- Sivaraman MAF, Noor SNM (2016) Human embryonic stem cell research: ethical views of Buddhist, Hindu and Catholic leaders in Malaysia. Sci Eng Ethics 22 (2):467–485. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11948-015-9666-9
- Somersall, A. C. (Allan C., & Natural Wellness Group. (2013). Stem cell nutrition : how to enhance your natural healing system today. Natural Wellness Group
- Song WK, Park K-M, Kim H-J, Lee JH, Choi J, Chong SY et al (2015) Treatment of macular degeneration using embryonic stem cell-derived retinal pigment epithelium: preliminary results in Asian patients. Stem Cell Rep 4(5):860–872. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.stemcr. 2015.04.005

- Stasi K, Goings D, Huang J, Herman L, Pinto F, Addis RC et al (2014) Optimal isolation and xeno-free culture conditions for limbal stem cell function. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 55(1):375–386. https://doi.org/ 10.1167/iovs.13-12517
- Stenderup K, Justesen J, Clausen C, M K, Stenderup K, Justesen J, Clausen C, Kassem M (2003) Aging is associated with decreased maximal life span and accelerated senescence of bone marrow stromal cells. Bone 33(6):919–926. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi. nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/14678851
- Ström, S., Holm, F., Bergström, R., Strömberg, A.-M., & Hovatta, O. (2010). Derivation of 30 human embryonic stem cell lines--improving the quality. In Vitro Cell Dev Biol Anim, 46(3–4), 337–344. https://doi.org/10. 1007/s11626-010-9308-0, 344
- Tachibana M, Amato P, Sparman M, Gutierrez NM, Tippner-Hedges R, Ma H et al (2013) Human embryonic stem cells derived by somatic cell nuclear transfer. Cell 153(6):1228–1238. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell. 2013.05.006
- Takagi Y, Takahashi J, Saiki H, Morizane A, Hayashi T, Kishi Y et al (2005) Dopaminergic neurons generated from monkey embryonic stem cells function in a Parkinson primate model. J Clin Investig 115 (1):102–109. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm. nih.gov/pubmed/15630449
- Takahashi K, Yamanaka S (2006) Induction of pluripotent stem cells from mouse embryonic and adult fibroblast cultures by defined factors. Cell 126(4):663–676
- Takahashi K, Tanabe K, Ohnuki M, Narita M, Ichisaka T, Tomoda K, Yamanaka S (2007) Induction of pluripotent stem cells from adult human fibroblasts by defined factors. Cell 131(5):861–872. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.cell.2007.11.019
- Taylor CJ, Bolton EM, Pocock S, Sharples LD, Pedersen RA, J B, Taylor CJ, Bolton EM, Pocock S, Sharples LD, Pedersen RA, Bradley JA (2005) Banking on human embryonic stem cells: estimating the number of donor cell lines needed for HLA matching. Lancet 366(9502):2019–2025. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(05)67813-0
- Thomson JA (1998) Embryonic stem cell lines derived from human blastocysts. Science 282 (5391):1145–1147. https://doi.org/10.1126/science. 282.5391.1145
- Tomuleasa C, Florian IS, Berce C, Irimie A, Berindan-Neagoe I, Cucuianu A (2014) MRI-based identification of undifferentiated cells: looking at the two faces of Janus. Int J Nanomedicine 9:865–866. https://doi.org/ 10.2147/IJN.S58674
- Trounson A, McDonald C, Alan Trounson CM, Trounson A, McDonald C (2015) Stem cell therapies in clinical trials: progress and challenges. Cell Stem Cell 17(1):11–22. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.stem.2015. 06.007
- Unger C, Skottman H, Blomberg P, Sirac Dilber M, Hovatta O (2008) Good manufacturing practice and

clinical-grade human embryonic stem cell lines. Hum Mol Genet 17(R1):48–53. https://doi.org/10.1093/ hmg/ddn079

- Vautherot J-F, Jean C, Fragnet-Trapp L, Rémy S, Chabanne-Vautherot D, Montillet G et al (2017) ESCDL-1, a new cell line derived from chicken embryonic stem cells, supports efficient replication of Mardiviruses. PLoS One 12(4):e0175259. https://doi. org/10.1371/journal.pone.0175259
- Volarevic V, Markovic BS, Gazdic M, Volarevic A, Jovicic N, Arsenijevic N et al (2018) Ethical and safety issues of stem cell-based therapy. Int J Med Sci 15 (1):36–45. https://doi.org/10.7150/ijms.21666
- Wang Y-C, Nakagawa M, Garitaonandia I, Slavin I, Altun G, Lacharite RM et al (2011) Specific lectin biomarkers for isolation of human pluripotent stem cells identified through array-based glycomic analysis. Cell Res 21(11):1551–1563. https://doi.org/10.1038/ cr.2011.148
- Wong SS, Bernstein HS (2010) Cardiac regeneration using human embryonic stem cells: producing cells for future therapy. Regen Med 5(5):763–775. https://doi.org/10. 2217/rme.10.52
- Xing B, Wang L, Li Q, Cao Y, Dong X, Liang J, Wu X (2015) Human embryonic stem cell-derived pancreatic endoderm alleviates diabetic pathology and improves reproductive outcome in C57BL/KsJ-Lepdb/+ gestational diabetes mellitus mice. Nutr Res 35 (7):603–609. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.NUTRES. 2015.05.009
- Yaddanapudi K, Mitchell RA, Putty K, Willer S, Sharma RK, Yan J et al (2012) Vaccination with embryonic stem cells protects against lung cancer: is a broadspectrum prophylactic vaccine against cancer possible? PLoS One 7(7):e42289. https://doi.org/10.1371/jour nal.pone.0042289
- Ylä-Herttuala S (2019) Gene and cell therapy: success stories and future challenges. Mol Ther 27 (5):891–892. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ymthe.2019.04. 012
- Yu J, Vodyanik MA, Smuga-Otto K, Antosiewicz-Bourget J, Frane JL, Tian S et al (2007) Induced pluripotent stem cell lines derived from human somatic cells. Science 318(5858):1917–1920. https://doi.org/ 10.1126/science.1151526
- Zheng Q, Zheng Y, Chen J, You J, Zhu Y, Liu Y, Jiang JJ (2017) A hepatic stem cell vaccine is superior to an embryonic stem cell vaccine in the prophylaxis and treatment of murine hepatocarcinoma. Oncol Rep 37 (3):1716–1724. https://doi.org/10.3892/or.2017.5381
- Zhou H, Wu S, Joo JY, Zhu S, Han DW, Lin T, Trauger S, Bien G, Yao S, Zhu Y, Siuzdak G, Scholer HR, Duan L, S D, Zhou H, Wu S, Joo JY, Zhu S, Han DW et al (2009) Generation of induced pluripotent stem cells using recombinant proteins. Cell Stem Cell 4(5):381–384. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.stem.2009.04. 005



Functions of Mesenchymal Stem Cells in Cardiac Repair

Selçuk Öztürk, Ayşe Eser Elçin, and Yaşar Murat Elçin

Abstract

Myocardial infarction (MI) and heart failure (HF) are significant contributors of mortality worldwide. Mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) hold a great potential for cardiac regenerative medicine-based therapies. Their therapeutic potential has been widely investigated in various in-vitro and in-vivo preclinical models. Besides, they have been tested in clinical trials of MI and HF with various outcomes. Differentiation to lineages of cardiac cells, neovascularization, anti-fibrotic, anti-inflammatory, anti-apoptotic and immune modulatory effects are the main drivers of MSC functions during cardiac repair. However, the main mechanisms regulating these functions

S. Öztürk

A. E. Elçin

Y. M. Elçin (🖂)

Faculty of Science, Tissue Engineering, Biomaterials and Nanobiotechnology Laboratory, Ankara University, Ankara, Turkey and cross-talk between cells are not fully known yet. Increasing line of evidence also suggests that secretomes of MSCs and/or their extracellular vesicles play significant roles in a paracrine manner while mediating these functions. This chapter aims to summarize and highlight cardiac repair functions of MSCs during cardiac repair.

Keywords

Anti-fibrotic effect · Cardiac repair · Differentiation · Extracellular vesicles · Heart failure · Immune modulation · Mesenchymal stem cells · Myocardial infarction · Neovascularization · Paracrine function

1 Introduction

Cardiovascular diseases (CVDs) including myocardial infarction (MI) and the resulting heart failure (HF) are important causes of death and disability worldwide. This is because of the inadequate renewal capacity of the heart after a pathologic incident. Approximately one billion cardiomyocytes and two to three billion myocardial cells of the endothelium and the vascular smooth muscle die after an MI and the remaining tissue is replaced by a fibrotic collagenous scar subsequently leading to decline in cardiac performance. This is the main pathophysiological pathway progressing irreversibly to HF and death (Majka

Faculty of Science, Tissue Engineering, Biomaterials and Nanobiotechnology Laboratory, Ankara University, Ankara, Turkey

Faculty of Medicine, Department of Cardiology, Yozgat Bozok University, Yozgat, Turkey

Faculty of Science, and Ankara University Stem Cell Institute, Tissue Engineering, Biomaterials and Nanobiotechnology Laboratory, Ankara University, Ankara, Turkey

Biovalda Health Technologies, Inc., Ankara, Turkey e-mail: elcin@ankara.edu.tr

et al. 2017). Although there have been significant improvements in cardiac therapies that reverse or slow this process partially, none of the available treatments except heart transplantation can completely achieve this goal (Majka et al. 2017; Elnakish et al. 2012).

Stem cell therapies aim to replace damaged heart tissue with fully functional cardiomyocytes that entirely proliferate and couple with the surrounding myocardium electromechanically and promote neovascularization in order to supply blood to the newly existing tissue. There are many types of stem cells that have been demonstrated in-vivo to fit these purposes such as induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSCs), embryonic stem cells (ESCs), hematopoietic stem cells, endothelial progenitor cells and mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) (Muller et al. 2018). On the other hand, cardiac progenitor cells that locally reside in the heart have been defined and extensively investigated although their existence and regenerative potential have been seriously doubted in recent years (Chien et al. 2019). Among all these cell types, MSCs come to the fore because of their distinct advantages compared to other cell types. These advantages mostly include easy accessibility from several tissues with no ethical issues, expansion in large numbers in a very short time, well-defined characterization and differentiation procedures, multipotent differentiation capacity, low immunogenicity and tumorigenicity, immune modulatory effects, and secretion of therapeutic molecules (Majka et al. 2017; Elnakish et al. 2012; Bagno et al. 2018). Furthermore, their safety profile and beneficial functions have been widely investigated in animal models and patient populations with various CVD phenotypes originating from diverse pathophysiological processes such as acute MI, ischemic cardiomyopathy and non-ischemic HF (White et al. 2016; Chou et al. 2014). This chapter aims to summarize and highlight functions of MSCs during cardiac repair.

2 Mesenchymal Stem Cell Types

MSCs were initially discovered by Alexander Friedenstein and coworkers in the 1970s and described as bone marrow (BM) stromal cells that are able to transdifferentiate into the mesodermal lineage and promote hematopoiesis (Friedenstein et al. 1970; Friedenstein et al. 1974). However, they were defined as "Mesenchymal Stem Cell" by Arnold Caplan in the last decade of twentieth century (Caplan 1986; Caplan 1991). In order to standardize the characterization, the Mesenchymal and Tissue Stem Cell Committee of the International Society for Cellular Therapy suggested some criteria for characterization of MSCs. These are plastic adherence capacity and differentiation into osteoblast, adipocyte and chondroblast lineages under in-vitro conditions. Furthermore, they should express cluster of differentiation (CD) surface markers including CD73, CD90 and CD105, but not CD11b, CD19, CD31, CD34, and CD45 (Dominici et al. 2006). Besides, MSCs have various terminologies such as mesenchymal stromal cells, multipotent adult progenitor cells, medicinal signaling cells, and mesenchymal progenitor cells, which are used interchangeably (Majka et al. 2017).

MSCs can be induced to transdifferentiate into myocardial cells in-vitro through various methods by culturing them with various chemicals. 5-Azacytidine, bone morphogenetic protein-2, angiotensin-II, dimethyl sulfoxide, fibroblast growth factor-4 are the prevailing chemicals that are used to induce cardiomyocyte differentiation of MSCs. Coculturing MSCs with cardiomyocytes or genetic modification are the featured induction methods for cardiomyocyte differentiation (Chou et al. 2014; Shen et al. 2015). Likewise, there are various protocols in order to induce endothelial differentiation of MSCs including culturing with vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), hypoxic conditioning or applying hemodynamic-like forces for mechano-transduction (Afra and Matin 2020; Vittorio et al. 2013). However, it should be noted that all of these differentiation methods are limited for clinical translation yet because of their inability to yield cells at quantitatively, morphologically, genetically and functionally acceptable levels. For example, co-culturing BM-MSCs with rat embryonic cardiomyocytes yielded cardiac specific marker expression while retaining MSC

characteristics of the cells with lack of electrophysiological features of cardiomyocytes such as action potential generation or typical ionic currents (Rose et al. 2008). In a similar manner, 5-azacytidine treated human MSCs obtained from umbilical cord (UC), cord blood and BM did not yield cardiomyocytes at a sufficient level for cardiac repair (Martin-Rendon et al. 2008).

MSCs can be obtained from diverse sources of the body. BM, UC and adipose tissue are the most utilized sources in preclinical and clinical trials (Fig. 1), however MSCs can also be obtained and cultured from amniotic fluid, placenta, skin, dental pulp, endometrium, gingiva, synovium and peripheral blood. However, it should be underlined that MSCs obtained from different sources might differ in terms of cell surface markers, differentiation capacity and paracrine

(Berebichez-Fridman factor secretion and Montero-Olvera 2018; Via et al. 2012; Wu et al. 2018). For instance, adipose MSCs can be obtained easily in higher numbers than MSCs obtained from BM and UC (Kern et al. 2006). Moreover, angiogenic activity of adipose MSCs were higher than MSCs obtained from the endometrium and UC both under in-vitro and in-vivo conditions (Lu et al. 2018). On the other hand, comorbid conditions and age of the donor may be a problematic situation during the translational process of autologous MSC applications. Enhanced proliferation rates of adipose MSCs and easy availability of adipose tissue compared to BM harvesting, which is an invasive and painful procedure, highlight the potential of adipose MSCs in autologous applications and emergency situations such as MI and HF (Öztürk et al. 2020).



Fig. 1 Major sources of mesenchymal stem cells and cell types of main interest for cardiac repair

MSCs can also be transdifferentiated from pluripotent cells such as iPSCs and ESCs with higher proliferation rates, telomerase activity and lower cell senescence compared to BM-MSCs (Lian et al. 2010; Gao et al. 2017; Sun et al. 2015). Besides, iPSC-derived MSCs possess the basic criteria of MSCs regarding expression of surface markers and differentiation into multilineages with no teratogenic effects observed in animal models (Lian et al. 2010; Gao et al. 2017; Lian et al. 2016).

3 Mesenchymal Stem Cell Functions

3.1 Differentiation

Cardiac tissue mostly originates from the mesodermal layer and cardiomyogenic differentiation is closely related with the signals derived from cells of ectodermal and endodermal origin. Cardiac lineage differentiation, which forms cell types such as cardiomyocytes, smooth muscle cells, endothelial cells and cardiac fibroblasts, is an extremely active process that involves specialization, spatial integration and coordination of diverse cells and signaling pathways and considered as the desired mechanism of action of stem cell-based cardiac regenerative medicine therapies (Leitolis et al. 2019). This emphasis is based on the fact that the heart has almost no regeneration capacity and the healing process occurs with a fibrotic scar after an MI. Theoretically, stem cells engraft to the infarcted cardiac tissue after transplantation, constitute a myocardial mass with a functional vascular network and reverse altered ventricle to normally functioning geometry (Mazo et al. 2012).

MSCs can undergo cardiomyogenic transformation as shown both in in-vitro conditions and in-vivo tracking-based studies (Makino et al. 1999; Pei et al. 2017). Theoretically, there are several molecules and pathways of MSCs such as hepatocyte growth factor (HGF), platelet derived growth factor (PDGF), Wnt and Notch-1 signaling pathways which take significant role in the proliferation and differentiation **MSCs** of to cardiomyocytes (Farzaneh et al. 2019). Human MSCs tagged with β -galactosidase were shown to engraft in the adult murine myocardium and transdifferentiate into a cardiomyocyte phenotype in a previous study (Toma et al. 2002). Likewise, MSC engraftment and differentiation to cardiomyocyte, smooth muscle and endothelial cells were demonstrated in sex-mismatched experiments of animals with chronically scarred myocardium. Moreover, MSC transplantation significantly contributed to functional improvements and myocardial blood flow while coupling to host myocardium through gap junctions (Quevedo et al. 2009). BM-MSCs were shown to differentiate into smooth muscle and endothelial cells in a canine chronic ischemia model resulting with enhanced neovascularization and cardiac functions (Silva et al. 2005). On the contrary, MSCs did not gain a mature cardiomyocyte phenotype electrophysiologically in a rat MI model but also did not induce ventricular arrhythmias (Wei et al. 2012). Similar discouraging results were also shown in in-vitro studies suggesting a therapeutic effect for MSCs regardless of differentiation (Rose et al. 2008; Martin-Rendon et al. 2008). These conflicting results may originate from the differences in species and culturing conditions of cells that can alter viability or differentiation capacity of MSCs (White et al. 2016). Thus, it might be reasonable to speculate that MSC differentiation to myocardial cell lineage and regeneration is not likely to emerge as the primary therapeutic function of MSCs in cardiac repair.

3.2 Neovascularization

New blood vessel formation from existing endothelial cells, in other words angiogenesis or neovascularization, is an essential task for cardiac tissue repair. This process is coordinated by a complex interaction between extracellular matrix (ECM) components, angiogenic factors and various cells and with the contribution of diverse molecular and biophysical pathways (Elcin 2002; Briquez et al. 2016). There have been intense efforts in the last decades regarding tissue engineering and biomaterial sciences, genetic approaches and clinical trials in order to discover a clinically applicable treatment for therapeutic angiogenesis. However, there is still no clinically approved pharmacological agent, interventional or surgical procedure yet that enhances the neovascularization and blood supply of infarcted or failing cardiac tissue (Briquez et al. 2016; Elcin et al. 1996; Elcin and Elcin 2006; Koc et al. 2014; Demirdogen et al. 2010).

Stem cells, particularly MSCs, have been extensively studied for therapeutic angiogenesis in diverse animal models and in-vitro assays. MSCs contribute to neovascularization of infarcted cardiac tissues through diverse processes. There is evidence that MSCs are able to transdifferentiate into endothelial cells under in-vitro and in-vivo situations (Quevedo et al. 2009; Silva et al. 2005; Oswald et al. 2004; Li et al. 2007). These MSCs engraft to myocardium, differentiate into endothelial cells and can improve cardiac performance after an MI (Davani et al. 2003). Moreover, MSCs provoke angiogenic processes by secreting various angiogenic agents including VEGF, HGF and angiopoietins (Oskowitz et al. 2011). Among these angiogenic factors, VEGF seems to be the key mediator that supports cardiac protection after an ischemic insult according to a previous rat study demonstrating impaired functions of transplanted MSCs lacking VEGF (Markel et al. 2008). In a similar manner, elimination of vascular cell fate decision but not cardiomyogenic commitment from undifferentiated human BM derived cells was associated with alterations in cardiac functions, decreased capillary and arteriole density as indicated in an in-vivo suicide-gene based study (Yoon et al. 2010). Besides, VEGF gene transfer to MSCs resulted in increased angiogenesis, left ventricular ejection fraction (LVEF) and improved hemodynamic parameters in rats with MI (Gao et al. 2007). Additionally, targeted systemic delivery of VEGF immunoliposomes to ischemic regions of MI rats enhanced engraftment of MSCs, blood vessel density, decreased collagen content in MI tissue and improved left ventricle functions (Tang et al. 2014). Vasculogenic effects of VEGF on MSCs were shown to be mediated through the activation of PDGF receptors acting via the nitric oxide pathway (Gomes et al. 2013). Direct cellular contact of adipose MSCs with early postnatal heart cardiomyocyte fraction is also associated with the formation of capillary tube formation both from the preexisting endothelial cells and stimulation of progenitor cell differentiation to endothelial cells (Rubina et al. 2009). Another proposed mechanism for the angiogenic effects of MSCs is that they functionally and structurally interact with endothelial cells to provide vascular stabilization as resident pericytes (Traktuev et al. 2008).

Although cardiomyogenic differentiation is the desired and suggested therapeutic function of MSCs during cardiac repair, angiogenic contribution of MSCs via diverse mechanisms might be of utmost importance than the other mechanisms.

3.3 Anti-fibrotic Effects

There occurs pathological remodeling of myocardium after an MI that is related with the replacement of myocardial cells by a fibrotic scarred tissue. Cardiac fibroblasts, which are phenotypically transformed to myofibroblasts due to expression of proinflammatory and profibrotic factors after myocardial injury, secrete ECM components including collagen and fibronectin. In fact, this is an adaptive process initially in order to provide the mechanical structure and integrity of the heart but subsequent phases of this process result with impaired cardiac functions, arrhythmias and finally death (Travers et al. 2016; Talman and Ruskoaho 2016).

Despite the tremendous achievements in pharmacological, interventional and surgical management of cardiac diseases, there is still no effective treatment that fully inhibits myocardial scar formation. Stem cell therapies hold promise as antifibrotic agents and alternative to current treatments. Due to their distinctive features in cardio-protection, MSCs have been widely investigated as a possible therapeutic option to inhibit or reverse this myocardial fibrosis process that progresses to HF and death (Elnakish et al. 2013). Increasing lines of data coming from in-vitro and in-vivo models suggest that MSCs reduce cardiac fibrosis and thereby improve cardiac remodeling through the contribution of several pathways and molecules (Elnakish et al. 2012; Elnakish et al. 2013). Additive anti-inflammatory

actions of MSCs also contribute to anti-fibrotic effects after transplantation as demonstrated in a previous rat MI study (Guo et al. 2007). BM-MSC transplantation significantly decreased the synthesis of matrix metalloproteinase-9 (MMP-9), tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinase-1 (TIMP-1) and collagen deposition in injured cardiac tissue after homing as demonstrated in an isoproterenolinduced mice HF model and these anti-fibrotic effects of MSCs were suggested to be mediated through Nuclear factor-ß mediated signaling pathway (Wei et al. 2011). Likewise, MSC transplantation improved cardiac fibrosis in the myocardium by a decrease in collagen volume fraction, collagen type 1 and 3 expression, MMP-2 and MMP-9 in different HF and cardiomyopathy models (Nagaya et al. 2005; Li et al. 2008). MSC therapy was shown to decrease MMP-2, MMP-3, MMP-6, MMP-9, TIMP-1 and TIMP-3 levels in the LV myocardium 28 days after intracoronary transplantation in a pressure overload hypertrophy-induced HF rat model (Molina et al. 2009). Moreover, contribution of antifibrotic and antiapoptotic paracrine factor signaling secreted from MSCs such as HGF, adrenomedullin and insulin-like growth factor-1 was underlined (Li et al. 2008, 2009; Iekushi et al. 2012). In parallel, conditioned medium of MSCs were demonstrated to exert anti-fibrotic effects by modulating proliferation, and collagen secretion and degradation profiles of cardiac fibroblasts (Ohnishi et al. 2007a; Mias et al. 2009). Furthermore, intracardiac injection of MSCs in rats with post-ischemic HF alleviated ventricular fibrosis (Mias et al. 2009). A recent study also highlighted the secretion of prostaglandin-E2 (PGE2) from MSCs that improved cardiac fibrosis and functions in rats with diabetic cardiomyopathy (Jin et al. 2020).

3.4 Immune Modulation

Pathogenesis of MI involves innate and adaptive immune system activation via toll-like receptorassociated pathways with complex interaction of various chemokines, cytokines and inflammatory system cells including neutrophils, mononuclear cells, dendritic cells and lymphocytes. The immune system response plays a decisive function for determining the fate of infarcted cardiac tissue either healing with regeneration or fibrotic scar. Inflammation controls reparative pathways by modulating immune system and inflammatory cells both locally in the infarcted tissue and at a systemic level (Dittrich and Lauridsen 2019; Liu et al. 2016). Moreover, sustained inflammation is associated with progressive impairment in cardiac functions and adverse outcomes in CVD patients (Ruparelia et al. 2017).

The interaction between MSCs and the immune system is highly dynamic and complex. MSCs modulate the properties and functioning of the immune system cells through diverse pathways. For example, MSCs inhibit proliferation of helper and cytotoxic T cells and trigger differentiation to an anti-inflammatory phenotype. MSCs also impair dendritic cell maturation through interleukin-6 (IL-6), which inhibits CD40, CD80 and CD86, and subsequently suppress T-cell activation. Monocytes are induced to differentiate into an anti-inflammatory phenotype by MSCs with the contribution of diverse mechanisms such as transforming growth factorbeta (TGF-B), IL-10 and PGE2. Moreover, proliferation, cytotoxic activity and cytokine secretion functions of natural killer (NK) cells are decreased, as well as proliferation of B cells is inhibited by MSCs resulting in decreased antibody production (van den Akker et al. 2013).

There is robust evidence that MSCs exert modulation anti-inflammatory immune and effects in preclinical cardiac disease models including MI and HF (Epstein et al. 2017). Intravenous administration of MSCs yielded both local and systemic anti-inflammatory effects such as decrease in NK cells and neutrophils in the heart and NK cells in the spleen in a mice ischemia reperfusion model while improving LVEF and LV end-systolic volume (Luger et al. 2017). Previous studies also underline that intramyocardially-injected MSCs demonstrate anti-inflammatory functions by reducing myocardial tumor necrosis alpha, IL-1 B, IL-6 levels with a decrease in MMP-1 and TIMP-1 levels that emphasize their anti-fibrotic effects (Guo et al. 2007). Likewise, intravenous MSC injection exerted anti-inflammatory effects

through a decrease in CD68 positive inflammatory cells and monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 expression in myocardial tissue of rats with acute myocarditis (Ohnishi et al. 2007b). Immune modulation capabilities of MSCs were also evident in a phase-2a clinical trial demonstrating decreased number of peripheral NK cells after MSC administration and a significant correlation between the improvement in LVEF and NK cell reduction at 3 months (Butler et al. 2017).

It is known that MSCs have the capacity for immune privilege as a result of human leukocyte antigen (HLA) class I expression and lack of HLA class II expression (Dominici et al. 2006). This feature of MSCs renders remarkable advantage while considering immunologic side effects of allograft applications including graft rejection and graft-versus-host disease (Ringden et al. 2006). For instance, allogeneic BM-MSC transplantation was not associated with significant immunologic reactions in ischemic cardiomyopathy patients at 1 year follow-up as demonstrated in a clinical trial (Hare et al. 2012). MSCs can also have immunosuppressive functions such as directing monocyte differentiation towards an anti-inflammatory phenotype and secreting soluble anti-inflammatory and immunosuppressive mediators including TGF-HGF. ß. PGE2, indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase, heme oxygenase-1, HLA-G5 and IL-10 (Maggini et al. 2010; Nauta and Fibbe 2007; Uccelli et al. 2008). Despite these striking advantages of MSCs, it should be kept in mind that immune evasion capability of MSCs is altered upon differentiation to cardiac cells that results with major histocompatibility complex antigen expression making them visible to immune system cells (Huang et al. 2010). This alteration occurring through the devastating attack of the immune system against MSCs after differentiation might explain the loss of beneficial effects of MSC transplantation in the long term.

4 Paracrine Functions & Extracellular Vesicles

Engraftment of stem cells into the heart tissue, trans-differentiation into cardiac lineages through coupling electromechanically and functionally with the host tissue is the desired therapeutic function of stem cells in cardiac regenerative medicine. However, emerging data indicate that engraftment and differentiation of stem cells is not at sufficient levels even with intramyocardial and intracoronary applications (Toma et al. 2002; Hong et al. 2014). At this point, it is reasonable to question how MSCs exert their beneficial effects in cardiac disease models and in some clinical trials. It is now evident that beneficial effects of MSCs are mostly mediated through bioactive secretions of MSCs such as growth factors, chemokines, cytokines, cell adhesion molecules, lipid mediators, hormones, gene products and extracellular vesicles (EVs) that act in a paracrine fashion (Fu et al. 2017; Pokrovskaya et al. 2020). Accordingly, the term "paracrine hypothesis" has been suggested in recent years as an alternative mechanism for mechanism of action stem cells (Gnecchi et al. 2016).

Although MSC transplantation was indicated to be relatively safe in previous cardiac studies, there is an undeniable risk for tumorigenesis as well as immune rejection in allogeneic applications. On the other hand, autologous application may be an alternative with its inherent limitations and technical difficulties (Ozturk and Elcin 2018). Therefore, transplantation of MSC secretomes has come to the fore in recent years as therapeutic cell-free agents. For instance, intramyocardial injection of conditioned medium from BM-MSCs that overexpress protein kinase B (Akt) was shown to ameliorate left ventricular functions at the acute phase of MI with no evidence of de novo cardiomyogenesis in rats (Gnecchi et al. 2006). Similar functional effects of the conditioned medium of MSCs were demonstrated in porcine models (Timmers et al. 2011; Timmers et al. 2007). Besides, intravenously-injected human MSCs enhanced cardiac tissue repair in mice with MI without engraftment because a significant proportion of cells were trapped in the lungs (Lee et al. 2009). These secretomes of MSCs are secreted either directly or packaged in a cargo named as EVs and they regulate cardiac lineage differentiation, angiogenic, anti-fibrotic, antiinflammatory and immune modulation functions of MSCs in the infarcted cardiac tissue and/or failing heart (Gallina et al. 2015).

EVs are nanosized, lipid membrane enclosed complexes that are secreted from all cells in the body. They regulate intercellular communication between cells by transporting bioactive molecules including proteins, lipids and genetic components (Andaloussi et al. 2013). Because they represent the native characteristics of their parent cell both in physiological and pathological conditions, they have been investigated as a potential biomarker in various CVD patient populations. Because they carry cargo between cells, they have been utilized as potential drug delivery systems in CVD (Chong et al. 2019). These unique characteristics of EVs have attracted great interest and they have been proposed as an alternative therapeutic option as cell-free agents instead of stem cells (Chong et al. 2019; Boulanger et al. 2017). For instance, MSC-derived EVs were demonstrated to increase neovascularization under in-vitro and in-vivo conditions. Moreover, these EVs improved cardiac functions in rats with MI (Bian et al. 2014). Likewise, administration of EVs obtained from UC-MSCs significantly ameliorated systolic functions and cardiac fibrosis by protecting myocardial cells from apoptosis and activating

angiogenesis in another rat MI model (Zhao et al. 2015).

5 Conclusion

Despite prominent progress in diagnostic and treatment approaches, CVDs will likely contribute to a significant proportion of deaths worldwide. This might be partly due to irreversible loss of heart tissue after a pathological incident. On the other hand, regenerative medicine therapies including stem cell applications continue to improve for years. Due to their distinct advantages compared to other stem cell types, MSCs have attracted great attention. Numerically, MSCs are the most investigated stem cell type in clinical trials and CVDs are at the top of studies in which MSCs are tested (Trounson and McDonald 2015; Kabat et al. 2020). Therefore, understanding the complex mechanism of action of MSCs in cardiac diseases is utmost important (Fig. 2). It should be noted that our limited knowledge about the functions of MSCs mostly comes from in-vitro studies and animal models



Fig. 2 Prominent functions of mesenchymal stem cells in relation to cardiac repair

emphasizing the significance of preclinical efforts.

There are several challenges of cardiac MSC therapies that need to be clarified such as optimal cell source, donor and number, transplantation route and time, and enhancement strategies before moving to clinical markets. In addition, there is a substantial progress in PSC-based therapies despite tumorigenesis and ethical concerns still exist. Moreover, recent data suggest that most of the beneficial effects of MSCs are regulated through their secretomes and/or EVs emphasizing the role of paracrine functions. Therefore, recent works have focused on the therapeutic effects of these cell-free agents of MSCs instead of cell transplantation. However, these cell-free therapies are in their infancy yet and their functional characteristics have not been fully defined when compared to MSC applications (Oztürk et al. 2020). Thus, MSCs and their functions will likely continue to be at the center of cardiac regenerative medicine research in the near future. Identification of biochemical and molecular regulators of MSC functionality in cardiac diseases will help to enhance safety and functionality of MSC-based cardiac regenerative medicine approaches.

Acknowledgments The figures were created with the support of BioRender.com.

References

- Afra S, Matin MM (2020) Potential of mesenchymal stem cells for bioengineered blood vessels in comparison with other eligible cell sources. Cell Tissue Res 380 (1):1–13
- Andaloussi SEL, Mager I, Breakefield XO, Wood MJ (2013) Extracellular vesicles: biology and emerging therapeutic opportunities. Nat Rev Drug Discov 12 (5):347–357
- Bagno L, Hatzistergos KE, Balkan W, Hare JM (2018) Mesenchymal stem cell-based therapy for cardiovascular disease: progress and challenges. Mol Ther 26 (7):1610–1623
- Berebichez-Fridman R, Montero-Olvera PR (2018) Sources and clinical applications of mesenchymal stem cells: state-of-the-art review. Sultan Qaboos Univ Med J 18(3):e264–ee77

- Bian S, Zhang L, Duan L, Wang X, Min Y, Yu H (2014) Extracellular vesicles derived from human bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells promote angiogenesis in a rat myocardial infarction model. J Mol Med (Berl) 92 (4):387–397
- Boulanger CM, Loyer X, Rautou PE, Amabile N (2017) Extracellular vesicles in coronary artery disease. Nat Rev Cardiol 14(5):259–272
- Briquez PS, Clegg LE, Martino MM, Mac Gabhann F, Hubbell JA (2016) Design principles for therapeutic angiogenic materials. Nat Rev Mater 1(1):1–15
- Butler J, Epstein SE, Greene SJ, Quyyumi AA, Sikora S, Kim RJ et al (2017) Intravenous allogeneic mesenchymal stem cells for nonischemic cardiomyopathy: safety and efficacy results of a phase II-A randomized trial. Circ Res 120(2):332–340
- Caplan AI (1986) Molecular and cellular differentiation of muscle, cartilage, and bone in the developing limb. Prog Clin Biol Res 217B:307–318
- Caplan AI (1991) Mesenchymal stem cells. J Orthop Res 9 (5):641–650
- Chien KR, Frisen J, Fritsche-Danielson R, Melton DA, Murry CE, Weissman IL (2019) Regenerating the field of cardiovascular cell therapy. Nat Biotechnol 37 (3):232–237
- Chong SY, Lee CK, Huang C, Ou YH, Charles CJ, Richards AM et al (2019) Extracellular vesicles in cardiovascular diseases: alternative biomarker sources, therapeutic agents, and drug delivery carriers. Int J Mol Sci 20(13)
- Chou SH, Lin SZ, Kuo WW, Pai P, Lin JY, Lai CH et al (2014) Mesenchymal stem cell insights: prospects in cardiovascular therapy. Cell Transplant 23 (4–5):513–529
- Davani S, Marandin A, Mersin N, Royer B, Kantelip B, Herve P et al (2003) Mesenchymal progenitor cells differentiate into an endothelial phenotype, enhance vascular density, and improve heart function in a rat cellular cardiomyoplasty model. Circulation 108(Suppl 1):II253–II258
- Demirdogen B, Elcin AE, Elcin YM (2010) Neovascularization by bFGF releasing hyaluronic acid-gelatin microspheres: in vitro and in vivo studies. Growth Factors 28(6):426–436
- Dittrich A, Lauridsen H (2019) Myocardial infarction and the immune response-scarring or regeneration? A comparative look at mammals and popular regenerating animal models. J Immunol Regener Med 4:100016
- Dominici M, Le Blanc K, Mueller I, Slaper-Cortenbach I, Marini F, Krause D et al (2006) Minimal criteria for defining multipotent mesenchymal stromal cells. The International Society for Cellular Therapy position statement. Cytotherapy 8(4):315–317
- Elcin Y (2002) Angiogenesis in tissue engineering. Technol Health Care 10(3–4):306–308
- Elcin AE, Elcin YM (2006) Localized angiogenesis induced by human vascular endothelial growth factoractivated PLGA sponge. Tissue Eng 12(4):959–968

- Elcin YM, Dixit V, Gitnick G (1996) Controlled release of endothelial cell growth factor from chitosan-albumin microspheres for localized angiogenesis: in vitro and in vivo studies. Artif Cells Blood Substit Immobil Biotechnol 24(3):257–271
- Elnakish MT, Hassan F, Dakhlallah D, Marsh CB, Alhaider IA, Khan M (2012) Mesenchymal stem cells for cardiac regeneration: translation to bedside reality. Stem Cells Int 2012:646038
- Elnakish MT, Kuppusamy P, Khan M (2013) Stem cell transplantation as a therapy for cardiac fibrosis. J Pathol 229(2):347–354
- Epstein SE, Luger D, Lipinski MJ (2017) Paracrinemediated systemic anti-inflammatory activity of intravenously administered mesenchymal stem cells: a transformative strategy for cardiac stem cell therapeutics. Circ Res 121(9):1044–1046
- Farzaneh M, Rahimi F, Alishahi M, Khoshnam SE (2019) Paracrine mechanisms involved in mesenchymal stem cell differentiation into cardiomyocytes. Curr Stem Cell Res Ther 14(1):9–13
- Friedenstein AJ, Chailakhjan RK, Lalykina KS (1970) The development of fibroblast colonies in monolayer cultures of guinea-pig bone marrow and spleen cells. Cell Tissue Kinet 3(4):393–403
- Friedenstein AJ, Chailakhyan RK, Latsinik NV, Panasyuk AF, Keiliss-Borok IV (1974) Stromal cells responsible for transferring the microenvironment of the hemopoietic tissues. Cloning in vitro and retransplantation in vivo. Transplantation 17(4):331–340
- Fu Y, Karbaat L, Wu L, Leijten J, Both SK, Karperien M (2017) Trophic effects of mesenchymal stem cells in tissue regeneration. Tissue Eng Part B Rev 23 (6):515–528
- Gallina C, Turinetto V, Giachino C (2015) A new paradigm in cardiac regeneration: the mesenchymal stem cell Secretome. Stem Cells Int 2015:765846
- Gao F, He T, Wang H, Yu S, Yi D, Liu W et al (2007) A promising strategy for the treatment of ischemic heart disease: mesenchymal stem cell-mediated vascular endothelial growth factor gene transfer in rats. Can J Cardiol 23(11):891–898
- Gao WX, Sun YQ, Shi J, Li CL, Fang SB, Wang D et al (2017) Effects of mesenchymal stem cells from human induced pluripotent stem cells on differentiation, maturation, and function of dendritic cells. Stem Cell Res Ther 8(1):48
- Gnecchi M, He H, Noiseux N, Liang OD, Zhang L, Morello F et al (2006) Evidence supporting paracrine hypothesis for Akt-modified mesenchymal stem cellmediated cardiac protection and functional improvement. FASEB J 20(6):661–669
- Gnecchi M, Danieli P, Malpasso G, Ciuffreda MC (2016) Paracrine mechanisms of mesenchymal stem cells in tissue repair. Methods Mol Biol 1416:123–146
- Gomes SA, Rangel EB, Premer C, Dulce RA, Cao Y, Florea V et al (2013) S-nitrosoglutathione reductase (GSNOR) enhances vasculogenesis by mesenchymal

stem cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 110 (8):2834–2839

- Guo J, Lin GS, Bao CY, Hu ZM, Hu MY (2007) Antiinflammation role for mesenchymal stem cells transplantation in myocardial infarction. Inflammation 30 (3–4):97–104
- Hare JM, Fishman JE, Gerstenblith G, DiFede Velazquez DL, Zambrano JP, Suncion VY et al (2012) Comparison of allogeneic vs autologous bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells delivered by transendocardial injection in patients with ischemic cardiomyopathy: the POSEIDON randomized trial. JAMA 308 (22):2369–2379
- Hong KU, Guo Y, Li QH, Cao P, Al-Maqtari T, Vajravelu BN et al (2014) c-kit+ Cardiac stem cells alleviate postmyocardial infarction left ventricular dysfunction despite poor engraftment and negligible retention in the recipient heart. PLoS One 9(5):e96725
- Huang XP, Sun Z, Miyagi Y, McDonald Kinkaid H, Zhang L, Weisel RD et al (2010) Differentiation of allogeneic mesenchymal stem cells induces immunogenicity and limits their long-term benefits for myocardial repair. Circulation 122(23):2419–2429
- Iekushi K, Seeger F, Assmus B, Zeiher AM, Dimmeler S (2012) Regulation of cardiac microRNAs by bone marrow mononuclear cell therapy in myocardial infarction. Circulation 125(14):1765–1773. S1-7
- Jin L, Zhang J, Deng Z, Liu J, Han W, Chen G et al (2020) Mesenchymal stem cells ameliorate myocardial fibrosis in diabetic cardiomyopathy via the secretion of prostaglandin E2. Stem Cell Res Ther 11(1):122
- Kabat M, Bobkov I, Kumar S, Grumet M (2020) Trends in mesenchymal stem cell clinical trials 2004-2018: is efficacy optimal in a narrow dose range? Stem Cells Transl Med 9(1):17–27
- Kern S, Eichler H, Stoeve J, Kluter H, Bieback K (2006) Comparative analysis of mesenchymal stem cells from bone marrow, umbilical cord blood, or adipose tissue. Stem Cells 24(5):1294–1301
- Koc A, Finkenzeller G, Elcin AE, Stark GB, Elcin YM (2014) Evaluation of adenoviral vascular endothelial growth factor-activated chitosan/hydroxyapatite scaffold for engineering vascularized bone tissue using human osteoblasts: in vitro and in vivo studies. J Biomater Appl 29(5):748–760
- Lee RH, Pulin AA, Seo MJ, Kota DJ, Ylostalo J, Larson BL et al (2009) Intravenous hMSCs improve myocardial infarction in mice because cells embolized in lung are activated to secrete the anti-inflammatory protein TSG-6. Cell Stem Cell 5(1):54–63
- Leitolis A, Robert AW, Pereira IT, Correa A, Stimamiglio MA (2019) Cardiomyogenesis modeling using pluripotent stem cells: the role of microenvironmental Signaling. Front Cell Dev Biol 7:164
- Li Q, Xu X, Wang Z, Liu W, Li Z (2007) Investigation of canine mesenchymal stem cells differentiation to vascular endothelial cell in vitro. Sheng Wu Yi Xue Gong Cheng Xue Za Zhi 24(6):1348–1351

- Li L, Zhang Y, Li Y, Yu B, Xu Y, Zhao S et al (2008) Mesenchymal stem cell transplantation attenuates cardiac fibrosis associated with isoproterenol-induced global heart failure. Transpl Int 21(12):1181–1189
- Li L, Zhang S, Zhang Y, Yu B, Xu Y, Guan Z (2009) Paracrine action mediate the antifibrotic effect of transplanted mesenchymal stem cells in a rat model of global heart failure. Mol Biol Rep 36(4):725–731
- Lian Q, Zhang Y, Zhang J, Zhang HK, Wu X, Zhang Y et al (2010) Functional mesenchymal stem cells derived from human induced pluripotent stem cells attenuate limb ischemia in mice. Circulation 121 (9):1113–1123
- Lian Q, Zhang Y, Liang X, Gao F, Tse HF (2016) Directed differentiation of human-induced pluripotent stem cells to mesenchymal stem cells. Methods Mol Biol 1416:289–298
- Liu J, Wang H, Li J (2016) Inflammation and inflammatory cells in myocardial infarction and reperfusion injury: a double-edged sword. Clin Med Insights Cardiol 10:79–84
- Lu H, Wang F, Mei H, Wang S, Cheng L (2018) Human adipose mesenchymal stem cells show more efficient angiogenesis promotion on endothelial colony-forming cells than umbilical cord and endometrium. Stem Cells Int 2018:7537589
- Luger D, Lipinski MJ, Westman PC, Glover DK, Dimastromatteo J, Frias JC et al (2017) Intravenously delivered mesenchymal stem cells: systemic antiinflammatory effects improve left ventricular dysfunction in acute myocardial infarction and ischemic cardiomyopathy. Circ Res 120(10):1598–1613
- Maggini J, Mirkin G, Bognanni I, Holmberg J, Piazzon IM, Nepomnaschy I et al (2010) Mouse bone marrowderived mesenchymal stromal cells turn activated macrophages into a regulatory-like profile. PLoS One 5(2):e9252
- Majka M, Sulkowski M, Badyra B, Musialek P (2017) Concise review: mesenchymal stem cells in cardiovascular regeneration: emerging research directions and clinical applications. Stem Cells Transl Med 6 (10):1859–1867
- Makino S, Fukuda K, Miyoshi S, Konishi F, Kodama H, Pan J et al (1999) Cardiomyocytes can be generated from marrow stromal cells in vitro. J Clin Invest 103 (5):697–705
- Markel TA, Wang Y, Herrmann JL, Crisostomo PR, Wang M, Novotny NM et al (2008) VEGF is critical for stem cell-mediated cardioprotection and a crucial paracrine factor for defining the age threshold in adult and neonatal stem cell function. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 295(6):H2308–H2314
- Martin-Rendon E, Sweeney D, Lu F, Girdlestone J, Navarrete C, Watt SM (2008) 5-Azacytidine-treated human mesenchymal stem/progenitor cells derived from umbilical cord, cord blood and bone marrow do not generate cardiomyocytes in vitro at high frequencies. Vox Sang 95(2):137–148

- Mazo M, Arana M, Pelacho B, Prosper F (2012) Mesenchymal stem cells and cardiovascular disease: a bench to bedside roadmap. Stem Cells Int 2012:175979
- Mias C, Lairez O, Trouche E, Roncalli J, Calise D, Seguelas MH et al (2009) Mesenchymal stem cells promote matrix metalloproteinase secretion by cardiac fibroblasts and reduce cardiac ventricular fibrosis after myocardial infarction. Stem Cells 27(11):2734–2743
- Molina EJ, Palma J, Gupta D, Torres D, Gaughan JP, Houser S et al (2009) Reverse remodeling is associated with changes in extracellular matrix proteases and tissue inhibitors after mesenchymal stem cell (MSC) treatment of pressure overload hypertrophy. J Tissue Eng Regen Med 3(2):85–91
- Muller P, Lemcke H, David R (2018) Stem cell therapy in heart diseases – cell types, mechanisms and improvement strategies. Cell Physiol Biochem 48 (6):2607–2655
- Nagaya N, Kangawa K, Itoh T, Iwase T, Murakami S, Miyahara Y et al (2005) Transplantation of mesenchymal stem cells improves cardiac function in a rat model of dilated cardiomyopathy. Circulation 112 (8):1128–1135
- Nauta AJ, Fibbe WE (2007) Immunomodulatory properties of mesenchymal stromal cells. Blood 110 (10):3499–3506
- Ohnishi S, Sumiyoshi H, Kitamura S, Nagaya N (2007a) Mesenchymal stem cells attenuate cardiac fibroblast proliferation and collagen synthesis through paracrine actions. FEBS Lett 581(21):3961–3966
- Ohnishi S, Yanagawa B, Tanaka K, Miyahara Y, Obata H, Kataoka M et al (2007b) Transplantation of mesenchymal stem cells attenuates myocardial injury and dysfunction in a rat model of acute myocarditis. J Mol Cell Cardiol 42(1):88–97
- Oskowitz A, McFerrin H, Gutschow M, Carter ML, Pochampally R (2011) Serum-deprived human multipotent mesenchymal stromal cells (MSCs) are highly angiogenic. Stem Cell Res 6(3):215–225
- Oswald J, Boxberger S, Jorgensen B, Feldmann S, Ehninger G, Bornhauser M et al (2004) Mesenchymal stem cells can be differentiated into endothelial cells in vitro. Stem Cells 22(3):377–384
- Ozturk S, Elcin YM (2018) Cardiac stem cell characteristics in physiological and pathological conditions. Curr Pharm Des 24(26):3101–3112
- Öztürk S, Elçin AE, Koca A, Elçin YM (2020) Therapeutic applications of stem cells and extracellular vesicles in emergency care: futuristic perspectives. Stem Cell Rev Rep. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12015-020-10029-2
- Pei Z, Zeng J, Song Y, Gao Y, Wu R, Chen Y et al (2017) In vivo imaging to monitor differentiation and therapeutic effects of transplanted mesenchymal stem cells in myocardial infarction. Sci Rep 7(1):6296
- Pokrovskaya LA, Zubareva EV, Nadezhdin SV, Lysenko AS, Litovkina TL (2020) Biological activity of mesenchymal stem cells secretome as a basis for cell-free therapeutic approach. Res Results Pharmacol 6:57

- Quevedo HC, Hatzistergos KE, Oskouei BN, Feigenbaum GS, Rodriguez JE, Valdes D et al (2009) Allogeneic mesenchymal stem cells restore cardiac function in chronic ischemic cardiomyopathy via trilineage differentiating capacity. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 106(33):14022–14027
- Ringden O, Uzunel M, Rasmusson I, Remberger M, Sundberg B, Lonnies H et al (2006) Mesenchymal stem cells for treatment of therapy-resistant graftversus-host disease. Transplantation 81(10):1390–1397
- Rose RA, Jiang H, Wang X, Helke S, Tsoporis JN, Gong N et al (2008) Bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stromal cells express cardiac-specific markers, retain the stromal phenotype, and do not become functional cardiomyocytes in vitro. Stem Cells 26(11):2884–2892
- Rubina K, Kalinina N, Efimenko A, Lopatina T, Melikhova V, Tsokolaeva Z et al (2009) Adipose stromal cells stimulate angiogenesis via promoting progenitor cell differentiation, secretion of angiogenic factors, and enhancing vessel maturation. Tissue Eng Part A 15 (8):2039–2050
- Ruparelia N, Chai JT, Fisher EA, Choudhury RP (2017) Inflammatory processes in cardiovascular disease: a route to targeted therapies. Nat Rev Cardiol 14 (3):133–144
- Shen H, Wang Y, Zhang Z, Yang J, Hu S, Shen Z (2015) Mesenchymal stem cells for cardiac regenerative therapy: optimization of cell differentiation strategy. Stem Cells Int 2015:524756
- Silva GV, Litovsky S, Assad JA, Sousa AL, Martin BJ, Vela D et al (2005) Mesenchymal stem cells differentiate into an endothelial phenotype, enhance vascular density, and improve heart function in a canine chronic ischemia model. Circulation 111(2):150–156
- Sun YQ, Zhang Y, Li X, Deng MX, Gao WX, Yao Y et al (2015) Insensitivity of human iPS cells-derived mesenchymal stem cells to interferon-gamma-induced HLA expression potentiates repair efficiency of hind limb ischemia in immune humanized NOD Scid gamma mice. Stem Cells 33(12):3452–3467
- Talman V, Ruskoaho H (2016) Cardiac fibrosis in myocardial infarction-from repair and remodeling to regeneration. Cell Tissue Res 365(3):563–581
- Tang Y, Gan X, Cheheltani R, Curran E, Lamberti G, Krynska B et al (2014) Targeted delivery of vascular endothelial growth factor improves stem cell therapy in a rat myocardial infarction model. Nanomedicine 10 (8):1711–1718
- Timmers L, Lim SK, Arslan F, Armstrong JS, Hoefer IE, Doevendans PA et al (2007) Reduction of myocardial infarct size by human mesenchymal stem cell conditioned medium. Stem Cell Res 1(2):129–137
- Timmers L, Lim SK, Hoefer IE, Arslan F, Lai RC, van Oorschot AA et al (2011) Human mesenchymal stem cell-conditioned medium improves cardiac function following myocardial infarction. Stem Cell Res 6 (3):206–214

- Toma C, Pittenger MF, Cahill KS, Byrne BJ, Kessler PD (2002) Human mesenchymal stem cells differentiate to a cardiomyocyte phenotype in the adult murine heart. Circulation 105(1):93–98
- Traktuev DO, Merfeld-Clauss S, Li J, Kolonin M, Arap W, Pasqualini R et al (2008) A population of multipotent CD34-positive adipose stromal cells share pericyte and mesenchymal surface markers, reside in a periendothelial location, and stabilize endothelial networks. Circ Res 102(1):77–85
- Travers JG, Kamal FA, Robbins J, Yutzey KE, Blaxall BC (2016) Cardiac fibrosis: the fibroblast awakens. Circ Res 118(6):1021–1040
- Trounson A, McDonald C (2015) Stem cell therapies in clinical trials: progress and challenges. Cell Stem Cell 17(1):11–22
- Uccelli A, Moretta L, Pistoia V (2008) Mesenchymal stem cells in health and disease. Nat Rev Immunol 8 (9):726–736
- van den Akker F, de Jager SC, Sluijter JP (2013) Mesenchymal stem cell therapy for cardiac inflammation: immunomodulatory properties and the influence of toll-like receptors. Mediat Inflamm 2013:181020
- Via AG, Frizziero A, Oliva F (2012) Biological properties of mesenchymal stem cells from different sources. Muscles Ligaments Tendons J 2(3):154–162
- Vittorio O, Jacchetti E, Pacini S, Cecchini M (2013) Endothelial differentiation of mesenchymal stromal cells: when traditional biology meets mechanotransduction. Integr Biol (Camb) 5(2):291–299
- Wei D, Qing-wei C, Xing-sheng L et al (2011) Bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells prevent myocardial fibrosis via nuclear factor kappa B signaling pathway. J Clin Rehabil Tissue Eng Res 15:3494–3497
- Wei F, Wang TZ, Zhang J, Yuan ZY, Tian HY, Ni YJ et al (2012) Mesenchymal stem cells neither fully acquire the electrophysiological properties of mature cardiomyocytes nor promote ventricular arrhythmias in infarcted rats. Basic Res Cardiol 107(4):274
- White IA, Sanina C, Balkan W, Hare JM (2016) Mesenchymal stem cells in cardiology. Methods Mol Biol 1416:55–87
- Wu M, Zhang R, Zou Q, Chen Y, Zhou M, Li X et al (2018) Comparison of the biological characteristics of mesenchymal stem cells derived from the human placenta and umbilical cord. Sci Rep 8(1):5014
- Yoon CH, Koyanagi M, Iekushi K, Seeger F, Urbich C, Zeiher AM et al (2010) Mechanism of improved cardiac function after bone marrow mononuclear cell therapy: role of cardiovascular lineage commitment. Circulation 121(18):2001–2011
- Zhao Y, Sun X, Cao W, Ma J, Sun L, Qian H et al (2015) Exosomes derived from human umbilical cord mesenchymal stem cells relieve acute myocardial ischemic injury. Stem Cells Int 2015:761643



Cardiac Progenitor Cells

Shaimaa Shouman, Amr Zaher, Alaa Abdelhameed, Sara Elshaboury, Samar Sakr, Bahaa Eldin Fouda, Haya Mohamed, and Nagwa El-Badri

Abstract

Cardiovascular diseases top the list of fatal illnesses worldwide. Cardiac tissues is known to be one of te least proliferative in the human body, with very limited regenraive capacity. Stem cell therapy has shown great potential for treatment of cardiovascular diseases in the experimental setting, but success in human trials has been limited. Applications of stem cell therapy for cardiovascular regeneration necessitate understamding of the complex and unique structure of the heart unit, and the

S. Shouman, A. Abdelhameed, S. Elshaboury, and N. El-Badri (⊠) Center of Excellence for Stem Cells and Regenerative Medicine (CESC), Zewail City of Science and Technology, 6th of October City, Egypt e-mail: sshouman@zewailcity.edu.eg; nelbadri@zewailcity.edu.eg

A. Zaher

Center of Excellence for Stem Cells and Regenerative Medicine (CESC), Zewail City of Science and Technology, 6th of October City, Egypt

National Heart Institute, Giza, Egypt

S. Sakr

Department of Biochemistry, Faculty of Science, Mansoura University, Mansoura, Egypt

B. E. Fouda National Heart Institute, Giza, Egypt

H. Mohamed

Faculty of Pharmacy, Tanta University, Tanta, Egypt

embryologic development of the heart muscles and vessels. This chapter aims to provide an insight into cardiac progenitor cells and their potential applications in regenerative medicine. It also provides an overview of the embryological development of cardiac tissue, and the major findings on the development of cardiac stem cells, their characterization, and differentiation, and their regenerative potential. It concludes with clinical applications in treating cardiac disease using different approaches, and concludes with areas for future research.

Keywords

Cardiac progenitor cell · Heart embryology · CVD · Stem cell application

1 Introduction

The heart is the ultimate blood-pumping organ in the body. Anatomically, it consists of four main chambers connected to the rest of the body by a set of vessels, namely, veins and arteries, and wrapped inside the chest by a pericardial sac that provides protection and support (Fig. 1a). The heart consists of two receiving chambers (atria) and two pumping chambers (ventricles). Physiologically, the heart is divided into a right side t and a left side heart. The right heart consists of the right atrium, which receives blood from all

Shaimaa Shouman and Amr Zaher contributed equally with all other contributors.



Fig. 1 Heart structure. (a) Demonstration of the structure of the heart. (b) Heart chambers and inter-chamber valves

over the body via two large veins, the superior vena cava, and the inferior vena cava. Normally, the blood follows a route to the right ventricle where it is pumped to the lungs via the pulmonary artery, where a series of events lead to more oxygenation and less carbonation of the blood. The blood then enters the left heart via four pulmonary veins, where it receives oxygenated blood from the lungs. Oxygenated blood flows to the left ventricle, where it is pumped to all of the organs and tissues of the body via the aorta. This cycle repeats itself with every heartbeat. The cardiovascular circuit is a closed circuit between the two right and left halves of the circulation, which function to perfuse the body with nutrients and carry out metabolic activities in different organs. Two types of one-way valve between the various chambers maintain the continuity of this circuit and vessels; the atrioventricular (A-V) valves connect the atria with the ventricles, whereas the semilunar valves connect the heart with the aorta and the pulmonary trunk. The mitral valve is bicuspid with two leaflets and connects the left atrium to the left ventricle. The tricuspid valve has three leaflets and connects the right atrium to the right ventricle. The aortic valve connects the left ventricle with the aorta, whereas the pulmonary valve connects the right ventricle with the pulmonary trunk (Fig. 1b). The heart acts as a single functional unit (syncytium), and any defect in this unit will lead to diseases ranging from mild to severe and even fatal conditions. Cardiomyocytes are known to be unable to regenerate after an injury (Laflamme and Murry 2011). To obtain a comprehensive understanding of cardiac regeneration and the role of stem cell therapy in heart repair, it is essential to understand the structure and development of the heart and the role of cardiac progenitors in its regeneration.

2 Development of Cardiac Progenitor Cells

2.1 Embryology of the Heart

Heart development begins soon after gastrulation. The heart develops from the splanchnic mesoderm on both sides of the primitive foregut, forming a heart tube that undergoes a sequence of looping, septation, realignment, and remodeling (Fig. 2). It was recently hypothesized that the heart develops via a sequence of events involving the interaction of different cell groups (Aguilar-Sanchez et al. 2018). In early development, bilateral groups of cells from the splanchnic mesoderm migrate and distribute along the ventral midline in the cardiac crescent (Fig. 2a); this is called the primary or first heart field (Wu et al. 2008). This is followed by another wave of migration from some progenitor cells from the underlying pharyngeal mesoderm, forming the second heart field (Rochais et al. 2009). The cells of the first heart field are positioned more laterally, while those of the second heart field are located more medially and caudally. The cells of the first heart field will form the initial tubular heart. However, the extension of the tubular heart at the venous and arterial pole is assigned to the second heart field. This process gives rise to the right ventricle and outflow tract. The second heart field contributes to the outflow tract, the majority of the right ventricle, and parts of the atria, while the first heart field cells were found to contribute to the entire left ventricle, the majority of both atria, and parts of the right ventricle (Fig. 2b). The merging of the cardiac crescent in the midline forms the primitive heart tube, which is composed of beating cardiomyocytes and is subsequently lined by the endothelium of the endocardium. All parts are surrounded by an extracellular matrix called the cardiac jelly. The endocardial cells appear to be committed even before migration to the heart field.(Ishii et al. 2009) With the first heartbeat, the primitive cardiac tube undergoes canalization and then further elongation, looping, and chambering (Forouhar et al. 2006) (Fig. 2c). This stage is followed by the third wave of cell migration, referred to as the third heart field (Christoffels et al. 2006). However, this time, the neural crest cells come from outside the cardiac mesoderm and are thought to be derived from the dorsal neural tube. They are responsible for completing the separation of the outflow tracts. The third field cells are arranged anteriorly in the early heart tissue forming proepicardium, which is believed to be responsible for forming the membrane covering the entire heart later on, as well as coronary vasculature (Männer et al. 2001). The three waves of cell migration denoted as the first, second, and third heart fields act synchronously to form the ultimate structure of the heart

2.2 Role of Cardiac Progenitor Cells in Heart Development

Cardiac progenitors are precursor multipotent cells that can differentiate into different types of myocytes and non-myocyte cells in the heart (Brade et al. 2013). Identifying the origin of

splanchnic

mesoderm layer

Neural tube

Intraembryonic

cavity

Endodern Bood islands Frimary heart field cells Positined more laterally Positined more laterally Secondary heart field cells Dot field cells Activity of the secondary Bood islands

Mesoderm



Fig. 2 Heart development. (a) Early stage of heart development at embyronic gastrulation. (b) Development of cardiogenic fields. (c) Heart tube formation undergoes a

sequence of looping, septation, realignment, and remodeling

these cells and how they differentiate into different cell populations forming a whole functional heart has been the target of extensive research. Determination of the molecular mechanisms that regulate the heart lineage specification provides insight into the potential to reactivate these pathways as a means to treat the loss or damage of adult cardiomyocytes (Xin et al. 2013). During human embryonic development, after the third week of gastrulation, the heart begins to form from the mesodermal germ layer. At this stage, the embryo is converted from being bilaminar (i.e., consisting of two layers of epiblast and hypoblast tissues) into a trilaminar embryonic disk. This process is called gastrulation, where the three germ layers are formed (ectoderm, mesoderm, and endoderm). Initially, a primitive streak (PS) with a node is formed in the bilaminar

A)

B)

C)

Ectoderm

embryonic oval disk toward its caudal end. This streak allows the cardiac mesoderm cells (CMCs) to migrate inwardly through PS during gastrulation and to localize in the region anterior of the streak, called the splanchnic mesoderm. Several regulatory pathways from the adjacent endoderm and ectoderm germ layers regulate the induction of the cardiac mesoderm. These include bone morphogenetic protein (BMP), nodal pathway, fibroblast growth factors (FGF), and Wnt signaling pathway, as well as the morphogen gradient (Noseda et al. 2011).

The heart basically develops from migrating CMCs, which transiently express master regulator mesoderm posterior 1 (Mesp1⁺) and BHLH transcription factor 1, under control of the T-brachyury transcription factor (Bondue et al. 2008). To maintain the cardiac mesoderm lineage, the Mesp1 transcription factor inhibits the Wnt signaling pathway through the activation of Wnt Dickkopf (WNT signaling pathway inhibitor 1) (Bondue and Blanpain 2010). CMCs express the Mesp1⁺ marker, which is characterized as the earliest sign of heart development (Bondue et al. 2008; Saga et al. 2000). Those uncommitted proliferate rapidly CMCs and migrate craniolaterally to form the cardiac crescent (at week 2 in the human embryo and day E7.5 in the mouse embryo). Sunbsequently, the sequential commitment of Mesp1⁺ cells is controlled by spatiotemporal signals to give rise to different cardiac progenitor cells (CPCs), expressing specific markers (Saga et al. 2000). Three CPCs have been identified in the embryonic heart: cardiogenic mesoderm cells (CMCs), cardiac neural crest cells (CNCCs), and the proepicardium (PE) (Brade et al. 2013). Cardiogenic mesoderm cells form two fields, the first heart field (FHF) forms the left ventricle and atria, while the second heart field (SHF) forms the right ventricle and outflow tract (OFT) (Buckingham et al. 2005). Cardiac precursors in the FHF and SHF express specific markers such as Gata-4, Nkx2.5, Mef2c, and Islet1 (Laugwitz et al. 2008; Molkentin et al. 1997; Dodou et al. 2004). Cardiac progenitors arising from PE can differentiate into interstitial fibroblasts implanted in the myocardium, smooth muscle, endothelial cells of coronary vessels, and a small number of myocytes located in the atrioventricular A-V septum (Brade et al. 2013). Therefore, the interaction among cardiomyocyte, epicardial, endocardial, and CNCCs results in the formation of the septated four chambers of the fetal heart (Garry and Olson 2006).

3 Types of Cardiac Progenitor Cell

3.1 Cardiac Progenitor Cells in Embryonic Heart

Most of the knowledge obtained about cardiac embryogenesis has been from animal studies, which has resulted in significant gaps of knowledge that limit our understanding of the development of cardiac cells in humans. The anatomical convergence between mice and humans is a key factor in understanding the developmental stages of the heart (Sahara et al. 2019). Animal studies have shown that CPCs play a key role in regulating the sequential assembly of different during embryogenesis. heart cells These progenitors include cardiogenic mesoderm cells (CMCs), CNCCs, and the PE.

3.1.1 Cardiac Mesoderm Cells

In early vertebrate development, CMCs, derived from a common mesodermal lineage, develop into the FHF and SHF. FHF forms on day 7.5 of gestation in mice and from days 16-18 in humans, when the early cardiac progenitor mesoderm forms the cardiac crescent. Markers for FHF cells are the transcription factor NKX2-5 and the cyclic nucleotide-gated ion channel HCN4 (Brade et al. 2013; Wu et al. 2006). In the cardiac crescent stage, FHF progenitor cells are committed to differentiation by the action of BMP (Schultheiss et al. 1997), FGF (Reifers et al. 2000), and Wnt/ β -catenin inhibitors (Marvin et al. 2001). In contrast, SHF progenitors remain undifferentiated and in a proliferating state till they enter the heart tube (Brade et al. 2013). SHF is formed from the pharyngeal mesoderm in the medial and anterior regions of the cardiac crescent and is Islet-1

(ISL1)-positive (Cai et al. 2003). The proliferation of uncommitted SHF cells is regulated by FGF, Notch, canonical WNT, and Hedgehog signaling pathways (Dyer and Kirby 2009). By embryonic day 8 in mice, cells from the cardiac crescent migrate to the midline to form a linear heart tube, serving as a scaffold for subsequent heart growth. Further anterior and posterior expansion of the heart results from the migration of cells from the secondary heart field (Garcia-Martinez and Schoenwolf 1993). Many intermediates originate from the first and second heart field-derived CPCs, which subsequently generate all of the major cells in the heart, including cardiomyocytes (CMs), vascular smooth muscle cells (SMCs), arterial and venous endothelial cells (ECs), fibroblasts, and cells of the cardiac conduction system. Moreover, epigenetic regulation mediated by miRNA and lncRNA is also significant for the progression of CPCs to terminally differentiated muscle and non-muscle cardiac lineages (Liu and Olson 2010).

3.1.2 Cardiac Neural Crest Progenitors

The third multipotent distinct embryonic cardiac progenitors are CNCCs, characterized as non-cardiac cell types. CNCCs arise from the ectoderm, from the dorsal neural tube between mid-otic placode and caudal boundary of somit 3 (Achilleos and Trainor 2012). They undergo epithelial-mesenchymal transition (EMT) and migrate toward the heart at pharyngeal arches 3, 4, and 6. CNCCs contribute to the development of the aorticopulmonary septum, conotruncal cushions (i.e., atrioventricular cushions), and smooth muscle and appropriate patterning of the large arteries (Keyte and Hutson 2012; Bergwerff et al. 1998). In addition, the cardiac neural crest generates cardiac parasympathetic innervation and connective tissue insulation of His-Purkinje fibers (Kirby et al. 1983; Gurjarpadhye et al. 2007). Several signaling pathways, transcription factors, and secreted molecules have been shown to interact to instruct CNCCs during their induction, migration, and differentiation. The key players for neural crest induction and specification are BMP/TGF- β growth factors, FGF, the

Wnt/β-catenin signaling pathway, as well as retinoic acid (RA) (Aybar and Mayor 2002; Sauka-Spengler and Bronner-Fraser 2008). The migration of CNCCs to a specific site on the heart outflow tract is guided by chemical attractants, such as semaphorin 3C and connexin 43, alongside FGF signaling molecule (Toyofuku et al. 2008; Xu et al. 2006; Sato et al. 2011). The myocardium underlying the outflow tract expresses semaphorin, which binds to its receptor on CNCCs, leading to cytoskeletal rearrangement and cell migration (Toyofuku et al. 2008). The final process of patterning the aortic arch artery is controlled by TGF-B and PDGF signaling pathways. Mutations arising in the genes encoding these signaling pathways or molecules result in various congenital heart diseases (Keyte and Hutson 2012). Unfortunately, no unique molecular marker that allows the identification and tracking of CNCCs is currently available. Instead, molecular lineage labeling and chickquail chimeras allow the indirect tracking of CNCCs (Phillips et al. 1987). This chick-quail chimera technique allows the transplantation of quail tissues into chick embryo or vice versa, in order to follow the fate of specific regions during embryonic development (Phillips et al. 1987). However, a study reported a multipotent CNCC population in neonatal and adult mouse hearts, precisely within the cardiac side population (Golebiewska et al. 2011). Side population (SP) cells are dormant tissue-resident progenitors that were first identified by their distinctive ability Hoechst-33342 efflux dyes through to ATP-binding cassette (ABC) transporters (Golebiewska et al. 2011). SP cells were isolated and formed a cardiosphere upon culture, similar to the case for neurosphere formation. This cardiosphere was shown to express Nestin and Musashi-1 markers and, upon dissociation, differentiated into neurons, glia, melanocytes, chondrocytes, and myofibroblasts. Once the labeled cardiosphere cells were transplanted into chick embryo, they migrated to the heart, similar to endogenous CNCCs, and contributed to contraction of the cushion and outflow tract (Youn et al. 2003).

3.1.3 Proepicardium (PE)

The outermost layer of the heart enveloping both the endocardium and the myocardium is called the epicardium. PE cells are embryonic progenitor cells that give rise to epicardial cells . During the looping stages of the heart, proepicardial cells migrate to cover the heart surface with an epicardial sheet. Some epicardial cells detach and undergo EMT, invade the myocardial walls, and give rise to the epicardial-derived cells (EPDCs) (Perez-Pomares et al. 2002; Gittenberger-de Groot et al. 1998). Invasive EPDCs differentiate into coronary vascular SMCs, ECs, and subepicardial and intramyocardial fibroblasts (Dettman et al. 1998; Smart et al. 2007). The induction and maintenance of PE are regulated by the opposite interaction between FGF and BMP signaling pathways. FGF signaling induces a proepicardial fate from the splanchnic mesoderm, while BMP signaling induces myocardial differentiation (Kruithof et al. 2006). Important signaling molecules driving EPDC differentiation into primary coronary blood vessels are the TGF- β superfamily, FGFs, retinoic acid, as well as Hedgehog and VEGF (Lavine and Ornitz 2008; Perez-Pomares and de la Pompa 2011).

For a long time, it was thought that the PE is an extracardiac population of cells; however, recent molecular analysis and lineage tracing studies found that CPCs expressed Nkx2-5- and Isl1 markers as SHF progenitors, contributing to the formation of proepicardial cells. In addition, these proepicardial progenitor cells expressed Wt1 and Tbx18 markers and could differentiate into cardiomyocytes, ECs, and SMCs (Zhou et al. 2008a). This supports the assertion that SHF progenitor (Nkx2-5- and Isl1-positive) cells contribute to the formation of PE during cardiac development (Zhou et al. 2008a).

3.2 Cardiac Progenitor Cells in Adult Heart

Cardiac cells were long believed to lack the capacity to self-renew (post-mitotic organ) and thus to have limited potential to regenerate after injury (Laflamme and Murry 2011). The regenerative potential of administering stem cells directly into the heart is still impeded by many challenges, such as limited yield and differentiation potential (Madonna et al. 2016). The benefits of stem cell therapy in cardiac patients have been proposed to be caused by a paracrine action, such as the angiogenesis mediated by the CPC-driven chemokine CXCL6 (Torán et al. 2017; Ptaszek et al. 2012; Mercola et al. 2011; Sebastião et al. 2019). During normal physiological aging, cardiomyocyte genesis is a caused by the slow division of pre-existing cardiomyocytes (Senyo et al. 2013). However, recent studies have shown that the generation of new cardiomyocytes occurs in the adult heart, generating renewed interest in cardiac regeneration (Kuhn and Wu 2010). The discovery of CPCs in embryos encouraged a further search for such progenitors in the adult heart (Kuhn and Wu 2010). An endogenous heterogeneous population of cells that is widely distributed throughout the adult heart, in the atria, ventricles, and other parts, was found to play a role in myocardial regeneration (Anversa and Nadal-Ginard 2002; Bergmann et al. 2009). These CPCs are quiescent cells that make a minimal contribution to repair damage to myocardial cells under normal physiological conditions (Hsieh et al. 2007). The specific biological role of CPCs in maintaining homeostasis or their reparative function in the injured heart is still unclear. Adult CPCs are subclassified into different types, according to their expression of specific cellular markers such as c-kit (CD117), Isl-1 (insulin gene enhancer protein), and Sca-l (stem *cell* antigen-1(Galvez et al. 2008; Oh et al. 2003). However, those markers are not specific and overlap with other tissue markers. The main characteristics of those cells are their self-renewal and clonogenic properties, in addition to their multipotent potential to differentiate into cells of cardiac lineages, such as myocytes, SMCs, and ECs (Beltrami et al. 2003a). The in vitro propagation of these cells in culture is characterized by being adherent or spheroid (the adherent cells grow in monolayers, while in the spheroid model the cells grow as 3D aggregates), termed cardiospheres (Messina et al. 2004; Shenje et al. 2008). Spheroids are non-adherent, multicellular

floating clusters of cells that were first defined in neural stem cells (Reynolds and Weiss 1992). Human cardiospheres (CS) were reported from the culture of patients' atrial appendage specimens on non-adhesive substrates supplemented with cardiosphere-forming medium. This medium contains epidermal growth factor, basic fibroblast growth factor, thrombin, cardiotrophin-1, and B27. CS showed heterogeneous populations of both primitive and committed progenitors expressing mesenchymal stem cell markers, such as CD105, CD13, CD73, and CD166, as well as early and late cardiac markers (Nkx2.5, GATA4, and connexin 43) (Barile et al. 2013). CS exhibited the multipotent ability to differentiate into cardiomyocytes, SMCs, and ECs, serving as a promising cell source for treating myocardial infarction in phase 1 clinical trials (Makkar et al. 2012). Additionally, CPCs of proepicardial origin, expressing platelet-derived growth factor receptoralpha (PDGFR α^+) and c-kit, have been found in the adult human heart (Chong et al. 2011). PDGFR α^+ cells could differentiate into SMCs and ECs, providing a source of vascular and interstitial tissues of the injured heart . A recent study demonstrated that some types of CPC, such as Bmi1⁺ cells, contribute to the regeneration of cardiomyocytes after injury, serving as a source of progenitors in cardiac repair (Valiente-Alandi et al. 2016).

3.3 Cardiac Progenitor Cells Derived from Human Pluripotent Stem Cells

Developmental cardiac progenitor cells are the *in vitro* version of CPCs that can be generated from either embryonic stem cells (ESCs) or induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSCs). The main characteristics of these cells are their self-renewal and clonogenic properties, in addition to their multipotent differentiation potential, from which different cardiac lineages such as CMs, SMCs, and ECs arise (Sanganalmath and Bolli 2013; Mauretti et al. 2017; Beltrami et al. 2003b).

Generating cardiovascular cells from ESCs has been shown to have many advantages. For example, ESCs are natural pluripotent cells, and can be scaled up and genetically tagged for cell selection or tracing. CPCs were shown to be derived from ESCs by in vitro manipulation of the essential signaling pathways involved in embryonic carcinogenesis, as described by Pucéat's protocol (Jebeniani et al. 1994). ESCs were cultured in serum-free mesogenic induction medium supplemented with small-molecule that inhibit FGF and Wnt signaling pathways in the presence of the cardiogenic morphogen BMP2. CPCs were isolated by the expressions of SEA-1 and MESP1 markers and showed a commitment to three lineages: cardiomyocytes, SMCs, and ECs (Blin et al. 2010a). A phase 1 clinical trial using hESCderived cardiac progenitors was conducted for patients with severe heart failure (see ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier: NCT02057900).

The discovery of iPSCs and gene editing have promised an attractive approach for generating cardiac cells with specific mutations. This technology allowed the mimicking of inherited cardiac diseases and elucidation of their developmental mechanism. Congenital long QT syndrome is caused by mutation of the KCNH2 gene encoding potassium ion channels that regulate the cardiac action potential (Bohnen et al. 2017). CRISPR/Cas9 editing was thus used to introduce specific mutation into the KCNH2 gene (potassium voltage-gated channel, subfamily H and member 2) of healthy hiPSC lines. These iPSC-derived cardiomyocytes (iPSC-CMs) allowed study of the mechanism underlying inherited cardiac channelopathy (Chai et al. 2018). The third approach for direct cellular reprogramming involves a cocktail of transcription factors (Gata4, Mef2c, and Tbx5) essential for early carcinogenesis being directly injected into the cardiac fibroblasts of elderly mice. The transfected cells were directly reprogrammed into adult cardiomyocyte-like cells. These cells that beat upon cardiac stimulation decreased the infarct size and raised hopes for the achievement of *in vivo* cardiac regeneration (Qian et al. 2012).

4 In Vitro Characterization of Cardiac Progenitor Cells in Embryonic and Adult Heart

Cardiac progenitors express many specific proteins. Their markers have yet to be fully elucidated. Adult CPCs are categorized into seven main types expressing overlapping markers: c-kit, Sca1, islet-, SP cells, epicardiumderived cells, cardiac colony forming unit fibroblasts (c-CFU-Fs), and cardiosphere-derived cells (Le and Chong 2016a). They commonly share the expression of c-kit, but at different levels. Most adult CPC populations express surface markers such as Sca-1, Abcg-2, Flk-1, CD34, CD90, and CD10, and the transcription factors Isl-1, NK2 homeobox 5 (Nkx2.5), GATA binding protein 4 (GATA4), and myocyte enhancer factor 2 (MEF2), which are expressed continuously in both adult and embryonic CPCs. Embryonic CPCs express Oct3/4, Bmi-1, and Nanog, supporting their regenerative potential through enhancing the self-renewal and multiple propagation abilities (Van Berlo et al. 2014; Chong et al. 2013), Surface markers can be identified using flow cytometry or immunohistochemistry (Mishra et al. 2011). Table 1 illustrates the cell surface markers for each population (Takamiya et al. 2011). CPCs can also be characterized by ability their to form cardiospheres (Blue Box 1), SP cells to pump out the DNA binding dye (efflux), and colony formation by c-CFU-F cells (Mishra et al. 2011; Unno et al. 2012; Belostotskaya et al. 2018).

5 Concepts in Cardiac Differentiation

Signaling pathways play an important role in cardiac differentiation (Devalla and Passier 2018). Early-activated signaling pathways are inhibited during the later stages of cardiac differentiation to allow complete differentiation. Wnt proteins encompass a major family of lipid-modified glycoproteins acting as signaling molecules to facilitate cellular communication.

They maintain the equilibrium of growth, function, differentiation, and cell death (Willert and Nusse 2012). The activation of Wnt proteins is essential during the generation of the mesoderm, and their inactivation is essential during the differentiation of cardiac progenitors. During early gastrulation, the E-cadherin signaling pathway dominates and the epiblast cells are tightly packed, resulting in an increase in membranebound β -catenin and Wnt signaling. The epiblast corresponds to this increase by releasing β -catenin from the membrane into the cytoplasm, leading to its accumulation (Naito et al. 2006; Ueno et al. 2007). Wnt proteins inhibit the phosphorylation of β -catenin in order to prevent its degradation by the proteasome (Pahnke et al. 2016). Subsequently, hypo-phosphorylated β-catenin moves to the nucleus and enhances the transcription of Wnt-induced genes. These genes include Wnt inhibitors that promote cardiac differentiation (Ueno et al. 2007; Lindsley et al. 2008). In vitro cardiac differentiation protocols initially used 5-azacitidine, a demethylating agent that alters gene expression and increases Wnt/ β signaling, in order to enhance early mesodermal commitment. However, the exact mechanism by which 5-azacitidine acts has not been well characterized. Some protocols combine the usage of 5-azacitidine and TGF- β 1 to increase vascularization and certain cardiac markers such as α -smooth muscle actin and vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) (Sebastião et al. 2019). Angiotensin II (Ang II) in combination with 5-azacitidine and TGF-B1 at low concentration (Xing et al. 2012) is used to enhance cardiac differentiation. Ang II was shown to stimulate the expression of TGF- β 1 in different cell types as SMCs, cardiac such fibroblasts, and myofibroblasts (Williams 2001). To overcome the cytotoxicity of 5-azacytidine, small bioactive lipids were applied to induce Wnt/β-catenin signaling without notable cell damage. Sphingosine-1-phosphate (S-1-P) in combination with lysophosphatidic acid (LPA) was found to activate Wnt/β-catenin signaling, which results in the accumulation of nuclear β -catenin; this in turn facilitates mesodermal induction and subsequent cardiac differentiation. Other differentiation

Table 1 Cardia	c progenitor (cells types in adu	It and embryonic	heart			
Type	Surface marker	Transcription factor	Possible origin	Potency	Differentiates into	Pathway involved in differentiation	Ref.
Cardiac proger	itor types (a	idult)					
Epicardium-	CD34 ⁺	MRTF-A	Proepicardial	Multipotent	Smooth muscle	TGF-β	Smart et al. (2007), Trembley
derived cells	c-Kit+	MRTF-B	organ/		myofibroblasts		et al. (2015), Winter et al. (2007),
	$CD105^{+}$		epicardium		Endothelial cells		Zhou et al. (2008b)
	CD90⁺						
	CD44 ⁺						
	$CD46^{+}$						
Side population	$CD34^{+}$	Nkx2.5	Bone marrow derived	Multipotent	Cardiomyocytes	c-Jun N -terminal kinase (JNK)	Pfister et al. (2005), Oyama et al. (2007), Liao et al. (2007), Chen
cells	CD45 ⁺	GATA4	Neural Crest				et al. (2014)
	c-Kit+		(still				
	Abcg2+		heterogenous)				
	Sca-1 ⁺						
Cardio sphere-	$CD34^{+}$	MEF2C	Cardiac origin	Multipotent	Cardiomyocytes	Notch 1/J kappa-	Walravens et al. (2018), Chimenti
derived cells	$CD45^{+}$	GATA4			Smooth muscle	recombining binding	et al. (2010), Malliaras et al.
	c-Kit ^(low)				Endothelial cells	protein (RBPJ)	(2012), Davis et al. (2009), Chen
	Abcg+					signaling	et al. (2012)
	$CD31^+$						
	$CD105^{+}$						
	Sca-1+						
c-Kit+ CPCs	CD34-	Nkx2.5	Cardiogenic	Multipotent	Cardiomyocytes	PI3K	Beltrami et al. (2003a), Rota et al.
	CD45-	MEF2C	mesoderm		Smooth muscle	MAPK	(2007), Fathi et al. (2020)
	c-Kit+	GATA4	Bone marrow		Endothelial cells		
	$CD105^{+}$						
	CD166+						
	Abcg2+						
Cardiac	PDGFR	N/A	Proepicardial	Multipotent	Smooth muscle	TGFβ	Chong et al. (2011), Doyle et al.
colony	α+				Endothelial cells	BMP	(2015)
forming unit	CD90+				Cardiomyocytes		
IIDTODIASTS	CD105+						
	CD44+						
	CD29+						

60

	Laugwitz et al. (2005), Moretti et al. (2006), Genead et al. (2010)	Oh et al. (2003), Le and Chong (2016b), Wang et al. (2006), Uchida et al. (2013)	Bondue and Blanpain (2010), Wu et al. (2006), Dyer and Kirby (2009) Keyte and Hutson (2012), Tani- Matsuhana et al. (2018), Tomita	et al. (2005) Keyte and Hutson (2012), Zhou et al. (2008a), Manner et al. (2001)
			Notch, canonical WNT Hedgehog (Bergmann et al. 2009) signaling pathways TGF-β, and PDGF	TGF-β Hedgehog (Keyte and Hutson 2012; Bergmann et al. 2009)
	Smooth muscle Endothelial cells Cardiomyocytes	Cardiomyocytes	Cardiomyocytes smooth muscle cells arterial and venous endothelial cells fibroblasts Smooth muscle (in vitro) Aortic arch arteries	(in vivo) cardiomyocytes, endothelial cell smooth muscle
	Multipotent	Cardiomyocytes Chondrocytes Osteocytes	Multipotent Multipotent	Multipotent
	SHF	N/A	SHF FHF Ectoderm Neural tube	Extra cardiac mesenchyme and SHF
	Isl-1+ Nkx2.5+ GATA4+		Mesp-1- Mesp-1- Sox10	MafB Krox20 Nestin Nkx2-5+ Isl1+ Tbx18 WT1(Zhou et al. 2008a)
Sca-1+ CD31- CD45- Flk-1 ⁻ C-kit ^(low)	C-kit +/- CD31- Sca-1 ⁻	Sca-1+ C-kit +/- CD105 ⁺ CD34- CD45-	Islet-1+ C-kit+ FIK1- CD49+ Integrin-	alpha- 4 beta 1 -
	Islet-1+ CPCs	Sca 1+ CPCs	CPCs Nesoderm CPCs Neural crest CPCs	Proepicardium



Blue Box 1 Cardiosphere assay protocol

protocols use glucose synthase kinase 3 inhibitors (GSK3) such as CHIR99021 to increase β -catenin expression, which consequently enhances Wnt signaling, allowing differentiation into cardiomyocytes (Sharma et al. 2018). It was also reported that small molecules such as KY02111 were used to block Wnt/ β -catenin signaling in late differentiation in order to efficiently enhance cardiac myocyte differentiation (Minami et al. 2012).

6 Clinical Applications of Cardiac Stem Cells

According to the World Health Organization, the leading cause of mortality globally is cardiovascular diseases (CVDs). In 2016 alone, approximately 31% of deaths worldwide were attributed to these diseases. CVDs include congenital heart diseases, coronary heart diseases, cerebrovascular diseases, peripheral arterial diseases, and rheumatic heart diseases. The use of pharmacological agents and mechanical devices has helped to improve heart function, but most available therapies are symptomatic, do not cure the disease, and require lifelong maintenance. Regenerative medicine could potentially replace damaged heart or vessel cells (Fig. 3). Stem cells used in cardiac regenerative therapies include:

6.1 Pluripotent Stem Cells

6.1.1 Embryonic Stem Cells

At present, the only performed clinical trial using ESC-derived pluripotent cells (ESCORT) was for for treatment severe heart failure the (ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier: NCT02057900); however, no data from this trial are currently available. Genetic modification of ESCs to promote the expression of the cellular repressor of E1A-stimulated genes (CREG), a glycoprotein that enhances cell survival and differentiation, followed by injection of the CREG-ESC cells into the peri-ischemic region in a myocardial infarction model, showed reductions in infarction, and fibrosis. Moreover, the survival rate of CREG-ESCs was high in the treated mice. Additionally, CREG-ESCs induced reductions in inflammatory cytokines including IL-1 β , IL-6, and TNF- α and increases in the pro-inflammatory TGF-β, bFGF, and VEGF165. Enhancing the expression of CREG in CREG-ESCs appeared to prevent teratogenicity as the injection of up to 3.0×10^6 CREG-ESCs did not result in the teratoma formation



Fig. 3 Summary of different types of stem cell and their roles in heart regeneration

observed with ESCs (Zhang et al. 2018). In addition, Romagnuolo et al. used human ESC-derived cardiomyocytes (hESC-CMs) to treat infarcted heart in a pig model. Although immunosuppressed animals did not reject the grafted cells and no teratoma formation was detected, monomorphic ventricular tachycardia frequently occurred up to 4 weeks after transplantation (Romagnuolo et al. 2019).

6.1.2 Induced Pluripotent Stem Cells (iPSCs)

IPSCs are derived from adult somatic cells (e.g., fibroblasts) that have been reprogrammed into an embryonic-like state, and have the ability to differentiate into different lineages (Takahashi et al. 2007). They display broad differentiation plasticity and are a source of autologous therapy. The in vitro culture of iPSCs treated with BMP2 in the presence of FGF pathway inhibitors was shown to upregulate the expression of connexin-43 and myosin chain complexes in CPCs (Blin et al. 2010b). These progenitors were shown to be

multipotent and could generate SMCs, ECs, and cardiomyocytes (Blin et al. 2010b). The cardiomyocyte derivatives of iPSCs (iPSC-CMs) were demonstrated to successfully restore the myocardium after injection into ischemic hearts in animal models (Kawamura et al. 2012; Wang et al. 2013). The administration of CPC-iPSCs was shown to achieve myocardial restoration, increase the formation of new blood vessels, and result in better survival in a hostile ischemic environment compared with terminally committed iPSC-CMs (Mauritz et al. 2011). Carpenter et al. generated CPC-iPSCs that differentiated into smooth muscle and cardiomyocytes and persisted for more than 1 month upon injection into infarcted rat heart (Carpenter et al. 2012). The co-administration of MSC-loaded patch (hMSC-PA) along with hiPSC-CMs in the infarcted heart enhanced their resistance to the hostile ischemic tissue microenvironment and promoted vascular regeneration. This effect was mediated by paracrine factors secreted by hiPSC-CMs. Additionally, the MSC-loaded patch increased the retention of hiPSC-CMs and prevented their leakage into the epicardial space. Furthermore, the differentiated cells showed striations with Z-bands and more efficient electrical conduction. Dual stem cell therapy led to improved heart vascular regeneration, retention. function, engraftment maturity of hiPSC-CMs, and ameliorated cardiac fibrosis (Park et al. 2019). Ongoing clinical trials [e.g., (HEAL-CHF) ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier: NCT03763136] are limited due to the safety concerns associated with iPSCs.

6.2 Multipotent Stem Cells

6.2.1 Mesenchymal Stem Cells

Human MSCs (hMSCs) are non-hematopoietic, multipotent stem cells capable of differentiating into osteocytes, adipocytes, and chondrocytes, as well as other cell lineages (Ullah et al. 2015). MSCs are extensively used in experimental and clinical studies because of the accessibility of the cell for in vitro modifications, and their immunomodulatory characteristics (Roura et al. 2017; Nauta and Fibbe 2007). HMSCs have been isolated from bone marrow, adipose tissue, umbilical cord, placenta, and amniotic fluid (Nauta and Fibbe 2007). The administration of MSCs into infarcted myocardium resulted in reduction in the size of the infarct and upregulated VEGF secretion, leading to enhanced vascularization and amelioration of the damage to cardiac tissues (Zhao et al. 2014; Rahbarghazi et al. 2014). A paracrine effect mediated by secreted factors and juxtacrine crosstalk between the transplanted MSCs and ECs in the infarcted area were shown to mediate this repair. Soluble factors such as Ang-1, IGF-1, VEGF, SDF-1α, and EGF upregulated the expression of endogenous pro-angiogenic molecules in the infarcted tissue (Rahbarghazi et al. 2014).The proposed mechanisms of repair include the differentiation of administered cells into cardiac cells, release of paracrine signaling factors, and fusion of the administered cells into myocardiac muscle cells (Kajstura et al. 2005; Orlic et al. 2001; Mazhari and Hare 2007). The latter mechanisn was refuted

when the injection of Akt-expressing MSCs into infarcted rat heart resulted in transient grafting, infrequent fusion, and very low differentiation (Noiseux et al. 2006). The infarcted microenvironment contributes to the low efficacy of stem cell transplant. Hypoxia and inflammatory cytokines are the main factors that limit the survival of the grafted MSCs in myocardial infarction (Mangi et al. 2003). Transfecting MSCs using genes encoding Akt was shown to enhance their engraftment, differentiation, and ability to repair the damaged heart tissues in a rodent model of MI (Mazhari and Hare 2007; Mangi et al. 2003). In another study, the co-administration of insulin-like growth factor 1 improved the survival of the transplanted MSCs and enhanced their capacity to regenerate the myocardium after MI (Davis et al. 2006). Survival of the MSCs following MI was also enhanced by a hypoxia-regulated heme oxygenase 1-vector modification (Tang et al. 2005). In a phase 1, randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled clinical trial, allogeneic hMSCs were intravenously injected into patients with a first acute myocardial infarction (Hare et al. 2009). Specific safety monitoring showed that patients who received the cell therapy had better outcomes in terms of cardiac arrhythmias, lung function, left ventricular function, and global symptoms, than those without this therapy (ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier: NCT00114452) (Hare et al. 2009). In addition, autologous BM-MSCs have been injected into 59 patients with ischemic heart failure (ClinicalTrials.gov NCT00644410)(Mathiasen Identifier: et al. 2015). The transplanted patients demonstrated significant improvement in systolic left ventricular (LV) function, left ventricular end-systolic volume, left ventricular ejection fraction (LVEF), systolic volume, and cardiac output, compared with the placebo group. The LV mass and wall thickening were also enhanced(Mathiasen et al. 2015).

Other sources of MSCs include adipose tissues, placenta, cord blood, and Wharton's jelly. Adipose-derived mesenchymal stem cells (AD-MSCs) have also shown promise in MI patients. The cells are usually harvested from subcutaneous lipoaspiration (Davis et al. 2006; Qayyum et al. 2019). AD-MSCs are easier to obtain and give higher yields of stem cells than bone marrow MSCs. Moreover, a study showed that patients with refractory angina treated with autologous AD-MSCs (ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier: NCT01449032) maintained their exercise abilities, while the exercise performance of patients in a placebo group was significantly decreased. The heart symptoms improved significantly during a 3-year follow-up and the number of weekly angina attacks for patients was significantly reduced (Qayyum et al. 2019)..Umbilical cord MSCs (UC-MSCs), placental MSCs, and those derived from Wharton's jelly present attractive sources for MSCs for cardiac regeneration. UC-MSCs were shown to have a higher capacity for self-renewal than BM-MSCs (Fong et al. 2011). In addition, the intracoronary administration of Wharton's jelly-derived MSCs in patients with ST-elevated MI showed improved myocardial viability and cardiac function, when compared with those transplanted with BMMNC (ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier: NCT01291329) (Gao et al. 2015).

As mentioned above, cardiac repair after MSC therapy is attributed to several mechanisms. The hypoxic conditions of infarcted tissue induce the expression and release of growth factors that promote angiogenesis, the distribution and migration of cardiac progenitors, and the differentiation of MSCs into cardiomyocytes. In addition to the promotion of angiogenesis, factors such as VEGF, hepatocyte increasing factor (HGF), and insulin-like growth factor (IGF) upregulate the expression of cardiac differentiation genes. Additionally, immunomodulatory and trophic factors secreted by MSCs activate resident stem cells to potentiate cardiac repair and enhance vascularization (Madigan and Atoui 2018; Caplan 2017). However, there are still many challenges regarding MSC therapy for cardiac regeneration. Most importantly, poor survival of the transplanted cells after grafting into the host myocardium leads to therapy failure, presumably due to the hostile environment of the ischemic/infarct tissue (Timmers et al. 2011).

6.2.2 Cardiac Progenitor Cells

Upon treatment with 5-azacytidine and TGF β , **CPCs** shown to differentiate were into cardiomyocytes that beat spontaneously (Goumans et al. 2008). Additionally, they were differentiated into ECs and SMCs upon treatment with VEGF (Goumans et al. 2008). Upon the transplantation of CPCs into the infarcted zone in mice, cardiac function was improved for 3 months after MI. Over the same period, and despite the remarkable increase in the number of blood vessels, only a small proportion of the infused CPCs survived. The density of the blood vessels increased remarkably when measured only 2 weeks after transplantation, despite of no indication of vascular differentiation. Improved function after MI was not due to their differentiation to replace damaged cardiomyocytes, but due to paracrine mechanisms. The pro-angiogenic potential of extracellular vesicles (EVs) isolated from CPCs was shown to promote revascularization. EVs of CPCs are being introduced as a potential therapy for MI. This is due to the complexity of their content of miRNAs and proteins and their effectiveness as performers of the paracrine therapeutic effect of CPCs (Smits et al. 2009a; Smits et al. 2009b).

Undifferentiated CPCs were found to secrete a higher level of VEGF. In preclinical studies, they were shown to reduce cardiac damage, enhance proliferation in the left ventricle, lead to the promotion of proliferative markers in the border zone, and stimulate the secretion of pro-angiogenic factors such as endoglin (Goumans et al. 2008; Maring et al. 2019). Andrade et al. reported that the subcutaneous injection of 100 μ g.kg⁻¹ of IGF-1 for up to 7 days enhanced the survival and proliferation of CPCs and ameliorated obesityinduced cardiomyopathy in a rat model (Andrade et al. 2020). Moreover, in a preclinical study, Kannappan et al. investigated the effect of enhanced expression of the p53 tumor suppressor gene on CPC function. A high yield of CPCs was isolated from transgenic mice with an extra allele of the p53 gene. Additionally, those cells showed the ability to withstand oxidative stress upon injection into a rat model of type I diabetes mellitus. High expression of the p53 gene was also shown to play an important role in protecting CPCs and enhancing their ability to replace damaged cardiomyocytes (Kannappan et al. 2017). The intracoronary injection of 0.3 million/kg autologous CPCs to treat single ventricle physiology (TICAP), also known as single ventricular defect (ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier: NCT01273857), showed no adverse cardiac effects in seven study participants (Tarui et al. 2015).

6.2.3 Hematopoietic Stem Cells

Hematopoietic stem cells (HSCs) are bloodforming multipotent cells that are present in the bone marrow at a low level (about 1 in 10,000 cells). Sources of HSCs include the bone marrow, peripheral blood, and umbilical cord (Fong et al. 2011). The injection of lin-c-kit⁺ HSCs after coronary ligation in mice was shown to repair 68% of the infarcted heart section, leading to a significant improvement in coronary artery disease (Orlic et al. 2001). The COMPARE-AMI clinical trial (phase II, double-blind, placebo-controlled, randomized study) tested the safety and feasibility of administering CD133⁺hematopoietic progenitor cells by intracoronary injection in acute myocardial infarction (AMI) patients. No serious adverse events such as arrhythmia, angina, stent thrombosis, heart failure, or death were reported during a 1-year follow-up. This study showed that CD133⁺ injection was safe and feasible, and effectively improved LV perfusion and function for patients with AMI (Mansour et al. 2011). Another trial (the REGENT trial) aimed to compare intracoronary infusion of bone marrow mononuclear cells and hematopoietic cells (CD34⁺) in patients with AMI. The study showed no significant difference between selected CD34⁺and unselected bone marrow mononuclear cells. Both groups showed a 3% increase in LVEF from baseline, in contrast to no significant change in the control group (Tendera et al. 2009).

6.2.4 Skeletal Myoblasts (Satellite Cells)

Skeletal myoblasts are multipotent cells, arise from the muscle stem cells (satellite cells), located beneath the basal lamina of muscle fibers (Yin et al. 2013). Myoblasts express a group of markers, including Pax7, CD34, VCAM 1, MRF4, Desmin, CD56, syndecan3, Pax3, M-cadherin, N-CAM, c-met, Leu-19. When activated, especially after injury, myoblasts firstly express MyoD or/and Myf-5, then differentiation markers myogenin and MRF4 (Durrani et al. 2010) (Fig. 4). Satellite cells were among the first stem cells to be tested in for myocardial regeneration in pre-clinical and clinical studies (Tompkins et al. 2018).

When satellite cells isolated from an adult rat were combined with bromodeoxyuridine and transplanted into syngeneic rat heart, they failed differentiate into cardiomyocytes after to 12 weeks follow up (Reinecke et al. 2002). Co-transplantation of skeletal myoblasts and other stem cells showed to be more effective than using the single types of cells. For example, the combination of mononuclear bone marrow stem cells and skeletal myoblasts were more beneficial for myocardial repair than either cell alone (Ott et al. 2004). However, the major limitation of skeletal myoblast transplantation remains due to poor engraftment. Repeated administration of skeletal myoblasts for infarcted tissue was shown to be required for effective treatment (Gavira et al. 2010). Percutaneous injection of three repeated doses of skeletal myblast in infarcted swine heart showed improved efficacy of the aortic valve ejection fraction (AVEF) and improved cardiac function in general (Gavira et al. 2010).

The first skeletal myoblast transplantation was carried out in 2001 in a patient suffering from severe ischemic heart failure (Menasché et al. 2001: Menasche et al. 2001). Clinical applications of this approach however suffered the limitation of absent control groups, and limited number of participants in general. In a 2015 study, seven patients were transplanted with skeletal myoblasts for treatmet of CHF. After 26 weeks, six of the patient showed an improvement in the left ventricular ejection fraction (Sawa et al. 2015). In and study, thirty patients with class II (mild) and class III (moderate) heart failure were treated by using connexin-43 expressing muscle progenitor cells. When followed up for


6 months, the patients showed promising improvement in the targeted tissues especially myocardial viability (Gwizdala et al. 2017). Although, low tumorgenicity encourage the studies at first, but , many side effects were observed ranging from resistant ventricular arrhythmias to ischemic stress (Yin et al. 2013) , in addition to the inability to differentiate into cardiomyocytes in some cases (Cheitlin 2008). Due to these significant risks in patients' lives, the attention on these cells for treatment almost diminished (Müller et al. 2018).

References

Achilleos A, Trainor PA (2012) Neural crest stem cells: discovery, properties and potential for therapy. Cell Res 22(2):288–304

- Aguilar-Sanchez C, Michael M, Pennings S (2018) Cardiac Stem Cells in the Postnatal Heart: Lessons from Development. Stem Cells Int 2018:1247857
- Andrade D, Oliveira G, Menezes L, Nascimento AL, Carvalho S, Stumbo AC et al (2020) Insulin-like growth factor-1 short-period therapy improves cardiomyopathy stimulating cardiac progenitor cells survival in obese mice. Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis 30 (1):151–161
- Anversa P, Nadal-Ginard B (2002) Myocyte renewal and ventricular remodelling. Nature 415(6868):240–243
- Aybar MJ, Mayor R (2002) Early induction of neural crest cells: lessons learned from frog, fish and chick. Curr Opin Genet Dev 12(4):452–458
- Barile L, Gherghiceanu M, Popescu LM, Moccetti T, Vassalli G (2013) Human cardiospheres as a source of multipotent stem and progenitor cells. Stem Cells Int 2013:916837
- Belostotskaya GB, Nerubatskaya IV, Galagudza MM (2018) Two mechanisms of cardiac stem cell-mediated cardiomyogenesis in the adult mammalian heart include formation of colonies and cell-in-cell structures. Oncotarget 9(75):34159–34175

- Beltrami AP, Barlucchi L, Torella D, Baker M, Limana F, Chimenti S et al (2003a) Adult cardiac stem cells are multipotent and support myocardial regeneration. Cell 114(6):763–776
- Beltrami AP, Barlucchi L, Torella D, Baker M, Limana F, Chimenti S et al (2003b) Adult cardiac stem cells are multipotent and support myocardial regeneration. Cell 114(6):763–776
- Bergmann O, Bhardwaj RD, Bernard S, Zdunek S, Barnabe-Heider F, Walsh S et al (2009) Evidence for cardiomyocyte renewal in humans. Science 324 (5923):98–102
- Bergwerff M, Verberne ME, DeRuiter MC, Poelmann RE, Gittenberger-de Groot AC (1998) Neural crest cell contribution to the developing circulatory system: implications for vascular morphology? Circ Res 82 (2):221–231
- Blin G, Nury D, Stefanovic S, Neri T, Guillevic O, Brinon B et al (2010a) A purified population of multipotent cardiovascular progenitors derived from primate pluripotent stem cells engrafts in postmyocardial infarcted nonhuman primates. J Clin Invest 120(4):1125–1139
- Blin G, Nury D, Stefanovic S, Neri T, Guillevic O, Brinon B et al (2010b) A purified population of multipotent cardiovascular progenitors derived from primate pluripotent stem cells engrafts in postmyocardial infarcted nonhuman primates. J Clin Invest 120(4):1125–1139
- Bohnen MS, Peng G, Robey SH, Terrenoire C, Iyer V, Sampson KJ et al (2017) Molecular Pathophysiology of Congenital Long QT Syndrome. Physiol Rev 97 (1):89–134
- Bondue A, Blanpain C (2010) Mesp1: a key regulator of cardiovascular lineage commitment. Circ Res 107 (12):1414–1427
- Bondue A, Lapouge G, Paulissen C, Semeraro C, Iacovino M, Kyba M et al (2008) Mesp1 acts as a master regulator of multipotent cardiovascular progenitor specification. Cell Stem Cell 3(1):69–84
- Brade T, Pane LS, Moretti A, Chien KR, Laugwitz KL (2013) Embryonic heart progenitors and cardiogenesis. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Med 3(10):a013847
- Buckingham M, Meilhac S, Zaffran S (2005) Building the mammalian heart from two sources of myocardial cells. Nat Rev Genet 6(11):826–835
- Cai CL, Liang X, Shi Y, Chu PH, Pfaff SL, Chen J et al (2003) Isl1 identifies a cardiac progenitor population that proliferates prior to differentiation and contributes a majority of cells to the heart. Dev Cell 5(6):877–889
- Caplan AI (2017) Mesenchymal stem cells: time to change the name! Stem Cells Transl Med 6(6):1445–1451
- Carpenter L, Carr C, Yang CT, Stuckey DJ, Clarke K, Watt SM (2012) Efficient differentiation of human induced pluripotent stem cells generates cardiac cells that provide protection following myocardial infarction in the rat. Stem Cells Dev 21(6):977–986
- Chai S, Wan X, Ramirez-Navarro A, Tesar PJ, Kaufman ES, Ficker E et al (2018) Physiological genomics identifies genetic modifiers of long QT syndrome type 2 severity. J Clin Invest 128(3):1043–1056

- Cheitlin M. The Myoblast Autologous Grafting in Ischemic Cardiomyopathy (MAGIC) trial: first randomized placebo-controlled study of myoblast transplantation. In: Menasché P, Alfieri O, Janssens S, et al (Université Paris Descartes, France; Ospedale San Raffaele, Milano, Italy; UZ Gasthuisberg, Leuven, Belgium; et al) Circulation 117: 1189-1200, 2008. Year book of cardiology. 2009;2009:413–415.
- Chen L, Ashraf M, Wang Y, Zhou M, Zhang J, Qin G et al (2012) The role of notch 1 activation in cardiosphere derived cell differentiation. Stem Cells Dev 21 (12):2122–2129
- Chen Z, Xu J, Ye Y, Li Y, Gong H, Zhang G et al (2014) Urotensin II inhibited the proliferation of cardiac side population cells in mice during pressure overload by JNK-LRP6 signalling. J Cell Mol Med 18(5):852–862
- Chimenti I, Smith RR, Li TS, Gerstenblith G, Messina E, Giacomello A et al (2010) Relative roles of direct regeneration versus paracrine effects of human cardiosphere-derived cells transplanted into infarcted mice. Circ Res 106(5):971–980
- Chong JJ, Chandrakanthan V, Xaymardan M, Asli NS, Li J, Ahmed I et al (2011) Adult cardiac-resident MSC-like stem cells with a proepicardial origin. Cell Stem Cell 9(6):527–540
- Chong JJ, Reinecke H, Iwata M, Torok-Storb B, Stempien-Otero A, Murry CE (2013) Progenitor cells identified by PDGFR-alpha expression in the developing and diseased human heart. Stem Cells Dev 22 (13):1932–1943
- Christoffels VM, Mommersteeg MT, Trowe MO, Prall OW, de Gier-de Vries C, Soufan AT et al (2006) Formation of the venous pole of the heart from an Nkx2-5-negative precursor population requires Tbx18. Circ Res 98(12):1555–1563
- Davis ME, Hsieh PC, Takahashi T, Song Q, Zhang S, Kamm RD et al (2006) Local myocardial insulin-like growth factor 1 (IGF-1) delivery with biotinylated peptide nanofibers improves cell therapy for myocardial infarction. Proc Natl Acad Sci 103 (21):8155–8160
- Davis DR, Zhang Y, Smith RR, Cheng K, Terrovitis J, Malliaras K et al (2009) Validation of the cardiosphere method to culture cardiac progenitor cells from myocardial tissue. PLoS One 4(9):e7195
- Dettman RW, Denetclaw W Jr, Ordahl CP, Bristow J (1998) Common epicardial origin of coronary vascular smooth muscle, perivascular fibroblasts, and intermyocardial fibroblasts in the avian heart. Dev Biol 193(2):169–181
- Devalla HD, Passier R (2018) Cardiac differentiation of pluripotent stem cells and implications for modeling the heart in health and disease. Sci Transl Med 10 (435):eaah5457
- Dodou E, Verzi MP, Anderson JP, Xu SM, Black BL (2004) Mef2c is a direct transcriptional target of ISL1 and GATA factors in the anterior heart field during mouse embryonic development. Development 131 (16):3931–3942

- Doyle MJ, Lohr JL, Chapman CS, Koyano-Nakagawa N, Garry MG, Garry DJ (2015) Human induced pluripotent stem cell-derived cardiomyocytes as a model for heart development and congenital heart disease. Stem Cell Rev Rep 11(5):710–727
- Durrani S, Konoplyannikov M, Ashraf M, Haider KH (2010) Skeletal myoblasts for cardiac repair. Regen Med 5(6):919–932
- Dyer LA, Kirby ML (2009) The role of secondary heart field in cardiac development. Dev Biol 336 (2):137–144
- Fathi E, Valipour B, Vietor I, Farahzadi R (2020) An overview of the myocardial regeneration potential of cardiac c-Kit(+) progenitor cells via PI3K and MAPK signaling pathways. Futur Cardiol 16(3):199–209
- Fong CY, Chak LL, Biswas A, Tan JH, Gauthaman K, Chan WK et al (2011) Human Wharton's jelly stem cells have unique transcriptome profiles compared to human embryonic stem cells and other mesenchymal stem cells. Stem Cell Rev Rep 7(1):1–16
- Forouhar AS, Liebling M, Hickerson A, Nasiraei-Moghaddam A, Tsai HJ, Hove JR et al (2006) The embryonic vertebrate heart tube is a dynamic suction pump. Science 312(5774):751–753
- Galvez BG, Sampaolesi M, Barbuti A, Crespi A, Covarello D, Brunelli S et al (2008) Cardiac mesoangioblasts are committed, self-renewable progenitors, associated with small vessels of juvenile mouse ventricle. Cell Death Differ 15(9):1417–1428
- Gao LR, Chen Y, Zhang NK, Yang XL, Liu HL, Wang ZG et al (2015) Intracoronary infusion of Wharton's jellyderived mesenchymal stem cells in acute myocardial infarction: double-blind, randomized controlled trial. BMC Med 13:162
- Garcia-Martinez V, Schoenwolf GC (1993) Primitivestreak origin of the cardiovascular system in avian embryos. Dev Biol 159(2):706–719
- Garry DJ, Olson EN (2006) A common progenitor at the heart of development. Cell 127(6):1101–1104
- Gavira JJ, Nasarre E, Abizanda G, Pérez-Ilzarbe M, de Martino-Rodriguez A, García de Jalón JA et al (2010) Repeated implantation of skeletal myoblast in a swine model of chronic myocardial infarction. Eur Heart J 31 (8):1013–1021
- Genead R, Danielsson C, Andersson AB, Corbascio M, Franco-Cereceda A, Sylven C et al (2010) Islet-1 cells are cardiac progenitors present during the entire lifespan: from the embryonic stage to adulthood. Stem Cells Dev 19(10):1601–1615
- Gittenberger-de Groot AC, Vrancken Peeters MP, Mentink MM, Gourdie RG, Poelmann RE (1998) Epicardium-derived cells contribute a novel population to the myocardial wall and the atrioventricular cushions. Circ Res 82(10):1043–1052
- Golebiewska A, Brons NH, Bjerkvig R, Niclou SP (2011) Critical appraisal of the side population assay in stem cell and cancer stem cell research. Cell Stem Cell 8 (2):136–147

- Goumans M-J, de Boer TP, Smits AM, van Laake LW, van Vliet P, Metz CH et al (2008) TGF-β1 induces efficient differentiation of human cardiomyocyte progenitor cells into functional cardiomyocytes in vitro. Stem Cell Res 1(2):138–149
- Gurjarpadhye A, Hewett KW, Justus C, Wen X, Stadt H, Kirby ML et al (2007) Cardiac neural crest ablation inhibits compaction and electrical function of conduction system bundles. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 292(3):H1291–H1300
- Gwizdala A, Rozwadowska N, Kolanowski TJ, Malcher A, Cieplucha A, Perek B et al (2017) Safety, feasibility and effectiveness of first in-human administration of muscle-derived stem/progenitor cells modified with connexin-43 gene for treatment of advanced chronic heart failure. Eur J Heart Fail 19 (1):148–157
- Hare JM, Traverse JH, Henry TD, Dib N, Strumpf RK, Schulman SP et al (2009) A randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled, dose-escalation study of intravenous adult human mesenchymal stem cells (prochymal) after acute myocardial infarction. J Am Coll Cardiol 54(24):2277–2286
- Hsieh PC, Segers VF, Davis ME, MacGillivray C, Gannon J, Molkentin JD et al (2007) Evidence from a genetic fate-mapping study that stem cells refresh adult mammalian cardiomyocytes after injury. Nat Med 13 (8):970–974
- Ishii Y, Langberg J, Rosborough K, Mikawa T (2009) Endothelial cell lineages of the heart. Cell Tissue Res 335(1):67–73
- Jebeniani I, Ding S, Puceat M (1994) Improved Protocol for Cardiac Differentiation and Maturation of Pluripotent Stem Cells. Methods Mol Biol 2019:71–77
- Kajstura J, Rota M, Whang B, Cascapera S, Hosoda T, Bearzi C et al (2005) Bone marrow cells differentiate in cardiac cell lineages after infarction independently of cell fusion. Circ Res 96(1):127–137
- Kannappan R, Matsuda A, Ferreira-Martins J, Zhang E, Palano G, Czarna A et al (2017) p53 modulates the fate of cardiac progenitor cells ex vivo and in the diabetic heart in vivo. EBioMedicine 16:224–237
- Kawamura M, Miyagawa S, Miki K, Saito A, Fukushima S, Higuchi T et al (2012) Feasibility, safety, and therapeutic efficacy of human induced pluripotent stem cell-derived cardiomyocyte sheets in a porcine ischemic cardiomyopathy model. Circulation 126(11_Suppl_1):S29–S37
- Keyte A, Hutson MR (2012) The neural crest in cardiac congenital anomalies. Differentiation 84(1):25–40
- Kirby ML, Gale TF, Stewart DE (1983) Neural crest cells contribute to normal aorticopulmonary septation. Science 220(4601):1059–1061
- Kruithof BP, van Wijk B, Somi S, Kruithof-de Julio M, Perez Pomares JM, Weesie F et al (2006) BMP and FGF regulate the differentiation of multipotential pericardial mesoderm into the myocardial or epicardial lineage. Dev Biol 295(2):507–522

- Kuhn EN, Wu SM (2010) Origin of cardiac progenitor cells in the developing and postnatal heart. J Cell Physiol 225(2):321–325
- Laflamme MA, Murry CE (2011) Heart regeneration. Nature 473(7347):326–335
- Laugwitz KL, Moretti A, Lam J, Gruber P, Chen Y, Woodard S et al (2005) Postnatal isl1+ cardioblasts enter fully differentiated cardiomyocyte lineages. Nature 433(7026):647–653
- Laugwitz KL, Moretti A, Caron L, Nakano A, Chien KR (2008) Islet1 cardiovascular progenitors: a single source for heart lineages? Development 135 (2):193–205
- Lavine KJ, Ornitz DM (2008) Fibroblast growth factors and Hedgehogs: at the heart of the epicardial signaling center. Trends Genet 24(1):33–40
- Le T, Chong J (2016a) Cardiac progenitor cells for heart repair. Cell Death Dis 2:16052
- Le T, Chong J (2016b) Cardiac progenitor cells for heart repair. Cell Death Dis 2:16052
- Liao R, Pfister O, Jain M, Mouquet F (2007) The bone marrow--cardiac axis of myocardial regeneration. Prog Cardiovasc Dis 50(1):18–30
- Lindsley RC, Gill JG, Murphy TL, Langer EM, Cai M, Mashayekhi M et al (2008) Mesp1 coordinately regulates cardiovascular fate restriction and epithelialmesenchymal transition in differentiating ESCs. Cell Stem Cell 3(1):55–68
- Liu N, Olson EN (2010) MicroRNA regulatory networks in cardiovascular development. Dev Cell 18 (4):510–525
- Madigan M, Atoui R (2018) Therapeutic use of stem cells for myocardial infarction. Bioengineering (Basel) 5(2)
- Madonna R, Van Laake LW, Davidson SM, Engel FB, Hausenloy DJ, Lecour S et al (2016) Position Paper of the European Society of Cardiology Working Group Cellular Biology of the Heart: cell-based therapies for myocardial repair and regeneration in ischemic heart disease and heart failure. Eur Heart J 37 (23):1789–1798
- Makkar RR, Smith RR, Cheng K, Malliaras K, Thomson LE, Berman D et al (2012) Intracoronary cardiospherederived cells for heart regeneration after myocardial infarction (CADUCEUS): a prospective, randomised phase 1 trial. Lancet 379(9819):895–904
- Malliaras K, Li TS, Luthringer D, Terrovitis J, Cheng K, Chakravarty T et al (2012) Safety and efficacy of allogeneic cell therapy in infarcted rats transplanted with mismatched cardiosphere-derived cells. Circulation 125(1):100–112
- Mangi AA, Noiseux N, Kong D, He H, Rezvani M, Ingwall JS et al (2003) Mesenchymal stem cells modified with Akt prevent remodeling and restore performance of infarcted hearts. Nat Med 9 (9):1195–1201
- Männer J, Perez-Pomares J, Macias D, Munoz-Chapuli R (2001) The origin, formation and developmental significance of the epicardium: a review. Cells Tissues Organs 169(2):89–103

- Manner J, Perez-Pomares JM, Macias D, Munoz-Chapuli R (2001) The origin, formation and developmental significance of the epicardium: a review. Cells Tissues Organs 169(2):89–103
- Mansour S, Roy D-C, Bouchard V, Stevens LM, Gobeil F, Rivard A et al (2011) One-year safety analysis of the COMPARE-AMI trial: comparison of intracoronary injection of CD133. Bone Marrow Res 2011
- Maring JA, Lodder K, Mol E, Verhage V, Wiesmeijer KC, Dingenouts CK et al (2019) Cardiac progenitor cell– derived extracellular vesicles reduce infarct size and associate with increased cardiovascular cell proliferation. J Cardiovasc Transl Res 12(1):5–17
- Marvin MJ, Di Rocco G, Gardiner A, Bush SM, Lassar AB (2001) Inhibition of Wnt activity induces heart formation from posterior mesoderm. Genes Dev 15 (3):316–327
- Mathiasen AB, Qayyum AA, Jørgensen E, Helqvist S, Fischer-Nielsen A, Kofoed KF et al (2015) Bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stromal cell treatment in patients with severe ischaemic heart failure: a randomized placebo-controlled trial (MSC-HF trial). Eur Heart J 36(27):1744–1753
- Mauretti A, Spaans S, Bax NA, Sahlgren C, Bouten CV (2017) Cardiac progenitor cells and the interplay with their microenvironment. Stem Cells Int 2017
- Mauritz C, Martens A, Rojas SV, Schnick T, Rathert C, Schecker N et al (2011) Induced pluripotent stem cell (iPSC)-derived Flk-1 progenitor cells engraft, differentiate, and improve heart function in a mouse model of acute myocardial infarction. Eur Heart J 32 (21):2634–2641
- Mazhari R, Hare JM (2007) Mechanisms of action of mesenchymal stem cells in cardiac repair: potential influences on the cardiac stem cell niche. Nat Clin Pract Cardiovasc Med 4(1):S21–SS6
- Menasché P, Hagège AA, Scorsin M, Pouzet B, Desnos M, Duboc D et al (2001) Myoblast transplantation for heart failure. Lancet 357(9252):279–280
- Menasche P, Hagege A, Scorsin M, Pouzet B, Desnos M, Duboc D et al (2001) Autologous skeletal myoblast transplantation for cardiac insufficiency. First clinical case. Arch Mal Coeur Vaiss 94(3):180–182
- Mercola M, Ruiz-Lozano P, Schneider MD (2011) Cardiac muscle regeneration: lessons from development. Genes Dev 25(4):299–309
- Messina E, De Angelis L, Frati G, Morrone S, Chimenti S, Fiordaliso F et al (2004) Isolation and expansion of adult cardiac stem cells from human and murine heart. Circ Res 95(9):911–921
- Minami I, Yamada K, Otsuji TG, Yamamoto T, Shen Y, Otsuka S et al (2012) A small molecule that promotes cardiac differentiation of human pluripotent stem cells under defined, cytokine-and xeno-free conditions. Cell Rep 2(5):1448–1460
- Mishra R, Vijayan K, Colletti EJ, Harrington DA, Matthiesen TS, Simpson D et al (2011) Characterization and functionality of cardiac progenitor cells in congenital heart patients. Circulation 123(4):364–373

- Molkentin JD, Lin Q, Duncan SA, Olson EN (1997) Requirement of the transcription factor GATA4 for heart tube formation and ventral morphogenesis. Genes Dev 11(8):1061–1072
- Moretti A, Caron L, Nakano A, Lam JT, Bernshausen A, Chen Y et al (2006) Multipotent embryonic isl1+ progenitor cells lead to cardiac, smooth muscle, and endothelial cell diversification. Cell 127(6):1151–1165
- Müller P, Lemcke H, David R (2018) Stem cell therapy in heart diseases – cell types, mechanisms and improvement strategies. Cell Physiol Biochem 48 (6):2607–2655
- Naito AT, Shiojima I, Akazawa H, Hidaka K, Morisaki T, Kikuchi A et al (2006) Developmental stage-specific biphasic roles of Wnt/β-catenin signaling in cardiomyogenesis and hematopoiesis. Proc Natl Acad Sci 103(52):19812–19817
- Nauta AJ, Fibbe WE (2007) Immunomodulatory properties of mesenchymal stromal cells. Blood 110 (10):3499–3506
- Noiseux N, Gnecchi M, Lopez-Ilasaca M, Zhang L, Solomon SD, Deb A et al (2006) Mesenchymal stem cells overexpressing Akt dramatically repair infarcted myocardium and improve cardiac function despite infrequent cellular fusion or differentiation. Mol Ther 14 (6):840–850
- Noseda M, Peterkin T, Simoes FC, Patient R, Schneider MD (2011) Cardiopoietic factors: extracellular signals for cardiac lineage commitment. Circ Res 108 (1):129–152
- Oh H, Bradfute SB, Gallardo TD, Nakamura T, Gaussin V, Mishina Y et al (2003) Cardiac progenitor cells from adult myocardium: homing, differentiation, and fusion after infarction. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 100 (21):12313–12318
- Orlic D, Kajstura J, Chimenti S, Jakoniuk I, Anderson SM, Li B et al (2001) Bone marrow cells regenerate infarcted myocardium. Nature 410(6829):701
- Ott HC, Bonaros N, Marksteiner R, Wolf D, Margreiter E, Schachner T et al (2004) Combined transplantation of skeletal myoblasts and bone marrow stem cells for myocardial repair in rats. Eur J Cardio-thoracic Surg 25(4):627–634
- Oyama T, Nagai T, Wada H, Naito AT, Matsuura K, Iwanaga K et al (2007) Cardiac side population cells have a potential to migrate and differentiate into cardiomyocytes in vitro and in vivo. J Cell Biol 176 (3):329–341
- Pahnke A, Conant G, Huyer LD, Zhao Y, Feric N, Radisic M (2016) The role of Wnt regulation in heart development, cardiac repair and disease: A tissue engineering perspective. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 473 (3):698–703
- Park S-J, Kim RY, Park B-W, Lee S, Choi SW, Park J-H et al (2019) Dual stem cell therapy synergistically improves cardiac function and vascular regeneration following myocardial infarction. Nat Commun 10 (1):3123

- Perez-Pomares JM, de la Pompa JL (2011) Signaling during epicardium and coronary vessel development. Circ Res 109(12):1429–1442
- Perez-Pomares JM, Carmona R, Gonzalez-Iriarte M, Atencia G, Wessels A, Munoz-Chapuli R (2002) Origin of coronary endothelial cells from epicardial mesothelium in avian embryos. Int J Dev Biol 46 (8):1005–1013
- Pfister O, Mouquet F, Jain M, Summer R, Helmes M, Fine A et al (2005) CD31- but Not CD31+ cardiac side population cells exhibit functional cardiomyogenic differentiation. Circ Res 97(1):52–61
- Phillips MT, Kirby ML, Forbes G (1987) Analysis of cranial neural crest distribution in the developing heart using quail-chick chimeras. Circ Res 60 (1):27–30
- Ptaszek LM, Mansour M, Ruskin JN, Chien KR (2012) Towards regenerative therapy for cardiac disease. Lancet 379(9819):933–942
- Qayyum AA, Mathiasen AB, Helqvist S, Jorgensen E, Haack-Sorensen M, Ekblond A et al (2019) Autologous adipose-derived stromal cell treatment for patients with refractory angina (MyStromalCell Trial): 3-years follow-up results. J Transl Med 17(1):360
- Qian L, Huang Y, Spencer CI, Foley A, Vedantham V, Liu L et al (2012) In vivo reprogramming of murine cardiac fibroblasts into induced cardiomyocytes. Nature 485(7400):593–598
- Rahbarghazi R, Nassiri SM, Ahmadi SH, Mohammadi E, Rabbani S, Araghi A et al (2014) Dynamic induction of pro-angiogenic milieu after transplantation of marrowderived mesenchymal stem cells in experimental myocardial infarction. Int J Cardiol 173(3):453–466
- Reifers F, Walsh EC, Leger S, Stainier DY, Brand M (2000) Induction and differentiation of the zebrafish heart requires fibroblast growth factor 8 (fgf8/ acerebellar). Development 127(2):225–235
- Reinecke H, Poppa V, Murry CE (2002) Skeletal muscle stem cells do not transdifferentiate into cardiomyocytes after cardiac grafting. J Mol Cell Cardiol 34 (2):241–249
- Reynolds BA, Weiss S (1992) Generation of neurons and astrocytes from isolated cells of the adult mammalian central nervous system. Science 255(5052):1707–1710
- Rochais F, Mesbah K, Kelly RG (2009) Signaling pathways controlling second heart field development. Circ Res 104(8):933–942
- Romagnuolo R, Masoudpour H, Porta-Sanchez A, Qiang B, Barry J, Laskary A et al (2019) Human embryonic stem cell-derived cardiomyocytes regenerate the infarcted pig heart but induce ventricular tachyarrhythmias. Stem Cell Rep 12(5):967–981
- Rota M, Kajstura J, Hosoda T, Bearzi C, Vitale S, Esposito G et al (2007) Bone marrow cells adopt the cardiomyogenic fate in vivo. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 104(45):17783–17788
- Roura S, Galvez-Monton C, Mirabel C, Vives J, Bayes-Genis A (2017) Mesenchymal stem cells for cardiac

repair: are the actors ready for the clinical scenario? Stem Cell Res Ther 8(1):238

- Saga Y, Kitajima S, Miyagawa-Tomita S (2000) Mesp1 expression is the earliest sign of cardiovascular development. Trends Cardiovasc Med 10(8):345–352
- Sahara M, Santoro F, Sohlmer J, Zhou C, Witman N, Leung CY et al (2019) Population and Single-Cell Analysis of Human Cardiogenesis Reveals Unique LGR5 Ventricular Progenitors in Embryonic Outflow Tract. Dev Cell 48(4):475–490. e7
- Sanganalmath SK, Bolli R (2013) Cell therapy for heart failure: a comprehensive overview of experimental and clinical studies, current challenges, and future directions. Circ Res 113(6):810–834
- Sato A, Scholl AM, Kuhn EN, Stadt HA, Decker JR, Pegram K et al (2011) FGF8 signaling is chemotactic for cardiac neural crest cells. Dev Biol 354(1):18–30
- Sauka-Spengler T, Bronner-Fraser M (2008) A gene regulatory network orchestrates neural crest formation. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 9(7):557–568
- Sawa Y, Yoshikawa Y, Toda K, Fukushima S, Yamazaki K, Ono M et al (2015) Safety and efficacy of autologous skeletal myoblast sheets (TCD-51073) for the treatment of severe chronic heart failure due to ischemic heart disease. Circ J 79(5):991–999
- Schultheiss TM, Burch JB, Lassar AB (1997) A role for bone morphogenetic proteins in the induction of cardiac myogenesis. Genes Dev 11(4):451–462
- Sebastião MJ, Serra M, Pereira R, Palacios I, Gomes-Alves P, Alves PM (2019) Human cardiac progenitor cell activation and regeneration mechanisms: exploring a novel myocardial ischemia/reperfusion in vitro model. Stem Cell Res Ther 10(1):77
- Senyo SE, Steinhauser ML, Pizzimenti CL, Yang VK, Cai L, Wang M et al (2013) Mammalian heart renewal by pre-existing cardiomyocytes. Nature 493(7432):433
- Sharma A, Zhang Y, Buikema JW, Serpooshan V, Chirikian O, Kosaric N et al (2018) Stage-specific effects of bioactive lipids on human iPSC cardiac differentiation and cardiomyocyte proliferation. Sci Rep 8 (1):6618
- Shenje LT, Field LJ, Pritchard CA, Guerin CJ, Rubart M, Soonpaa MH et al (2008) Lineage tracing of cardiac explant derived cells. PLoS One 3(4):e1929
- Smart N, Risebro CA, Melville AA, Moses K, Schwartz RJ, Chien KR et al (2007) Thymosin beta4 induces adult epicardial progenitor mobilization and neovascularization. Nature 445(7124):177–182
- Smits AM, van Laake LW, den Ouden K, Schreurs C, Szuhai K, van Echteld CJ et al (2009a) Human cardiomyocyte progenitor cell transplantation preserves long-term function of the infarcted mouse myocardium. Cardiovasc Res 83(3):527–535
- Smits AM, Van Vliet P, Metz CH, Korfage T, Sluijter JP, Doevendans PA et al (2009b) Human cardiomyocyte progenitor cells differentiate into functional mature cardiomyocytes: an in vitro model for studying human cardiac physiology and pathophysiology. Nat Protoc 4(2):232

- Takahashi K, Tanabe K, Ohnuki M, Narita M, Ichisaka T, Tomoda K et al (2007) Induction of pluripotent stem cells from adult human fibroblasts by defined factors. Cell 131(5):861–872
- Takamiya M, Haider KH, Ashraf M (2011) Identification and characterization of a novel multipotent sub-population of Sca-1(+) cardiac progenitor cells for myocardial regeneration. PLoS One 6(9):e25265
- Tang YL, Tang Y, Zhang YC, Qian K, Shen L, Phillips MI (2005) Improved graft mesenchymal stem cell survival in ischemic heart with a hypoxia-regulated heme oxygenase-1 vector. J Am Coll Cardiol 46 (7):1339–1350
- Tani-Matsuhana S, Vieceli FM, Gandhi S, Inoue K, Bronner ME (2018) Transcriptome profiling of the cardiac neural crest reveals a critical role for MafB. Dev Biol 444(Suppl 1):S209–SS18
- Tarui S, Ishigami S, Ousaka D, Kasahara S, Ohtsuki S, Sano S et al (2015) Transcoronary infusion of cardiac progenitor cells in hypoplastic left heart syndrome: three-year follow-up of the Transcoronary Infusion of Cardiac Progenitor Cells in Patients With Single-Ventricle Physiology (TICAP) trial. J Thoracic Cardiovasc Surg 150(5):1198–1208. e2
- Tendera M, Wojakowski W, Rużyłło W, Chojnowska L, Kępka C, Tracz W et al (2009) Intracoronary infusion of bone marrow-derived selected CD34+ CXCR4+ cells and non-selected mononuclear cells in patients with acute STEMI and reduced left ventricular ejection fraction: results of randomized, multicentre Myocardial Regeneration by Intracoronary Infusion of Selected Population of Stem Cells in Acute Myocardial Infarction (REGENT) trial. Eur Heart J 30(11):1313–1321
- Timmers L, Lim SK, Hoefer IE, Arslan F, Lai RC, van Oorschot AA et al (2011) Human mesenchymal stem cell-conditioned medium improves cardiac function following myocardial infarction. Stem Cell Res 6 (3):206–214
- Tomita Y, Matsumura K, Wakamatsu Y, Matsuzaki Y, Shibuya I, Kawaguchi H et al (2005) Cardiac neural crest cells contribute to the dormant multipotent stem cell in the mammalian heart. J Cell Biol 170 (7):1135–1146
- Tompkins BA, Balkan W, Winkler J, Gyöngyösi M, Goliasch G, Fernández-Avilés F et al (2018) Preclinical studies of stem cell therapy for heart disease. Circ Res 122(7):1006–1020
- Torán JL, Aguilar S, López JA, Torroja C, Quintana JA, Santiago C et al (2017) CXCL6 is an important paracrine factor in the pro-angiogenic human cardiac progenitor-like cell secretome. Sci Rep 7(1):12490
- Toyofuku T, Yoshida J, Sugimoto T, Yamamoto M, Makino N, Takamatsu H et al (2008) Repulsive and attractive semaphorins cooperate to direct the navigation of cardiac neural crest cells. Dev Biol 321 (1):251–262
- Trembley MA, Velasquez LS, de Mesy Bentley KL, Small EM (2015) Myocardin-related transcription factors

control the motility of epicardium-derived cells and the maturation of coronary vessels. Development 142 (1):21–30

- Uchida S, De Gaspari P, Kostin S, Jenniches K, Kilic A, Izumiya Y et al (2013) Sca1-derived cells are a source of myocardial renewal in the murine adult heart. Stem Cell Rep 1(5):397–410
- Ueno S, Weidinger G, Osugi T, Kohn AD, Golob JL, Pabon L et al (2007) Biphasic role for Wnt/β-catenin signaling in cardiac specification in zebrafish and embryonic stem cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci 104 (23):9685–9690
- Ullah I, Subbarao RB, Rho GJ (2015) Human mesenchymal stem cells – current trends and future prospective. Biosci Rep 35(2)
- Unno K, Jain M, Liao R (2012) Cardiac side population cells: moving toward the center stage in cardiac regeneration. Circ Res 110(10):1355–1363
- Valiente-Alandi I, Albo-Castellanos C, Herrero D, Sanchez I, Bernad A (2016) Bmi1+ cardiac progenitor cells contribute to myocardial repair following acute injury. Stem Cell Res Ther 7(1):100
- Van Berlo JH, Kanisicak O, Maillet M, Vagnozzi RJ, Karch J, Lin S-CJ et al (2014) C-kit+ cells minimally contribute cardiomyocytes to the heart. Nature 509 (7500):337
- Walravens AS, Vanhaverbeke M, Ottaviani L, Gillijns H, Trenson S, Driessche NV et al (2018) Molecular signature of progenitor cells isolated from young and adult human hearts. Sci Rep 8(1):9266
- Wang X, Hu Q, Nakamura Y, Lee J, Zhang G, From AH et al (2006) The role of the sca-1+/CD31- cardiac progenitor cell population in postinfarction left ventricular remodeling. Stem Cells 24(7):1779–1788
- Wang WE, Chen X, Houser SR, Zeng C (2013) Potential of cardiac stem/progenitor cells and induced pluripotent stem cells for cardiac repair in ischaemic heart disease. Clin Sci 125(7):319–327
- Willert K, Nusse R (2012) Wnt proteins. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol 4(9):a007864
- Williams B (2001) Angiotensin II and the pathophysiology of cardiovascular remodeling. Am J Cardiol 87 (8):10–17
- Winter EM, Grauss RW, Hogers B, van Tuyn J, van der Geest R, Lie-Venema H et al (2007) Preservation of left ventricular function and attenuation of remodeling after transplantation of human epicardium-derived

cells into the infarcted mouse heart. Circulation 116 (8):917–927

- Wu SM, Fujiwara Y, Cibulsky SM, Clapham DE, Lien CL, Schultheiss TM et al (2006) Developmental origin of a bipotential myocardial and smooth muscle cell precursor in the mammalian heart. Cell 127 (6):1137–1150
- Wu SM, Chien KR, Mummery C (2008) Origins and fates of cardiovascular progenitor cells. Cell 132 (4):537–543
- Xin M, Kim Y, Sutherland LB, Murakami M, Qi X, McAnally J et al (2013) Hippo pathway effector Yap promotes cardiac regeneration. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 110(34):13839–13844
- Xing Y, Lv A, Wang L, Yan X (2012) The combination of angiotensin II and 5-azacytidine promotes cardiomyocyte differentiation of rat bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells. Mol Cell Biochem 360 (1-2):279–287
- Xu X, Francis R, Wei CJ, Linask KL, Lo CW (2006) Connexin 43-mediated modulation of polarized cell movement and the directional migration of cardiac neural crest cells. Development 133(18):3629–3639
- Yin H, Price F, Rudnicki MA (2013) Satellite cells and the muscle stem cell niche. Physiol Rev 93(1):23–67
- Youn YH, Feng J, Tessarollo L, Ito K, Sieber-Blum M (2003) Neural crest stem cell and cardiac endothelium defects in the TrkC null mouse. Mol Cell Neurosci 24 (1):160–170
- Zhang J, Tian X, Peng C, Yan C, Li Y, Sun M et al (2018) Transplantation of CREG modified embryonic stem cells improves cardiac function after myocardial infarction in mice. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 503(2):482–489
- Zhao JJ, Liu XC, Kong F, Qi TG, Cheng GH, Wang J et al (2014) Bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells improve myocardial function in a swine model of acute myocardial infarction. Mol Med Rep 10(3):1448–1454
- Zhou B, von Gise A, Ma Q, Rivera-Feliciano J, Pu WT (2008a) Nkx2-5- and Isl1-expressing cardiac progenitors contribute to proepicardium. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 375(3):450–453
- Zhou B, Ma Q, Rajagopal S, Wu SM, Domian I, Rivera-Feliciano J et al (2008b) Epicardial progenitors contribute to the cardiomyocyte lineage in the developing heart. Nature 454(7200):109–113



Cardiac Immunology: A New Era for Immune Cells in the Heart

Arzuhan Koc and Esra Cagavi

Abstract

The immune system is essential for the development and homeostasis of the human body. Our current understanding of the immune system on disease pathogenesis has drastically expanded over the last decade with the definition of additional non-canonical roles in various tissues. Recently, tissue-resident immune cells have become an important research topic for understanding their roles in the prevention, pathogenesis, and recovery from the diseases. Heart resident immune cells, particularly macrophage subtypes, and their characteristic morphology, distribution in the cardiac tissue, and transcriptional profile have been recently reported in the experimental animal models,

Department of Medical Microbiology, Health Sciences Institute, Istanbul Medipol University, Istanbul, Turkey

E. Cagavi (🖂)

Medical Biology and Genetics Program, Institute of Health Sciences, Istanbul Medipol University, Istanbul, Turkey unrevealing novel and unexpected roles in electrophysiological regulation of the heart both at the steady-state and diseased state. Immunological processes have been widely studied in both sterile cardiac disorders, such as myocardial infarction, autoimmune cardiac diseases, or infectious cardiac diseases, such as myocarditis, endocarditis, and acute rheumatic carditis. Following cardiac injury, innate and adaptive immunity have critical roles in proand anti-inflammatory processes. Heart resident immune cells not only provide defense against infectious diseases but also contribute to the homeostasis. In recent years, physiological changes and pathological processes were demonstrated to alter the abundance, distribution, polarization, and diversity of immune cells in the heart. Accumulating evidence indicates that cardiac remodeling is controlled by the complex crosstalk between cardiomyocytes and cardiac immune cells through the gap junctions, providing the ion flow to achieve synchronization and modulation of contractility. This review article aims to review the welldocumented roles of both resident and recruited immune cell in the heart, as well as their recently uncovered unconventional roles in both cardiac homeostasis and cardiovascular diseases. We have mostly focused on studies on animal models used in preclinical research, underlying the need for further investigations in humans or in vitro human models. It may be foreseen that

A. Koc

Regenerative and Restorative Medicine Research Center (REMER), Research Institute for Health Sciences and Technologies (SABITA), Istanbul Medipol University, Istanbul, Turkey

Regenerative and Restorative Medicine Research Center (REMER), Research Institute for Health Sciences and Technologies (SABITA), Istanbul Medipol University, Istanbul, Turkey

Department of Medical Biology, School of Medicine, Istanbul Medipol University, Istanbul, Turkey e-mail: esracagavi@gmail.com; ecagavi@medipol.edu.tr

the further comprehensive investigations of cardiac immunology might harbor new therapeutic options for cardiac disorders that have tremendous medical potential.

Keywords

Cardiology · Immunology · Cardiac diseases · Cardiomyocytes · Immunoelectrophysiology · Immunology

Abbreviations

APD	Action potential duration
ATP	Adenosine triphosphate
AVN	Atrioventricular node
CCR	C-C motif chemokine receptors
CD	Cluster of differentiation
CXCL	Chemokine (C-X-C motif) ligand
CXCR	Chemokine (C-X-C motif) receptor
DAMPs	Damage-associated molecular pattern
DC	Dendritic cell
dsRNA	Double strand RNA
ECM	Extracellular matrix
GM-	Granulocyte-macrophage colony
CSF	stimulating factor
hsCRP	High sensitivity C-reactive protein
IL	Interleukin
LDL-C	Low-density lipoprotein cholesterol
LPS	Lipopolysaccharide
LQTS	Long QT Syndrome
LV	Left ventricle
MC _T	Tryptase-positive mast cells
MC _{TC}	Tryptase- and chymase-positive mast
	cells
MHC	Major histocompatibility complex
MPO	Myeloperoxidase
NETs	Neutrophil extracellular traps
NO	Nitric oxide
ROS	Reactive oxygen species
TGF	Transforming growth factor
TNF-α	Tumor necrosis factor-alpha

Introduction to Cardiac Immunology

1

Early observations of infectious diseases lead to the understanding of the immune system's ability to defend the organism against pathogenic agents by discriminating between self and non-self. The inflammation induced by tissue damage of an organ can be sterile or due to the pathogenic infections (Van Linthout and Tschöpe 2017). Although myocardial infarction (MI)-induced trauma or ischemia/reperfusion injury results in sterile tissue damage, viral or bacterial carditis leads to damage activated by infections, both of which induce inflammatory responses. Necrotic cells in damaged tissue release endogenous damage-associated molecular patterns (DAMPs) that constitute of nucleic acids, heat-shock proteins, interleukins, cytoskeletal proteins, and mostly extracellular matrix (ECM) degradation products. Pathogens are recognized by the immune system through pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs), that include lipopolysaccharide (LPS), flagellin, dsRNA, unmethylated CpG motifs in DNA, and bacterial genomic DNA (Van Linthout and Tschöpe 2017; Cao et al. 2018). Both DAMPs and PAMPs can be recognized by pathogen recognition receptors (PRRs) found in immune and non-immune cells and induce innate immune response by recruiting neutrophils, macrophages, and dendritic cells (DCs) (Epelman et al. 2015). The antigenpresenting cells of innate immune system then stimulate T and B cells to mediate adaptive immune responses (Fairweather et al. 2004; Van Linthout and Tschöpe 2017).

In recent years, immune cells in various tissues have been categorized based on their residency or recruitment to the tissue in response to inflammation. Cardiac resident and recruited immune system elements vary based on specific functions and expression profiles (Epelman et al. 2015; Cao et al. 2018). In steady-state, different immune cell populations were identified to be localized in various heart regions, such as B cells in the pericardium, macrophages, mast cells and DCs in coronary endothelium, and a specific population of macrophages in valves and AV node (Epelman et al. 2015; Dick and Epelman 2016; Hulsmans et al. 2017). Physiological changes and pathological processes were demonstrated to change the distribution, polarization, and subtypes of immune cells in the heart. As an example, increased hematopoiesis in spleen and bone marrow supplies innate immune cells to the infarct region following MI (Epelman et al. 2015; Dick and Epelman 2016; Swirski and Nahrendorf 2018). Both proliferating resident macrophages and recruited neutrophils or monocytes work in a coordinated way in clearance and repair of the injured heart tissue.

As studies in human heart dependent mostly on small biopsies or cadaveric tissue, and the studies have been extremely limited due to ethical issues. The majority of the physiological, molecular, or functional studies in cardiac immunology were performed in animal models or in vitro cell culture models. Interestingly, there are new findings reporting the role of immune dysregulation in rhythm disorders as a result of both pathogenic invasions or sterile infections. In this review article, non-infectious heart diseases were discussed in greater detail than infectious heart diseases, based on the current literature. This review is mostly focused on studies on animal models used in preclinical research, underlying the need for further investigations in human tissues or in vitro human models.

2 Immune Cells of the Heart

Both innate and adaptive immune cell subpopulations and their distribution have been described in the cardiac tissue (Swirski and Nahrendorf 2018). In recent years, *resident* cardiac immune cell populations have been identified with distinct transcriptional profile and physiological functions that are dynamically changing in both steady-state and disease-state (Epelman et al. 2015). The aortic valves and coronary arteries contain innate cells, such as macrophages and DCs, arteries also contain mast cells, while AV node has greater amount of cardiac resident macrophages connected to the myocardium. Moreover, pericardial fluid contains macrophages and mast cells as innate immunity, and B cells as adaptive immunity (Swirski and Nahrendorf 2018). Interestingly, the heart of a healthy adult mouse contains 12-fold more CD45+ leukocytes per milligram of tissue than the skeletal muscle (Ramos et al. 2017). This abundance of leukocytes in the heart may be recruited from several local lymph nodes and the lymphatic vessels. Vascular growth factors stimulate lymphangiogenesis following MI by reducing fibrosis, thus this could be a potential regulator for cardiac regeneration (Huang et al. 2017). In this section, the literature investigating resident immune cells of the heart in the steadystate or recruitment following inflammation will be detailed.

2.1 Neutrophils

Neutrophils are present in minute amounts in a healthy heart. Following tissue damage or trauma, neutrophils are recruited to the site of injury that represents the hallmark of acute inflammation. After inflammatory cytokines, chemokines, and cleaved complement proteins are released, neutrophils infiltrate into the damaged cardiac tissue (Epelman et al. 2015). Leukocytosis by the infiltration of circulating leukocytes to the cardiac tissue is crucial for pro- and anti-inflammatory processes (Swirski and Nahrendorf 2018; Puhl and Steffens 2019). Following MI, CXCL2 and CXCL5 chemoattractants produced by cardiac resident macrophages have been shown to specificontribute to the initial neutrophil cally extravasation into the ischemic area (Li et al. 2016). Once infiltrated into the infarct zone, neutrophils and Ly6C^{high} monocytes release the granule heme-enzyme myeloperoxidase (MPO) into the ECM, resulting in enhanced oxidative stress, degradation of the ECM, and further leukocyte infiltration (Puhl and Steffens 2019). Neutrophil depletion in experimental MI models demonstrated impaired inflammatory responses resulting in enhanced fibrotic scar formation with dysfunctional remodeling and decreased cardiac function (Puhl and Steffens 2019). Neutrophils do not persist in the infarcted myocardium for long periods. Neutrophil numbers decrease after 3 days post-MI, and they almost entirely disappear following 7 days of the injury (Swirski and Nahrendorf 2018). Neutrophils activate platelets, for thrombus formation and coagulation, start the reparation process through the release of neutrophil gelatinase-associated lipocalin, mediate endothelial cell activation and cytokine release by forming neutrophil extracellular traps (NETs) (Swirski and Nahrendorf 2018; Puhl and Steffens 2019). Neutrophil degranulation leads to the release of its cytoplasmic and nuclear contents to form NETs for trapping the pathogens and DAMPs, an important initiation step in inflammation and regeneration period. NETs are activated by increased ROS generation in the early stage of MI (Puhl and Steffens 2019). Collectively, neutrophils play critical roles in immunological responses in cardiac tissue through induction of acute inflammation, the formation of NETs, the recruitment of monocytes, and finally stimulating macrophage polarization.

2.2 Mast Cells

Mast cells produce histamines and are associated with the allergic reactions and subsequent vasodilation. In fact, mast cells store and release a variety of biologically active mediators involved in tissue remodeling, including pro-inflammatory cytokines, proteases, growth factors, and fatty acid metabolites (Reber et al. 2015). Based on differences in enzyme secretion and activity, two distinct mast cell phenotypes are classified as the MC_T and MC_{TC}. MC_T is typically found in mucosal tissue, MC_{TC} is found predominantly in connective tissue (Reber et al. 2015). Studies have reported that cardiac mast cells are consistent with the MC_{TC} subtype (Janicki et al. 2015).

The pericardial adipose tissue has been shown to contain a high density of lymphoid clusters and cardiac mast cells (Janicki et al. 2015; Swirski and Nahrendorf 2018). Increased numbers of mast cells have been reported in human hearts explanted from dilated cardiomyopathy patients and in experimental animal models of hypertension and MI (Janicki et al. 2015). Mast cell secretions can activate matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) that lead to rapid collagen degradation of interstitial collagen matrix after myocardial damage (Janicki et al. 2015). Moreover, gender differences play a role in the incidence of cardiac diseases in humans favors of women, for example, estrogen was shown to keep MMP-2 levels low leading to collagen degradation and ventricular dilatation (Levick et al. 2011; Janicki et al. 2015). As estrogen may have cardioprotective roles via the effect on mast cells, the influence of male and female hormones on cardiac mast cell phenotype, as well as their regulatory pathways, needs to be investigated in detail. Another issue that remains to be demonstrated is understanding how cardiac mast cells interact with other inflammatory cells in the heart during both steady-state and after tissue damage.

2.3 Monocyte/Macrophages

Monocyte/macrophages have diverse functions, such as plasticity, microbicidal activity, antigenpresentation, fibrosis, tissue healing, and immunoregulatory functions (Barin et al. 2012). In the steady-state, phagocytosis by macrophages clears the cell debris as a result of the normal apoptotic process in hemostasis. Macrophages are highly responsive and easily polarized and differentiate from circulating monocytes (Murray et al. 2014). Macrophage polarization and diversity in the tissue depend on the chemokine cues and environmental stimuli varying before and after a disease state (Davis et al. 2013). Macrophages are polarized towards the M1-type in response to pro-inflammatory signals, such as IFN-y and LPS, leading to the upregulation of lysosomal activation, oxygen radicals, and peroxide production (Barin et al. 2012; Tan et al. 2016). In Th1-associated host defenses, M1 macrophages are considered as a major effector. In the steadystate, IL4/IL13-elicited M2 macrophages play

significant roles in anti-inflammatory and Th2-mediated responses. Importantly, M2 macrophages promote wound healing, angiogenesis, fibrotic, and scavenger processes (Tan et al. 2016).

Cardiac macrophages are present in the murine heart, constituting 6-8% of non-cardiomyocytes within the myocardium (Peet et al. 2020). In a healthy adult mouse heart, macrophages can be distinguished by the expression levels of CCR2 and MHCII (Lavine et al. 2018). Genetic fatemapping studies reveal that CCR2⁻ cardiac macrophages are established early in development from the primitive yolk sac and self-maintained into adulthood, while CCR2⁺ macrophages are replenished by bone-marrow-derived monocytes after a cardiac damage (Hulsmans et al. 2017; DeBerge et al. 2019). Resident and recruited macrophages have distinct roles during cardiac inflammation (Bajpai et al. 2018). Fate mapping, parabiosis, and single-cell transcriptome analysis recruited revealed that monocyte-derived macrophages modulate cardiac inflammation, but are less efficient in antigen processing and debris clearance (Bajpai et al. 2018; Dick et al. 2019). a cardiac After injury, resident cardiac macrophages produce inflammatory cytokines and chemokines, such as IL-1, IL-6, TNF- α , and CCL2, cardiac fibroblasts release hematopoietic growth factors, such as GM-CSF to activate endothelial cells. Then Ly6G⁺ neutrophils recruit via the help of neutrophil-attracting chemokines such as CCL2 and CCL7 and Ly6C⁺-CCR2⁺ doublepositive monocytes mobilize from the blood to the injury site in greater numbers in mice (Murray et al. 2014; Epelman et al. 2015; Swirski and Nahrendorf 2018; Bajpai et al. 2018; Dick et al. 2019). Furthermore, TIMD4⁺ LYVE1⁺ MHC-II^{low} CCR2⁻ resident murine cardiac macrophages selfrenew by regulating G1/S transition, contributing to the regulation of vasculogenesis and wound healing (Bajpai et al. 2018; Dick et al. 2019).

Monocytes/macrophages are also involved in angiogenesis through their secretion of pro- and anti-inflammatory factors. It was shown that macrophages acted as a helper for vascular fusion to create new vessels with the existing network by guiding and physically forming bridges (Fantin et al. 2010). Furthermore, resident mouse CCR2⁻ macrophages were shown to localize into the coronary artery and necessary for remodeling of the primitive coronary plexus through secretion of insulin-like growth factor and other pro-angiogenic signals (Leid et al. 2016).

In addition to the canonical roles of macrophages in inflammation, their unconventional roles have been recently revealed as supportive cells for cardiac conduction, the regulator of membrane action potential, or cardiac cell cycle re-entry (Gomez et al. 2018). In fact, resident cardiac macrophages are shown to abundantly reside at the AV node and express a specific cardiac gap junction protein, allowing electrical coupling with cardiomyocytes and conduction system as depicted in Box 1 (Hulsmans et al. 2017).

Box 1 Immuno-Electrophysiological Roles of Cardiac Macrophages

Pro-inflammatory immune mediators can affect the intracellular Ca²⁺ homeostasis, thereby regulating the electrophysiological properties of the cardiac muscle. It was previously demonstrated that TNF- α , as a pro-inflammatory cytokine, stimulation can decrease the expression of Ca²⁺-ATPase and Ca²⁺-regulatory proteins of sarcoplasmic reticulum in adult cardiomyocytes progressively resulting in left ventricular diastolic dysfunction (Tsai et al. 2015; Van Linthout and Tschöpe 2017). Moreover, TNF-α stimulation was found to trigger cardiomyocyte apoptosis, and another pro-inflammatory cytokine IL-1 β was shown to mediate cardiomyocyte pyroptosis (Van Linthout and Tschöpe 2017). Furthermore, IL-6 has been demonstrated to increase the cardiac muscle stiffness via reducing the phosphorylation of titin, affecting the contractility (Savvatis et al. 2014). Altogether, those reports underline the importance of the diverse unconventional functions of immune mediators in cardiac electrophysiology.

Apart from their conventional roles in innate immunity, novel modulatory roles of



Fig. 1 Cardiomyocytes and cardiac macrophages contact through Cx43 gap junctions. The cartoon depicts the immuno-electrophysiological regulatory

macrophages have been revealed in cardiac electrophysiology. Recently, an unpredicted role of cardiac macrophages in the regulation of the cardiomyocyte membrane potential was demonstrated in mouse models by optogenetic, electrophysiological, and immunohistological studies (Hulsmans et al. 2017). Hulsmans and colleagues reported that tissue-resident macrophages studied in both murine and human heart sections were abundant in the AV node, as well as myocardium (Hulsmans et al. 2017). In this study, cardiac resident macrophages have been shown to directly modulate the electrical activity of cardiomyocytes through gap junctions, particularly Cx43 proteins, as summarised in Fig. 1. Moreover, Cx43 knockout cardiac macrophages were shown

role of interaction between cardiomyocytes and cardiac macrophages through Cx43 gap junctions and secreted pro-inflammatory cytokines $TNF-\alpha$ and IL-6

to delay or block AV node conduction. Due to this deficiency, slower repolarization occurs in cardiomyocytes connected with Cx43-depleted macrophages resulting in impaired AV conduction (Swirski and Nahrendorf 2018). They further determined that more macrophages physically interacting with a single cardiomyocyte, the higher beating frequency of cardiomyocytes were detected as a result of more cation flux towards the cardiomyocytes from the macrophages. Based on the findings of this remarkable study, heart diseases could be evaluated from a yet largely neglected dimension by considering cardiac macrophage population and the effect of its dysregulation in the progress of cardiac disorders.

3 Inflammatory Heart Diseases

The global prevalence of cardiac infectious diseases is considered rare, but associated with high morbidity and mortality (Murillo et al.

2016). A vast number of studies demonstrate inflammation as a cause or consequence of the majority of heart diseases. Therefore, inflammation through (i) stress factors, such as aging, hypertension, pressure overload, ischemia, hypercholesterolemia, diabetes, and obesity, and (ii) pathologic factors, such as endothelial dysfunction, atherosclerosis, and acute coronary syndrome, need to be evaluated in detail for cardiac diseases. Without any infectious agents, signaling molecules released by injured or stressed cardiac tissue can induce sterile inflammation, as in the case of post-ischemic or toxic necrosis, massive trauma, or hemorrhage (Van Linthout and Tschöpe 2017). On the other hand, infectious organisms, such as bacteria, viruses, fungi, or parasites, can rapidly initiate the systemic immunological response directly or indirectly affecting the heart. Therefore, inflammatory factors, including high levels of leukocytes, fibrinogen, and CRP levels in the blood, as well as other metabolic or chronic disorders, are routinely assessed by clinical evaluations of the patients and were reported to contribute to the cardiac diseases (Pearson et al. 2003). In fact, certain patients receive anti-inflammatory drugs as a treatment approach for lowering common inflammatory markers, such as CRP as the most relevant (summarised in Box 2).

Box 2 Inflammatory Marker CRP in Cardiac Disorders

C-reactive protein (CRP) is a non-cardiac, specific inflammatory marker, and an acute phase protein with a long plasma half-life. CRP is dominantly synthesized by hepatocytes in response to the proinflammatory cytokines and considered as an 'upstream' biomarker for TNF- α or IL-6 (Shrivastava et al. 2015). CRP binds to the phosphorylcholine structures on the membrane of an infectious organism, then macrophages recognize and phagocytose the CRP-bound pathogens through their CRP receptors. CRP also plays a role in atherogenesis, acting on vascular smooth muscle cells and inhibiting NO synthesis (Shrivastava et al. 2015). CRP directly bind to atherogenic oxidized LDL-C and is present within lipidladen plaques in atherothrombotic and atherosclerotic diseases (Marchio et al. 2019). Moreover, CRP facilitates monocyte adhesion and transmigration into the vessel wall initiating early immunological processes in atherogenesis (Van Linthout and Tschöpe 2017). CRP can be also elevated by a non-infectious situation, as in the case of trauma-mediated alarmin response (Nehring et al. 2020). When it comes to the diagnosis of chronic diseases, high-sensitivity assays are performed, detecting low levels of CRP, named hsCRP. HsCRP levels rise along with various risk factors, such as aging, smoking, and obesity, and hsCRP is widely used to predict the chronic inflammation in cardiac diseases (Yousuf et al. 2013). In SCORE (systematic coronary risk evaluation) study, CRP levels higher than 10 mg/L statistically correlate with a risk higher than 4% to develop a fatal cardiovascular event in the next 10 years (Cozlea et al. 2013). Beyond the direct role of CRP onto the vascular cells of the heart, CRP was reported to direct human macrophage polarization into the M1 phenotype by suppressing the generation of the reparative M2 phenotype (Devaraj and Jialal 2011). Moreover, 5806 and 5382 participants were followed for up to 17 years, who were assessed by high IL-6 and high CRP levels, respectively, and revealing an association of CRP with sudden cardiac mortality (Hussein et al. 2013).

3.1 Endocarditis

Endocarditis is the pathogenic infection of the endocardium or transplanted prosthetic material surfaces, such as valves. Endocarditis prevalence is higher in men than in women (>2:1), and in the clinic, endocarditis is mostly seen in individuals older than 65 years of age, likely associated with aging (Murillo et al. 2016). Diverse clinical outcomes of endocarditis are fever, hypothermia, tachycardia, tachypnea, or abnormal white blood cell count, progressing to septic shock and acute organ failure (Rubio et al. 2019). The most typical and frequent infectious organism causing endocarditis is Staphylococcus species, which attach to the endocardium of the valve or side of the atrium (Murillo et al. 2016). Staphylococcus components, lipoteichoic acids, and peptidoglycans, serve as critical pro-inflammatory stimulants. At the first hours of Staphylococcus invasion of the endothelial cells, the non-professional phagocytes start to ingest bacterial clusters, causing endothelial cell apoptosis and ultimately endothelial destruction (Rubio et al. 2019). Moreover, macrophages located between endothelial and subendocardial interstitial tissue initiate the acute inflammatory response by releasing CCL5 and other pro-inflammatory cytokines and chemokines. CCL5 was shown to be secreted by endothelial macrophages for recruiting leukocytes to the infected region (Rubio et al. 2019). Higher CD4+ and CD8+ T cells and B lymphocyte cell counts elevated IgM and IgG serum levels, and C4 complement system was found associated with infective endocarditis patients (Forte et al. 2001). Moreover, signaling of endothelin-1, nitric oxide, prostaglandins, prostacyclin, angiotensin I-II, and VEGF between cardiac endothelial cells and cardiomyocytes alter cardiac physiology and electrophysiology. Therefore, deformation of the endothelial layer caused by endocarditis disturbs cardiac physiology, contractile performance, and eventually rhythmicity of the heart (Rubio et al. 2019).

3.2 Myocarditis

Myocarditis, an infectious inflammatory disease of the myocardium, is often caused by viral, bacterial, or protozoa infections, leading to dilated cardiomyopathy, heart failure, or autoimmunity (Swirski and Nahrendorf 2018). Non-infectious, or sterile, myocarditis may also occur in immunological disorders, such as sarcoidosis (Murillo et al. 2016). From the broad infectious agents underlying the basis of myocarditis; coxsackievirus, adenovirus, parvovirus, hepatitis C virus, influenza A and B viruses, and HIV are the most prominent viral factors (Swirski and Nahrendorf 2018). Inflammation due to infectious or sterile myocarditis first activates macrophage and other cardiac resident immune cells through innate immunity. An analysis of autopsy samples isolated from myocarditis patients with sudden death revealed that monocyte and macrophage infiltration to the cardiac tissue were among the most common observations (Barin et al. 2012).

The pathogenic enterovirus, named Coxsackievirus, is one of the most common causes of acute myocarditis (Gaaloul et al. 2014). Coxsackievirus shows a cardiac tropism partly due to the high expression of 'CARs-Coxsackievirus and adenovirus receptors' in cardiomyocytes. Mast cells, which are one of the first cells to respond to myocardial damage after Coxsackievirus infection, degranulate rapidly, and produce inflammatory mediators (Fairweather et al. 2004). In the early asymptomatic days of virusinfected myocarditis, infiltrating killer lymphocytes and NK cells direct the infected cells to apoptosis by also extending tissue damage to the nearby uninfected myocytes. Infiltrating neutrophils and monocytes further contribute to the pro-inflammatory cascades, such as Th1-type immune response mediated by IL-12-induced IFN-y stimulation. In fact, IL-12 deficient mice showed higher viral replication and limited TNF- α and IFN-y cytokines (Swirski and Nahrendorf 2018). The subacute phase post-infection is accompanied by a more complex immune response and myocyte cytotoxicity from circulating autoantibodies, cross-reactive epitope mimicry, and finally, autoreactive immune cell recruitment. Beyond 15 days following infection is considered as the chronic phase, in which the viral genome integrated into cardiomyocytes leads to crossreactivity, accounting for chronic inflammation and dilated cardiomyopathy (Murillo et al. 2016). Against virus-induced myocarditis, T cell responses play a significant role as adaptive immunity through both Th17 cells, which causes dilated cardiomyopathy by affecting cardiac fibroblasts, and Treg cells, which decrease the inflammation and provide protection (Swirski and Nahrendorf 2018).

3.3 Pericarditis

Pericarditis is an inflammatory disease of the fibroserous sac covering the heart, caused by viral, bacterial, or fungal agents (Mayosi et al. 2005; Dababneh and Siddique 2020). After the invasion, the pathogen colonizes in the pericardium stimulating an inflammatory response (Murillo et al. 2016). Elevated hsCRP was identified in approximately three out of four acute pericarditis patients involving viral or idiopathic pericarditis cases (Imazio et al. 2011). Increased anti-myolemmal and anti-fibrillary antibodies in pericardial fluid determined in pericarditis patients indicated high immunological reactivity in chronic pericardial effusion (Karatolios et al. 2016).

Pericardial involvement can also be related to the systemic autoimmune diseases, such as commonly systemic lupus erythematosus, rheumatoid arthritis, and systemic sclerosis. Earlyinflammatory events, including complement pathway activation and leukocyte infiltration, were detected in the pericardial fluid in systemic autoimmune disease patients (Ramasamy et al. 2018). Moreover, in the acute phase of MI, pericarditis may occur due to the cardiomyocyte necrosis and vascular injury resulting in pericardial effusion (Ramasamy et al. 2018). On the other hand, the development of pericardial fibrosis at the postinflammation period was found to be dependent on the secretion of both pro- and anti-inflammatory fibrotic mediators, such as Galectin-3, Ac-SDKP (N-acetyl-seryl-aspartyl-lysyl-proline), and basic fibroblast growth factor (bFGF) (Ramasamy et al. 2018).

3.4 Rheumatic Fever

Rheumatic fever (RF) is mediated by autoimmune reactions triggered by molecular mimicry between *S. pyogenes* and human proteins as a result of post-streptococcal throat infection (Guilherme et al. 2012). Acute RF involves all three layers of the heart, and also displays non-heart symptoms, such as joint swelling, skin rashes, and nodules. Rheumatic heart disease (RHD) is seen after valvular damage triggered by immune responses through the infection in 30–45% of RF patients (Guilherme and Kalil 2015).

M protein and N-acetyl-beta-D-glucosamine, the antigenic structures of the S. pyogenes, show structural homology with y-helical coiled-coil structured human proteins, such as cardiac myosin, tropomyosin, keratin, laminin, vimentin, and several valvular proteins (Guilherme and Kalil 2010). This cross-reaction causes T-cell recognition and T-cell-mediated destruction, and autoimmunity. Autoimmune reactions are mainly mediated by macrophages and heart-infiltrating CD4+ T lymphocytes. A small number of CD8+ T cells also infiltrate into the heart lesions. Th1-type cytokines play a dominant role in lesions of RF. Furthermore, the deficiencies in Th2-type cytokines-producing cells, showed by low levels of IL-4, may contribute to the progression of the lesions in RHD pathogenesis (Guilherme et al. 2006).

The molecular findings show a genetic susceptibility associated with RF pathogenesis. Within the period of an early innate immune response to RF, MBL2, FCN2, FCyRIIA, and TLR2 gene expression have been found to be significantly altered in patients (Guilherme et al. 2012). In addition, variations in both innate and adaptive immunity genes, such as TNFA, IL1RA, TGFB1, and CTLA4, implied relation to the pathogenesis of RF and RHD (Guilherme et al. 2012). Moreover, immunohistochemical analysis on myocardium and valves from acute and chronic RHD patients showed a large number of mononuclear cells expressing pro-inflammatory cytokines, such as TNF- α , interferons and the regulatory cytokine IL-10 (Guilherme et al. 2012). Therefore, immunological cascades in RHD involve critical roles in the pathogenesis of autoimmunity and chronic inflammation (Guilherme et al. 2012).

3.5 Chagas' Disease

Chagas' disease is caused by a protozoan parasite *T. cruzi* infection in the myocardium that persists throughout a lifetime. Chagas' patients can

remain asymptomatic or turn into a chronic form cardiac with and/or digestive symptoms (Machado et al. 2013). Chagas' infection causes cardiomyocyte necrosis, leading to autoimmunity, thromboembolism, stroke, arrhythmia, and heart failure (Machado et al. 2013). While immunoregulatory cytokines, such as TGF-β and IL-10, increase susceptibility to the acute infection, TNF- α and IFN- γ regulate chemokine production by T.cruzi-infected macrophages and cardiomyocytes (Machado et al. 2013). Both human studies and mice models indicated that the production of IL-12, TNF- α , and IFN- γ , a group of Th1 pro-inflammatory cytokines induce macrophages to release NO. Macrophages consequently kill the parasites and contribute to the recruitment and activation of leukocytes via chemokines, such as CLL2 and CCL5 (Machado et al. 2013). Therefore, elevated levels of TNF- α and IFN- γ in the blood and cardiac tissue are shown to be indicators of the severity of cardiac symptoms in chronic Chagas' patients (Machado et al. 2013).

Chagas' disease may also cause initiation of the autoimmunity cascades through the overexpression of CD8+ T cells, especially autoreactive ones. There is an excessive generation of self-antigens in the niche of the damaged region, through the inflammatory mediators, such as cytokines, chemokines, lymphotoxin, NO from cardiac immune cells, and granule components from eosinophils. Therefore, T. cruzi infection can activate the subsequent parasite-specific and non-specific immune responses in the heart (Bonney and Engman 2015).

3.6 Lyme Disease

Lyme disease, also named borreliosis, is caused by the bacterium *B. burgdorferi* and is transmitted to humans through the infected tick bites. Lyme disease has multi-systemic effects on various regions of the body, associated with neuroborreliosis, Borrelia arthritis, or carditis (Widhe et al. 2004; Krause and Bockenstedt 2013). *B. burgdorferi* dissemination in the blood could colonize in most parts of the heart, including the conduction system around the AV node, endocardium, myocardium, and coronary circulatory system, or heart valves. Pericarditis and myocarditis may also occur, however, Lyme carditis is typically characterized by AV block and is often treated with antibiotics (Krause and Bockenstedt 2013).

4 Non-infectious Cardiac Diseases and Immunity

4.1 Myocardial Infarct (MI)

MI can occur in the presence of many risk factors, such as hypertension, smoking, dyslipidemia, diabetes, and family history of coronary heart disease (Hajar 2017). The sequence of events in acute MI includes sudden interruption of blood flow by atherosclerotic plaque formation, plaque rupture, coronary artery thrombosis, or coronary occlusion, all of which also trigger the immune response (Weil and Neelamegham 2019). The intramyocardial inflammation proceeding the cardiomyocyte death from ischemia and reperfusion injury in MI, similar to infection or cardiac toxicity, promotes the replacement of myocardium with noncontractile fibrotic scar (Weil and Neelamegham 2019). NLRP3 (NOD-, LRR- and pyrin domain-containing protein 3), IL-1β, and IL-18 mRNA expressions were found to be increased in the left ventricle tissue in the acute phase of MI, indicating the activation of a high inflammatory cascade in the myocardium (Van Linthout and Tschöpe 2017). The inflammation then promotes infiltration of circulating monocytes and neutrophils, as well as the expansion of resident macrophage population at the site infarction followed by secretion of of pro-inflammatory cytokines and chemokines (Peet et al. 2020). In fact, macrophages play an important role in both pro- and anti-inflammatory phases in MI. Cellular fragments released by injured myocardium can trigger resident cardiac macrophage activation and mast cells through endogenous 'alarmins' and DAMPs (Peet et al. 2020). Endogenous DAMPs, such as released mitochondrial or genomic DNA and ROS released from mitochondria, can also activate the complement system increasing C3 and C5 fragments promoting neutrophil infiltration and leukocyte translocation into the injured myocardium. Cao et al. showed that released genomic DNA fragments from necrotic tissue were recognized by cGAS-STING pathway shifting macrophages towards M1 state (Cao et al. 2018). Thus, to prevent excessive tissue damage through inflammation, the cGAS-STING pathway can be silenced with drugs, polarizing macrophages to the M2 phenotype enabling angiogenesis and ECM remodeling for cardiac repair (Cao et al. 2018).

The generation of a large amount of ROS from mitochondria impairs myocardial function and activates leukocyte migration, reducing the number of functional cardiomyocytes and triggering ECM degradation (Fioranelli et al. 2018). Studies have shown that sustained expression of TNF- α contributes to the development of heart failure; however, TNF- α can also exert cytoprotective effects in a desmin-deficient heart failure model in mice (Papathanasiou et al. 2015). Moreover, mice depleted with IL1R1, the only signaling receptor for IL1, not only attenuated the recruitment of inflammatory monocytes/macrophages, but also diminished the regenerative M2 subtype (Saxena et al. 2014). In other words, excessive M1 macrophage activation may be destructive. In a monocyte-depleted mice model to decrease M1 macrophage number, the type functional outcomes after MI-induced cardiac dysfunction were improved (Hulsmans et al. 2016). Moreover, cardiac-resident macrophages seemed to display M2 phenotype more than infiltrating subtypes. M2 type resident cardiac macrophages provide robust pro-angiogenic and regenerative features and are responsible for the tissue homeostasis (Ma et al. 2018). In order to trigger regenerative phenotype after MI, targeting the up-regulation of canonical M2 genes in myocardial macrophages, using IL-4, IL-10, or GABAAR (Gamma aminobutyric acid A receptor) agonism, were indicated to protect against degenerative ventricular remodeling (Shiraishi et al. 2016, Peet et al. 2020).

Neutrophils were shown to migrate rapidly to the infarct zone guided by chemoattractants (Hofbauer et al. 2019). NETs formed by neutrophils stimulate cytokine release from macrophages and also activate Th-17 cells, resulting in increased immune cell recruitment to the atherosclerotic plaques (Warnatsch et al. 2015). In ST-elevation following MI, NETs were found to be positively correlated with the infarct size and left ventricular dysfunction through the stimulation of fibrosis (Hofbauer et al. 2019). Over the course of several days of the inflammation, a reparative phase commences dominated by the removal of neutrophils and the recruitment of Ly6C^{low} monocyte derived-macrophages promoting angiogenesis and healing in mice (Swirski and Nahrendorf 2018; Puhl and Steffens 2019). At this post-MI reparative period, hematopoietic progenitor cell proliferation and migration at the infarct side were shown to be regulated by chemokine receptor signaling, such as CXCR4 (Mayorga et al. 2016).

Mast cells are key effectors of the innate immune response during MI. Perivascular localization of mast cells allows storage of inflammatory mediators to be released into the blood following their rapid degranulation in the acute phase of MI (Prabhu and Frangogiannis 2016). In the first 24 h after an ischaemic cardiac event, endogenous DAMPs induce the release of histamine, TNF- α , IL-6, prostaglandins, leukotrienes, tryptase, chymase, and renin from mast cells, leading to an acute immune response, activating resident immune cells (Fioranelli et al. 2018). Moreover, within a few days after MI infiltrating mast cell progenitors into the heart from the white adipose tissue mature, then play a role in the repair and protection against cardiac dysfunction (Ngkelo et al. 2016).

Mast cells are also crucial in cardiac contractility via alteration of PKA-regulated Ca^{2+} signaling in response to MI. Mast cell-dependent mechanism of PKA activity was shown to promote myofilament phosphorylation induced by mast cell-released tryptase (Ngkelo et al. 2016). The main roles of cardiac MC_{TC} after the pro-fibrotic stimuli during MI was depicted in



Fig. 2 Cardiac mast cells during and after MI. Cartoon depicting the roles of cardiac mast cells in the case of MI. PGE₂: Prostaglandin E2, PGI₂: Prostaglandin I2

Fig. 2. In the acute phase of MI, cardiac MC_{TC} secretes renin, chymase, tryptase and TNF- α activating MMPs leading to the massive collagen degradation. After the myocardial damage established, released histamine from cardiac mast cells stimulate myofibroblasts to secrete PGE₂ as well as the stable metabolite of the cardioprotective PGI₂ (Levick and Widiapradja 2018). At later stages, the angiotensin and TGF- β signaling cascades initiate irreversible fibrosis. Consequently, after an acute coronary syndrome, repair of damaged tissue can be mediated by collagen formation, myofibroblast proliferation and angiogenesis on the site of infarct with the contribution of the cardiac MC_{TC}.

The subsequent role of the immune system in the acute and reparative periods post-MI are also regulated by the lymphatic system. The cardiac lymphatic vessels may play a role in regeneration by draining excess fluid from the extracellular spaces and transporting the adaptive immune cells between inflammatory tissue and the cardiac lymph nodes (Zhang et al. 2019). Moreover, the impairment of lymphatic drainage was shown to lead to the cardiac lymphedema after MI (Zhang et al. 2019), therefore stimulating lymphangiogenesis through vascular growth factors to improve lymphatic drainage may contribute to the recovery of the infarcted myocardium.

4.2 Atherosclerosis

Atherosclerosis is the leading cause of heart attacks, strokes, and peripheral vascular disease caused by the lipid storage and restriction of blood flow in the arteries. The dysfunctional endothelial cells are the first step towards vascular diseases, affecting endothelium niche of vascular smooth muscle cells and immune cells to promote atherosclerotic lesions accompanying acute coronary events (Fioranelli et al. 2018). Atherosclerotic lesions/plaques develop with the accumulation and trapping of LDL in the intima of the arteries (Linton et al. 2000). Inflammation is involved throughout all atherogenesis steps from foam cell accumulation to fatty streak organization and fibrous plaque formation, until acute plaque fissuring, rupture, and thrombosis occurrence (Fioranelli et al. 2018). In fact, pathological conditions and common cardiovascular risk factors, such as hypertension, hyperlipidemia, hyperglycemia, and smoking, can elicit immune responses that promote the secretion of pro-inflammatory cytokines and chemotactic

factors, inducing monocyte adhesion to the endothelial region and transmigration into the subintimal space (Fioranelli et al. 2018). Later, circulating monocytes are recruited to the atherosclerotic lesions to differentiate into the pro-inflammatory macrophages, namely lipidladen foam cells, which engulf cholesterol-rich oxidized lipoproteins (Chistiakov et al. 2017; Linton et al. 2000). Vulnerable atherosclerotic plaques caused by an uncontrolled inflammation typically have a necrotic lipid core with a thin, fibrous cap and contain a large number of foam cells. When the plaques rupture, MI, sudden death, or stroke are the possible outcomes (Linton et al. 2000).

From the immunological perspective, the pro-inflammatory stimuli from the atherosclerotic plaques results in recruitment of more macrophages, mast cells, and activated T and B cells that increase vascular lesions. IL-1 and IL-6 act as chemotactic mediators, with IL-1 levels indicating the presence of unstable atheromatous disease (Kouvas et al. 2018). In the presence of CD4+ lymphocytes, TNF- α promotes oxidized LDL uptake by macrophages and facilitates leukocyte migration through VCAM1-expressing endothelial cells, increasing the oxidative stress over the plaque (Kouvas et al. 2018). In fact, through chemokine signaling, a high number of infiltrating immune cells cause an imbalance between the firing of inflammation and modulation of immunity (Linton et al. 2000). In a vulnerable plaque mouse model, the inhibition of antibody-mediated chemokine ligand Cxcl10 resulted in a more stable plaque phenotype (Segers et al. 2011). Targeted depletion or pharmacological inhibition of Cxcr3 decreased plaque formation, recruitment of Th1 inflammatory cells, and increased migration of Treg cells to the lesions in ApoE-knockout mice (Szentes et al. 2018). On the other hand, based on clinical studies, chemokine signaling may be used as a marker for diagnosis. A significant association of increased serum CXCL10 level with the risk of coronary heart disease was reported (Szentes et al. 2018). Moreover, enhanced systemic levels of CXCL9, CXCL10, and CXCR3 were also observed in patients with stable angina pectoris (Szentes et al. 2018).

Macrophage polarization is another key feature of the atherosclerosis progress. Cholesterol crystals, IFN γ , LPS, and oxidized LDL are all known to stimulate M1 macrophage activation. M1-activated cytokines further support the monocyte recruitment and macrophage maintenance in the plaque area (Tan et al. 2016). Due to the involvement in plaque destabilization, the pro-atherogenic M1 macrophage populations predominantly accumulate at the plaque area. On the other hand, M2 macrophages mostly reside at stable cell-rich areas of the plaque and blood vessels tending to prevent foam cell formation and protect against atherosclerosis (Moore et al. 2013; Tan et al. 2016).

4.3 Conduction Disorders

Although cardiac conduction system disorders are focused on pathophysiological studies, the contribution of immune system in disease pathogenesis was largely underestimated. Regarding the role of immune system in conduction diseases, cardiac macrophages became a candidate to be investigated. As cardiac macrophages largely participate in immune surveillance and cardiac development, recent studies suggest an important and specialized cardiac function in regulating the contractility, especially at the AV node (Epelman et al. 2014; Hulsmans et al. 2017). Due to these pioneering studies, new terminology and area of research were introduced as cardiac immunoelectrophysiology, demonstrating the unconventional and essential role of cardiac resident immune cells in the electrical conduction of the heart.

4.3.1 Atrial Fibrillation (AF)

AF is characterized by the rapid, irregular, and dysfunctional beating of the atrial chambers of the heart. The prevalence of AF is 1–2% in the general population, reaching up to 10% in elderly patients (Smorodinova et al. 2017). As an initial inflammation period, higher hsCRP levels were observed to be positively correlated with stroke risk factors, such as diabetes and hypertension, in AF patients (You et al. 2010). Moreover, the high levels of an early inflammation marker IL-6 in the

serum were found to be an associated risk factor for AF in a cohort of subjects with coronary artery disease (Harada et al. 2015). Mostly infiltrating leukocytes and deposition of MPO as the elements of innate immunity were reported to play a role in arrhythmogenesis and AF pathogenesis (Rudolph et al. 2010). Higher plasma levels of MPO have also been observed, suggesting MPO as a profibrotic mediator of AF (Rudolph et al. 2010). In an experimental animal model, increased mainly pro-inflammatory iNOS⁺, Arg1⁻ M1 phenotype macrophage population was identified in the arrhythmic atrial tissue samples by protein analysis (Sun et al. 2016). AF induced-pro-inflammatory macrophage polarization was shown to shift towards M1 macrophages exacerbating atrial electrical remodeling by secreting predominantly IL-1ß (Sun et al. 2016). In the same study, LPS-stimulated pro-inflammatory macrophages induced atrial electrical remodeling, decreasing the effective atrial refractory period, and L-type calcium currents in both canine and mouse AF models (Sun et al. 2016). In a relevant clinical report, the count of both CD4+ and CD8+ lymphocytes and CD68- and KP1+ DCs were elevated in the left atrial myocardium of patients displaying AF, compared to those with normal sinus rhythm (Smorodinova et al. 2017). Moreover, the number of mast cells and CD20+ B-lymphocytes did not differ between AF and healthy controls. Collectively, in AF cases, the number of cells infiltrating to the heart can be expected to increase, whereas the number of resident cardiac immune cells does not likely to be affected based on the reported literature (Smorodinova et al. 2017). These data also suggested that pro-inflammation may affect electrophysiological properties of myocardial tissue towards AF pathology.

4.3.2 Arrhythmia

Cardiac arrhythmia is caused by genetic or druginduced abnormalities of the conduction system of the heart displaying irregular beating (Lazzerini et al. 2015). It was newly discovered that immune system modulators are the effectors of the cardiac rhythm. Immune cells and their secreted cytokines and chemokines were found to regulate the rhythmicity of the heart both through systemic and local signaling mechanisms (Lazzerini et al. 2017). Regarding rhythm disorders, it can be inferred that the immune system regulators could contribute to the arrhythmia in several ways; (i) direct interaction between immune cells with cardiac fibroblasts and/or mvocvtes leading to insulating fibrosis. (ii) direct participation of macrophages in the electrical regulation of conducting myocytes, (iii) direct modulation of ion channel presentation and/or function on the surface of cardiomyocytes promoting cardiac arrhythmia by inflammatory cytokines and autoimmunity (Lazzerini et al. 2017).

Whether inflammatory activation is a cause or consequence of arrhythmia, accumulating data indicate inflammation as a potential contributor of life-threatening forms of congenital arrhythmias. First, severe inflammatory heart diseases, such as myocarditis, can be frequently associated with acquired Long QT Syndrome (LQTS), characterized by a prolonged QT interval on the electrocardiograms (Lazzerini et al. 2015). Other reported causes of acquired LQTS include adverse effects the of drugs, bradyarrhythmias, endocrine disorders, liver diseases, HIV infection, and toxins, all of which also influence immune response through persistent secretion of pro-inflammatory mediators systematically (Lazzerini et al. 2015). The long-term secretion of main pro-inflammatory cytokines from the myocardium in chronic heart failure and ischemic heart disease were shown to recruit the innate immune cells, leading to chronic remodeling and cardiac fibrosis (Kouvas et al. 2018). This persistent pro-inflammatory process in the ventricular tissue may consequently deteriorate the systolic function resulting in ventricular hypertrophy and dilation, inclining the tissue towards arrhythmia (Dick and Epelman 2016).

The cytokines may have a direct effect on membrane ion channel expression and/or function by modulating gap junctions and other cellcell communication proteins, as summarised in Box 1 (Hulsmans et al. 2017). In other words, the cytokine exposure can alter action potential duration (APD), clinically affecting OT prolongation and thus the arrhythmia threshold. pro-inflammatory cytokine TNF-α Α can upregulate Cx43 expression by improving cell coupling and prevention of arrhythmia in a long term (George et al. 2017). Abnormal Cx43 expression causing uncoupling in the myocardium may increase the risk of arrhythmic events (Fontes et al. 2012). In another study, IL-6 was shown to act on L-type calcium currents and shorten the APD possibly partly due to the cardioprotective effects (Kouvas et al. 2018). Furthermore, TGF- β secreted from the cardiac fibroblasts can also act on the expression of membrane ion channels, modifying the electrical activity of the heart in an in vivo rat model (Kaur and Jalife 2017). In addition to its well-documented role as a fibrotic mediator, the study showed that TGF-B was also associated with ventricular arrhythmia (Kaur and Jalife 2017). Collectively, direct immune cell interactions or immune secretions may regulate levels or function of gap junctions affecting APD of cardiomyocytes and rhythmicity of the heart.

Inflammatory mediators can modulate cellular ROS levels. Superoxides, hydroxyl radical, hydrogen peroxide, and other ROS can be formed in splenocytes, blood leukocytes, vascular, and heart tissue through the action of specific oxidases, oxygenases, and peroxidases (Lubos et al. 2008). Cellular ROS can alter ion channel and/or Cx43 expressions leading to changes in sodium and potassium currents in cardiomyocytes, therefore affect the action potential propagation and electrical properties of the heart (Kouvas et al. 2018; Yang et al. 2015). In an LPS-stimulated maternal inflammation model of rats, the direct link between ROS and inflammation-induced heart damage was demonstrated (Zhang et al. 2016). In this study, isoproterenol, a β -adrenoceptor agonist, treatment was shown to increase ROS levels in adult offspring of LPS-treated mothers. The high ROS ratio finally led to left-ventricular systolic dysfunction, cardiac hypertrophy, and fibrosis (Zhang et al. 2016). Consequently, whether the determinant is a cause or consequence of arrhythmia, recent advances in our understanding of immune parameters started to be associated with the pathogenesis of cardiac conduction diseases.

Therapeutic Anti-inflammatory Agents for Cardiac Diseases

5

Many anti-inflammatory agents are used in the clinical management of cardiac disorders. These agents may be classified as synthetic chemicals targeting the inflammatory mediators and anticytokine therapies (Ridker and Lüscher 2014; Nguyen et al. 2019). In atherosclerosis, cholesterol crystals induce the generation of NLRP3 inflammasome and IL-1 β , and crystals deposit in the arteries (Nguyen et al. 2019). Therefore, developing anti-inflammatory therapies or blocking the inflammasome pathway at the early phase is becoming an important approach to prevent the generation of plaque cholesterol crystals in the vasculature (Duewell et al. 2010; Nguyen et al. 2019). Among the synthetic chemicals, the statins, also known as HMG-CoA reductase inhibitors, are commonly administered to treat atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease by lowering the LDL cholesterol levels in the blood, participating in the immunological switch from a Th1 towards a Th2 cytokine profile (Nguyen et al. 2019). The anti-inflammatory effects of statins were formally tested in a trial named JUPITER (Justification for the Use of Statins in Prevention: An Intervention Trial Evaluating Rosuvastatin) (Mora and Ridker 2006; Nguyen et al. 2019). However, statins and similar molecules were implied to have a limited potential to control plaque inflammation, therefore the alternative anti-cytokine therapies have been widely preferred in both atherosclerosis and other cardiac therapeutic studies.

By using anti-cytokine therapy, blocking the inflammatory signaling pathways has become a novel method for cardioprotection. Among the inflammatory responses activated in cardiovascular diseases, IL-1 and IL-6 signaling pathways and their products have been widely studied in both basic research and clinical trials. At a metaanalysis, polymorphisms in the IL-6 pathway genes were associated with the lower levels of CRP and lower risk of vascular disorders (Sarwar et al. 2012). In atherothrombosis following lipid accumulation and plaque rupture, activated inflammatory pathways degenerate the vessel wall and neighbouring cardiac tissue. Hence, the inhibition of IL-1, TNF- α , and IL-6 cytokines may serve as a potent approach for atherothrombotic treatment and also prevention (Ridker and Lüscher 2014). In a mice model of Coxsackievirus B3 virus-related myocarditis, IL-6 receptor blockade via anti-IL-6 receptor antibody tocilizumab enhanced systolic and diastolic left ventricle (LV) function by decreasing cardiac inflammation, fibrosis, and titin protein abundance which was responsible for the stiffness of myocardium (Savvatis et al. 2014).

Selective targeting of pro-inflammatory pathways has been an option for improvement of the cardiac function in the post-MI heart. In this manner, CANTOS clinical trial used a specific neutralizing antibody, canakinumab, targeting the inflammatory cytokine IL-1ß of IL-1/IL-6 pathway on high-risk atherosclerotic patients with a history of MI (Ridker et al. 2018; DeBerge et al. 2019; Nguyen et al. 2019). The inhibition of IL-1 pathway at the early stages of inflammation has demonstrated the immunomodulatory actions in reducing recurrent cardiovascular events. In a phase III trial, the use of canakinumab has been shown to decrease the incidence of repetitive atherothrombotic event in chronic MI patients by lowering the inflammatory burden as all doses of canakinumab significantly lowered hsCRP in patients (Baylis et al. 2017; Ridker et al. 2017, 2018).

Similarly, in heart failure patients in the post-MI period, elevated pro-inflammatory cytokine levels in the serum and reduced HFrEF (Heart failure reduced ejection fraction) and HFpEF (Heart failure preserved ejection fraction) results indicated that the pro-inflammation may worsen the disease. In HFrEF patients, systemic levels of both IL-1 β and TNF- α were detected to increase 2–6 fold compared to control subjects, suggesting persistent inflammation in the body (DeBerge et al. 2019). Therefore, the blockade of IL-1 β with the therapeutic monoclonal antibody canakinumab can become a good option for decreasing the rate of recurrent cardiovascular events. Consistent with these, in both human and animal models, administration of the IL-1R antagonist anakinra limited adverse remodeling

and preserved LV systolic function after acute MI (DeBerge et al. 2019). Anakinra treatment of HFpEF patients weaken both systemic inflammation and disease symptoms, while a significant reduction of CRP levels in the plasma was detected (DeBerge et al. 2019).

The anti-inflammatory agents are certainly a valid therapeutic approach for the management of cardiovascular diseases. However, the balance between pro- and anti-inflammatory factors are critical for hemostasis. In cardiac diseases, the suppression of inflammation by the administration of synthetic anti-inflammatory drugs, such as NSAIDs (Non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs), for the long-term was associated with increased risk of cardiac arrhythmias and AF (Liu et al. 2014). In this context, approaches benefiting from the natural anti-inflammatory response, such as intravenous immunoglobulin and immunoadsorption as immune-modulation therapies, may have better outcomes for managing both local and systemic inflammation in cardiac disease patients (Gilardin et al. 2015). Consequently, targeting candidate pro-inflammatory the pathways in early cardiac events and providing the balance between pro- and anti-inflammatory events may pave the way for developing better therapeutic strategies.

6 Conclusion

The cross-talk and balance between cardiovascular and immune system can be influenced by numerous genetic, physical, and psychological stressors leading to the onset of inflammation and tissue damage. Sterile or infectious diseases in cardiac tissue may result in cardiomyocyte dysfunction and cardiac remodeling associated with systolic and diastolic abnormalities. In response to pathophysiological stress, the cardiac tissue undergoes the remodeling process via immune regulators, that incorporates the elimination of dying resident cells, remodeling of the vascular compartment, and formation of the fibrotic scar. Therefore, the roles of the innate and adaptive immune system in onset, progress, and treatment of cardiovascular disorders have continuously been investigated through both animal models and clinical trials.

Experimental animal models of cardiovascular disease studies have persistently reported that regardless of infection origin, innate immune system elements drive the initial pro-inflammatory response to overcome the tissue damage and later associated with wound healing and defense against pathogens. Then the adaptive immune system contributes to the immune reaction by generating antibodies or cellular responses. Interestingly, immune system was shown to be also important in regulating the electrical activity of the cardiac conduction system (Hulsmans et al. 2017). The cardiac resident macrophages, together with fibroblasts and endothelial cells, release cytokines that initiate an inflammatory cascade and recruit circulating leukocytes into the injured cardiac tissue. Apart from cardiac macrophages, other cardiac resident and recruited immune cells are involved in inflammation, revascularization, cardiomyocyte dedifferentiation, cardiac fibroblast conversion to myofibroblasts, and fibrotic scar generation. Hence, the immune system modalities have been associated with either as a causative risk factor or as a consequence of cardiac arrhythmia.

The diverse macrophage behaviors, including phenotypic M1-M2 switch, is driven by a complex network of stimuli and have been investigated for understanding their contribution to pathological remodeling following acute cardiac damage. Although a robust inflammatory response is essential to clear the tissue from damaged cells, the prolonged inflammatory response may be associated with severe prognosis. To overcome the excessive damage of pro-inflammatory response, well-designed agents are utilized and being developed in many clinical trials. The therapeutic agents are usually antibodies targeting pro-inflammatory cytokines aiming to neutralize, antagonize, or block the cytokine storm. A shift towards the antiinflammatory M2 response implicated better regeneration and healing in animal models and clinical trials. The field of macrophage polarization during cardiac disease is moving forward to shift the fate from M1 to M2 phenotypes by chemical or genetic manipulations, however,

safer methods using selective drugs may be the best option to overcome heart failures at early stages.

Based on the data summarized in this review article, there are several limitations with the reported literature. First, the reports classifying immune cell populations in the heart are largely dependent on single-cell sequencing analysis (Dick et al. 2019; Martini et al. 2019). Hence, further single-cell sequencing studies should be conducted to have a better and broader representation of the cellular phenotypes and investigate the emerging subpopulation with their physiological roles in disease pathogenesis and normal physiology. Moreover, the majority of the current reports in cardiac immunoelectrophysiology and single-cell studies were dependent on experimental animal models, and thus human relevance of these data await investigation for translating these findings to the clinical practice. Furthermore, disparities regarding gender differences, sex hormones, and immune dimorphism have been raised in cardiac diseases and immune responses (Bhatia et al. 2014), that need to be addressed in the future.

Acknowledgements Figures were created with BioRender. This work was supported by the Scientific and Technological Research Council of Turkey (TUBITAK) under Grant No: 218S841.

Conflict of Interest None.

Ethical Approval The authors declare that this article does not contain any studies with human participants or animals.

References

- Bajpai G, Schneider C, Wong N, Bredemeyer A, Hulsmans M, Nahrendorf M et al (2018) The human heart contains distinct macrophage subsets with divergent origins and functions. Nat Med 24(8):1234–1245. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41591-018-0059-x
- Barin JG, Rose NR, Ciháková D (2012) Macrophage diversity in cardiac inflammation: a review. Immunobiology 217(5):468–475. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.imbio.2011.06.009
- Baylis RA, Gomez D, Mallat Z, Pasterkamp G, Owens GK (2017) The CANTOS trial: one important step for

clinical cardiology but a Giant leap for vascular biology. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 37(11):e174– e177. https://doi.org/10.1161/ATVBAHA.117.310097

- Bhatia A, Sekhon HK, Kaur G (2014) Sex hormones and immune dimorphism. Sci World J 2014:159150. https://doi.org/10.1155/2014/159150
- Bonney KM, Engman DM (2015) Autoimmune pathogenesis of Chagas heart disease: looking back, looking ahead. Am J Pathol 185(6):1537–1547. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.ajpath.2014.12.023
- Cao DJ, Schiattarella GG, Villalobos E et al (2018) Cytosolic DNA sensing promotes macrophage transformation and governs myocardial ischemic injury. Circulation 137(24):2613–2634. https://doi.org/10. 1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.117.031046
- Chistiakov DA, Melnichenko AA, Myasoedova VA, Grechko AV, Orekhov AN (2017) Mechanisms of foam cell formation in atherosclerosis. J Mol Med (Berl) 95(11):1153–1165. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s00109-017-1575-8
- Cozlea DL, Farcas DM, Nagy A, Keresztesi AA, Tifrea R, Cozlea L, Caraşca E (2013) The impact of C reactive protein on global cardiovascular risk on patients with coronary artery disease. Curr Health Sci J 39 (4):225–231
- Dababneh E, Siddique MS (2020) Pericarditis. [Updated 2019 Apr 9]. In: StatPearls [Internet]. Treasure Island (FL): StatPearls Publishing; 2020 Jan. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK431080/
- Davis MJ, Tsang TM, Qiu Y, Dayrit JK, Freij JB, Huffnagle GB, Olszewski MA (2013) Macrophage M1/M2 polarization dynamically adapts to changes in cytokine microenvironments in Cryptococcus neoformans infection. MBio 4(3):e00264–e00213. https://doi.org/10.1128/mBio.00264-13
- DeBerge M, Shah SJ, Wilsbacher L, Thorp E (2019) Macrophages in heart failure with reduced versus preserved ejection fraction trends in molecular medicine. Trends Mol Med 25(4):328–340. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.molmed.2019.01.002
- Devaraj S, Jialal I (2011) C-reactive protein polarizes human macrophages to an M1 phenotype and inhibits transformation to the M2 phenotype. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 31(6):1397–1402. https://doi.org/ 10.1161/ATVBAHA.111.225508
- Dick SA, Epelman S (2016) Chronic heart failure and inflammation: what do we really know? Circ Res 119 (1):159–176. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCRESAHA. 116.308030
- Dick SA, Macklin JA, Nejat S, Momen A, Clemente-Casares X, Althagafi MG, Chen J, Kantores C et al (2019) Self-renewing resident cardiac macrophages limit adverse remodeling following myocardial infarction. Nat Immunol 20(1):29–39. https://doi.org/10. 1038/s41590-018-0272-2
- Duewell P, Kono H, Rayner KJ, Sirois CM, Vladimer G, Bauernfeind FG, Abela GS, Franchi L et al (2010) NLRP3 inflammasomes are required for atherogenesis and activated by cholesterol crystals. Nature 464

(7293):1357–1361. nature08938

https://doi.org/10.1038/

- Epelman S, Liu PP, Mann DL (2015) Role of innate and adaptive immune mechanisms in cardiac injury and repair. Nat Rev Immunol 15(2):117–129. https://doi. org/10.1038/nri3800
- Fairweather D, Frisancho-Kiss S, Gatewood S, Njoku D, Steele R, Barrett M, Rose NR (2004) Mast cells and innate cytokines are associated with susceptibility to autoimmune heart disease following coxsackievirus B3 infection. Autoimmunity 37:131–145. https://doi. org/10.1080/0891693042000196200
- Fantin A, Vieira JM, Gestri G et al (2010) Tissue macrophages act as cellular chaperones for vascular anastomosis downstream of VEGF- mediated endothelial tip cell induction. Blood 116:829–840. https://doi. org/10.1182/blood-2009-12-257832
- Fioranelli M, Bottaccioli AG, Bottaccioli F, Bianchi M, Rovesti M, Roccia MG (2018) Stress and inflammation in coronary artery disease: a review Psychoneuroendocrineimmunology-based. Front Immunol 9:2031. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2018. 02031
- Fontes MS, van Veen TA, de Bakker JM, van Rijen HV (2012) Functional consequences of abnormal Cx43 expression in the heart. Biochim Biophys Acta 1818 (8):2020–2029. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbamem. 2011.07.039
- Forte WC, Mario AC, da Costa A, Henriques LS, Gonzales CL, Franken RA (2001) Immunologic evaluation in infective endocarditis. Arq Bras Cardiol 76 (1):43–52. https://doi.org/10.1590/s0066-782x2001000100005
- Gaaloul I, Riabi S, Harrath R, Hunter T, Hamda KB, Ghzala AB, Huber S, Aouni M (2014) Coxsackievirus B detection in cases of myocarditis, myopericarditis, pericarditis and dilated cardiomyopathy in hospitalized patients. Mol Med Rep 10(6):2811–2818. https://doi. org/10.3892/mmr.2014.2578
- George SA, Calhoun PJ, Gourdie RG, Smyth JW, Poelzing S (2017) TNFα modulates cardiac conduction by altering electrical coupling between myocytes. Front Physiol 8:334. https://doi.org/10.3389/fphys. 2017.00334
- Gilardin L, Bayry J, Kaveri SV (2015) Intravenous immunoglobulin as clinical immune-modulating therapy. Can Med Assoc J 187(4):257–264. https://doi.org/10. 1503/cmaj.130375
- Gomez I, Duval V, Silvestre JS (2018) Cardiomyocytes and macrophages discourse on the method to govern cardiac repair. Front Cardiovasc Med 5:134. https:// doi.org/10.3389/fcvm.2018.00134
- Guilherme L, Kalil J (2010) Rheumatic fever and rheumatic heart disease: cellular mechanisms leading autoimmune reactivity and disease. J Clin Immunol 30:17–23. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10875-009-9332-6
- Guilherme L, Kalil J (2015) Rheumatic fever: how streptococcal throat infection triggers an autoimmune disease. In: Infection and autoimmunity, 2nd edn, pp

479-493. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-444-63269-2.00029-5

- Guilherme L, Kalil J, Cunningham M (2006) Molecular mimicry in the autoimmune pathogenesis of rheumatic heart disease. Autoimmunity 39(1):31–39
- Guilherme L, Köhler KF, Kalil J (2012) Rheumatic heart disease: genes, inflammation and autoimmunity. Rheumatol Curr Res S4:001. https://doi.org/10.4172/ 2161-1149.S4-001
- Hajar R (2017) Risk factors for coronary artery disease: historical perspectives. Heart Views 18(3):109–114. http://www.heartviews.org/text.asp?2017/18/3/109/ 217850
- Harada M, Van Wagoner DR, Nattel S (2015) Role of inflammation in atrial fibrillation pathophysiology and management. Circ J 79(3):495–502. https://doi. org/10.1253/circj.CJ-15-0138
- Hofbauer TM, Mangold A, Scherz T et al (2019) Neutrophil extracellular traps and fibrocytes in ST-segment elevation myocardial infarction. Basic Res Cardiol 114:33. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00395-019-0740-3
- Huang LH, Lavine KJ, Randolph GJ (2017) Cardiac lymphatic vessels, transport, and healing of the infarcted heart. JACC Basic Transl Sci 2(4):477–483. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.jacbts.2017.02.005
- Hulsmans M, Sam F, Nahrendorf M (2016) Monocyte and macrophage contributions to cardiac remodeling. J Mol Cell Cardiol 93:149–155. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.yjmcc.2015.11.015
- Hulsmans M, Clauss S, Xiao L, Aguirre AD, King KR, Hanley A, Hucker WJ et al (2017) Macrophages facilitate electrical conduction in the heart. Cell 169 (3):510–522.e20. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2017. 03.050
- Hussein AA, Gottdiener JS, Bartz TM, Sotoodehnia N, DeFilippi C, See V, Deo R, Siscovick D, Stein PK, Lloyd-Jones D (2013) Inflammation and sudden cardiac death in a community-based population of older adults: the Cardiovascular Health Study. Heart Rhythm 10(10):1425–1432. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.hrthm. 2013.07.004
- Imazio M, Brucato A, Maestroni S et al (2011) Prevalence of C-reactive protein elevation and time course of normalization in acute pericarditis: implications for the diagnosis, therapy, and prognosis of pericarditis. Circulation 123(10):1092–1097. https://doi.org/10. 1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.110.986372
- Janicki JS, Brower GL, Levick SP (2015) The emerging prominence of the cardiac mast cell as a potent mediator of adverse myocardial remodeling. Methods Mol Biol 1220:121–139. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4939-1568-2_8
- Karatolios K, Pankuweit S, Richter A, Ruppert V, Maisch B (2016) Anticardiac antibodies in patients with chronic pericardial effusion. Dis Markers 9262741. https://doi.org/10.1155/2016/9262741
- Kaur K, Jalife J (2017) Is TGF-β1 (transforming growth factor-β1) an enabler of Myofibroblast-cardiomyocyte cross talk? Circ Arrhythm Electrophysiol 10(5):

e005289. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCEP.117. 005289

- Kouvas N, Kontogiannis C, Georgiopoulos G et al (2018) The complex crosstalk between inflammatory cytokines and ventricular arrhythmias. Cytokine 111:171–177. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cyto.2018.08.007
- Krause PJ, Bockenstedt LK (2013) Cardiology patient pages. Lyme disease and the heart. Circulation 127 (7):e451–e454. https://doi.org/10.1161/ CIRCULATIONAHA.112.101485
- Lavine KJ, Pinto AR, Epelman S et al (2018) The macrophage in cardiac homeostasis and disease: JACC macrophage in CVD series (part 4). J Am Coll Cardiol 72 (18):2213–2230. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jacc.2018. 08.2149
- Lazzerini PE, Capecchi PL, Laghi-Pasini F (2015) Long QT syndrome: an emerging role for inflammation and immunity. Front Cardiovasc Med 2:26. https://doi.org/ 10.3389/fcvm.2015.00026
- Lazzerini PE, Capecchi PL, Laghi-Pasini F, Boutjdir M (2017) Autoimmune channelopathies as a novel mechanism in cardiac arrhythmias. Nat Rev Cardiol 14 (9):521–535. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrcardio.2017.61
- Leid J, Carrelha J, Boukarabila H, Epelman S, Jacobsen SE, Lavine KJ (2016) Primitive embryonic macrophages are required for coronary development and maturation. Circ Res 118:1498–1511. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.115.308270
- Levick SP, Widiapradja A (2018) Mast cells: key contributors to cardiac fibrosis. Int J Mol Sci 19 (1):231. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms19010231
- Levick SP, Meléndez GC, Plante E, McLarty JL, Brower GL, Janicki JS (2011) Cardiac mast cells: the centrepiece in adverse myocardial remodelling. Cardiovasc Res 89(1):12–19. https://doi.org/10.1093/ cvr/cvq272
- Li W, Hsiao HM, Higashikubo R, Saunders BT, Bharat A, Goldstein DR, Krupnick AS, Gelman AE, Lavine KJ, Kreisel D (2016) Heart-resident CCR2+ macrophages promote neutrophil extravasation through TLR9/ MyD88/CXCL5 signaling. JCI Insight 1(12):e87315. https://doi.org/10.1172/jci.insight.87315
- Linton MRF, Yancey PG, Davies SS, et al (2000) The role of lipids and lipoproteins in atherosclerosis. [Updated 2019 Jan 3]. In: Feingold KR, Anawalt B, Boyce A, et al (eds). Endotext [Internet]. South Dartmouth (MA): MDText.com, Inc. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih. gov/books/NBK343489/
- Liu G, Yan YP, Zheng XX et al (2014) Meta-analysis of nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drug use and risk of atrial fibrillation. Am J Cardiol 114(10):1523–1529. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amjcard.2014.08.015
- Lubos E, Handy DE, Loscalzo J (2008) Role of oxidative stress and nitric oxide in atherothrombosis. Front Biosci 13:5323–5344. https://doi.org/10.2741/3084
- Ma Y, Mouton AJ, Lindsey ML (2018) Cardiac macrophage biology in the steady-state heart, the aging heart, and following myocardial infarction. Transl Res 191:15–28. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trsl.2017.10.001

- Machado FS, Tanowitz HB, Ribeiro AL (2013) Pathogenesis of chagas cardiomyopathy: role of inflammation and oxidative stress. J Am Heart Assoc 2(5):e000539. https://doi.org/10.1161/JAHA.113.000539
- Marchio P, Guerra-Ojeda S, Vila JM, Aldasoro M, Victor VM, Mauricio MD (2019) Targeting early atherosclerosis: a focus on oxidative stress and inflammation. Oxidative Med Cell Longev 2019:8563845. https:// doi.org/10.1155/2019/8563845
- Martini E, Kunderfranco P, Peano C et al (2019) Singlecell sequencing of mouse heart immune infiltrate in pressure overload-driven heart failure reveals extent of immune activation. Circulation 140 (25):2089–2107. https://doi.org/10.1161/ CIRCULATIONAHA.119.041694
- Mayorga M, Kiedrowski M, Shamhart P, Forudi F, Weber K, Chilian WM, Penn MS, Dong F (2016) Early upregulation of myocardial CXCR4 expression is critical for dimethyloxalylglycine-induced cardiac improvement in acute myocardial infarction. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 310(1):H20–H28. https:// doi.org/10.1152/ajpheart.00449.2015
- Mayosi BM, Burgess LJ, Doubell AF (2005) Tuberculous pericarditis. Circulation 112(23):3608–3616. https:// doi.org/10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.105.543066
- Moore KJ, Sheedy FJ, Fisher EA (2013) Macrophages in atherosclerosis: a dynamic balance. Nature reviews. Immunology 13(10):709–721. https://doi.org/10. 1038/nri3520
- Mora S, Ridker PM (2006) Justification for the Use of Statins in Primary Prevention: an Intervention Trial Evaluating Rosuvastatin (JUPITER)-can C-reactive protein be used to target statin therapy in primary prevention? Am J Cardiol 97(2A):33A–41A. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.amjcard.2005.11.014
- Murillo H, Restrepo CS, Marmol-Velez JA, Vargas D, Ocazionez D, Martinez-Jimenez S, Reddick RL, Baxi AJ (2016) Infectious diseases of the heart: pathophysiology. Clin Imaging Overv. https://doi.org/10.1148/rg. 2016150225
- Murray PJ, Allen JE, Biswas SK, Fisher EA, Gilroy DW, Goerdt S et al (2014) Macrophage activation and polarization: nomenclature and experimental guidelines. Immunity 41(1):14–20. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. immuni.2014.06.008
- Nehring SM, Goyal A, Bansal P, et al (2020) C Reactive Protein (CRP) [Updated 2020 Mar 13]. In: StatPearls [Internet]. Treasure Island (FL): StatPearls Publishing; 2020 Jan. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih. gov/books/NBK441843/
- Ngkelo A, Richart A, Kirk JA, Bonnin P, Vilar J, Lemitre M, Marck P et al (2016) Mast cells regulate myofilament calcium sensitization and heart function after myocardial infarction. J Exp Med 213:1353–1374. https://doi.org/10.1084/jem. 20160081
- Nguyen MT, Fernando S, Schwarz N, Tan JT, Bursill CA, Psaltis PJ (2019) Inflammation as a therapeutic target

in atherosclerosis. J Clin Med 8(8):1109. https://doi. org/10.3390/jcm8081109

- Papathanasiou S, Rickelt S, Soriano ME et al (2015) Tumor necrosis factor-α confers cardioprotection through ectopic expression of keratins K8 and K18. Nat Med 21(9):1076–1084. https://doi.org/10.1038/ nm.3925
- Pearson TA, Mensah GA, Alexander RW et al (2003) Markers of inflammation and cardiovascular disease: application to clinical and public health practice: a statement for healthcare professionals from the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention and the American Heart Association. Circulation 107(3):499–511. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.cir.0000052939.59093.45
- Peet C, Ivetic A, Bromage DI, Shah AM (2020) Cardiac monocytes and macrophages after myocardial infarction. Cardiovasc Res:cvz336. https://doi.org/10.1093/ cvr/cvz336
- Prabhu SD, Frangogiannis NG (2016) The biological basis for cardiac repair after myocardial infarction: from inflammation to fibrosis. Circ Res 119:91–112. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.116.303577
- Puhl SL, Steffens S (2019) Neutrophils in post-myocardial infarction inflammation: damage vs. resolution? Front Cardiovasc Med 6:25. https://doi.org/10.3389/fcvm. 2019.00025
- Ramasamy V, Mayosi BM, Sturrock ED, Ntsekhe M (2018) Established and novel pathophysiological mechanisms of pericardial injury and constrictive pericarditis. World J Cardiol 10(9):87–96. https://doi.org/ 10.4330/wjc.v10.i9.87
- Ramos GC, van den Berg A, Nunes-Silva V, Weirather, et al. (2017) Myocardial aging as a T-cell-mediated phenomenon. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 114(12): E2420–E2429. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas. 1621047114
- Reber LL, Sibilano R, Mukai K, Ga lli SJ. (2015) Potential effector and immunoregulatory functions of mast cells in mucosal immunity. Mucosal Immunol 8 (3):444–463. https://doi.org/10.1038/mi.2014.131
- Ridker PM, Lüscher TF (2014) Anti-inflammatory therapies for cardiovascular disease. Eur Heart J 35 (27):1782–1791. https://doi.org/10.1093/eurheartj/ ehu203
- Ridker PM, Everett BM, Thuren T, MacFadyen JG, Chang WH et al (2017) CANTOS Trial Group, Antiinflammatory therapy with Canakinumab for atherosclerotic disease. N Engl J Med 377:1119–1131. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa1707914
- Ridker PM, MacFadyen JG, Everett BM, Libby P, Thuren T, Glynn RJ (2018) Relationship of C-reactive protein reduction to cardiovascular event reduction following treatment with canakinumab: a secondary analysis from the CANTOS randomised controlled trial. Lancet 391:319–328. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/S0140-6736(17)32814-3
- Rubio PEA, Molina RB, Ávila PEA, Mora AG, López CAG (2019) Infective endocarditis: inflammatory response, genetic susceptibility, oxidative stress, and

multiple organ failure. Infective endocarditis. Access date: 13.05.2020. https://doi.org/10.5772/intechopen. 84908

- Rudolph V, Andrié RP, Rudolph TK et al (2010) Myeloperoxidase acts as a profibrotic mediator of atrial fibrillation. Nat Med 16(4):470–474. https://doi.org/ 10.1038/nm.2124
- Sarwar N, Butterworth AS, Freitag DF, Gregson J, Willeit P et al (2012) Interleukin-6 receptor pathways in coronary heart disease: a collaborative meta-analysis of 82 studies. Lancet 2379(9822):1205–1213. https:// doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(11)61931-4
- Savvatis K, Muller I, Frohlich M, Pappritz K, Zietsch C, Hamdani N et al (2014) Interleukin-6 receptor inhibition modulates the immune reaction and restores titin phosphorylation in experimental myocarditis. Basic Res Cardiol 109:449. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00395-014-0449-2
- Saxena A, Bujak M, Frunza O, Dobaczewski M, Gonzalez-Quesada C, Lu B et al (2014) CXCR3independent actions of the CXC chemokine CXCL10 in the infarcted myocardium and in isolated cardiac fibroblasts are mediated through proteoglycans. Cardiovasc Res 103:217–227. https://doi.org/10. 1093/cvr/cvu138
- Segers D, Lipton JA, Leenen PJ, Cheng C, Tempel D, Pasterkamp G, Moll FL, de Crom R, Krams R (2011) Atherosclerotic plaque stability is affected by the chemokine CXCL10 in both mice and humans. Int J Inflamm:936109. https://doi.org/10.4061/2011/ 936109
- Shiraishi M, Shintani Y, Shintani Y, Ishida H, Saba R, Yamaguchi A et al (2016) Alternatively activated macrophages determine repair of the infarcted adult murine heart. J Clin Investig 126:2151–2166. https:// doi.org/10.1172/JCI85782
- Shrivastava AK, Singh HV, Raizada A, Singh SK (2015) C-reactive protein, inflammation and coronary heart disease. Egypt Heart J 67:89–97. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.ehj.2014.11.005
- Smorodinova N, Bláha M, Melenovský V et al (2017) Analysis of immune cell populations in atrial myocardium of patients with atrial fibrillation or sinus rhythm. PLoS One 12(2):e0172691. https://doi.org/10.1371/ journal.pone.0172691
- Sun Z, Zhou D, Xie X et al (2016) Cross-talk between macrophages and atrial myocytes in atrial fibrillation. Basic Res Cardiol 111(6):63. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s00395-016-0584-z
- Swirski FK, Nahrendorf M (2018) Cardioimmunology: the immune system in cardiac homeostasis and disease. Nat Rev Immunol 18(12):733–744. https://doi.org/10. 1038/s41577-018-0065-8
- Szentes V, Gazdag M, Szokodi I, Dézsi CA (2018) The role of CXCR3 and associated chemokines in the development of atherosclerosis and during myocardial infarction. Front Immunol 9:1932. https://doi.org/10. 3389/fimmu.2018.01932

- Tan HY, Wang N, Li S, Hong M, Wang X, Feng Y (2016) The reactive oxygen species in macrophage polarization: reflecting its dual role in progression and treatment of human diseases. Oxidative Med Cell Longev 2016:2795090. https://doi.org/10.1155/2016/2795090
- Tsai CT, Wu CK, Lee JK et al (2015) TNF-α downregulates sarcoplasmic reticulum Ca²⁺ ATPase expression and leads to left ventricular diastolic dysfunction through binding of NF-κB to promoter response element. Cardiovasc Res 105(3):318–329. https://doi.org/ 10.1093/cvr/cvv008
- Van Linthout S, Tschöpe C (2017) Inflammation cause or consequence of heart failure or both? Curr Heart Fail Rep 14(4):251–265. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11897-017-0337-9
- Warnatsch A, Ioannou M, Wang Q, Papayannopoulos V (2015) Inflammation. Neutrophil extracellular traps license macrophages for cytokine production in atherosclerosis. Science 349:316–320. https://doi.org/10. 1126/science.aaa8064
- Weil BR, Neelamegham S (2019) Selectins and immune cells in acute myocardial infarction and post-infarction ventricular remodeling: pathophysiology and novel treatments. Front Immunol 10:300. https://doi.org/10. 3389/fimmu.2019.00300
- Widhe M, Jarefors S, Ekerfelt C et al (2004) Borreliaspecific interferon-gamma and interleukin-4 secretion in cerebrospinal fluid and blood during Lyme borreliosis in humans: association with clinical outcome. J Infect Dis 189(10):1881–1891. https://doi. org/10.1086/382893
- Yang KC, Kyle JW, Makielski JC, Dudley SC Jr (2015) Mechanisms of sudden cardiac death: oxidants and metabolism. Circ Res 116(12):1937–1955. https://doi. org/10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.116.304691
- You L, Wang P, Lv J, Cianflone K, Wang D, Zhao C (2010) The role of high-sensitivity C-reactive protein, interleukin-6 and cystatin C in ischemic stroke complicating atrial fibrillation. J Huazhong Univ Sci Technolog Med Sci 30(5):648–651. https://doi.org/10. 1007/s11596-010-0558-6
- Yousuf O, Mohanty BD, Martin SS, Joshi PH, Blaha MJ, Nasir K, Blumenthal RS, Budoff MJ (2013) Highsensitivity C-reactive protein and cardiovascular disease: a resolute belief or an elusive link? J Am Coll Cardiol 62(5):397–408. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jacc. 2013.05.016
- Zhang Q, Deng Y, Lai W, Guan X, Sun X, Han Q, Wang F et al (2016) Maternal inflammation activated ROS-p38 MAPK predisposes offspring to heart damages caused by isoproterenol via augmenting ROS generation. Sci Rep 6:30146. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep30146
- Zhang HF, Wang YL, Tan YZ, Wang HJ, Tao P, Zhou P (2019) Enhancement of cardiac lymphangiogenesis by transplantation of CD34+VEGFR-3+ endothelial progenitor cells and sustained release of VEGF-C. Basic Res Cardiol 114(6):43. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s00395-019-0752-z



Conventional and Alternative Mesenchymal Stem Cell Therapies for the Treatment of Diabetes

Lubna Rifai and Fatima A. Saleh

Abstract

Diabetes is a public health problem affecting millions of people around the world. Despite availability antidiabetic the of many medications, the adequate level of control of the disease and management of diabetic patients remain a huge challenge. Because of the limitations of current therapies and the tremendous potential of non-conventional treatments such as stem cell therapy, herein, we review the applications of mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) in treating diabetes. Owing to their unique regenerative and immunomodulatory properties, MSCs have been widely utilized in numerous applications both in animal models and human clinical trials for the treatment of diabetes. This review will summarize the latest experimental and clinical studies that have provided evidence of the beneficial role of MSCs in diabetes treatment.

Keywords

Clinical trials · Diabetes · Mesenchymal stem cell · Pharmacological · Treatment

L. Rifai

F. A. Saleh (🖂)

Abbreviations

AHEAD	Action for Health in Diabetes
DPP	Diabetes Prevention Program
EMA	European Medicines Agency
GLP-1	Glucagon-Like Peptide 1
GvHD	Graft Versus Host Disease
HbA1c	Hemoglobin A1c
IDF	International Diabetes Federation
IPCs	Insulin-producing cells
MMTT	Mixed-meal tolerance test
MSC	Mesenchymal stem cell
NIH	National Institutes of Health
NOD	Non-obese diabetic
PPARs	Peroxisome proliferator-activated
	receptors
SGLT2	Sodium glucose co transporter 2
STZ	Streptozotocin
T1D	Type 1 diabetes
T2D	Type 2 diabetes
TZD	Thiazolidinediones
WHO	World Health Organization

1 Introduction

1.1 Diabetes: A Global Epidemic

Diabetes is a serious public health problem that has been recognized by many health organizations including the WHO as a global epidemic (Bassett 2005). It is a chronic, degenerative pancreatic

Department of Nutrition & Dietetics, Faculty of Health Sciences, Beirut Arab University, Beirut, Lebanon

Department of Medical Laboratory Sciences, Faculty of Health Sciences, Beirut Arab University, Beirut, Lebanon e-mail: f.saleh@bau.edu.lb

disease characterized by elevated blood sugar levels and glucose intolerance (Ribeiro et al. 2010). This metabolic disorder results from defects in insulin secretion, or insulin action, or a combination of both (Olokoba et al. 2012). Millions of people around the world are affected by diabetes and are either unaware of the condition or not receiving the appropriate treatment (Boles et al. 2017). The severity of diabetes is determined based on the degree of hyperglycaemia. Chronic hyperglycaemia associated with uncontrolled diabetes may, over time, lead to serious health damage such as heart diseases and long term damage to the eyes (Retinopathy), kidneys (Nephropathy) and nerves (Neuropathy) (Reddy 2017). Feet ulcers, infections, and gangrene are also experienced in diabetic patients (Reddy 2017). In addihypertension, hyperlipidemia, negative tion, nitrogen balance and sometimes ketonuria are often associated with diabetes (Reddy 2017). Prevention of this endocrine disorder and its complications is a major challenge to attain health for all (Wareham and Herman 2016).

Multiple forms of diabetes have been recognized including type 1 and type 2 diabetes (Deepthi et al. 2017). Type 1 diabetes (T1D) is generally an autoimmune disorder caused by absolute insulin deficiency where, the pancreas is not able to produce enough insulin or does not produce insulin at all (Deepthi et al. 2017). The virtual absence of insulin requires patients' dependence on insulin injections to regulate glucose levels in the blood and sustain life and that is why it is also known as insulin-dependent diabetes (Deepthi et al. 2017). It can occur at any age but it is most prevalent among children and young adults under 30 years old (previously known as juvenile or childhood-onset) who have genetic predisposition to develop pancreatic β cell failure (Boles et al. 2017). On the other hand, type 2 diabetes (T2D), is more prevalent than other types of diabetes and accounts for 90-95% of diabetes cases (Fox et al. 2015). It is primarily the result of progressive impairment of glucose regulation because the insulin secreted by the pancreas is not utilized properly by the body (Deepthi et al. 2017). Insulin resistance and insulin deficiency are caused by higher-than-normal blood sugar levels (Calonge et al. 2008; Deepthi et al. 2017). T2D can occur at any age if there are risk factors like obesity, family history and physical inactivity; however, it is most commonly diagnosed in people over 40 years old (known as adult onset diabetes) (Boles et al. 2017). The symptoms are often less recognized or absent until complications arise when the disease has been undiagnosed for many years (Deepthi et al. 2017).

1.2 Diabetes Status

Diabetes is a critical health issue whose prevalence is steadily increasing around the globe (Wild et al. 2004). In 2000, there were 151 million adults living with diabetes worldwide. By 2011, the number of adults with diabetes increased by 142% to around 366 million (Fig. 1). According to the International Diabetes Federation (IDF), people between 20-79 years reported to have diabetes have reached a staggering 463 million representing 9.3% of the global adult population, with half of them are unaware that they suffer from the condition and therefore are at a higher risk of developing serious associated complications leading to 4.2 million deaths in 2019 (IDF Diabetes Atlas 9th edition 2019). Thus, in the past 20 years, diabetic cases have more than tripled among adults. As the population is aging and the rates of obesity are increasing, it is projected that by 2030 the number of adults living with diabetes will increase to 578 million (10.2%) and jump to a staggering 700 million (10.9%) by 2045 if no urgent actions are taken (Saeedi et al. 2019).

It is worth mentioning that high-income countries have the highest prevalence of adult diabetes (10.4%), followed by 9.5% in middle-income countries and 4% in low-income countries as classified by the World Bank Income group (Saeedi et al. 2019). Moreover, diabetes prevalence has been reported to be higher in urban areas (10.8%) than in rural areas (7.2%); although, this gap is narrowing due to urbanization of rural areas (IDF Diabetes Atlas 9th edition 2019). All the data indicates that the incidence of the disease will continue to increase due to rapid economic development, urbanization and a very



Fig. 1 Total number of adults (in millions) living with diabetes per year from 2000 to 2019

sedentary lifestyle and as long as preventive and control programmes are not effectively followed (King et al. 1998; Nanditha et al. 2016). Thus, all this requires a multisectoral approach to tackle the escalating epidemic (Meng et al. 2019).

2 Non-pharmacological Interventions

Despite the numerous efforts made to control and limit the outspread of diabetes, its high morbidity and mortality rates pose a serious threat which needs to be addressed cautiously (Peng et al. 2018). Diabetes cannot be cured, yet it can be managed with lifestyle modifications at the forefront of the fight against this epidemic especially in T2D.

In the Diabetes Prevention Program (DPP) Randomized Trial that was launched by the National Institutes of Health (NIH) in 1996, the effect of a lifestyle-intervention program through dietary modification and increased physical activity of moderate intensity was investigated in individuals at high risk of developing T2D (DPP Research Group 2002). Results after 2.6 years

follow-up showed that the lifestyle modifications were highly effective in delaying or preventing T2D with 58% reduction in its incidence as compared to the placebo group. Astonishingly, these lifestyle changes were significantly more effective than treatment with the anti-hyperglycemic agent, metformin (Knowler et al. 2002). Findings also revealed that after 10 years of follow-up since DPP randomization, diabetes incidence remained lower in the lifestyle group (34%) and in the metformin group (18%) as compared with placebo (DPP Research Group 2009). Another NIH-funded Look AHEAD (Action for Health in Diabetes) trial conducted in T2D patients showed improved hemoglobin A1c (HbA1c) levels and reduced need for anti-diabetic drugs in the intensive lifestyle intervention group compared with Diabetes Support and Education group (Espeland et al. 2007; Wing et al. 2013).

Yet, sometimes lifestyle modifications are not enough and pharmaceutical interventions are recommended to control hyperglycaemia and prevent disease progression and complications (Solis et al. 2019). The type of diabetes along with its degree of severity affects the type of treatment prescribed (Solis et al. 2019).

3 Pharmacological Diabetes Treatment Options

Several types of oral hypoglycaemic agents have been used in the treatment of T2D. The first line of treatment in patients with T2D is the biguanide, metformin, which was FDA approved in 1994 (Lipska 2017). It improves insulin sensitivity, enhances the ability of peripheral cells to take in glucose, reduces the production of glucose by the liver and aids in weight loss by suppressing appetite (Giannarelli et al. 2003). Some patients may suffer from abdominal bloating, nausea, vomiting and diarrhoea (Siavash et al. 2017). Moreover; patients with kidney problems or heart diseases are advised to be cautious because metformin is thought to increase the risk of developing lactic acidosis (Lipska 2017). However, a review of trials conducted by Salpeter and colleagues showed no evidence of fatal or nonfatal lactic acidosis in subjects on metformin compared to placebo or non-metformin treatment (Salpeter et al. 2010).

The second line of treatment in patients with T2D is sulfonylureas which can be taken as firstline monotherapy if the patient in not overweight or if metformin is intolerable. It can also be given with metformin if glycaemic control is inadequate (Sola et al. 2015). These hypoglycaemic agents are insulin secretagogues that work by stimulating the pancreatic cells to secrete insulin (Sola et al. 2015). They also enhance insulin effectiveness in the body. Sulfonylureas cannot be prescribed to T1D patients who are not able to produce insulin or patients who have had pancreatectomy (Sola et al. 2015). Glinides are another class of oral hypoglycaemic drugs that have similar mechanism of action to sulfonylureas. Both sulfonylureas and glinides have hypoglycaemia as the most common adverse effect (Tran et al. 2015; Keegan 2018).

Thiazolidinediones (TZD) are oral antidiabetic agents that work by increasing insulin sensitivity through its action on peroxisome proliferatoractivated receptors (PPARs) (Bailey 2007). Currently, two TZD drugs (Rosiglitazone and pioglitazone) are available in the United States; however, in 2010, rosiglitazone was suspended by the European Medicines Agency (EMA) as the overall risks outweighed its benefits and FDA decided to restrict its use due to increased risk of cardiovascular events (Bourg and Phillips 2012; Pouwels and Van Grootheest 2012). Additionally, in 2011, pioglitazone was suspended by French and Germany Medicines Agencies due to potential increased risk of bladder cancer (Tang et al. 2018).

Alpha-glucosidase inhibitors (acarbose, miglitol and voglibose) are another class of antidiabetic drugs that inhibit the enzymes responsible for breaking down carbohydrates; thus, decreasing their absorption and digestion and subsequently reducing hyperglycaemia (Laar 2008).

Sodium glucose co transporter 2 (SGLT2) inhibitors are also promising oral antihyperglycaemic agents that have been developed for the treatment of T2D. They work by reducing blood glucose through inhibition of the glucose reabsorption at the proximal tubule of the kidneys (Simes and Mac Gregor 2019). Examples include canagliflozin and dapagliflozin which have been FDA-approved since 2013. Glycosuria and natriuresis initiated by the inhibition of glucose reabsorption result in modest improvement in weight and blood pressure (Gallo et al. 2015).

Glucagon-Like Peptide 1 (GLP-1) Receptor Agonists, referred to as incretin mimetics, represent another class of pharmacologic treatment for adults with T2D (Hinnen 2017). Incretin hormones, like GLP-1, stimulate insulin secretion and decrease that of glucagon after an oral glucose load. In T2D, this process is reduced and thus insulin release is decreased (Collins and Costello 2020). Therefore, GLP-1 receptor agonists (e.g. exenatide, liraglutide, lixisenatide, dulaglutide) can be prescribed to increase the action of GLP-1 and thereby enhance insulin response (Hinnen 2017). In vivo, GLP-1 is inactivated by the hormone dipeptidyl peptidase-4 (DPP-4). So, DPP-4 inhibitors can also be given to increase insulin secretion by inhibiting the enzymatic degradation of the incretin hormone, GLP-1, thereby increasing postprandial GLP-1 activity (Collins and Costello 2020).

In addition to lifestyle modifications and oral hypoglycaemic agents and because of the progressive nature of diabetes, most of the patients with T2D might require insulin replacement therapy to maintain satisfactory blood glucose levels and attain treatment goals (Blonde et al. 2009). However, hypoglycaemia is again a major common side effect of insulin treatment (McCall 2012).

4 Alternative Diabetes Therapies

Although exogenous hypoglycaemic agents and therapeutic insulin provide control over blood glucose and may prevent complications; none of these strategies are able to mimic the natural activity of endogenous insulin especially in T1D patients who are fully insulin-dependent. Moreover, despite the advances made in pharmacology, these antidiabetic drugs are not without significant adverse effects as shown above (Fonseca and Haggar 2014; Peng et al. 2018). Therefore, there is an urgent need for non-conventional therapies that are safe and effective in combatting diabetes. In particular, stem cell-based therapy holds an immense promise as an alternative possible approach to treat diabetes and alleviate its complications.

Mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) are at the forefront being the most attractive type of adult stem cells under investigation to tackle diabetes. MSCs have been highlighted because of their self-renewal capacity, multipotentiality, low antigenicity, homing ability, reduced toxicity, and ease of culture and expansion *in vitro* (Chen et al. 2007). Moreover, they are abundant and can be easily isolated from different tissues including bone marrow (BM), adipose tissue (AD), umbilical cord (UC), placenta and dental pulp (Orbay et al. 2012).

4.1 Preclinical Applications of Mesenchymal Stem Cells in Diabetes

The ability of MSCs to differentiate into islet-like cells or functional insulin-producing cells (IPCs), to home and induce regeneration of endogenous pancreatic islet beta cells as well as to protect these cells through immunomodulatory properties, have made MSCs a potential novel cell-based treatment for diabetes (Zanini et al. 2011).

Many groups around the world have investigated MSCs transplantation in animal models of diabetes. Madec and his colleagues assessed the effects of a single dose of MSCs infusion in non-obese diabetic (NOD) mice, an animal model for T1D (Madec et al. 2009). MSCs were able to inhibit autoimmune beta cell destruction mediated by progressive islet infiltration of autoreactive (destructive) T cells and macrophages and subsequently prevent diabetes in the NOD mouse model by induction of regulatory (protective) T cells (Madec et al. 2009). These results were in line with other studies reporting that intravenous administration of MSCs into streptozotocin (STZ)-induced T1D mice reverted hyperglycaemia through suppression in autoreactive T cell levels together with increase in pancreatic regulatory T cells (Ezquer et al. 2012). Other preclinical studies have shown from their immunomodulatory that apart properties, undifferentiated MSCs transplantation alleviated hyperglycaemia in NOD mice via differentiation into pancreatic IPCs (Tsai et al. 2015). A more recent study has demonstrated that direct transplantation of MSCs into the impaired pancreas of STZ-treated rats, improved their differentiation into IPCs (Li et al. 2016). Furthermore, intra-pancreatic MSC transplantation stimulated pancreatic β-cell endogenous regeneration resulting in islet neogenesis (Li et al. 2016).

Authors suggested that MSCs might activate endogenous precursor stem cells by providing a supportive pancreatic microenvironment through direct cell-cell contact or the stem cell secretome (Ezquer et al. 2014; Li et al. 2016).

Despite the large number of preclinical studies showing the beneficial effects of MSCs in animal models of diabetes, there are fewer clinical trials utilizing MSCs for treatment of diabetic patients.

4.2 Clinical Applications of Mesenchymal Stem Cells in Diabetes

Twenty five years ago, in 1995, Hillard Lazarus and his colleagues reported the first phase I clinical trial using bone marrow-derived MSCs in human subjects with hematologic malignancies (Lazarus et al. 1995). Since then, clinical trials using MSCs have been rising exponentially to treat a large number of diseases including hematologic, neurodegenerative, autoimmune, liver, lung and kidney diseases. In fact, it was not until 2011 that MSCs (Hearticellgram®-AMI) were approved by Korean Food and Drug Administration for the treatment of acute myocardial infarction. This was followed by Canada and New Zealand granting marrow-derived MSCs (Prochymal®, Mesoblast International Sarl.) conditional approval, in 2012, for the treatment of acute Graft Versus Host Disease (GvHD) in paediatric patients (Waltz 2013). Subsequently, in the last decade, a series of clinical trials using MSCs have been running to assess MSCs safety and efficacy in numerous diseases. Since 2010, more than 1000 MSC-based clinical trials have been listed in the clinical trial registry of the U.S. National Institutes of Health (http://www. clinicaltrial.gov/). According to the data reported by the US NIH, 61 MSC clinical trials have been revealed for diabetes in the last 10 years representing 6% of all trials (Fig. 2). These human trials are roughly evenly divided between T1D and T2D where most of them (51 trials) are still in the early phases (phase I, I/II, or II). There are only few phase III trials either have been completed or ongoing. Most of the MSCs employed in these studies are derived from the umbilical cord (33%), followed by the bone marrow (28%) and adipose tissue (25%) (Fig. 2). Other MSC sources such as wharton's jelly, dental pulp or menstrual blood have also been used. A major issue of note is that more than 90% of these trials are small-sized with less than 100 participants per trial.

Herein, we will review a number of clinical studies, registered at clinicaltrials.gov, that were conducted to evaluate the efficacy and safety of MSCs for treatment of both types of diabetes. In T1D, the important clinical goal is to retain the endogenous secretion of insulin; thereby, attaining long term restoration of glucose metabolism and reducing risk of complications such as hypoglycaemic episodes (Carlsson et al. 2015). Carlson and his colleagues reported the first study on the use of systemic MSC treatment for adult patients newly diagnosed with T1D. The randomized controlled trial under the registration number NCT01068951 aimed to assess the safety and therapeutic effect of autologous BM-MSC treatment in new-onset T1D for a period of one year (Carlsson et al. 2015). All patients tolerated the MSC treatment with no observed adverse effects. Besides, MSC-treated patients preserved pancreatic beta cell function as indicated by preserved or even increased C-peptide response to mixed-meal tolerance test (MMTT) at 1-year follow-up. Despite the promising findings, longer follow-up duration is necessary to validate the results (Carlsson et al. 2015). In 2016, Cai et al. conducted a pilot randomized controlled openlabel clinical study (NCT01374854) examining the safety and efficiency of allogeneic Wharton's jelly UC-MSCs plus autologous bone marrow mononuclear cell (aBM-MNC) in patients with established T1D rather than new-onset T1D (Cai et al. 2016). At 12-month follow-up, insulin secretion and C-peptide improved in the treated group compared to the standard care control group. Moreover, HbA1c, fasting blood glucose and exogenous insulin requirement in the experimental group were lower compared with the control group (Cai et al. 2016). Another interesting phase II pilot study (NCT03920397) evaluated the safety and efficacy of allogenic AD-MSCs



Fig. 2 Mesenchymal Stem Cell (MSC) clinical trials collected from clinicaltrial.gov from 2010 to August 2020 with the term "mesenchymal" listed 1,008 trials. (**A**) Percentages of MSC-based trials by disease classification, including diabetes (6%). (**B**) MSC human trials for diabetes are divided between diabetes type 1 (29%) and type

2 (36%). (C) MSCs used for diabetes are isolated from umbilical cord (33%), bone marrow (28%), adipose tissue (25%) and others (14%). (D) The majority of these MSC-based diabetes clinical trials are in Phase I (23 trials) and phase I/II (20 trials)

without immunosuppression plus Vitamin D supplementation in patients with early-onset T1D (Araujo et al. 2020). After 3-month follow up, the intervention group showed C-peptide stability, better glycaemic control and lower insulin requirement when compared to the control group with standard insulin therapy (Araujo et al. 2020). However, mild and transient adverse effects were reported in patients 3 months after AD-MSC infusion (Araujo et al. 2020).

Pancreatic beta cell dysfunction is a hallmark of T2D. Despite pharmacological treatment, this process is irreversible. Therefore, there is an utmost need for alternative therapies to restore β -cell function and optimize glycaemia; thus, preventing the occurrence of diabetic complications (Hinnen 2015). Many clinical studies have shown promising results utilizing MSCs for treatment of patients with T2D. Here, we present some of these trials registered in the ClinicalTrials.gov database. In a clinical study (NCT01413035) conducted by Kong et al., 18 patients with T2D were transfused intravenously with UC-MSCs (Kong et al. 2014). Six months later, UC-MSC transfusion effectively ameliorated hyperglycaemia and increased C-peptide levels in patients. Of note, the treatment was well tolerated with only 4 subjects reporting transient slight fever (Kong et al. 2014). A similar study (NCT01759823) was performed to assess the safety and efficacy of autologous BM-MSCs transplantation in 7 T2D patients (Bhansali et al. 2017). At 6 months, 6 out of 7 patients demonstrated reduction in insulin requirement by more than 50% from the baseline, while maintaining HbA1c < 7.0%, accompanied by improvement in beta cell function (Bhansali et al. 2017). Skyler et la also showed that single infusion of allogenic BM-MSCs was safe and feasible for a short period of 3 months in subjects

with T2D (NCT01576328) (Skyler et al. 2015). In another study (NCT01954147), treatment with UC-MSCs was investigated in T2D patients. Chen et al. showed that multiple infusions with UC-MSCs improved glucose metabolism and β cell function in patients diagnosed with T2D for more than 10 years (Chen et al. 2016).

As shown above, most clinical trials have indicated that treatment with MSCs from different sources are relatively safe and effective for both T1D and T2D. However, it is worth mentioning that the above studies have some limitations including the small sample size and short duration of treatment that should be addressed to assess long-term safety and efficacy. Moreover, before the widespread clinical application of MSCs for diabetes treatment, many challenges remain to be overcome such as the most suitable source, dose and route of MSCs for clinical effectiveness. Another critical issue is the cost-effectiveness and scalable generation of MSCs for medical application.

References

- Araujo DB, Dantas JR, Silva KR, Souto DL, de Pereira M, FC, Moreira JP et al (2020) Allogenic adipose tissuederived stromal/stem cells and vitamin D supplementation in patients with recent-onset type 1 diabetes mellitus: A 3-month follow-up pilot study. Front Immunol 11. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2020. 00993
- Bailey CJ (2007) Thiazolidinediones. In: xPharm: the comprehensive pharmacology reference. Elsevier Inc, pp 1–2. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-008055232-3. 61047-5
- Bassett MT (2005) Diabetes is epidemic. Am J Public Health. American Public Health Association Inc. https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.95.9.1496
- Bhansali S, Dutta P, Yadav MK, Jain A, Mudaliar S, Hawkins M et al (2017) Autologous bone marrowderived mononuclear cells transplantation in type 2 diabetes mellitus: effect on β-cell function and insulin sensitivity NCT01759823 NCT. Diabetol Metab Syndr 9(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s13098-017-0248-7
- Blonde L, Merilainen M, Karwe V, Raskin P (2009) Patient-directed titration for achieving glycaemic goals using a once-daily basal insulin analogue: an assessment of two different fasting plasma glucose targets - the TITRATE TM study. Diabetes Obes

Metab 11(6):623–631. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1463-1326.2009.01060.x

- Boles A, Kandimalla R, Reddy PH, Authors C, Boles AN, Biophys B, Author A (2017) Dynamics of diabetes and obesity: epidemiological perspective HHS public access Author manuscript. Biochim Biophys Acta 1863(5):1026–1036. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbadis. 2017.01.016
- Bourg CA, Phillips BB (2012) Rosiglitazone, myocardial ischemic risk, and recent regulatory actions. Ann Pharmacother 46(2):282–289. https://doi.org/10.1345/ aph.1Q400
- Cai J, Wu Z, Xu X, Liao L, Chen J, Huang L et al (2016) Umbilical cord mesenchymal stromal cell with autologous bone marrow cell transplantation in established type 1 diabetes: A pilot randomized controlled openlabel clinical study to assess safety and impact on insulin secretion. Diabetes Care 39(1):149–157. https://doi.org/10.2337/dc15-0171
- Calonge N, Petitti DB, DeWitt TG, Gordis L, Gregory KD, Harris R, et al (2008, May 20) Screening for gestational diabetes mellitus: U.S. preventive services task force recommendation statement. Ann Intern Med. American College of Physicians. https://doi.org/10. 7326/0003-4819-148-10-200805200-00008
- Carlsson PO, Schwarcz E, Korsgren O, Le Blanc K (2015) Preserved β-cell function in type 1 diabetes by mesenchymal stromal cells. Diabetes 64(2):587–592. https:// doi.org/10.2337/db14-0656
- Chen PY, Huang LLH, Hsieh HJ (2007) Hyaluronan preserves the proliferation and differentiation potentials of long-term cultured murine adiposederived stromal cells. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 360(1):1–6. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc.2007.04. 211
- Chen P, Huang Q, Xu XJ, Shao ZL, Huang LH, Yang XZ, Guo W, Li CM, Chen C (2016) The effect of liraglutide in combination with human umbilical cord mesenchymal stem cells treatment on glucose metabolism and β cell function in type 2 diabetes mellitus. Zhonghua Nei Ke Za Zhi 55(5):349–354. https://doi.org/10.3760/ cma.j.issn.0578-1426.2016.05.004
- Collins L, Costello RA (2020) Glucagon-like peptide-1 receptor agonists. StatPearls. StatPearls Publishing. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/ 31855395
- Deepthi B, Sowjanya K, Lidiya B, Rs, B, Ps, B (2017) A modern review of diabetes mellitus: an annihilatory metabolic disorder. Retrieved from http://www. imedpub.com/
- DPP Research Group (2002) The diabetes prevention program (DPP): description of lifestyle intervention. Diabetes Care 25(12):2165–2171. https://doi.org/10.2337/ diacare.25.12.2165
- DPP Research Group (2009) 10-year follow-up of diabetes incidence and weight loss in the diabetes prevention program outcomes study. Lancet 374 (9702):1677–1686. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(09)61457-4
- Espeland M, Pi-Sunyer X, Blackburn G, Brancati FL, Bray GA, Bright R et al (2007) Reduction in weight and cardiovascular disease risk factors in individuals with type 2 diabetes one-year results of the look AHEAD trial. Diabetes Care 30(6):1374–1383. https://doi.org/ 10.2337/dc07-0048
- Ezquer F, Ezquer M, Contador D, Ricca M, Simon V, Conget P (2012) The antidiabetic effect of mesenchymal stem cells is unrelated to their Transdifferentiation potential but to their capability to restore Th1/Th2 balance and to modify the pancreatic microenvironment. Stem Cells 30(8):1664–1674. https://doi.org/ 10.1002/stem.1132
- Ezquer M, Arango-Rodriguez M, Giraud-Billoud M, Ezquer F (2014) Mesenchymal stem cell therapy in type 1 diabetes mellitus and its Main complications: from experimental findings to clinical practice. J Stem Cell Res Ther 4(8):227. https://doi.org/10.4172/2157-7633.1000227
- Fonseca VA, Haggar MA (2014, February 18) Achieving glycaemic targets with basal insulin in T2DM by individualizing treatment. Nat Rev Endocrinol. Nature Publishing Group. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrendo. 2014.17
- Fox CS, Golden SH, Anderson C, Bray GA, Burke LE, De Boer IH et al (2015) Update on prevention of cardiovascular disease in adults with type 2 diabetes mellitus in light of recent evidence: A scientific statement from the American Heart Association and the American diabetes association. Diabetes Care 38(9):1777–1803. https://doi.org/10.2337/dci15-0012
- Gallo LA, Wright EM, Vallon V (2015) Probing SGLT2 as a therapeutic target for diabetes: basic physiology and consequences. Diab Vasc Dis Res 12(2):78–89. https://doi.org/10.1177/1479164114561992
- Giannarelli R, Aragona M, Coppelli A, Del Prato S (2003) Reducing insulin resistance with metformin: the evidence today. Diabetes Metab. Elsevier Masson SAS. https://doi.org/10.1016/s1262-3636(03)72785-2
- Hinnen D (2015) Therapeutic options for the management of postprandial glucose in Patients With Type 2 Diabetes on basal insulin. Clinical Diabetes 33(4):175–180. https://doi.org/10.2337/diaclin.33.4.175
- Hinnen D (2017) Glucagon-like peptide 1 receptor agonists for type 2 diabetes. Diabetes Spectr 30 (3):202–210. https://doi.org/10.2337/ds16-0026
- IDF Diabetes Atlas 9th edition (2019). https://www. diabetesatlas.org/en/
- Keegan MT (2018) Endocrine pharmacology. In: Pharmacology and physiology for Anesthesia: foundations and clinical application. Elsevier, pp 708–731. https://doi. org/10.1016/B978-0-323-48110-6.00036-3
- King H, Aubert RE, Herman WH (1998) Global burden of diabetes, 1995-2025: prevalence, numerical estimates, and projections. Diabetes Care 21(9):1414–1431. https://doi.org/10.2337/diacare.21.9.1414
- Knowler WC, Barrett-Connor E, Fowler SE, Hamman RF, Lachin JM, Walker EA, Nathan DM (2002) Reduction in the incidence of type 2 diabetes with lifestyle

intervention or metformin. N Engl J Med 346 (6):393–403. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa012512

- Kong D, Zhuang X, Wang D, Qu H, Jiang Y, Li X et al (2014) Umbilical cord mesenchymal stem cell transfusion ameliorated hyperglycemia in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus. Clin Lab 60(12):1969–1976. https://doi.org/10.7754/Clin.Lab.2014.140305
- Laar F (2008) Alpha-glucosidase inhibitors in the early treatment of type 2 diabetes. Vasc Health Risk Manag 4(6):1189–1195. https://doi.org/10.2147/vhrm.s3119
- Lazarus HM, Haynesworth SE, Gerson SL, Rosenthal NS, Caplan AI (1995) Ex vivo expansion and subsequent infusion of human bone marrow-derived stromal progenitor cells (mesenchymal progenitor cells): implications for therapeutic use. Bone Marrow Transplant 16(4):557–564. Retrieved from https:// europepmc.org/article/MED/8528172
- Li L, Li F, Gao F, Yang Y, Liu Y, Guo P, Li Y (2016) Transplantation of mesenchymal stem cells improves type 1 diabetes mellitus. Cell Tissue Res 364 (2):345–355. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00441-015-2330-5
- Lipska KJ (2017, February 7) Metformin use in patients with historical contraindications. Ann Intern Med. American College of Physicians. https://doi.org/10. 7326/M16-2712
- Madec AM, Mallone R, Afonso G, Abou Mrad E, Mesnier A, Eljaafari A, Thivolet C (2009) Mesenchymal stem cells protect NOD mice from diabetes by inducing regulatory T cells. Diabetologia 52 (7):1391–1399. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00125-009-1374-z
- McCall AL (2012, March) Insulin therapy and hypoglycemia. Endocrinol Metab Clin N Am. NIH Public Access. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecl.2012.03.001
- Meng J-M, Cao S-Y, Wei X-L, Gan R-Y, Wang Y-F, Cai S-X et al (2019) Effects and mechanisms of tea for the prevention and management of diabetes mellitus and diabetic complications: an updated review. Antioxidants 8(6):170. https://doi.org/10.3390/ antiox8060170
- Nanditha A, Ma RCW, Ramachandran A, Snehalatha C, Chan JCN, Chia KS et al (2016) Diabetes in Asia and the pacific: implications for the global epidemic. Diabetes Care 39(3):472–485. https://doi.org/10.2337/ dc15-1536
- Olokoba AB, Obateru OA, Olokoba LB (2012) Type 2 diabetes mellitus: a review of current trends. Oman Med J. Oman Medical Specialty Board. https://doi.org/ 10.5001/omj.2012.68
- Orbay H, Tobita M, Mizuno H (2012) Mesenchymal stem cells isolated from adipose and other tissues: basic biological properties and clinical applications. Stem Cells Int. Hindawi Limited. https://doi.org/10.1155/ 2012/461718
- Peng B-Y, Dubey NK, Mishra VK, Tsai F-C, Dubey R, Deng W-P, Wei H-J (2018) Addressing stem cell therapeutic approaches in pathobiology of diabetes and its complications. https://doi.org/10.1155/2018/7806435

- Pouwels KB, Van Grootheest K (2012) The rosiglitazone decision process at FDA and EMA. What should we learn? Int J Risk Saf Med 24(2):73–80. https://doi.org/ 10.3233/JRS-2012-0559
- Reddy PH (2017) Can diabetes be controlled by lifestyle activities? Curr Res Diab Obes J 1(4) Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/29399663
- Ribeiro C, Mota CS d A, Voltarelli FA, de Araújo MB, Botezelli JD (2010) Effects of moderate intensity physical training in neonatal Alloxan- administered rats. J Diabetes Metab Disord 01(02). https://doi.org/10. 4172/2155-6156.1000107
- Saeedi P, Petersohn I, Salpea P, Malanda B, Karuranga S, Unwin N et al (2019) Global and regional diabetes prevalence estimates for 2019 and projections for 2030 and 2045: results from the international diabetes federation diabetes atlas, 9th edition. Diabetes Res Clin Pract 157. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.diabres.2019. 107843
- Salpeter SR, Greyber E, Pasternak GA, Salpeter EE (2010, April 14) Risk of fatal and nonfatal lactic acidosis with metformin use in type 2 diabetes mellitus. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. John Wiley and Sons Ltd. https:// doi.org/10.1002/14651858.CD002967.pub4
- Siavash M, Tabbakhian M, Sabzghabaee A, Razavi N (2017) Severity of gastrointestinal side effects of metformin tablet compared to metformin capsule in type 2 diabetes mellitus patients. J Res Pharm Pract 6(2):73. https://doi.org/10.4103/jrpp.jrpp_17_2
- Simes BC, Mac Gregor GG (2019) Sodium-glucose cotransporter-2 (SGLT2) inhibitors: a clinician's guide. Diab Metab Synd Obes Targ Ther. Dove Medical Press Ltd. https://doi.org/10.2147/DMSO.S212003
- Skyler JS, Fonseca VA, Segal KR, Rosenstock J (2015) Allogeneic mesenchymal precursor cells in type 2 diabetes: A randomized, placebo-controlled, dose-escalation safety and tolerability pilot study. Diabetes Care 38(9):1742–1749. https://doi.org/10.2337/dc14-2830
- Sola D, Rossi L, Schianca GPC, Maffioli P, Bigliocca M, Mella R, et al (2015, August 1) Sulfonylureas and their use in clinical practice. Arch Med Sci. Termedia Publishing House Ltd. https://doi.org/10.5114/aoms.2015. 53304

- Solis MA, Moreno Velásquez I, Correa R, Huang LLH (2019, February 18) Stem cells as a potential therapy for diabetes mellitus: a call-to-action in Latin America. Diabetol Metab Syndr. BioMed Central Ltd. https:// doi.org/10.1186/s13098-019-0415-0
- Tang H, Shi W, Fu S, Wang T, Zhai S, Song Y, Han J (2018) Pioglitazone and bladder cancer risk: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Cancer Med 7 (4):1070–1080. https://doi.org/10.1002/cam4.1354
- Tran L, Zielinski A, Roach AH, Jende JA, Householder AM, Cole EE et al (2015, May 22) Pharmacologic treatment of type 2 diabetes: Oral medications. Ann Pharmacother. SAGE Publications Inc. https://doi.org/ 10.1177/1060028014558289
- Tsai PJ, Wang HS, Lin GJ, Chou SC, Chu TH, Chuan WT et al (2015) Undifferentiated Wharton's jelly mesenchymal stem cell transplantation induces insulinproducing cell differentiation and suppression of Tcell-mediated autoimmunity in nonobese diabetic mice. Cell Transplant 24(8):1555–1570. https://doi. org/10.3727/096368914X683016
- Waltz E (2013) Mesoblast acquires Osiris' stem cell business. Nat Biotechnol 31:1061. https://doi.org/10.1038/ nbt1213-1061
- Wareham NJ, Herman WH (2016, July 1) The clinical and public health challenges of diabetes prevention: A search for sustainable solutions. PLoS Med. Public Library of Science. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal. pmed.1002097
- Wild S, Roglic G, Green A, Sicree R, King H (2004) Global prevalence of diabetes: estimates for the year 2000 and projections for 2030. Diabetes Care 27(5):1047–1053. https://doi.org/10.2337/diacare.27.5.1047
- Wing RR, Bolin P, Brancati FL, Bray GA, Clark JM, Coday M et al (2013) Cardiovascular effects of intensive lifestyle intervention in type 2 diabetes. N Engl J Med 369(2):145–154. https://doi.org/10.1056/ NEJMoa1212914
- Zanini C, Bruno S, Mandili G, Baci D, Cerutti F, Cenacchi G et al (2011) Differentiation of mesenchymal stem cells derived from pancreatic islets and bone marrow into islet-like cell phenotype. PLoS One 6(12). https:// doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0028175



Mesenchymal Stem Cells: The Past Present and Future

Noha Attia and Mohamed Mashal

Abstract

The biomedical applications of mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) have gained expanding attention over the past three decades. MSCs are easily obtained from various tissue types (e.g. bone marrow, fat, cord blood, etc.), are capable of self-renewal, and could be induced to differentiate into several cell lineages for countless biomedical applications. In addition, when transplanted, MSCs are not detected by immune surveillance, thus do not lead to graft rejection. Moreover, they can home towards

Histology and Cell Biology Department, Faculty of Medicine, University of Alexandria, Alexandria, Egypt

affected tissues and induce their therapeutic effect in a cell-base and/or a cell-free manner. These properties, and many others, have made MSCs appealing therapeutic cell candidates (for cell and/or gene therapy) in myriad clinical conditions. However, similar to any other therapeutic tool, MSCs still have their own limitations and grey areas that entail more research for better understanding and optimization. Herein, we present a brief overview of various pre-clinical/clinical applications of MSCs in regenerative medicine and discuss limitations and future challenges.

Keywords

Drug delivery · Extracellular vesicles · Gene therapy · Mesenchymal stem cells · Secretome

Abbreviations

AAV	Adeno-Associated Virus
AD-	Adipose tissue derived Mesenchymal
MSCs	Stem Cells
ALS	Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis
BAX	Bcl-2-associated X protein
BDNF	Brain-derived neurotropic factor
BM	Bone Marrow
BM-	Marrow-derived Mesenchymal Stem
MSCs	Cells
BMP	Bone morphogenetic protein

N. Attia (🖂)

Department of Basic Sciences, The American University of Antigua-College of Medicine, Coolidge, Antigua and Barbuda

The Center of research and evaluation, The American University of Antigua-College of Medicine, Coolidge, Antigua and Barbuda

NanoBioCel Group, Laboratory of Pharmaceutics, School of Pharmacy, University of the Basque Country (UPV/EHU), Vitoria-Gasteiz, Spain e-mail: Noha.attia@alexmed.edu.eg

M. Mashal

The Center of research and evaluation, The American University of Antigua-College of Medicine, Coolidge, Antigua and Barbuda

NanoBioCel Group, Laboratory of Pharmaceutics, School of Pharmacy, University of the Basque Country (UPV/EHU), Vitoria-Gasteiz, Spain e-mail: Mashal313@yahoo.com

Caspases	Cysteine-aspartic proteases			
CDs	Cluster of Differentiations			
CFU-Fs	Colony Forming Unit-Fibroblasts			
СМ	Condition Media			
CXCR2	Chemokine (c-x-c motif) Receptor 2			
DCM	Dilated Cardiomyopathy			
ECM	Extracellular Matrix			
EVs	Extracellular Vesicles			
GFs	Growth Factors			
GvHD	Graft versus Host Disease			
HGF	Hepatocyte growth factor			
hHF-	human hair follicle Mesenchymal			
MSCs	Stem Cells			
hPMSCs	Human placental Mesenchymal Stem			
	Cells			
IGF	Insulin-like Growth Factor			
ILK	Integrin-Linked Kinase			
ILs	Interleukins			
ISCT	International Society for Cellular			
	Therapy			
miRNA	MicroRNA			
mMSCs	mouse Mesenchymal Stem Cells			
MSCs	Mesenchymal Stem Cells			
MVs	Microvesicles			
NGF	Nerve Growth Factor			
NPs	Nanoparticles			
PAI-1	Plasminogen activator inhibitor 1			
PLGA	Poly (Lactic-co-Glycolic Acid)			
PMA	Phorbol 12-myristate 13-acetate			
rhBMP	Recombinant human Bone Morpho-			
	genetic Protein			
RNAi	RNA interference			
ROS	Reactive Oxygen Species			
SCF	Stem Cell Factor			
TGF-β1	Transforming Growth Factor-β1			
TNTs	Tunneling nanotubes			
tTG	tissue Transglutaminase			
UCB-	Umbilical Cord Blood Mesenchymal			
MSCs	Stem Cells			
VEGF	Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor			

1 History of MSCs

As early as 1867, the German pathologist, J. Cohnheim was the first to identify non-hematopoietic colony forming unit-fibroblasts (CFU-Fs) in the bone marrow (BM), the cells that will be identified later as mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) (Anversa et al. 2004). His work discussed the possibility of BM to differentiate into fibroblasts to synthesize collagen fibrils both in normal and wound healing contexts. A century later, an escalating evidence started to accumulate that BM contains cells that are capable of differentiation into other cells of mesenchymal lineage, thanks to the breaking grounds publications by Friedenstein et al. (Afanasyev et al. 2009) Half a century ago, the authors had seeded BM into cell culture vessels and discarded the floating/nonadherent cells after 4 h to eliminate most of the hematopoietic cells. After a lag phase, most of the heterogenous spindle-shaped adherent cells formed foci of cells that are able to multiply excessively. After successive passages, the plastic-adherent cells became capable of self-renewal, acquired a homogeneous fibroblastic appearance, and showed a multi-differentiation potential (Dominici 2006). They could differentiate into several cell types of mesodermal lineage such as, adipocytes, osteoblasts. chondroblasts, myocytes, and tenocytes. Moreover, the plasticity of these adult stem cells can probably generate cells of other lineages, (Gimble et al. 2008) endodermal (e.g. hepatocytes, enterocytes, and islet cells), and ectodermal (e.g. epithelial, glial, and neural cells). Ever since, the term "MSCs" has emerged and the various translational applications of these cells have gained the podium. In addition to BM, MSCs are located in various tissues (Fig. 1), as adipose tissue, amniotic tissue, Wharton's jelly of the umbilical cord, umbilical cord blood, menstrual blood, skeletal muscle, synovium, and pulp of deciduous teeth, just to mention a few (Berebichez-Fridman and Montero-Olvera 2018).

Thanks to their easy acquisition, fast ex vivo proliferation, differentiation plasticity, tropism toward injured tissues, (Rustad and Gurtner 2012) ethical legitimacy, and the feasibility of autologous/allogenic transplantation, MSCs became the stem cells of choice to be applied in the clinical regenerative medicine (Musia-I-Wysocka et al. 2019). However, there is still some confusion and lack of uniformity in using the proper nomenclature for MSCs



Fig. 1 Various sources of MSCs used in cell-based and cell-free therapeutic approaches

"mesenchymal stem cells" or "mesenchymal stromal cells". Therefore, the International Society for Cellular Therapy (ISCT) (Horwitz et al. 2005) suggests that the fibroblast-like plasticadherent cells, regardless their tissue of origin, be termed "mesenchymal stromal cells", while the term "mesenchymal stem cells" to be only used to describe cells that meet specified stem cell criteria. Nonetheless, the famous acronym of "MSCs" may be used for both cell populations.

2 Characterization of MSCs

The incredible therapeutic potential of MSCs has fueled a markedly increasing interest in a wide variety of biomedical disciplines. Nevertheless, research studies using MSCs used different methods of isolation and expansion, as well as different approaches for cell characterization. Therefore, it is of utmost importance to standardize the process of MSC characterization in order to be able to compare and contrast the study outcomes, and to ensure progress in the field. The meaningful definition of the word "characterization" is to describe the qualities or peculiarities. In general, characterization of MSCs is crucial to ensure the following:

- Identification/verification of MSCs.
- Classification of MSCs into subclasses according to their tissue of origin where every sub-class depicts peculiar features.
- Isolation/purification of MSCs from other cell populations as an important quality control step that can save time and mitigate experimental variability.
- Tracking of MSCs in vivo.
- Follow up/reassessment of MSC features after application of a new protocol (e.g. expansion, transfection, differentiation, microencapsulation, etc.)
- Targeting of MSCs either in vitro or in vivo.
- Verification of MSC differentiation as some characteristic features may change when they differentiate into other cell types.
- Detection of any aberration from normal as with aging and senescence.

Thereafter, the Mesenchymal and Tissue Stem Cell Committee of the ISCT had proposed a few minimal criteria to define MSCs (Dominici 2006). (a) MSCs must be adherent to plastic when cultured under standard conditions. Isolation of MSCs by plastic adherence is efficient, yet it does not generate a homogeneous population of cells. The isolated cells demonstrate different growth kinetics and differentiation potentials. (b) MSCs must possess a set of positive markers that enabled researchers to recognize them from other cells in their microenvironment such as CDs 29, 44, 73, 90, and 105. At the same time, MSCs should lack another set of markers as the surface antigens expressed by hematopoietic cells, such as CDs 11b, 14, 19, 34, and 79a and HLA-DR. However, the ISCT accepts that these criteria must be met with certain flexibility, particularly when it comes to the lack of expression of markers as HLA Class II that can be conditionally expressed by MSCs when stimulated by certain cytokines. Hence, cells that meet all other criteria, yet are positive for HLA Class II, can be defined as MSCs if they were stimulated. Unfortunately, to date, no marker has been found to be exclusively expressed by MSCs (Chen al. 2007). Yet, the et list of MSC-associated markers is growing over time to enable investigators to simultaneously verify expression of several MSC-associated surface antigens, which increases the confidence in the identification and authentication of the isolated MSCs. (c) MSCs must depict multilineage differentiation potential in vitro. This is considered a function-based method for cell characterization/ verification. MSCs can be induced to differentiate into various cell types such as adipocytes, chondroblasts, and osteoblasts, in vitro. This verification tool does not depend on the tissue or species origin of MSCs, while being time consuming. Nonetheless, there are still various challenges facing the process of MSC characterization, such as the redundancy and lack of specificity, experimental variability, and reliance on operator expertise to mention a few (Rohart et al. 2016).

Therefore, numerous research groups have attempted to develop and improve novel

molecular markers, such as using the proteomics approach, (Li et al. 2009) epigenetic markers, (Wagner et al. 2016) transcriptome analysis, and the gene signature as 'Rohart MSC in silico test'. (Rohart et al. 2016; Carlini et al. 2019). Although these trials represent an important step towards addressing the thorny question about MSC identity, there is still little consensus among them. May be that is why Caplan (Caplan 2019a) suggested that of characterization of every cell in every MSC population will be of no significance, simply because most cell-preparations have become culture-adapted and can no more display their inherent (in vivo) characteristics, nor their in vivo therapeutic functionality when transplanted to patients.

3 Applications of MSCs

MSCs For decades. have been widely investigated and used in regenerative medicine. In this section, we try to summarize the latest preclinical/clinical applications of various types of MSCs in tissue engineering (Fig. 2). Initially, the vast differentiation potential of MSCs into cardiomyocytes, neurons. blood cells, osteoblasts, hepatocytes, skeletal myocytes, enterocytes, etc., has inspired tremendous cellbased therapeutic purposes for a wide array of disorders.

3.1 Cell Therapy

The enormous therapeutic benefits of MSCs have been well demonstrated in numerous experimental, pre-clinical, and clinical studies. MSCs have been considered as a valuable tool for tissue repair given their ability to suppress the inflammatory response-mediated cell injury, thereby promoting tissue repair. The tissue reparative properties have also been attributed to MSCs' ability to evade cell death by reducing the expression of pro-apoptotic factors (Caspase-3 and Bax), (Li et al. 2013) while increasing the antiapoptotic activities (Bcl-2), (Wang et al. 2000; Qi and Wu 2013) and restoring the local



Fig. 2 MSCs are applied in various disorders affecting several organs including the illustrated ones

microenvironment within the damaged tissues. It is also noteworthy that MSCs -transplanted in vivo- could repair various tissues, as muscle, bone, and cartilage via self-renewal and differentiation. However, over the last decade, many of the regenerative abilities of MSCs have been pertaining to their paracrine activity and the secretion of bioactive factors. More recently, MSCs were found to modulate host cell function by transferring their cytoplasm and organelles (e.g. lysosomes and mitochondria) via several mechanisms including so called tunneling nanotubes TNTs, microvesicles and cell fusion (Murray and Krasnodembskaya 2019). Some of the abovementioned mechanisms are illustrated in Fig. 3.

3.1.1 Cell-Based Therapy

MSCs, both autologous and allogeneic, have been used in cell-based therapies to repair damaged tissues, replace lost cells, or to exert immunomodulation. Using MSCs, from various sources, in various cell-based scenarios was strongly supported by the fact that no tumors have been reported in human recipients. Therefore, a great number of clinical trials, for a wide range of clinical conditions, have been documented at the website www.clinicaltrials.gov. Some of the completed studies that have documented results are summarized in Table 1.

Nevertheless, the efficacy of MSC transplantation therapy is currently limited by their low retention and poor survival as demonstrated by several clinical studies. Within a few days posttransplantation, MSCs are challenged with a combination of harsh environmental conditions (Sylakowski et al. 2020) (Oxygen and nutrient deprivation and death signals), and anoikis (due to lack of adhesion to ECM), (Copland and Galipeau 2011) inducing cell death. In addition, in an inflamed tissue, even the recruited inflammatory cells (e.g. neutrophils and macrophages) do generate reactive oxygen species ROS, thereby inducing apoptosis and inactivating the cytoprotective production of nitric oxide. Interestingly, Dong et al. (2019) have reported that transplantation of allogeneic umbilical cord-derived MSCs could play a therapeutic function, despite



Fig. 3 Some mechanisms of MSCs therapy. (1) Via differentiation into many cell types, including myocytes, neurons, hepatocytes, enterocytes, etc. to replace damaged/abnormal cells (2) Via EVs and secretome. (3) Via

organelle (e.g. mitochondria) transfer through gap junctions (nexus) and tunneling nanotubes (TNTs)-like structures

the short life span of transplanted cells in vivo (~ 2 months). The authors argued that cell-based therapy is the main mechanism at the early phase (~ 1 month after cell transplantation), while cell-free therapy takes over at a later stage. In addition, they proposed two different solutions to ensure efficient, practical and feasible application of stem cell-based therapy. First, to improve cell targeting by coating MSCs with antibodies or peptides to make their homing toward the affected tissues more targeted, accurate and efficient. Second, is the use of "cell-free" approach, comprising secretome, exosomes, etc. Likewise, Lee and colleagues (2015) have summarized various other strategies to improve the therapeutic potential of transplanted MSCs in order to surmount the poor cell survival rates. Those approaches comprise a variety of treatments including pre-treatment with growth promoting hormones/drugs (e.g. melatonin and atorvastatin), pre-conditioning with hypoxia, and the use of genetic modification to overexpress anti-apoptosis (e.g. Bcl-2, Survivin, and CCR1/ CXCR2) or adhesion (e.g. tTG, ILK and PMA) molecules (Lee et al. 2015).

3.1.2 Cells as a Gene/Drug Delivery Tool The non-specific targeting of non-viral/viral gene vectors and their systemic distribution throughout the circulation can result in undesired offsite adverse effects. Since the discovery of ability of engineered MSCs to selectively migrate toward the injured/tumor site, the MSC-based gene therapy has experienced a substantial leap ahead. The delivered factors can be receptors, suicide genes, replication inhibitors, apoptosis-inducing genes,

Study title	Conditions	Interventions	Completion	Publications
Human MSCs for acute respiratory distress syndrome	Acute respiratory distress syndrome	Allogeneic human BM-MSCs administered intravenously	February 2015	Wilson et al. (2015)
Effect of MSC transfusion on the diabetic peripheral neuropathy patients	Diabetic peripheral neuropathy	Autogenous BM-MSCs administered intravenously	December 2016	Keilhoff et al. (2006), Morbach et al. (2004), Nakae et al. (2006), Shibata et al. (2008)
Use of MSCs for alveolar bone tissue engineering for cleft lip and palate patients	Cleft lip and palate	Autogenous MSCs derived from dental pulp of deciduous teeth associated with a biomaterial composed of collagen and hydroxyapatite.	December 2015	Hibi et al. (2006), Gimbel et al. (2007)
Intravitreal MSCs transplantation in advanced glaucoma.	Retinal degeneration Primary open- angle glaucoma	Intravitreal transplantation of autogenous BM-MSCs	September 2016	Not provided
Treatment of knee osteoarthritis with allogenic MSCs	Knee osteoarthritis	Intra-articular injection of allogenic BM-MSCs	June 2014	Vega et al. (2015)
Treatment of knee osteoarthritis with autologous MSCs	Knee osteoarthritis	Intra-articular injection of autologous BM-MSCs	September 2014	Orozco et al. (2011), Orozco et al. 2013; Orozco et al. 2014)
Encapsulated MSCs for dental pulp regeneration	Periapical periodontitis	Umbilical cord-derived MSCs encapsulated in a plasma-derived biomaterial	September 2018	Not provided
A study to evaluate the potential role of MSCs in the treatment of idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis	Idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis	Placental MSCs	May 2013	Not provided
The trans endocardial stem cell injection delivery effects on neomyogenesis study (the TRIDENT study)	Chronic ischemic left ventricular dysfunction Myocardial infarction	Allogeneic human MSCs	September 2017	Florea et al. (2017)
The percutaneous stem cell injection delivery effects on neomyogenesis pilot study (the POSEIDON-pilot study)	Ischemic cardiomyopathy	Allogeneic human BM-MSCs administered trans-endocardial during cardiac catheterization	October 2012	Tompkins et al. (2018)
Safety study of local administration of autologous bone marrow stromal cells in chronic paraplegia	Spinal cord injury	Intrathecal injection of autologous BM-MSCs	March 2015	Geffner (2008)
The trans endocardial autologous cells (hMSC or hBMC) in ischemic heart failure trial (TAC-HFT)	Left ventricular dysfunction	Autologous MSCs and BM-MSCs administered transendocardially during cardiac catheterization	September 2013	Heldman et al. (2014), Trachtenberg et al. (2011)

 Table 1
 Clinical trials (completed) using MSCs in various applications. Data obtained from www.clinicaltrials.gov

(continued)

Study title	Conditions	Interventions	Completion date	Publications
A study to assess the effect of intravenous dose of (BM-MSCs) to subjects with non-ischemic heart failure	Non-ischemic heart failure	Allogeneic BM-MSCs	May 2017	Butler et al. (2017)
Subarachnoid administrations of adults autologous MSCs in SCI	Chronic spinal cord injury	Autologous BM-MSCs	May 2016	Vaquero and Zurita (2011), Otero et al. (2011)
Allo-HCT MUD for non-malignant Red Blood Cell (RBC) disorders: Sickle cell, Thal, and DBA: Reduced intensity conditioning, Co-tx MSCs	Sickle cell disease Thalassemia Diamond- Blackfan anemia	Parental BM-MSCs	August 2013	Ghavamzadeh et al. (2010)

Table 1 (continued)

regulatory agents [e.g., RNA interference (RNAi), miRNAs], oncolytic viruses, growth factors, and various immunological factors (e.g., cytokines).

Genetic engineering of MSCs was used either to increase their own natural protein production or to empower the expression of new proteins. The tropism capability of MSCs towards many cells and tissues render it an excellent natural vehicle for therapeutic agents. Besides, MSCs show immune suppressive properties and distinct antiinflammatory and immunomodulatory effects upon transplantation. However, many challenges can significantly decrease their capacity for differentiation and proliferation, such as donor aging and culture senescence, reducing MSCs' culture time and preventing their expandability to the large numbers of cells needed for cell therapy. The adaptable phenotype of MSCs by introduction of exogenous genes is usually the main aim in tissue engineering and regenerative medicine. In comparison to hematopoietic stem cells, MSCs are easier to modify with most viral (biological) vectors, while retaining their in vivo activity (Gonzalez-Fernandez et al. 2017). However, due to the limited safety profile of viral vectors including insertional mutagenicity and the adverse immune responses, non-viral vectors (both chemical and physical) are rising transfection methods. Nonetheless, non-viral carriers showed lower transfection efficiencies when compared to their viral counterparts (Curtin et al. 2012). As a non-viral approach, physical methods provide a simple strategy that facilitates gene transfer using physical forces to overcome the barrier function of cell membranes. They comprise many techniques, like magnetofection, nucleofection, electroporation, mechanical massage, photoporation, microbubbles, sonoporation, hydroporation, jet injection, gene gun, microinjection and needle injection. Although electroporation exhibits a high transfection efficiency in many cell types, most physical methods are still limited by the resulting poor cell viability (Mellott et al. 2013). Nucleofection of MSCs using specific electric field pulse has been proven to increase efficiency of plasmid transfections with respect to the traditional electroporation (Nakashima et al. 2005). In order to increase the transfection efficiency without compromising cell viability, magnetofection is another option that uses magnetic nanoparticles to form complexes with DNA, and then carry DNA into the cells in the presence of a magnetic force. Interestingly, magnetofection could effectively overexpress NANOG in human hair follicle MSCs (hHF-MSCs) (Son et al. 2015). On the other hand, chemical non-viral vectors involve the use of natural or synthetic molecules such as polymers, cationic lipids, peptides, dendrimers and inorganic molecules. These materials can be formulated in diversity of formulations such as nano-emulsions, micelles, liposomes, niosomes, polymersome, polyliposome, solid lipid nanoparticles and nanostructured lipid carriers. Likewise, the inorganic calcium hydroxyapatite crystals depict strong affinity to DNA binding due to the electrostatic interaction between calcium ions with the negatively charged phosphate groups in DNA. Nano hydroxyapatite is biocompatible, bioresorbable, non-toxic and cost effective to elaborate (Curtin et al. 2012). Meng Yu et al. have designed gold nanoparticles as a highly efficient carrier for miR-5,106-delivery into MSCs to avoid increased cytotoxicity with other conventional inorganic nanocrystals (Yu et al. 2017). Among the ongoing chemical non-viral carriers, cationic liposome is an advantageous and efficient vehicle for transfecting MSCs. However, the transfection efficiency is still markedly lower than with the viral vectors and some other non-viral vectors, namely, electroporation and nucleofection. Interestingly, the clinical safety profile of cationic liposome is advantageous when compared to viral vectors. Generally, lipofection is a good candidate in applications only involving low and transient expression of proteins. Furthermore, MSCs' differentiative power and viability were not compromised (Madeira et al. 2010). Another polymeric vesicle or polymersome has increased applications as a gene delivery tool. Polymersome selfis assembled amphiphilic block or graft co-polymers to form hollow structures, while polymeric nanoparticles are solid colloidal particles. Generally, polymers are the most commolecules used mon for formulating nanoparticles. Moreover, polymeric micelles are supramolecular assemblies of block co-polymer with enhanced efficacy for gene delivery with minimal side effects (Nishiyama et al. 2005). In addition, micelles, represent an alternative option for the in vivo delivery of siRNA to mMSCs (Raisin et al. 2017).

Niosomes are auto-assembled non-ionic surfactant vesicles. They are consisting of three main parts:(1) a non-ionic surfactant like polysorbates;(2) a neutral support lipid like cholesterol, squalene and lycopene;(3) a cationic lipid. The inclusion of non-ionic molecules in niosomes reduces the toxicity of cationic lipids showing better cellular viability profiles compared to their corresponding anionic or cationic counterparts. Due to their capability to encapsulate both hydrophobic and hydrophilic molecules, niosomes are reported as potential gene carriers (Mashal et al. 2017, 2019; Attia et al. 2018). Regardless all these trials, viral vectors are still considered the most efficient option for cell transduction thanks to their high transduction efficiency (Muhammad et al. 2019). Trials using adenoviral vehicles for gene therapy in humans were the first, followed by a plethora of virus-based gene therapy studies.

Another perspective is the use of MSCs as a drug delivery tool. Thanks to their diversity and ease of preparation of nanomaterials, nanocarriers have become increasingly popular in medical research. Nevertheless, they are facing myriad challenges, as rapid plasma clearance, immunogenicity, uncertain targeting ability and non-optimized pharmacokinetics, to mention a few. Therefore, MSCs started to gain the podium in this relatively new realm due to their innate targeting capability, long circulation time, low immunogenicity, and no tumorigenicity. As natural drug carriers with selective homing abilities, MSCs permit achieving maximal therapeutic efficiency with minimal toxic side effects (Muslimov et al. 2020).

Although many other cell types were initially used in cell-based drug delivery (e.g. leucocytes), their clinical applications were hindered by their limited obtainment in large numbers and insufficient proliferation in vitro, if any. That said, MSCs that are easily obtained and propagated in vitro became an appealing cell candidate for cell-based drug delivery. Moreover, MSCs were found to target immune-privileged tissues as brain tissue where they cross the blood-brain barrier (Shyu et al. 2007; Detante et al. 2012; Lu et al. 2013). Various applications of MSCs as gene and drug delivery vehicle are summarized in Table 2.

3.2 Cell-Free Therapy

Initially, MSC-based therapies were believed to enhance the structure and function of damaged or

Delivery	Sub-					
system	categories	Vector	Disease/model	Cells	Gene/Drug	Ref.
Non- viral	Physical	Electroporation	Atopic dermatitis	Human umbil- ical cord blood- derived MSCs (hUCB-MSCs) have hUCB- MSCs	TGF-β-targeting siRNA	Park et al. (2020)
		Microporation	In vitro/ in vivo (rat brain)	hUCB-MSCs	Brain-derived neurotropic factor (BDNF) plasmid DNA	Lim et al. (2010)
		Nucleofection	Bone senescence	BM-MSCs	miR-196	Candini et al. (2015)
		Nucleofection	Bone formation	BM-MSCs	rhBMP-6	Mizrahi et al. (2013)
		Nucleofection	HGPS	MSCs-iPSCs	miR-9	Nissan et al. (2012)
		Nucleofection	Cardiac repair	hMSCs	mRNA for CXCR4	Wiehe et al. (2013)
		Magnetofection	Myogenic differentiation of human hair follicle	hHF-MSCs	Nanog	Son et al. (2015)
	Chemical	Gold NPs	Bone regeneration	BM-MSCs	miR-5,106	Yu et al. (2017)
		Inorganic NPs	Bone formation	BM-MSCs	BMP2	Curtin et al. (2012)
		Inorganic NPs	Regeneration of articular cartilage and subchondral bone	BM-MSCs	TGF-β1/ BMP-2	Chen et al. (2011)
		Inorganic NPs	Bone tissue engineering	BM-MSCs	pTGF-β3 and pBMP2	Gonzalez- Fernandez et al. (2016)
		Liposome	Spine infusion	C3H10T1/ 2 MSC line	BMP-2	Sheyn et al. (2010)
		Liposome	Islet transplantation	MSC line derived from fetal porcine pancreas	hTERT	Cao et al. (2011)
		Liposome	Myocardial ischemia	BM-MSCs	VEGF	Kim et al. (2011)
		Liposome	Pancreatic cancer	BM-MSCs	IL-25	Piri et al. (2012)
		Niosome	In vitro bone regeneration	D1-MSCs	hBMP-7	Attia et al. (2018)
		Niosome	Theragnostic	hMSCs		Yang et al. (2018)

 Table 2
 MSCs as gene/drug delivery tool

(continued)

Table 2	(continued)
---------	-------------

Delivery	Sub-	Vector	Disease/model	Cells	Gene/Drug	Ref
system					Cy3-labeled siGFP/Anti- miR-138	
		Polymeric NPs	Chondrogenesis of human MSCs	hMSCs	coSOX9-pDNA/ Cbfa-1-siRNA	Jeon et al. (2012)
		Polymeric NPs	Rat myocardial infarction	BM-MSCs	pHI-VEGF	Moon et al. (2014)
		Micelles (polymeric)	Regenerative medicine	BM-MSCs	siRNA targeting mouse Runx2	Raisin et al. (2017)
Viral (biolo	ogical)	Lentivirus	Ischemic heart disease	BM-MSCs	miR-126	Chen and Zhou (2011)
		Lentivirus	Cancer gene therapy	AD-MSCs	iCasp9	Rossignoli et al. (2019)
		Fiber-modified adenovirus	Matrigel plugs angiogenesis	hPMSCs	kringle1-5/ EGFP	Chu et al. (2014)
		Adenovirus	Intracranial gliomas	BM-MSCs	HSV-TK/GCV	Ryu et al. (2012)
		Gamma- retrovirus	Gastrointestinal adenocarcinoma	Modified autologous MSCs	HSV-TK	Niess et al. (2015)
		Recombinant adenovirus	Cerebral infarction	Modified BM-MSCs	VEGF	Chen et al. (2016)
		Adenovirus	Multiple myeloma	BM-MSCs	IL-2	Trudel et al. (2001)
		Gamma -retrovirus	Colorectal cancer	hBM-MSCs	IL7-IL12	Hombach et al. (2020)
		Retrovirus	Infarcted myocardium	MSCs	AKT	Noiseux et al. (2006)
		Lentivirus	Myocardial infarction	UCB-MSCs	Hepatocyte growth factor (HGF)	Zhao et al. (2016)
		Lentivirus	Traumatic brain injury	BM-MSCs of C57BL/6 mice	FGF21	Shahror et al. (2020)
		Lentivirus	Rat model of stroke	rMSCs	CXCR4	Yu et al. (2012)
		Lentivirus	In vitro cancer cells andhuman vascular endothelial cells	BM-MSCs	PTPN21	Wang et al. (2019a)
		Herpes Simplex Virus (HSV)-1	Rats' ischemic brains	rBM-MSCs	HGF	Zhao et al. (2006)
		Adenovirus	Spinal cord injury	hBM-MSCs	HGF	Jeong et al. (2012)
		Adenovirus	Murine brain tumors	Murine BM-MSCs	EGFR	Sato et al. (2005)

117

(continued)

Delivery system	Sub- categories	Vector	Disease/model	Cells	Gene/Drug	Ref.
		Adenovirus	Pancreatic tumors	hBM-MSCs	IFN- β	Kidd et al. (2010)
		AAV	Acute ischemic stroke	hBM-MSCs	IL-10	Nakajima et al. (2017)
Hybrid		Adenovirus/ liposome	Ovarian cancer	hPMSCs	Endostatin	Zheng et al. (2012)
		AAV/ electroporation	Cutaneous wound healing	Human BM-MSCs, AD-MSCs, and UCB-MSCs	CRISPR-Cas9	Srifa et al. (2020)
		Chitosan/ Alginate/ Hydroxyapatite Scaffolds	Bone regeneration	BM-MSCs	BMP-2	He et al. (2014)
		Liposome (DOTAP/ DOPE)/ polymer (PEI)	In vitro	mMSCs	mRNA encoding CXCR4	Rejman et al. (2010)
		Adenovirus/ peptide	Intracranial glioma	UCB-MSCs	stTRAIL	Kim et al. (2008)
		Adenovirus/ peptide	Pulmonary metastasis and solid tumor	BM-MSCs	IL-12 M	Seo et al. (2011)
		Polymersome	Glioblastoma	rMSCs	HSV-TK/ TRAIL	Malik et al. (2018)
		Lipid-polymer	In vitro	hBM-MSCs	Human placental growth factor (PIGF)	Cheung et al. (2018)
Drug delive	ery	Polymersome	Lung cancer	hPMSCs	Docetaxel	Wang et al. (2019b)
		No-carrier	In vitro tumor growth	BM-MSC line (SR4987)	Paclitaxel	Pascucci et al. (2014)
		Liposomes	Spinal cord injury	GMSCs	Moringin	Mammana et al. (2019)
		Polymer (PLGA) NPs	Lung melanoma	AD-MSCs of C57BL6 mice	Doxorubicin	Zhao et al. (2017)
		Polymeric NPs	Lung tumor	Nano-engineered MSCs	Paclitaxel	Moku et al. (2019)
		Polymeric (PLGA) NPs	Tumor therapy	BM-MSCs	Paclitaxel	Dai et al. (2013)
		Silica Nano rattle	Targeted tumor therapy	BM-MSCs	Doxorubicin	Li et al. (2011)
		Silica NPs (SiO ₂ NPs)	Breast Cancer therapy	BM-MSCs	Purpurin-18	Cao et al. (2014)
		Micelles	Neurodegenerative diseases	AD-MSCs	Curcumin	Tripodo et al. (2015)
		Niosome/ tLyp- 1 penetrating peptide	Anti-glioma therapy	hAD-MSCs	Doxorubicin and curcumin	Seleci et al. (2017)

 Table 2 (continued)

diseased tissues via direct cell replacement. Though, it soon became clear that a relatively limited number of MSCs were eventually retained at these sites of injury. Myriad studies on laboratory animals confirmed that intravenously injected MSCs are trapped in the capillaries of the pulmonary circulation or the reticuloendothelial system where most MSCs are generally cleared. However, the heterogenous MSC preparations showed a marked therapeutic functionality when introduced into the body, suggesting that they have a bystander paracrine (i.e. medicinal) capacity. For that reason, A.I. Caplan (2019b) has suggested to change the nomenclature of MSCs to be "medicinal signaling cells".

MSCs are known to secrete a plethora of bio-active factors such as growth factors (GFs), cytokines, chemokines, hormones, interleukins ILs, and extracellular vesicles EVs. Many of which can modulate the immune system, reduce inflammation, and promote healing. As a result, the field adopted a conceptual shift that MSCs enhance tissue repair mainly via their paracrine factors and stimulation of host cells, and it may be via cell-to-cell communication or exosomes and/or some metabolites and cytokines. These paracrine factors have been considered as the invisible heroes that mediated tissue regeneration/repair through their paracrine actions. Therefore, the emphasis has recently shifted toward

Table 3 MSC secretome/CM in various applications

harnessing the ability of MSCs to secrete cytokines and trophic factors that stimulate innate tissue repair and modulate inflammation and immune responses. In the following Sects. 3.2.1, 3.2.2 and 3.2.3, we highlight the paradigm shift in MSCs' mechanisms of action from the cellular to the paracrine manner, in addition to their relevant pre-clinical/clinical applications.

3.2.1 **MSC-Derived Conditioned Media**

Following the expansion of MSCs in vitro, they tend to release a set of bioactive factors into the culture medium, now named conditioned medium CM or secretome. The released factors can manipulate the communications between the cells and their microenvironment, facilitating the desired biological function. Therefore, the CM can exert beneficial effects on the recipient that could be considered angiogenic, immunomodulatory, anti-inflammatory, anti-apoptotic, antifibrotic or anti-oncogenic. This relatively new strategy has attracted the interest of researchers towards the MSC secretome that can be used as a cell-free therapy for disorders of various vital organs, such as heart, lung, liver, kidney, CNS, etc. Examples of MSC secretome applications are summarized in Table 3.

Although different MSCs are expected to share certain phenotypic features, their tissue of origin seems to affect their secretome, leading to variable effects (Pires et al. 2016; Vizoso et al.

Disease/model	Cells of origin	Ref.
Severe alveolar bone atrophy	BM-MSCs	Katagiri et al. (2016)
Dilated cardiomyopathy DCM	Human autologous and allogeneic BM-MSCs	Premer et al. (2019)
Hindlimb ischemia	Human amnion and chorion MSCs	Yamahara et al. (2014)
Acute GvHD	Human amnion and chorion MSCs	Yamahara et al. (2014)
Chronic wound	Rat BM-MSCs	Mehanna et al. (2015)
Acute pancreatitis	Human AD-MSCs	Roch et al. (2020)
Anti-GFB glomerulonephritis	BM-MSCs	Iseri et al. (2016)
Liver fibrosis	BM-MSCs	Abdel Aal et al. (2019)
Spinal cord injury	Wharton jelly derived MSCs	Chudickova et al. (2019)
Ischemic stroke	BM-MSCs	Tsai et al. (2014)
Acute lung injury	BM-MSCs	Ionescu et al. (2012)
Corneal wound	BM-MSCs	Fernandes-Cunha et al. (2019)
Acne vulgaris	Human AD-MSCs	Shan et al. (2018)
Systemic sclerosis	BM-MSCs	Dahbour et al. (2017)

2017). For instance, significant differences were reported for the composition of CM of adult bone marrow-derived MSCs (BM-MSCs) and that obtained from adipose tissue AD-MSCs, or Wharton's jelly WJSCs. For BM-MSCs, the CM (Katagiri et al. 2016) held insulin-like growth factor (IGF)-1, (Katagiri et al. 2016) vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), (Attia et al. 2014) and transforming growth factor (TGF)- β 1. As for AD-MSCs, CM is mainly positive for hepatocyte growth factor (HGF), VEGF, nerve growth factor (NGF), and stem cell factor (SCF), while WJSCs, secrete only NGF and VEGF. Similarly, using a comparative proteomic-based assay, Pires and colleagues (2016) have indicated significant differences in the secretome of MSCs from BM, adipose tissue, and umbilical cord. Nevertheless, crucial elements of success for the CM-based cellfree therapy would be the identification each element of the secretome obtained by different MSC populations, as well as the verification of their exact mechanism(s) of action. Furthermore, the quality control optimization of the process of production of CM from each MSC type (e.g. culture medium, supplements, duration, and other conditions) is key and necessitates more research studies (Sagaradze et al. 2019).

3.2.2 MSC-Derived Extracellular Vesicles

A growing list of attention-grabbing discoveries has demonstrated new ways by which cells communicate with their neighboring cells through the secretion of non-classical secretory vesicles, known as the extracellular vesicles (EVs). At present, and according to the underlying mechanisms responsible for their biogenesis, EVs are basically classified into three major categories. One of which -known as ectosomes, microparticles, and microvesicles (MVs)- has the potential to reach relatively large sizes up to 1 µm in diameter, are. The second category, known as exosomes, are typically way smaller than MVs, with size ranging from 0.04 to 0.1 μ m in diameter. The third class of EVs is the apoptotic bodies. They are generally >1,000 nm in size that are released from cells undergoing programmed cell death. They hold numerous cellular components (e.g. cell organelles, DNA fragments, non-coding RNAs, etc.), and are destined for clearance via phagocytosis. The biogenesis of MSC-derived EVs were reported to be regulated by crosstalk of MSCs with their surrounding microenvironment. It is also known that EVs are considered one of the mechanisms by which organelle transfer between cells can take place.

In comparison to MSC-based approach, their EVs have numerous advantages as an alternative cell-free therapeutic too (Rostom et al. 2020). The vesicles are small and circulate easily, whereas MSCs are too large to circulate readily through capillaries, hence most MSCs do not get beyond the first pass capillary bed. Besides, the dose of infused MSCs quickly diminishes quickly, and it may be that the delivery of MSC derived vesicles can achieve a higher "dose" that circulates to a greater extent than their cells of origin. Moreover, EVs lack the capacity to self-replicate providing more control on the dosage and progression. In addition, they do not possess any danger for genetic instability, ectopic differentiation, tumor formation, or immune rejection. On the other side, MSC-EVs exhibit therapeutic effects similar to their parent cells, such as homing to the site of injury and immunomodulatory properties (Rong et al. 2019).

Moreover, MSC-EVs are considered as a drug delivery tool. In addition to their intrinsic tissue regenerative properties, EVs could be further enriched with molecules as microRNAs. In their recent study, Wang and colleagues (2020) have used miR-132-loaded EVs to preserve heart function after direct transplantation into the heart. Therefore, MSC-EVs have gained the podium recently as a novel and attractive approach to be studied in myriad preclinical/clinical studies, including kidney, liver, cardiovascular, immunological, and neurological diseases. Various examples of EVs' applications are summarized in Table 4.

Despite the expanding applications of EVs in various clinical settings, proper testing and dose optimization of EVs are still of paramount importance. Unfortunately, to date, there is no entrusted technique for EVs' enumeration. Therefore, controlling batch-to-batch discrepancies is still a challenging concern. As recently argued by van

Disease/model	EVs/MVs/Exosomes	Cells of origin	Ref.
Myocardial infarction	EVs	BM-MSCs	Bian et al. (2014)
Liver fibrosis	EVs	BM-MSCs	Rostom et al. (2020)
Lethal hepatic failure	EVs	BM-MSCs	Haga et al. (2017)
Acute kidney injury	EVs	Human liver stem cells	Sanchez et al. (2014)
Progressive multiple sclerosis	EVs	Human AD-MSCs	Laso-García et al. (2018)
Spinal cord injury	EVs	BM-MSCs	Ruppert et al. (2018)
Acute graft-versus-host disease	EVs	Human umbilical cord derived MSCs	Wang et al. (2016)
Osteoarthritis	EVs	Human umbilical cord derived MSCs	Vonk et al. (2018)
	Exosomes	Synovial MSCs	Tao et al. (2017)
Acute lung injury	MVs	BM-MSCs	Zhu et al. (2014)
Retinal laser injury	Exosomes	Human UCB-MSCs and AD-MSCs	Yu et al. (2016)
Skin wound	Exosomes	Human AD-MSCs	Hu et al. (2016)
Myocardial infarction	miR-101a-enriched exosomes	Human BM-MSCs	Wang et al. (2020)

 Table 4
 MSC EVs/exosomes in various applications

Balkom and colleagues, (van Balkom et al. 2019) enormous efforts have to be devoted to developing precise analytical methods for EVs' production, purification, and characterization in terms of molecular composition. Furthermore, the need to enhance EVs' homing and directed targeting to injured tissues (by up-regulating integrin expression as an example). As unmodified exosomes are readily cleared from the circulation, therefore PEG-lipid conjugates inserted into exosome membranes could extend the blood circulation time (Roura and Bayes-Genis 2019).

3.2.3 MSC-Mediated Organelle Transfer

Over the last decade, there has been a substantial interest in different types of cell-to-cell interaction which include the transfer of cytoplasmic material and organelles between cells. Compared to other stem cell types, MSC-mediated organelle transfer has the main focus of researchers to date. MSCs have the capacity to establish sophisticated transport networks that allow effective communication with stressed/injured somatic cells, regardless of their lineage.

In terms of MSCs, intercellular communication is key for all biological processes, including the maintenance of tissue homeostasis, management of the normal cellular functionality and interaction with signals from the external environmental that impact their fate. They can continuously interact with both neighboring as well as distant cells via a wide scale variety of communication networks, such as paracrine signaling, transport through communicating (gap) junctions and electrical coupling, TNTs, and EVs (Murray and Krasnodembskaya 2019). A mounting evidence suggests that MSCs can transfer their cytoplasmic element and organelles (as mitochondria) various cell types, including neurons, to (Babenko et al. 2018) neural stem cells, (Boukelmoune et al. 2018) cardiomyocytes, (Ma 2013) vascular myocytes, et al. (Vallabhaneni et al. 2012) alveolar pneumocytes, (Islam et al. 2012) renal tubular epithelium, (Naoto et al. 2019) corneal epithelium, (Jiang et al. 2016) endothelium, (Liu et al. 2014) and immune cells, (Court et al. 2020) particularly under conditions of cell injury/stress. Interestingly, MSCs' mitochondrial transfer can take place via the secretion of EVs, the formation of connexin 43-containing gap junctions, and TNTs. Two Rho-GTPases, Miro 1 and Miro 2, are shown to link mitochondria to microtubuleassociated motor proteins (e.g. kinesin) which facilitate mitochondrial movement along the TNTs connecting two cells. Thus far, most

studies argue that transfer of functional mitochondria results in the improvement of mitochondrial respiration, ATP production and/or alleviation of mitochondrial ROS in the recipient cells, leading to improved cell viability and functionality. Oxidative responses are known to play an instrumental role in the pathogenesis of tissue damage. During oxidative stress, molecular oxygen is inadequately reduced in the mitochondria, resulting in excessive levels of ROS that lead to various forms of injurious effects such as lipid peroxidation, DNA damage, as well as cell death (Hu et al. 2018). In addition, there is evidence indicating the involvement of mitochondrial transfer in the molding of nuclear transcription factors, contributing to cellular reprogramming (Sinclair et al. 2016). In addition to donating functional mitochondria to recipient cells, MSCs could also help to eliminate the defective mitochondria via TNT-mediated lysosomal transfer (Liu et al. 2014). The mechanism of lysosome transfer can involve ATP and motor proteins, as kinesin and dynein, which permit the movement of lysosomes along microtubules. Yet, further investigation is still needed to verify the exact mechanism.

Interestingly, cytoplasmic/organelle transfer does only take place from MSCs to their cell neighbors, it happens the other way around too. In several studies, (Figeac et al. 2014; Mahrouf-Yorgov et al. 2017) it is reported that transport of cytoplasmic contents was mainly directed from differentiated cells toward MSCs. Figeac et al. (2014) argued that TNTs helped bidirectional cytoplasmic transfer between MSCs and stressed cardiomyocytes an experimental model of myocardial infarction. Such bidirectional cytoplasmic exchange was vital for boosting the secretory abilities of MSC for cardioprotective soluble factors, enhancing their therapeutic abilities. Likewise, mitochondrial release from dying cardiomyocytes could be key environmental cues that manipulate the cytoprotective ability of MSCs (Mahrouf-Yorgov et al. 2017). In other context, mitochondrial transfer form vascular smooth muscle cells can regulate MSC proliferation (Vallabhaneni et al. 2012).

4 Limitations of MSC therapeutics

The data available for MSC research to date seems to send two main messages. First, MSCs possess great therapeutic potential, which can be harnessed to treat myriad disorders. Second, clearly not all MSC preparations are equal in potency (Wagner and Ho 2007). It is quite obvious that careful attention to manufacturing protocols is a must for effective reproducibility in MSC-based medicine. Nevertheless, to date, it is still unachievable to pinpoint the pertinent quality attributes, which can be gauged in vitro as predictors of in vivo efficiency, to be used as release criteria and for quality check during the manufacturing processes. Other factors that warrants further optimization could be the timing and dosage of MSC administration, selection of administration routes, detection of injection timepoints, choice of disease models, and the fate of MSCs in vivo (retention, differentiation, etc.).

Another factor that impact MSC efficacy is their source. MSCs obtained from elderly subjects, (Mueller and Glowacki 2001) or from patients developing diabetes, (Cianfarani et al. 2013) or rheumatoid arthritis (Sun et al. 2015) have inferior therapeutic effects compared to those obtained from healthy subjects, resulting in disappointing treatment outcomes. In these conditions, the intrinsic properties of MSCs are altered, thus impairing their protective function. In addition, it is difficult to obtain enough quantities of healthy autologous MSCs with high activity from patients suffering from these medical conditions. Nevertheless. many publications made the opposite argument that compared to cells from healthy donors, MSCs obtained from Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis (ALS) patients did not depict any considerable alterations in their functionality, chromosomal alterations or cellular senescence (Ferrero et al. 2008). Anyways, allogeneic MSCs from young healthy donors remains a rational approach to resolve the issue with autologous cells, if any. However, collection of most types of MSCs is still an invasive procedure, highlighting the

importance of perinatal tissues (placenta, umbilical cord blood, and Wharton's jelly) as desirable alternative sources.

MSCs demonstrate specific tumor-oriented migration as well as incorporation capacity in several pre-clinical models, justifying their use as favorable carriers for anticancer drugs/genes. Nonetheless, MSCs show both pro- and anticancer features, thus considered as a doubleedged sword. MSCs are found to be involved in various stages of tumor progression (Galland and Stamenkovic 2020). They home towards tumor cells attracted by tumor-secreted soluble factors. Once in tumor stroma, MSCs stimulate epithelial to mesenchymal transition (EMT) of cancer cells. Additionally, MSCs enhance metastatic potential of cancer cells (AHN 2020). MSCs also enhance tumor progression by promoting tumor cell stemness and manipulating tumor microenvironment (e.g. by angiogenesis and/or immunomodulation) (Galland and Stamenkovic 2020). On the other side, a variety of pro-tumor trophic factors secreted by tumor cells affect not only the phenotypic features of MSCs, but also their gene expression, illustrating the tumor-MSC bi-directional interactions.

Another dilemma is the ability of MSCs to fuse with host cells forming heterokaryons or entosis-derived hybrids with regenerative potential (Sottile et al. 2016). MSCs are an important adult stem cell resource with great potential for regenerative medicine. However, it is still essential to fully investigate both pros and cons of such hybrids. Future studies are still needed to verify how synkaryons divide and segregate their chromosomes to generate stable or unstable hybrids with regenerative or oncogenic potential, respectively (Berndt et 2013). al. The consequences of cell fusion could be even worse in case MSCs were genetically modified, leading to modification of host cell genome. An appealing approach to guard against any harmful repercussions of cell fusion is the microencapsulation of MSCs within various biomaterials (e.g. hyaluronic acid, alginate, agarose, etc.) that can also provide a physiologic environment that promotes cell survival, (Khatab et al. 2020) functionality, (Attia et al. 2014) and prevent immune 2015). response (Hashemi and Kalalinia

Interestingly, microencapsulated MSCs can still provide their paracrine function and influence the site of implantation with their therapeutic protein expression/overexpression. Similarly, MSC microencapsulation might be an effective techreported nique to evade the recently pro-oncogenic risk of MSCs mediated by direct cell-to-cell contact with cancer cells (Rodini et al. 2018).

In addition, long-term in vitro cultures/ manipulations of MSCs can cause genetic instability and chromosomal abnormalities (Musial-Wysocka et al. 2019). MSCs' expansion in vitro reduces their replicative and differentiation potential, and brings about senescence (Neri 2019). Moreover, it reduces the efficiency of DNA polymerase and repair systems, thus leading to building up of DNA damage, such as mutations (deletions, duplications, rearrangements), as well as epigenetic changes. Therefore, younger passages are more desirable for transplantation in vivo.

5 Future Perspectives

Despite the documented benefits of MSC use in various pre-clinical and clinical applications, the exact mechanisms behind such effects are still under investigation. By time, scientists continue to discover new potential means by which MSCs could help protecting, improving or regenerating tissues. Moreover, long-term research studies will be necessary to investigate any long-term effects of MSCs therapies, including the adverse effects. However, in agreement with A.I. Caplan, (2019a) we believe that if MSCs can halt GvHD, (Elgaz et al. 2019) mitigate the injurious impact of heart attacks on cardiac tissues, (Bagno et al. 2018) and alleviate low-back pain in patients (Mesoblast Phase 2 clinical trial), (Ghosh et al. 2013) scientists should continue to use them. Hopefully, researchers will eventually figure out how MSCs did it, and will try to make them work even better. Therefore, we are still to see better isolation, purification, cultivation, manipulation, and patient presentation protocols. Yet, as any other fascinating therapeutic tool, MSCs are to be used wisely.

References

- Abdel Aal S, Abdelrahman S, Raafat N (2019) Comparative therapeutic effects of mesenchymal stem cells versus their conditioned media in alleviation of CCL4-induced liver fibrosis in rats: Histological and biochemical study. J Med Histol 3(1):1–20
- Afanasyev BV, Elstner E, Zander AR (2009) AJ Friedenstein, founder of the mesenchymal stem cell concept. Cell Ther Transplant 1(3):35–38
- AHN SY (2020) The role of MSCs in the tumor microenvironment and tumor progression. Anticancer Res 40 (6):3039–3047
- Anversa P, Kajstura J, Leri A (2004) Circulating progenitor cells: search for an identity. Am Heart Assoc 3158–3160
- Attia N et al (2014) Behaviour and ultrastructure of human bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells immobilised in alginate-poly-l-lysine-alginate microcapsules. Journal of microencapsulation 31 (6):579–589
- Attia N et al (2018) Stem cell-based gene delivery mediated by cationic niosomes for bone regeneration. Nanomedicine: Nanotechnology, Biology and Medicine 14(2):521–531
- Babenko VA et al (2018) Miro1 enhances mitochondria transfer from multipotent mesenchymal stem cells (MMSC) to neural cells and improves the efficacy of cell recovery. Molecules 23(3):687
- Bagno L et al (2018) Mesenchymal stem cell-based therapy for cardiovascular disease: progress and challenges. Mol Ther 26(7):1610–1623
- Berebichez-Fridman R, Montero-Olvera PR (2018) Sources and clinical applications of mesenchymal stem cells: state-of-the-art review. Sultan Qaboos Univ Med J 18(3):e264
- Berndt B, Zanker KS, Dittmar T (2013) Cell fusion is a potent inducer of aneuploidy and drug resistance in tumor cell/ normal cell hybrids. Crit Rev Oncog 18 (1–2):97–113
- Bian S et al (2014) Extracellular vesicles derived from human bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells promote angiogenesis in a rat myocardial infarction model. Journal of molecular medicine 92(4):387–397
- Boukelmoune N et al (2018) Mitochondrial transfer from mesenchymal stem cells to neural stem cells protects against the neurotoxic effects of cisplatin. Acta neuropathologica communications 6(1):1–13
- Butler J et al (2017) Intravenous allogeneic mesenchymal stem cells for nonischemic cardiomyopathy: safety and efficacy results of a phase II-A randomized trial. Circulation Research 120(2):332–340
- Candini O et al (2015) Mesenchymal progenitors aging highlights a mi R-196 switch targeting HOXB7 as master regulator of proliferation and osteogenesis. Stem Cells 33(3):939–950
- Cao H et al (2011) Characterization of immortalized mesenchymal stem cells derived from foetal porcine pancreas. Cell proliferation 44(1):19–32

- Cao B et al (2014) Stem cells loaded with nanoparticles as a drug carrier for in vivo breast cancer therapy. Advanced Materials 26(27):4627–4631
- Caplan AI (2019a) There is no "stem cell mess". Tissue Eng Part B Rev 25(4):291–293
- Caplan AI (2019b) Medicinal signalling cells: they work, so use them. Nature 566(7742):39–40
- Carlini FR et al (2019) Transcriptome analysis of mesenchymal stem cells from multiple myeloma patients reveals downregulation of genes involved in cell cycle progression, immune response, and bone metabolism. Sci Rep 9(1)
- Chen J-J, Zhou S-H (2011) Mesenchymal stem cells overexpressing MiR-126 enhance ischemic angiogenesis via the AKT/ERK-related pathway. Cardiology journal 18(6):675–681
- Chen FH et al (2007) Mesenchymal stem cells. In: Principles of tissue engineering. Elsevier, pp 823–843
- Chen J et al (2011) Simultaneous regeneration of articular cartilage and subchondral bone in vivo using MSCs induced by a spatially controlled gene delivery system in bilayered integrated scaffolds. Biomaterials 32 (21):4793–4805
- Chen B et al (2016) Protective effect of Ad-VEGF-Bone mesenchymal stem cells on cerebral infarction. Turkish neurosurgery 26(1):8
- Cheung WY et al (2018) Efficient nonviral transfection of human bone marrow mesenchymal stromal cells shown using placental growth factor overexpression. Stem Cells International 2018
- Chu Y et al (2014) Human placenta mesenchymal stem cells expressing exogenous kringle1-5 protein by fibermodified adenovirus suppress angiogenesis. Cancer Gene Therapy 21(5):200–208
- Chudickova M et al (2019) The effect of Wharton jellyderived mesenchymal stromal cells and their conditioned media in the treatment of a rat spinal cord injury. International journal of molecular sciences 20(18):4516
- Cianfarani F et al (2013) Diabetes impairs adipose tissuederived stem cell function and efficiency in promoting wound healing. Wound repair and regeneration 21 (4):545–553
- Copland IB, Galipeau J (2011) Death and inflammation following somatic cell transplantation. In: Seminars in immunopathology. Springer
- Court AC et al (2020) Mitochondrial transfer from MSCs to T cells induces Treg differentiation and restricts inflammatory response. EMBO reports 21(2):e48052
- Curtin CM et al (2012) Innovative collagen nanohydroxyapatite scaffolds offer a highly efficient non-viral gene delivery platform for stem cellmediated bone formation. Advanced materials 24 (6):749–754
- Dahbour S et al (2017) Mesenchymal stem cells and conditioned media in the treatment of multiple sclerosis patients: clinical, ophthalmological and radiological assessments of safety and efficacy. CNS neuroscience & therapeutics 23(11):866–874

- Dai T et al (2013) Preparation and drug release mechanism of CTS-TAX-NP-MSCs drug delivery system. International journal of pharmaceutics 456(1):186–194
- Detante O et al (2012) Magnetic resonance imaging and fluorescence labeling of clinical-grade mesenchymal stem cells without impacting their phenotype: study in a rat model of stroke. Stem cells translational medicine 1(4):333–340
- Dominici MJC (2006) Minimum criteria for defining multipotent stem cells-The ISCT position statement. Cytotherapy 8(4):315–317
- Dong H-J et al (2019) Meeting prometheus: the mechanism of MSC-based therapies; cell replacement or "Pretended Bystander Effects"? Turkish neurosurgery 29(4)
- Elgaz S et al (2019) Clinical use of mesenchymal stromal cells in the treatment of acute graft-versus-host disease. Transfus Med Hemother 46(1):27–34
- Fernandes-Cunha GM et al (2019) Corneal wound healing effects of mesenchymal stem cell secretome delivered within a viscoelastic gel carrier. Stem cells translational medicine 8(5):478–489
- Ferrero I et al (2008) Bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells from healthy donors and sporadic amyotrophic lateral sclerosis patients. Cell transplantation 17 (3):255–266
- Figeac F et al (2014) Nanotubular crosstalk with distressed cardiomyocytes stimulates the paracrine repair function of mesenchymal stem cells. Stem Cells 32 (1):216–230
- Florea V et al (2017) Dose comparison study of allogeneic mesenchymal stem cells in patients with ischemic cardiomyopathy (the TRIDENT study). Circulation research 121(11):1279–1290
- Galland S, Stamenkovic IJT (2020) Mesenchymal stromal cells in cancer: a review of their immunomodulatory functions and dual effects on tumor progression. J Pathol 250(5):555–572
- Geffner L et al (2008) Administration of autologous bone marrow stem cells into spinal cord injury patients via multiple routes is safe and improves their quality of life: comprehensive case studies. Cell transplantation 17(12):1277–1293
- Ghavamzadeh A et al (2010) Co-transplantation of HLA-matched related donors culture-expanded mesenchymal stromal cells and hematopoietic stem cells in thalassemia major patients. Biology of Blood and Marrow Transplantation 16(2):S214
- Ghosh P, Goldschlager T, Itescu S (2013) Back pain—a clinical challenge addressed by Mesoblast using their mesenchymal precursor cells. Nature Outlook
- Gimbel M et al (2007) Repair of alveolar cleft defects: reduced morbidity with bone marrow stem cells in a resorbable matrix. Journal of Craniofacial Surgery 18(4):895–901
- Gimble JM et al (2008) In vitro differentiation potential of mesenchymal stem cells. Transfusion Medicine and Hemotherapy 35(3):228–238
- Gonzalez-Fernandez T et al (2016) Gene delivery of TGF- β 3 and BMP2 in an MSC-laden alginate hydrogel for articular cartilage and endochondral

bone tissue engineering. Tissue Engineering Part A 22(9–10):776–787

- Gonzalez-Fernandez T et al (2017) Mesenchymal stem cell fate following non-viral gene transfection strongly depends on the choice of delivery vector. Acta biomaterialia 55:226–238
- Haga H et al (2017) Extracellular vesicles from bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells improve survival from lethal hepatic failure in mice. Stem cells translational medicine 6(4):1262–1272
- Hashemi M, Kalalinia F (2015) Application of encapsulation technology in stem cell therapy. Life Sci 143:139–146
- He X et al (2014) Enhanced healing of rat calvarial defects with MSCs loaded on BMP-2 releasing chitosan/alginate/hydroxyapatite scaffolds. PLoS One 9(8): e104061
- Heldman AW et al (2014) Transendocardial mesenchymal stem cells and mononuclear bone marrow cells for ischemic cardiomyopathy: the TAC-HFT randomized trial. Jama 311(1):62–73
- Hibi H et al (2006) Alveolar cleft osteoplasty using tissueengineered osteogenic material. International journal of oral and maxillofacial surgery 35(6):551–555
- Hombach AA et al (2020) IL7-IL12 Engineered mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) improve a CAR T cell attack against colorectal cancer cells. Cells 9(4):873
- Horwitz E et al (2005) Clarification of the nomenclature for MSC: The International Society for Cellular Therapy position statement. Cytotherapy 7(5):393–395
- Hu L et al (2016) Exosomes derived from human adipose mensenchymal stem cells accelerates cutaneous wound healing via optimizing the characteristics of fibroblasts. Scientific reports 6:32993
- Hu C et al (2018) Regulation of the mitochondrial reactive oxygen species: strategies to control mesenchymal stem cell fates ex vivo and in vivo. Journal of cellular and molecular medicine 22(11):5196–5207
- Ionescu L et al (2012) Stem cell conditioned medium improves acute lung injury in mice: in vivo evidence for stem cell paracrine action. Journal of Physiology-Lung Cellular and Molecular Physiology 303(11): L967–L977
- Iseri K et al (2016) Therapeutic effects and mechanism of conditioned media from human mesenchymal stem cells on anti-GBM glomerulonephritis in WKY rats. American Journal of Physiology-Renal Physiology 310:F1182–F1191
- Islam MN et al (2012) Mitochondrial transfer from bonemarrow-derived stromal cells to pulmonary alveoli protects against acute lung injury. Nature medicine 18(5):759–765
- Jeon SY et al (2012) Co-delivery of SOX9 genes and anti-Cbfa-1 siRNA coated onto PLGA nanoparticles for chondrogenesis of human MSCs. Biomaterials 33 (17):4413–4423
- Jeong SR et al (2012) Hepatocyte growth factor reduces astrocytic scar formation and promotes axonal growth beyond glial scars after spinal cord injury. Experimental neurology 233(1):312–322

- Jiang D et al (2016) Mitochondrial transfer of mesenchymal stem cells effectively protects corneal epithelial cells from mitochondrial damage. Cell death & disease 7(11):e2467–e2467
- Katagiri W et al (2016) First-in-human study and clinical case reports of the alveolar bone regeneration with the secretome from human mesenchymal stem cells. Head & face medicine 12(1):5
- Keilhoff G et al (2006) Transdifferentiation of mesenchymal stem cells into Schwann cell-like myelinating cells. European Journal of Cell Biology 85(1):11–24
- Khatab S, et al (2020) MSC encapsulation in alginate microcapsules prolongs survival after intra-articular injection, a longitudinal in vivo cell and bead integrity tracking study. Cell Biology and Toxicology
- Kidd S et al (2010) Mesenchymal stromal cells alone or expressing interferon-β suppress pancreatic tumors in vivo, an effect countered by anti-inflammatory treatment. Cytotherapy 12(5):615–625
- Kim SM et al (2008) Gene therapy using TRAIL-secreting human umbilical cord blood–derived mesenchymal stem cells against intracranial glioma. Cancer research 68(23):9614–9623
- Kim SH et al (2011) Hypoxia-inducible vascular endothelial growth factor-engineered mesenchymal stem cells prevent myocardial ischemic injury. Molecular Therapy 19(4):741–750
- Laso-García F et al (2018) Therapeutic potential of extracellular vesicles derived from human mesenchymal stem cells in a model of progressive multiple sclerosis. PLoS One 13(9):e0202590
- Lee S et al (2015) Cell adhesion and long-term survival of transplanted mesenchymal stem cells: a prerequisite for cell therapy. Oxidative medicine and cellular longevity 2015
- Li G et al (2009) Comparative proteomic analysis of mesenchymal stem cells derived from human bone marrow, umbilical cord, and placenta: implication in the migration. Proteomics 9(1):20–30
- Li L et al (2011) Silica nanorattle–doxorubicin-anchored mesenchymal stem cells for tumor-tropic therapy. ACS nano 5(9):7462–7470
- Li D et al (2013) Mesenchymal stem cells protect podocytes from apoptosis induced by high glucose via secretion of epithelial growth factor. Stem cell research & therapy 4(5):1–11
- Lim JY et al (2010) Microporation is a valuable transfection method for efficient gene delivery into human umbilical cord blood-derived mesenchymal stem cells. BMC biotechnology 10(1):–38
- Liu K et al (2014) Mesenchymal stem cells rescue injured endothelial cells in an in vitro ischemia–reperfusion model via tunneling nanotube like structuremediated mitochondrial transfer. Microvascular research 92:10–18
- Lu S-S et al (2013) In vivo MR imaging of intraarterially delivered magnetically labeled mesenchymal stem cells in a canine stroke model. PloS one 8(2):e54963
- Ma Z et al (2013) Mesenchymal stem cell-cardiomyocyte interactions under defined contact modes on laserpatterned biochips. PLoS One 8(2):e56554

- Madeira C et al (2010) Nonviral gene delivery to mesenchymal stem cells using cationic liposomes for gene and cell therapy. BioMed Research International, 2010
- Mahrouf-Yorgov M et al (2017) Mesenchymal stem cells sense mitochondria released from damaged cells as danger signals to activate their rescue properties. Cell Death & Differentiation 24(7):1224–1238
- Malik YS et al (2018) Polylysine-modified polyethylenimine polymer can generate genetically engineered mesenchymal stem cells for combinational suicidal gene therapy in glioblastoma. Acta biomaterialia 80:144–153
- Mammana S et al (2019) Human gingival mesenchymal stem cells pretreated with vesicular moringin nanostructures as a new therapeutic approach in a mouse model of spinal cord injury. J Tissue Eng Regen Med 13(7):1109–1121
- Mashal M et al (2017) Retinal gene delivery enhancement by lycopene incorporation into cationic niosomes based on DOTMA and polysorbate 60. Journal of controlled release 254:55–64
- Mashal M et al (2019) Gene delivery to the rat retina by non-viral vectors based on chloroquine-containing cationic niosomes. Journal of the controlled release 304:181–190
- Mehanna RA, et al (2015) The effect of bone marrowderived mesenchymal stem cells and their conditioned media topically delivered in fibrin glue on chronic wound healing in rats. BioMed research international
- Mellott AJ, Forrest ML, Detamore MS (2013) Physical non-viral gene delivery methods for tissue engineering. Ann Biomed Eng 41(3):446–468
- Mizrahi O et al (2013) BMP-6 is more efficient in bone formation than BMP-2 when overexpressed in mesenchymal stem cells. Gene therapy 20(4):370–377
- Moku G et al (2019) Improving payload capacity and antitumor efficacy of mesenchymal stem cells using TAT peptide functionalized polymeric nanoparticles. Cancers (Basel):**11**(4)
- Moon H-H et al (2014) MSC-based VEGF gene therapy in rat myocardial infarction model using facial amphipathic bile acid-conjugated polyethyleneimine. Biomaterials 35(5):1744–1754
- Morbach S et al (2004) Regional differences in risk factors and clinical presentation of diabetic foot lesions. Diabetic Medicine 21(1):91–95
- Mueller SM, Glowacki J (2001) Age-related decline in the osteogenic potential of human bone marrow cells cultured in three-dimensional collagen sponges. J Cell Biochem 82(4):583–590
- Muhammad T et al (2019) Mesenchymal stem cellmediated delivery of therapeutic adenoviral vectors to prostate cancer. Stem cell research & therapy 10(1):190
- Murray LM, Krasnodembskaya AD (2019) Concise review: intercellular communication via organelle transfer in the biology and therapeutic applications of stem cells. Stem Cells 37(1):14–25
- Musiał-Wysocka A, Kot M, Majka M (2019) The pros and cons of mesenchymal stem cell-based therapies. Cell Transplant 28(7):801–812

- Musial-Wysocka A, Kot M, Majka M (2019) The pros and cons of mesenchymal stem cell-based therapies. Cell Transplant 28(7):801–812
- Muslimov AR et al (2020) Biomimetic drug delivery platforms based on mesenchymal stem cells impregnated with light-responsive submicron sized carriers. Biomaterials science 8(4):1137–1147
- Nakae M et al (2006) Effects of basic fibroblast growth factor on experimental diabetic neuropathy in rats. 55 (5):1470–1477
- Nakajima M et al (2017) Mesenchymal stem cells overexpressing interleukin-10 promote neuroprotection in experimental acute ischemic stroke. Molecular Therapy-Methods & Clinical Development 6:102–111
- Nakashima S et al (2005) Highly efficient transfection of human marrow stromal cells by nucleofection. In: Transplant Proc. Elsevier
- Naoto K et al (2019) Mitochondria transfer from mesenchymal stem cells structurally and functionally repairs renal proximal tubular epithelial cells in diabetic nephropathy in vivo. Scientific Reports (Nature Publisher Group) 9(1)
- Neri S (2019) Genetic stability of mesenchymal stromal cells for regenerative medicine applications: a fundamental biosafety aspect. Int J Mol Sci 20(10)
- Niess H et al (2015) Treatment of advanced gastrointestinal tumors with genetically modified autologous mesenchymal stromal cells (TREAT-ME1): study protocol of a phase I/II clinical trial. BMC cancer 15(1):237
- Nishiyama N et al (2005) Smart polymeric micelles for gene and drug delivery. Drug Discovery Today: Technologies 2(1):21–26
- Nissan X et al (2012) Unique preservation of neural cells in Hutchinson-Gilford progeria syndrome is due to the expression of the neural-specific miR-9 microRNA. Cell Reports 2(1):1–9
- Noiseux N et al (2006) Mesenchymal stem cells overexpressing Akt dramatically repair infarcted myocardium and improve cardiac function despite infrequent cellular fusion or differentiation. Molecular Therapy 14(6):840–850
- Orozco L et al (2011) Intervertebral disc repair by autologous mesenchymal bone marrow cells: a pilot study. Transplantation 92(7):822–828
- Orozco L et al (2013) Treatment of knee osteoarthritis with autologous mesenchymal stem cells: a pilot study. Transplantation 95(12):1535–1541
- Orozco L et al (2014) Treatment of knee osteoarthritis with autologous mesenchymal stem cells: two-year followup results. Transplantation 97(11):e66–e68
- Otero L et al (2011) Late transplantation of allogeneic bone marrow stromal cells improves neurologic deficits subsequent to intracerebral hemorrhage. Cytotherapy 13(5):562–571
- Park HH, et al (2020) TGF- β secreted by human umbilical cord blood-derived mesenchymal stem cells ameliorates atopic dermatitis by inhibiting secretion of TNF- α and IgE STEM CELLS
- Pascucci L et al (2014) Paclitaxel is incorporated by mesenchymal stromal cells and released in exosomes that

inhibit in vitro tumor growth: a new approach for drug delivery. Journal of Controlled Release 192:262–270

- Pires AO et al (2016) Unveiling the differences of secretome of human bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells, adipose tissue-derived stem cells, and human umbilical cord perivascular cells: a proteomic analysis. Stem cells and development 25(14):1073–1083
- Piri Z et al (2012) Interleukin-25 as a candidate gene in immunogene therapy of pancreatic cancer. Journal of Medical Hypotheses and Ideas 6(2):75–79
- Premer C et al (2019) Mesenchymal stem cell secretion of SDF-1α modulates endothelial function in dilated cardiomyopathy. Frontiers in Physiology 10:1182
- Qi S, Wu D (2013) Bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells protect against cisplatin-induced acute kidney injury in rats by inhibiting cell apoptosis. Int J Mol Med 32(6):1262–1272
- Raisin S et al (2017) Tripartite polyionic complex (PIC) micelles as non-viral vectors for mesenchymal stem cell siRNA transfection. Biomaterials science 5(9):1910–1921
- Rejman J et al (2010) mRNA transfection of cervical carcinoma and mesenchymal stem cells mediated by cationic carriers. J Control Release 147(3):385–391
- Roch AM et al (2020) Therapeutic use of adipose-derived stromal cells in a murine model of acute pancreatitis Journal of Gastrointestinal Surgery 24(1):67–75
- Rodini CO et al (2018) Mesenchymal stem cells enhance tumorigenic properties of human glioblastoma through independent cell-cell communication mechanisms. Oncotarget 9(37):24766–24777
- Rohart F et al (2016) A molecular classification of human mesenchymal stromal cells. Peer J 4:e1845
- Rong X et al (2019) Human bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells-derived exosomes alleviate liver fibrosis through the Wnt/β-catenin pathway. Stem cell research & therapy 10(1):1–11
- Rossignoli F et al (2019) Inducible Caspase9-mediated suicide gene for MSC-based cancer gene therapy. cancer gene therapy 26(1):11–16
- Rostom DM et al (2020) The therapeutic potential of extracellular vesicles versus mesenchymal stem cells in liver damage, Tissue Engineering and Regenerative Medicine vol 17, pp 537–552
- Roura S, Bayes-Genis AJP (2019) Toward standardization of mesenchymal stromal cell-derived extracellular vesicles for therapeutic use: a call for action. Proteomics 19(1–2):1800397
- Ruppert KA et al (2018) Human mesenchymal stromal cell-derived extracellular vesicles modify microglial response and improve clinical outcomes in experimental spinal cord injury. Scientific reports 8(1):1–12
- Rustad KC, Gurtner GC (2012) Mesenchymal stem cells home to sites of injury and inflammation. Adv Wound Care 1(4):147–152
- Ryu CH et al (2012) Valproic acid enhances anti-tumor effect of mesenchymal stem cell mediated HSV-TK gene therapy in intracranial glioma. Biochemical and biophysical research communications 421(3):585–590
- Sagaradze G et al (2019) Conditioned medium from human mesenchymal stromal cells: towards the clinical

translation. International journal of molecular sciences 20(7):1656

- Sanchez MBH et al (2014) Human liver stem cells and derived extracellular vesicles improve recovery in a murine model of acute kidney injury. Stem cell research & therapy 5(6):124
- Sato H et al (2005) Epidermal growth factor receptortransfected bone marrow stromal cells exhibit enhanced migratory response and therapeutic potential against murine brain tumors. Cancer gene therapy 12(9):757–768
- Seleci DA et al (2017) Tumor homing and penetrating peptide-conjugated niosomes as multi-drug carriers for tumor-targeted drug delivery. RSC advances 7(53):33378–33384
- Seo S et al (2011) The effects of mesenchymal stem cells injected via different routes on modified IL-12-mediated antitumor activity. Gene therapy 18(5):488–495
- Shahror RA et al (2020) Transplantation of mesenchymal stem cells overexpressing fibroblast growth factor 21 facilitates cognitive recovery and enhances neurogenesis in a mouse model of traumatic brain injury. Journal of Neurotrauma 37(1):14–26
- Shan X et al (2018) Adipose stem cells with conditioned media for treatment of acne vulgaris scar. Tissue Engineering and Regenerative Medicine 15(1):49–61
- Sheyn D et al (2010) Genetically modified mesenchymal stem cells induce mechanically stable posterior spine fusion. Tissue Engineering Part A 16(12):3679–3686
- Shibata T et al (2008) Transplantation of bone marrowderived mesenchymal stem cells improves diabetic polyneuropathy in rats. Diabetes 57(11):3099–3107
- Shyu W-C et al (2007) Efficient tracking of non-ironlabeled mesenchymal stem cells with serial MRI in chronic stroke rats. Stroke 38(2):367–374
- Sinclair KA et al (2016) Characterization of intercellular communication and mitochondrial donation by mesenchymal stromal cells derived from the human lung. Stem cell research & therapy 7(1):91
- Son S et al (2015) Magnetofection mediated transient NANOG overexpression enhances proliferation and myogenic differentiation of human hair follicle derived mesenchymal stem cells. Bioconjugate chemistry 26(7):1314–1327
- Sottile F et al (2016) Mesenchymal stem cells generate distinct functional hybrids in vitro via cell fusion or entosis. Scientific reports 6:36863
- Srifa W et al (2020) Cas9-AAV6-engineered human mesenchymal stromal cells improved cutaneous wound healing in diabetic mice. Nature communications 11(1):1–14
- Sun Y, et al (2015) Mesenchymal stem cells from patients with rheumatoid arthritis display impaired function in inhibiting Th17 cells. Journal of immunology research
- Sylakowski K, Bradshaw A, Wells A (2020) Mesenchymal stem cell/multipotent stromal cell augmentation of wound healing: lessons from the physiology of matrix and hypoxia support. Am J Pathol
- Tao S-C et al (2017) Exosomes derived from miR-140-5poverexpressing human synovial mesenchymal stem cells enhance cartilage tissue regeneration and prevent

osteoarthritis of the knee in a rat model. The ranostics 7(1):180

- Tompkins BA et al (2018) Comparison of mesenchymal stem cell efficacy in ischemic versus nonischemic dilated cardiomyopathy. Journal of the American Heart Association 7(14):e008460
- Trachtenberg B, et al (2011) Rationale and design of the Transendocardial Injection of Autologous Human Cells (bone marrow or mesenchymal) in Chronic Ischemic Left Ventricular Dysfunction and Heart Failure Secondary to Myocardial Infarction (TAC-HFT) trial: A randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled study of safety and efficacy. American heart journal 161(3): 487–493
- Tripodo G et al (2015) Mesenchymal stromal cells loading curcumin-INVITE-micelles: a drug delivery system for neurodegenerative diseases. Colloids and Surfaces B: Biointerfaces 125:300–308
- Trudel S et al (2001) Adenovector engineered interleukin-2 expressing autologous plasma cell vaccination after high-dose chemotherapy for multiple myeloma-a phase 1 study. Leukemia 15(5):846–854
- Tsai M-J et al (2014) Recovery of neurological function of ischemic stroke by application of conditioned medium of bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells derived from normal and cerebral ischemia rats. Journal of biomedical science 21(1):1–12
- Vallabhaneni KC et al (2012) Vascular smooth muscle cells initiate proliferation of mesenchymal stem cells by mitochondrial transfer via tunneling nanotubes. Stem cells and development 21(17):3104–3113
- van Balkom, Bas WM et al (2019) Proteomic signature of Mesenchymal stromal cell-derived small extracellular vesicles. Proteomics 19(1–2):1800163
- Vaquero J, Zurita M (2011) Functional recovery after severe CNS trauma: current perspectives for cell therapy with bone marrow stromal cells. Progress Neurobiol 93(3):341–349
- Vega A et al (2015) Treatment of knee osteoarthritis with allogeneic bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells: a randomized controlled trial. Transplantation 99(8):1681–1690
- Vizoso FJ et al (2017) Mesenchymal stem cell secretome: toward cell-free therapeutic strategies in regenerative medicine. International journal of molecular sciences 18(9):1852
- Vonk LA et al (2018) Mesenchymal stromal/stem cellderived extracellular vesicles promote human cartilage regeneration in vitro. Theranostics 8(4):906
- Wagner W, Ho AD (2007) Mesenchymal stem cell preparations—comparing apples and oranges. Stem Cell Rev 3(4):239–248
- Wagner W, Frobel J, Goetzke R (2016) Epigenetic quality check–how good are your mesenchymal stromal cells? Future Med 889–894
- Wang L et al (2000) Bone marrow stromal cells of bcl-2 transgenic mice express widespread Bcl-2 protein and reduce apoptosis in a serum-free medium. Am Heart Assoc 380–380
- Wang L et al (2016) Extracellular vesicles released from human umbilical cord-derived mesenchymal stromal

cells prevent life-threatening acute graft-versus-host disease in a mouse model of allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation. Stem cells and development 25(24):1874–1883

- Wang H et al (2019a) PTPN21 overexpression promotes osteogenic and adipogenic differentiation of bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells but inhibits the immunosuppressive function. 2019
- Wang X et al (2019b) Efficient lung cancer-targeted drug delivery via a nanoparticle/MSC system. Acta Pharmaceutica Sinica 9(1):167–176
- Wang J et al (2020) MiR-101a loaded extracellular nanovesicles as bioactive carriers for cardiac repair. Nanomedicine 27:102201
- Wiehe JM et al (2013) GMP-adapted overexpression of CXCR4 in human mesenchymal stem cells for cardiac repair. International journal of cardiology 167(5):2073–2081
- Wilson JG et al (2015) Mesenchymal stem (stromal) cells for treatment of ARDS: a phase 1 clinical trial. Lancet Respir Med 3(1):24–32
- Yamahara K et al (2014) Comparison of angiogenic, cytoprotective, and immunosuppressive properties of human amnion-and chorion-derived mesenchymal stem cells. PloS one 9(2):e88319
- Yang C et al (2018) Theranostic niosomes for efficient siRNA/MicroRNA delivery and activatable nearinfrared fluorescent tracking of stem cells. ACS applied materials & interfaces 10(23):19494–19503
- Yu X et al (2012) Overexpression of CXCR4 in mesenchymal stem cells promotes migration, neuroprotection

and angiogenesis in a rat model of stroke. Journal of the neurological sciences 316(1–2):141–149

- Yu B et al (2016) Exosomes derived from MSCs ameliorate retinal laser injury partially by inhibition of MCP-1. Scientific reports 6:34562
- Yu M et al (2017) Optimizing surface-engineered ultra-small gold nanoparticles for highly efficient miRNA delivery to enhance osteogenic differentiation of bone mesenchymal stromal cells. Nano Research 10(1):49–63
- Zhao M-Z et al (2006) Novel therapeutic strategy for stroke in rats by bone marrow stromal cells and ex vivo HGF gene transfer with HSV-1 vector. Journal of Cerebral Blood Flow & Metabolism 26(9):1176–1188
- Zhao L et al (2016) Enhanced cell survival and paracrine effects of mesenchymal stem cells overexpressing hepatocyte growth factor promote cardioprotection in myocardial infarction. Experimental cell research 344(1):30–39
- Zhao Y et al (2017) Targeted delivery of doxorubicin by nano-loaded mesenchymal stem cells for lung melanoma metastases therapy. Sci Rep 7:44758
- Zheng L et al (2012) Antitumor activities of human placenta-derived mesenchymal stem cells expressing endostatin on ovarian cancer. PloS one 7(7):e39119
- Zhu YG et al (2014) Human mesenchymal stem cell microvesicles for treatment of Escherichia coli endotoxin-induced acute lung injury in mice. Stem cells 32(1):116–125



Extracellular Vesicle Therapeutics in Regenerative Medicine

Aya Imafuku and Sebastian Sjoqvist

Abstract

Extracellular vesicles (EVs) are nano-sized, cell-released vesicles which contain lipids, proteins, and nucleic acids derived from the parental cells. EVs play an important role in intercellular communication and influence both physiological and pathological conditions. They are increasingly explored as potential therapeutic agents since they can cross biological barriers, their cargo is protected from degradation and they are involved in the transfer of bioactive components. EVs can promote tissue regeneration and might be alternatives to cell therapy. They can be used both in their native form, and as delivery vehicles for therapeutic agents. However, there are many hurdles to overcome for broad clinical application of EVs as therapeutics. Here, we review recent conditions regarding EVs therapeutics in regenerative medicine.

ExTherea Inc, Fujisawa, Kanagawa, Japan

S. Sjoqvist (⊠) ExTherea Inc, Fujisawa, Kanagawa, Japan

Department of Clinical Sciences, Intervention and Technology (CLINTEC), Karolinska Institutet, Stockholm, Sweden e-mail: Sebastian.sjoqvist@ki.se

Keywords

Extracellular vesicle · Graft versus host disease · Induced pluripotent stem cell · Inflammatory diseases · Mesenchymal stromal cell

Abbreviations

EV	Extracellular vesicle
MSC	Mesenchymal stromal cell
CNS	Central nervous system
GvHD	Graft versus host disease
iPSC	Induced pluripotent stem cell
SEC	Size-exclusion chromatography

1 Introduction

Extracellular vesicles (EVs) are nano-sized vesicular particles secreted by cells. Initially, EVs were observed in normal plasma as a platelet-derived particle and were referred to as "platelet dust" in 1967 (Wolf 1989). Intensive research in the past few decades has improved understanding of the origin, content, and function of EVs. It has been proven that EVs play a key role in intercellular communication by transfer of their cargoes, such as lipids, proteins, and nucleic acids. In general, EVs are divided into exosomes, microvesicles and apoptotics bodides according to their biogenesis, surface markers, and size (Théry et al. 2018).

A. Imafuku

However, no specific molecular markers can yet confidently divide subtypes of EVs from each other (Théry et al. 2018). EVs exist in all bodily fluids and are likely produced by all types of cells. Numerous studies have shown that they play important roles in both maintaining normal physiological homeostasis and in the development of disease. Based on this, increasing number of researchers are studying the therapeutic applications of EVs.

Conventionally, drug development focused on single small molecular compounds. However, success rate is rather low, especially in diseases of the central nervous system, and other treatment modalities are being investigated, such as recombinant proteins (i.e. growth factors), biologics and nucleic acid medicine. Although some of these strategies have shown efficacy, many researchers started to investigate cell therapy which is a polypharmacological approach and has the potential to target multiple biological pathways. Among them, mesenchymal stromal cells (MSC) is one of the most commonly studied type of cells (Caplan and Correa 2011). Originally, it was expected that transplanted cells would replace damaged tissue through their differentiation capacity. However, many studies showed a low grafting and survival rate of transplanted cells in the target organs (Tögel et al. 2005), indicating that the paracrine effects were primarily responsible for their regenerative potential. This has led to the concept of using the EVs derived from the cells, instead of cells themselves. Furthermore, cell therapy had several disadvantages regarding

Fig. 1 EVs isolated from several different cell sources and food are increasingly being investigated as treatments for a plethora of diseases in most organ systems complex cell handling processes including storing, distributing and using them. Additionally, several adverse effects have been reported, including microbial infection, immune rejection, gene mutation, and tumorigenesis or tumor promotion. In contrast, EV-therapy, which can be called "cell-free polypharmacological approach", can overcome many of these drawbacks, Furthermore, EVs are being explored as vehicles for therapeutic agents, to improve the delivery to the target tissue (Batrakova et al. 2016; Wiklander et al. 2019). Thus, EV-therapy is expected to be the next generation therapy for various diseases and we can expect the number of initiated clinical trials to rise rapidly. Here we review the potential therapeutic applications of EVs in regenerative medicine.

2 Stem Cells-Derived EVs

Stem cell-derived EVs have been used for the treatment of various diseases in preclinical trials. They promote tissue regeneration through numerous mechanisms including induction of regenerative phenotypes, promotion of angiogenesis, immune modulation, inhibiting inflammation, apoptosis, and oxidative stress (Luarte et al. 2016). The field has mainly focused on MSC-derived EVs (MSC-EVs) (Zhang et al. 2020; Álvarez-Viejo 2020). On the other hand, EVs derived from other type of stem cells are also investigated for therapeutic applications (Fig. 1).



MSCs are multipotent stem cells which can be derived from several different tissues including bone marrow, adipose tissue, umbilical cord, periodontal ligament, and even solid organs (Caplan and Correa 2011). MSCs have shown therapeutic benefit in a wide variety of diseases in preclinical studies, and have subsequently been applied to several indications in patients (Galipeau and Sensébé 2018; Squillaro et al. 2016). Specifically, allogenic bone marrow MSC therapy has been approved for steroid resistant graft-versus-host disease (GvHD) in some countries including Japan. However, the treatment remains controversial and its efficacy and safety is not entirely clear. For example, a study where MSCs were co-transplanted with hematopoetic stem cells showed a reduced incidence of GvHD, but an increase in tumor relapse (Ning et al. 2008). Currently, many clinical trials are ongoing for inflammatory diseases, central nervous system (CNS) diseases, kidney diseases, liver diseases, and cardiac diseases (Galipeau and Sensébé 2018; Squillaro et al. 2016). However, several concerns regarding efficacy and safety, including pulmonary embolism, uncontrolled differentiation, infection, and tumor formation still exist.

One of the earliest preclinical studies of MSC-EVs showed its efficacy in a mouse model of myocardial ischemia-reperfusion injury in 2010 (Lai et al. 2010). Subsequently, therapeutic effects of MSC-EVs have been reported in various organs including lung, kidney, liver, CNS, cartilage, bone, and heart (Álvarez-Viejo 2020). Direct comparison of the efficacy of MSC therapy with MSC-EV therapy is difficult, due to the potential of MSCs to provide a long-term source of EVs at the injured site. However, several studies showed that MSC-EVs appear to be as effective as their parental MSCs. Furthermore, there are several advantages of using EVs compared with cells. EVs are likely to have less risks of side effects because they are smaller (especially important for embolism), and handling process is less complex enabling development of "off-theshelf products".

The first case of MSC-EV therapy in human was the administration of allogenic bone marrow MSC-EVs for a patient with therapy-refractory acute GvHD in 2014 (Kordelas et al. 2014). GvHD symptoms recovered within a week after administration of MSC-EV and no significant side effects were observed. To date, several clinical studies of MSC-EVs have been conducted or are ongoing (Zhang et al. 2020). Phase II/III clinical trial of human cord blood-derived EVs for patients with chronic kidney disease showed safety, anti-inflammatory effects and amelioration of kidney dysfunction (Nassar et al. 2016). In addition, clinical trial of MSC-EVs for macular holes (NCT03437759), bronchopulmonary dysplasia (NCT03857841), prevention of fibrosis after cochlear implant surgery, stroke (NCT03384433) and diabetes mellitus type I (NCT02138331) are ongoing. More recently, three clinical trial for MSC-EVs for acute respiratory distress syndrome due to COVID-19 is ongoing in China (NCT04276987, ChiCTR2000030261, ChiCTR2000030484). In summary, the potential of MSC-EVs is widely explored for various diseases.

2.2 Induced Pluripotentand Embryonic Stem Cell-Derived EVs

The effects of induced pluripotent stem cellsderived EVs (iPSC-EVs) and embryonic stem cells-derived EVs have also been reported in animal models (Zhang et al. 2019; Taheri et al. 2019). Zhang et al. reported the effect of EVs from iPSC-derived MSCs (iPSC-MSC-EVs) in a rat model of cutaneous wound healing in 2015 (Zhang et al. 2015). Subsequently, many researchers reported the effect of iPSC-MSC-EVs or iPSC-derived cardiac progenitor cell-EVs for skin, bone, liver, cardiac, and CNS diseases (Luarte et al. 2016; Rutering et al. 2016). Benefits of these cell types is that they have great proliferation potential and large number of homogenous cells can be acquired. However, the risk of certain adverse effects, especially teratoma-formation (due to cellular contamination of the EVs), is one of the largest drawbacks (Gutierrez-Aranda et al. 2010).

3 Progenitor Celland Differentiated Cell-Derived EVs

Researchers are also trying to apply EVs derived from progenitor cells and differentiated cells as therapeutics. For example, endothelial progenitor cell- derived EVs for myocardial infaction (Xing et al. 2020), cardiac progenitor cell-derived EVs for angiogenesis (Vrijsen et al. 2016), amnion epithelial cell-derived EVs for lung fibrosis (Tan et al. 2018), cardiosphere cells-derived MVs for cardiac diseases (Aminzadeh et al. 2015), umbilical endothelial cells-derived EVs for atherosclerosis (Hergenreider et al. 2012), and oral epithelial cell-derived EVs for skin wounds (Sjöqvist et al. 2019; Sjoqvist et al. 2019).

4 Milk and Plant-Derived EVs

Several research groups have also isolated EVs from milk and different types of fruits or vegetables. Since such material could inflict a foreign body-response in the human body, the immunogenicity is a concern of those EVs, and might be a reason why some researchers opted to use oral administration instead of systemic administration. Oral administration of bovine milk- derived EVs was found to attenuate arthritis (Arntz et al. 2015) and oral administration of grape- derived EVs ameliorated colitis in a mouse model (Ju et al. 2013). Interestingly, these results suggest that EVs can cross intestinal-acid barrier. More recently, a clinical trial to investigate the efficacy of grape- derived EVs to reduce the risk of oral mucositis after radiation- and chemotherapy treatment for head and neck tumors is ongoing (NCT01668849). Furthermore, milk and plant-derived EVs are also used as drug delivery vehicles as described below.

5 Drug-Loaded EVs

Since EVs can transfer bioactive components across biological barriers, EVs are also being investigated as natural delivery vectors for different cargos, including small molecular compounds, proteins, siRNAs and microRNAs (Batrakova et al. 2016). This field especially focuses on CNS diseases, because of the existence of blood-brain-barrier (Fig. 2). For example, EVs loaded with an anti-inflammatory small molecule compound, curcumin, lead to an improved bioavailability and anti-inflammatory effect of this drug in a lipopolysaccharideinduced brain inflammation model (Zhuang et al. 2011). Similarly, administrations of MSC-EVs loaded with phosphatase and tensin homolog siRNA ameliorated spinal cord lesion injury (Guo et al. 2019). EVs released from genetically-modified macrophages that express glial cell-derived neurotrophic factor were suggested as a treatment of Parkinson's disease (Zhao et al. 2014). Milk and plant-derived EVs are increasingly used as drug delivery vehicles,



Fig. 2 Evs natural properties to pass through biological barriers, including the blood-brain-barrier, can be exploited to improve the delivery of various compounds to hard-to-reach areas such as the central nervous system

because these EVs may solve one of the main problems in EV-based drug delivery, that is, difficulties to manufacture large amounts of vesicles. A clinical, phase I trial of grapeexosomes loaded with curcumin, given orally to patients with colorectal cancer is currently being conducted (NCT01294702).

6 Hurdles to Consider for Clinical Application of EVs Therapeutics

There are many hurdles to consider for clinical application of EVs therapeutics (Yamashita et al. 2018) (Fig. 3). In particular, establishment of EV-manufacturing is the major barrier due to their heterogeneity and low yield. Development, optimization and standardization of production-methods, including methods for cell culture and isolation of EVs are required for a greater scalability, purity, retained integrity, functionality, sterility, and higher reproducibility. Optimization of storage method of EVs are also required. In addition, appropriate administration route of EVs are also important for therapeutic application.

6.1 Production of Large-Scale EVs

One of the major hurdles for EV-therapeutics is the limited production of EVs from cells. Thus, effective large- scale EV production methods are required. Some researchers reported that yield of EVs can be increased five to tenfold using a hollow fiber bioreactor (Watson et al. 2016). It has been reported that production of EVs was enhanced by applying stress such as hypoxia or low pH (Ban et al. 2015). However, it should be noted that such cellular stress can change the composition and function of EVs. One approach for large scale production of EVs is to immortalize the donor cells. For instance, MSCs transfected by lentivirus carrying MYC gene allows for obtaining of immortalized cells, without any change in fundamental characteristics of MSCs (Chen et al. 2011).

Another approach to increase yield of EVs is using more efficient isolation methods. Currently, ultracentrifugation is the most common method. However, this technique is limited by low EV recovery and laborious and time-consuming process. Other EV-isolation methods, including size exclusion chromatography (SEC), ultrafiltration, polymer-based precipitation, and immunoaffinity chromatography have been developed (Posch 2015). Although these methods can be used for large-scale production of EVs, different isolation methods affect purity and physicochemical properties as described below.

6.2 Isolation of Pure and Uniform EVs

Ultracentrifugation, the most commonly used method for EV isolation, has a risk of contamination of non-vesicular macromolecule and disruption of EV integrity. Polymer-based commercial reagents for EV isolation demonstrate a high recovery of EVs. Unfortunately, the purity is often rather low due to vesicle aggregation and



Fig. 3 EV-therapeutics is still a young field with extensive hurdles in several steps, such as production, isolation, storage and administration

contamination. Although this method has been applied in clinical settings for biomarker assessment, it might not always be suitable for therapeutic application. Size-based isolation techniques are being increasingly used for EV isolation. Ultrafiltration devices and tangential flow filtration systems are known to be able to concentrate EVs. Size-exclusion chromatography (SEC) is a method wherein components in a heterogeneous solution are separated based on size. SEC has improved EV integrity, purity, and reproducibility compared to ultracentrifugation. However, there are overlaps in the size of different EVs and SEC is rather time-consuming, which limits its scalability. Immunoaffinity chromatography has been used for EV isolation with high purity. Since this method depends on antibody recognition of EVs proteins, only a subset of EVs, expressing specific antigens, can be captured, resulting in a low yield, but high purity. Lipid-based nanoprobes used in combination with magnetic isolation of EVs, which enables intact, purer EV isolates in a shorter timeframe compared to ultracentrifugation, has been developed.

In conclusion, there are many different methods to isolate EVs, and EVs collected from different isolation methods differ in various properties. Further development of better isolation techniques or combinational approach using the advantage of different isolation techniques will be required. Although little is known about the difference in efficiency of EVs depends on the isolation methods, it is likely that therapeutic potentials vary among the subpopulations. Thus, optimization of the isolation method is important to obtain stable therapeutic effects and to reduce risk of side effects induced by contaminants. Also, virus contamination has to be investigated carefully, since the size can overlap with EVs.

6.3 Optimization of Storage Conditions of EVs

Currently, the International Society of Extracellular Vesicles recommends that EVs are suspended in phosphate buffered saline and stored at -80 °C (Witwer et al. 2013). For therapeutic application, storage at higher temperatures is desirable because it does not require special equipment. Ge et al. have shown that EVs can be stored up to 5 years in a -20 °C without loss of function (Ge et al. 2014). It has been also reported that lyophilization of EVs may improve their stability at higher temperatures. Some researcher showed that EVs can be concentrated, lyophilized, and reconstituted in water solutions (Rutering et al. 2016). However, it is not clear whether lyophilization is applicable to all kinds of EVs. Appropriate storage and stability should be further examined in order to make EVs real "off the shelf" therapies.

6.4 Optimization of Administration of EVs

Biodistribution, pharmacokinetics, bioavailability, and pharmacodynamics of EVs still remain largely unknown. Since the biological effect of EVs is thought to be largely driven by their uptake of target cells, control of EV-biodistribution is required for the therapeutic application of EVs. Wiklander et al. found that the biodistribution of EVs depends on administration routes, using different cell sources (Wiklander 2015). EVs accumulated mainly in liver, spleen, gastrointestinal tract and lungs, but there were differences depending on the cell source. Intraperitoneal injection resulted in higher accumulation of EVs in the gastrointestinal tract and pancreas compared with intravenous injection. In contrast, subcutaneous injection resulted in lower accumulation of EVs in all organs. Several studies showed that systemically injected EVs rapidly disappeared from blood circulation and are taken up by cells (especially macrophages) in the reticuloendothelial system. These findings were consistent irrespective of cell source and route of administration (Takahashi et al. 2013; Imai et al. 2015). This rapid clearance of EVs could be a limit of systemic administration of EVs. To overcome these clearance problems, some researchers have tried local or directed administration of EVs. For example, oral administration of EVs for colitis (Arntz et al. 2015; Ju et al. 2013), intranasal administration of EVs for CNS diseases (Zhuang et al. 2011), intratracheal administration of EVs for lung diseases (Monsel et al. 2015), and topical administration of EVs for skin diseases (Sjöqvist et al. 2019), etc. In addition to administration route, pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic profiles should also be investigated to predict appropriate dose and timing for administration for clinical application.

7 Conclusions

In regenerative medicine field, EVs therapy is gaining momentum and might replace several kinds of cell therapies. Thanks to their advantages regarding safety and easier management process, EVs are expected as next generation "cell free polypharmacological approach". EVs derived from different cell sources will be applied for various indications. EVs are also increasingly explored as delivery vehicles, loaded with bioactive compounds. However, many challenges still exist for broad clinical application of EVs as therapeutics.

Disclosure Statement Aya Imafuku and Sebastian Sjoqvist are founders and owners of ExTherea Inc., Kanagawa, Japan. Sebastian Sjoqvist is employed by Takeda Pharmaceuticals.

References

- Álvarez-Viejo M (2020) Mesenchymal stem cells from different sources and their derived exosomes: a pre-clinical perspective. World J Stem Cells 12:100–109
- Aminzadeh MA et al (2015) Therapeutic efficacy of cardiosphere-derived cells in a transgenic mouse model of non-ischaemic dilated cardiomyopathy. Eur Heart J 36:751–762
- Arntz OJ et al (2015) Oral administration of bovine milk derived extracellular vesicles attenuates arthritis in two mouse models. Mol Nutr Food Res 59:1701–1712
- Ban JJ, Lee M, Im W, Kim M (2015) Low pH increases the yield of exosome isolation. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 461:76–79
- Batrakova EV, Kim MS, Hill C (2016) Using exosomes, naturally-equipped nanocarriers, for drug delivery:396–405. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jconrel. 2015.07.030.Using

- Caplan AI, Correa D (2011) The MSC: an injury drugstore. Cell Stem Cell 9(1):11–15. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.stem.2011.06.008
- Caplan AI, Manuscript A (2012) The MSC: an injury drugstore. Cell Stem Cell 9:11–15
- Chen TS et al (2011) Enabling a robust scalable manufacturing process for therapeutic exosomes through oncogenic immortalization of human ESC-derived MSCs. J Transl Med 9:47
- Galipeau J, Sensébé L (2018) Mesenchymal stromal cells: clinical challenges and therapeutic opportunities. Cell Stem Cell 22:824–833
- Ge Q et al (2014) MiRNA in plasma exosome is stable under different storage conditions. Molecules 19:1568–1575
- Guo S et al (2019) Intranasal delivery of mesenchymal stem cell derived exosomes loaded with phosphatase and Tensin homolog siRNA repairs complete spinal cord injury. ACS Nano 13:10015–10028
- Gutierrez-Aranda I et al (2010) Human induced pluripotent stem cells develop teratoma more efficiently and faster than human embryonic stem cells regardless the site of injection. Stem Cells 28:1568–1570
- Hergenreider E et al (2012) Atheroprotective communication between endothelial cells and smooth muscle cells through miRNAs. Nat Cell Biol 14:249–256
- Imai T et al (2015) Macrophage-dependent clearance of systemically administered B16BL6-derived exosomes from the blood circulation in mice. 1:1–8
- Ju S et al (2013) Grape exosome-like nanoparticles induce intestinal stem cells and protect mice from DSS-induced colitis. Mol Ther 21:1345–1357
- Kordelas L et al (2014) MSC-derived exosomes: a novel tool to treat therapy-refractory graft-versus-host disease. Leukemia 28:970–973
- Lai RC et al (2010) Exosome secreted by MSC reduces myocardial ischemia/reperfusion injury. Stem Cell Res 4:214–222
- Luarte A, Bátiz LF, Wyneken U, Lafourcade C (2016) Potential therapies by stem cell-derived exosomes in CNS diseases: focusing on the neurogenic niche. Stem Cells Int 2016
- Monsel A et al (2015) Therapeutic effects of human mesenchymal stem cell-derived microvesicles in severe pneumonia in mice. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 192:324–336
- Nassar W et al (2016) Umbilical cord mesenchymal stem cells derived extracellular vesicles can safely ameliorate the progression of chronic kidney diseases. Biomater Res 20:1–11
- Ning H et al (2008) The correlation between cotransplantation of mesenchymal stem cells and higher recurrence rate in hematologic malignancy patients: outcome of a pilot clinical study. Leukemia 22:593–599
- Posch A (2015) A protocol for exosome isolation and characterization. 1295
- Rutering J et al (2016) Exosomes as drug delivery vehicles for Parkinson's disease therapy 5:1–8

- Sjöqvist S et al (2019) Exosomes derived from clinicalgrade oral mucosal epithelial cell sheets promote wound healing. J Extracell Vesicles 8:1565264
- Sjoqvist S et al (2019) Oral keratinocyte-derived exosomes regulate proliferation of fibroblasts and epithelial cells. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 514:706–712
- Squillaro T, Peluso G, Galderisi U (2016) Review clinical trials with mesenchymal stem cells : an update 25:829–848
- Taheri B et al (2019) Induced pluripotent stem cell-derived extracellular vesicles: a novel approach for cell-free regenerative medicine. J Cell Physiol 234:8455–8464
- Takahashi Y et al (2013) Visualization and in vivo tracking of the exosomes of murine melanoma B16-BL6 cells in mice after intravenous injection. J Biotechnol 165:77–84
- Tan JL et al (2018) Amnion epithelial cell-derived exosomes restrict lung injury and enhance endogenous lung repair. Stem Cells Transl Med. https://doi.org/10. 1002/sctm.17-0185
- Théry C et al (2018) Minimal information for studies of extracellular vesicles 2018 (MISEV2018): a position statement of the International Society for Extracellular Vesicles and update of the MISEV2014 guidelines. J Extracell Vesicles 7
- Tögel F, Hu Z, Weiss K (2005) Administered mesenchymal stem cells protect against ischemic acute renal failure through differentiation-independent mechanisms. Am J Physiol 84148:31–42
- Vrijsen KR et al (2016) Exosomes from cardiomyocyte progenitor cells and mesenchymal stem cells stimulate angiogenesis via EMMPRIN. Adv Healthc Mater 5:2555–2565
- Watson DC et al (2016) Biomaterials Ef fi cient production and enhanced tumor delivery of engineered extracellular vesicles. Biomaterials 105:195–205

- Wiklander OPB (2015) Extracellular vesicle in vivo biodistribution is determined by cell source, route of administration and targeting. 1:1–13
- Wiklander OPB, Brennan MÁ, Lötvall J, Breakefield XO, El Andaloussi S (2019) Advances in therapeutic applications of extracellular vesicles. Sci Transl Med 11:eaav8521
- Witwer KW et al (2013) Standardization of sample collection, isolation and analysis methods in extracellular vesicle research. J Extracell vesicles 2:1–25
- Wolf P (1989) The nature and significance of platelet products in human plasma. Connect Tissue Res 23:123–136
- Xing, Z., Zhao, C., Liu, H. & Fan, Y. Endothelial progenitor cell-derived extracellular vesicles : a novel candidate for regenerative medicine and disease treatment. 2000255, (2020)
- Yamashita T, Takahashi Y, Takakura Y (2018) Possibility of exosome-based therapeutics and challenges in production of exosomes eligible for therapeutic application. Biol Pharm Bull 41:835–842
- Zhang J et al (2015) Exosomes released from human induced pluripotent stem cells-derived MSCs facilitate cutaneous wound healing by promoting collagen synthesis and angiogenesis. J Transl Med 13:49
- Zhang Y et al (2019) Embryonic stem cell-derived extracellular vesicles enhance the therapeutic effect of mesenchymal stem cells. Theranostics 9:6976–6990
- Zhang B, Tian X, Hao J, Xu G, Zhang W (2020) Mesenchymal stem cell-derived extracellular vesicles in tissue regeneration. Cell Transplant 29:1–14
- Zhao Y et al (2014) GDNF-transfected macrophages produce potent neuroprotective effects in parkinson's disease mouse model. PLoS One 9:1–11
- Zhuang X et al (2011) Treatment of brain inflammatory diseases by delivering exosome encapsulated antiinflammatory drugs from the nasal region to the brain. Mol Ther 19:1769–1779



Exosomes as Part of the Human Adipose-Derived Stem Cells Secretome-Opening New Perspectives for Cell-Free Regenerative Applications

Sorina Dinescu, Alexandra Dobranici, Ramona Tecucianu, Aida Selaru, Roxana Balahura, Simona Ignat, and Marieta Costache

Abstract

Human adipose-derived stem cells (hASCs) represent a great resource for regenerative medicine based on their accessibility, selfrenewal potential, low immunogenicity, high proliferative rate and potential to differentiate on multiple lineages. Their secretome is rich in chemokines, cytokines and protein growth factors that are actively involved in regenera-

S. Dinescu (🖂) and M. Costache Department of Biochemistry and Molecular Biology, University of Bucharest, Bucharest, Romania

The Research Institute of the University of Bucharest, Bucharest, Romania

e-mail: sorina.dinescu@bio.unibuc.ro

A. Dobranici, R. Tecucianu, and S. Ignat Department of Biochemistry and Molecular Biology, University of Bucharest, Bucharest, Romania

A. Selaru and R. Balahura Department of Biochemistry and Molecular Biology, University of Bucharest, Bucharest, Romania

Victor Babes National Institute of Pathology, Bucharest, Romania

tion processes. In addition, part of this secretome are also the exosomes (hASCexos), which display high content in proteins, messenger RNAs (mRNAs) and non-coding RNAs (ncRNAs). Due to their content, exosomes promote tissue regeneration by different mechanisms, either by activating or inhibiting several signaling pathways involved wound healing, extracellular matrix in remodeling, immunomodulation, angiogenesis, anti-apoptotic activity and cell migration, proliferation and differentiation. The use of hASC-exos may provide an improved alternative to standard therapies used in regenerative medicine, as a cell-free new approach with multiple possibilities to be modulated according to the patient needs. This review offers an updated overview on the functions and applications of hASC-exos in all areas of tissue regeneration, aiming to highlight to the reader the benefits of using hASCs in modern tissue engineering and regenerative medicine applications.

Keywords

Exosomes · Human adipose-derived stem cells · miRNAs · Signaling pathways in regeneration · Tissue regeneration

Alexandra Dobranici and Ramona Tecucianu contributed equally with all other contributors.

Abbreviations		HR	hypoxia/reoxygenation		
		HSP	heat shock protein		
AFM	atomic force microscopy	IDO	3-dioxygenase		
AK2	adenylate kinase 2	IFN-γ	interferon γ		
AKI	acute kidney injury	IGF	insulin-like growth factor		
AKT	Protein kinase B	IL	interleukin		
Alix	ALG2-interacting protein X	IL-4Rα	IL-4 receptor α		
Arg-1	arginase-1	ILVs	intraluminal vesicles		
AT	adipose tissue	iNOS	inducible nitric oxide synthase		
Bad	Bcl associated agonist of cell death	IR	Ischemia/reperfusion		
Bax	Bcl-2-associated X protein	IRAK1	interleukin-1 receptor-associated		
Bcl-2	B-cell lymphoma 2		kinase 1		
BDNF	brain-derived neurotrophic factor	IWR-1	Wnt-β-catenin signaling inhibitor		
bFGF	basic fibroblast growth factor	JNK	c-Jun N-terminal kinases		
Bim	Bcl-2- <i>like</i> protein 11	LASS2	longevity assurance homologue 2		
BM-	bone-marrow derived stem cells	LECs	lymphatic endothelial cells		
ASCs		lncRNA	long non-coding RNA		
BMEC	brain microvascular endothelial	MALAT1	metastasis-associated lung adeno-		
	cells		carcinoma transcript 1		
BMP	bone morphogenetic proteins	MAPKs	mitogen-activated protein kinases		
CD	cluster of differentiation	MARK1	microtubule affinity regulating		
СМ	conditioned medium		kinase 1		
Col2A1	type II collagen alpha 1	Mcl-1	myeloid leukemia cell differentia-		
COX	cyclooxygenase		tion protein 1		
CSCs	cancer stem cells	MCP	monocyte chemoattractant protein		
CSF-1R	colony-stimulating factor 1 receptor	M-CSF	macrophage colony stimulating		
DDL4	angiogenic inhibitor delta- <i>like</i> 4		factor		
Dvl	Disheveled	MHC	major histocompatibility complex		
ECM	extracellular matrix	miR	microRNA		
EGF	epidermal growth factor	MMP	matrix metalloproteinases		
EPCs	endothelial progenitor cells	mRNAs	messenger RNAs		
ERK	extracellular signal-regulated	ncRNAs	non-coding RNAs		
	kinases	NF-kB	nuclear factor-kB		
ESCRT	endosomal sorting complex required	NGF	nerve growth factor		
	for transport	NK	natural killer		
EVs	Extracellular vesicles	NPCs	neural precursor cells		
MVBs	multivesicular bodies	Nrf2	nuclear factor-E2-related factor 2		
FBS	fetal bovine serum	OA	osteoarthritis		
FGF-1	fibroblast growth factor 1	PCNA	proliferating cell nuclear antigen		
FIZZ	found in inflammatory zone	PDGF	platelet-derived growth factor		
G-CSF	granulocyte colony stimulating	PDGFA	platelet-derived growth factor sub- unit A		
GDNF	glial cell-derived neurotrophic factor	PDGFR	platelet-derived growth factor		
hASC	human adjnose derived stem cells	DOIN	receptor		
HDFs	Human dermal fibroblasts	PDK1	3-phosphoi-nositide-dependent pro-		
HIPK?	homeodomain interacting protein		tein kinase 1		
1111 KZ	kinase 2	PI3K	Phosphoinositide 3-kinase		

/PIP3	phosphatidyl inositol 3, 4,
	5-triphosphat
РКВ	Protein Kinase B
PLGA	poly lactic-co-glycolic acid
PPARγ	peroxisome proliferator-activated
	receptor γ
PREF-1	preadipocyte factor 1
PTEN	phosphatase and tensin homolog
S1P	sphingosine 1 phosphate
S1PR1	sphingosine 1 phosphate receptor 1
SDF-1	stromal cell derived factor
SEM	scanning electron microscopy
Sema	semaphorin
SIRT1	sirtuin 1
SK1	sphingosine kinase 1
STAT3	signal transducer and activator of
	transcription 3
TCF/LEF	T-cell factor/lymphoid enhancer
	factor
TEM	transmission electron microscopy
TGF-β	transforming growth factor-β
TIMP	tissue inhibitors of
	metalloproteinases
TLR4	Toll-like receptor 4
TNF-α	tumor necrosis factor-α
TRAF6	NF receptor associated factor 6
TRPM7	Transient receptor potential cation
	channel subfamily M member 7
TSG101	Tumor susceptibility gene
VEGF	vascular endothelial growth factor
VEGF-R	VEGF receptors
Vsp4	vacuolar sorting protein 4

1 Introduction

In the context of regenerative medicine, mesenchymal stem cells show an immeasurable potential for damaged tissues regeneration (Suman et al. 2019). Mesenchymal stem cells could be obtained from a multiple variety of sources such as bone marrow, adipose tissue, umbilical cord blood, skin dental pulp (Si et al. 2019). Even though, all mesenchymal stem cells are similar in many aspects, human adipose derived stem cells (hASCs) present many advantages. hASCs are multipotent stem cells isolated from a very accessible source, the subcutaneous adipose tissue, a better option compared to the classical use of bone-marrow derived stem cells (BM-ASCs) (Shingyochi et al. 2015; Gentile et al. 2019). They are easily obtained from lipoaspirates after enzymatic digestion and they are highly abundant, as from 300 mL of lipoaspirate, between 1×10^7 and 6×10^8 hASCs could be cultured and expanded in culture (Gimble et al. 2007; Locke et al. 2009; Galateanu et al. 2012; Dinescu et al. 2013). In a comparative study on human adult mesenchymal stem cells derived from bone marrow, adipose and dermal tissue, hASCs proved to secrete the highest levels of paracrine factors involved in tissue regeneration, which recommends their use for regenerative therapies (Hsiao et al. 2012). More advantages of hASCs over other types of stem cells are given by their self-renewal potential, low immunogenicity, high proliferative rate, potential to differentiate on multiple lineages (adipogenic, osteogenic, chondrogenic, myogenic, neurogenic, etc) (Dinescu et al. 2018; Wong et al. 2019; Hong et al. 2019; Shukla et al. 2020). Moreover, paracrine immunomodulatory through and functions, hASCs are involved in directing wound healing and tissue regeneration (Murphy et al. 2013; Dinescu et al. 2018).

Paracrine activity of hASCs and communication with inflammatory microenvironment are important factors for tissue repair mechanisms (Domenis et al. 2018). hASCs display lack of expression of major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class II, MHC class I inferior expression levels and the presence of prostaglandin E2 with the purpose of mediating the immunosuppressive (McIntosh et al. 2006). Also, hASCs intervene in the proliferation of T and B cells, cytotoxicity and activation of natural killer (NK) cells through interleukin (IL)-2 secretion (Domenis et al. 2018). hASCs features influence the production of pro- and anti-inflammatory cytokines and antigen-specific T-reg cells (Gonzalez-Rey et al. 2010). hASCs specific cytokines, highly studied
over the years, are tumor necrosis factor (TNF)- α , interferon (IFN)- γ , 3-dioxygenase (IDO), and IL-17. These cytokines exert effects on immunosuppressive activity of hASCs and mediate the connection between hASCs and T cells. T cells activity is suppressed by hASCs, thus the secretion of TNF- α and IFN- γ is inhibited (Zappia et al. 2005).

hASCs express specific cell surface markers such as cluster of differentiation (CD) 13, CD29, CD34, CD44, CD73, CD90, CD105, CD166, STRO-1, and are negative for CD38, CD45, CD106 (Minteer et al. 2012). Not only that hASCs are able to specifically differentiate in order to ensure cellular restoration where needed, but they also exert paracrine actions on other cells by secreting multiple types of chemokines, cytokines and protein growth factors (Mazini et al. 2019). hASCs secretome has a positive impact on several processes such as immunoregulation, angiogenesis, cell proliferation, wound healing and tissue regeneration. Some of the most important factors produced by hASCs are: epidermal growth factor (EGF), vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), basic fibroblast growth factor (bFGF), platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF), transforming growth factor- β (TGF- β), insulin-*like* growth factor (IGF) and brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF), granulocyte colony stimulating factor (G-CSF), macrophage colony stimulating factor (M-CSF), bone morphogenetic proteins (BMP), interleukins-6,-7,-8,-11,-12, TNF-α (Hsiao et al. 2012; Dinescu et al. 2018; Hong et al. 2019; Shukla et al. 2020). Furthermore, hASCs also act on the surrounding cells and stimulate tissue regeneration by transferring signal molecules through extracellular vesicles (EVs) (Keshtkar et al. 2018).

The aim of this chapter is to provide an updated overview on the content and functions of hASC-exos in all regeneration- related processes, such as wound healing, inflammation, cell proliferation and differentiation, matrix remodeling, etc. and to highlight the ncRNAs that modulate the signaling pathways associated with these regenerative processes.

Exosomes and Their Potential for Tissue Regeneration

2

EVs have been identified as an important hallmark for intercellular communication within a multicellular organism (Raposo and Stoorvogel 2013). They are known to take be part in both normal physiological conditions and during disease development (Kalluri and LeBleu 2020). Originally it has been considered that such structures are just artefacts that can be released only during cell-death and apoptosis (e.g. apoptotic bodies), but the fact that also perfectly healthy cells can secrete vesicles form their plasma membrane has become a matter of interest and has been widely explored over the past two decades (Hristov et al. 2004). EVs can be classified into two major groups, namely endosomes and exosomes (Cocucci and Meldolesi 2015). Whereas endosomes are formed by direct outward budding of plasma membrane generating vesicles with a size of 50 nm to 1 µm in diameter, exosomes have endosomal origin with a size range of 40-160 nm in diameter (Kalluri and LeBleu 2020).

Exosomes are formed during an endosomal process that includes double invagination of the plasma membrane followed by formation of multivesicular bodies (MVBs), which carry intraluminal vesicles (ILVs) (Zhang et al. 2019). During these events, a series of proteins, messenger RNAs (mRNAs) and non-coding RNAs (ncRNAs) are encapsulated within the ILVs (Anand et al. 2019). Further, ILVs are secreted as exosomes via MVBs fusion to the plasma membrane and exocytosis, process that ends with the release of exosomes in the extracellular environment (Zhang et al. 2019) or trafficked to lysosomes for degradation. Recently, it has been described that MVBs formation, followed by ILVs generation are dependent on the endosomal sorting complex required for transport (ESCRT) machinery (Raiborg and Stenmark 2009; Schmidt and Teis 2012).

ESCRT is a complex composed of four proteins 0, I, II and III ESCRTs that are actively involved in MVBs formation and protein cargo sorting (Henne et al. 2011; Hurley 2015). Upon recognition of ubiquinated proteins of the endosomal membrane the ESCRT complex is activated, thus generating the promotion of the budding process. After cleavage and ILVs formation, the complex separates from MVBs with energy provided by vacuolar sorting protein 4 (Vsp4) (Henne et al. 2011). As ESCRT complex takes part in exosome formation, it is expected that its accessory proteins will be identified within exosomes regardless of their cell origin: ALG2-interacting protein X (Alix), Tumor susceptibility gene (TSG101), heat shock proteins (HSP60, 70 and 90) and tetraspanins CD63, CD81, CD82, CD9. This specific set of proteins is known as the exosomal marker proteins and is widely used in studies for exosome identification and characterization (Hong et al. 2019). Even though CD63, CD9 and CD81 are commonly found in exosomes, they are not specific markers as they can be also identified in MVBs and apoptotic bodies (Doyle and Wang 2019).

Since the discovery of exosomes, lots of isolation methods have been developed. Novel techniques are constantly evolving, among them ultracentrifugation, precipitation, size-based methods or immuno-affinity capture-based isolation. As for exosome characterization, lots of analysis can be used- such as atomic force microscopy (AFM), scanning electron microscopy (SEM) but the golden standard for exosome morphology validation is transmission electron microscopy (TEM) (reviewed by (Zhou et al. 2020)).

Besides being secreted by a large range of mammalian cells, such as mesenchymal stem cells (Han et al. 2016), neurons (Janas et al. 2016), cancer cells (Bae et al. 2018), exosomes can also be found in body fluids such as plasma (Whiteside 2018), saliva (Zlotogorski-Hurvitz et al. 2015) and the lymph (Park et al. 2018). Exosomal cargo consists in a large pool of various molecules, including transcription factors, receptors, extracellular matrix proteins, lipids and nucleic acids (mRNAs and ncRNAs). As previously mentioned, these molecules are recruited during ILVs formation (Anand et al. 2019), but the exact mechanisms have not been explored. All these components are transported from the donor cell to the receiving one via exosomes, thus generating various signals that active or influence major biological processes such as cancer, inflammation, tissue degeneration and repair. MicroRNA (miR)-21 found in tumor derived-exosomes has been demonstrated to be present in significant amounts in case of ovarian (Taylor and Gercel-Taylor 2008), lung (Fortunato et al. 2019) and breast cancer (Shi 2016). Whereas, exosomal miR-9, miR-128 and miR-107 have been identified in regulating neuronal differentiation and their downregulation has been correlated with Alzheimer's disease (Van Giau and An 2016), miR-155, miR-146a and miR-125b were found to regulate inflammation in mouse models of alcoholic liver disease (Bala et al. 2012).

The fact that exosomal cargo has a beneficial effect upon tissue repair and regeneration has been widely demonstrated over the past few years. It has been reported that exosomes derived from mouse embryotic stem cells could promote cardiac function via delivery of miR-294 to cardiac progenitor cells (Khan et al. 2015). Choi et al. (2016) proved that differentiating human skeletal myoblasts-derived exosomes could promote muscle regeneration by collagen deposition reduction in a laceration mouse model. Also, in case of cutaneous damage it was found that human umbilical cord mesenchymal stem cellsderived exosomes were administered and were able to inhibit the inflammatory reaction caused by burn injury. More specific, it was found that miR-181c downregulated Toll-like receptor 4 (TLR4) signaling pathway, therefore attenuated inflammation and enhanced tissue regeneration (Li et al. 2016). The same exosomes were shown in another study by Zhou et al. (Zhou et al. 2013) to ease acute kidney injuries in cisplatin treated rats. In this case it was found that exosomes reduced renal oxidative stress and prevented apoptosis. The beneficial effect of exosomes has been also demonstrated for bone regeneration, when exosomes could efficiently generate proliferation and osteogenic differentiation in bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells (Qi et al. 2016). Moreover, it was found the hepatocyte-derived exosomes promoted cell proliferation paired with liver regeneration in mice suffering from ischemia/reperfusion injuries or partial hepatectomy (Nojima et al. 2016a). Curiously, the regenerative effects of exosomes have also been investigated in nervous tissue regeneration. Oligodendrocyte-derived exosomes were found to have multiple effects upon neuronal physiology such as, ensuring neuronal survival when neurons were deprived from oxygen and glucose in a model of cerebral ischemia (Fröhlich et al. 2014).

Taking into consideration both hASC unique properties and exosomes significant contribution in the field of regenerative medicine, hASCderived exosomes present promising tools for stimulating tissue regeneration via signal transduction. The signaling cues encapsulated within hASC-exos have been found to promote damaged tissue repair targeting a large pale of proteins and transcription factors actively involved in key signaling pathways. hASC-exos have been found to contribute to repair in acute kidney injuries (Zhu et al. 2017), to boost neurite outgrowth (Chen et al. 2019b) and promote neuronal survival (El Bassit et al. 2017), but also be involved in wound healing (Li and Guo 2018) and bone regeneration (Tan et al. 2020). Based on all this evidence it can be stated that hASC-exos are responsible for the transport of key signals which can change the behavior and physiology of target cells. The pro-regenerative signals of hASC-exos act as activators or inhibitors of key signaling pathways involved in the tissue repair and homeostasis maintenance. Thus, hASC-exos could present a powerful tool for regenerative medicine purposes. Further, we will describe in depth events triggered by the bioactive molecules carried within hASC-exos upon important signaling pathways active during tissue regeneration (Fig. 1).

3 hASC-Exos Interaction with the Signaling Pathways Involved in Tissue Regeneration

Exosomes promote tissue regeneration by different mechanisms, among them by activating or inhibiting several signaling pathways involved in processes such as cell survival, proliferation and differentiation. These pathways will be further discussed in relationship with regenerative properties of hASC-exos: immunomodulation, angiogenesis, wound healing and anti-apoptotic effects.

3.1 hASC-Exos Interaction with Wnt-β Catenin Pathway

The Wnt-β-catenin is one of the highly conserved signaling pathways which participates in processes such as cell migration and proliferation, has anti-apoptotic effects and regulates stem cell pluripotency. It also plays major roles in embryonic development and development decision (MacDonald et al. 2009; Majidinia et al. 2018). Activation of Wnt-\beta-catenin pathway was reported in wound (Carre et al. 2018) and fracture (Sun et al. 2019) healing, osteogenic differentiation (Gong et al. 2018) and liver regeneration (Zhao et al. 2019) The Wnt- β -catenin signaling pathway is early activated in regenerative processes, mainly by post-transcriptional changes, highlighting its importance and relevance (Shiah et al. 2016; Majidinia et al. 2018). Wnt ligands are glycoproteins rich in Cys that bind to Frizzled or LRP5/6 receptors (LDL receptor-related proteins 5 and 6). This represents the external stimulus necessary to activate other two proteins, Disheveled (Dvl) and β -catenin. The latter is then translocated in the nucleus where it binds to T-cell factor/lymphoid enhancer factor (TCF/LEF) family of transcription factors, regulating gene expression (MacDonald et al. 2009).



Fig. 1 Human adipose-derived stem cells exosomes composition and role in molecular events associated to tissue regeneration- cell proliferation, migration, differentiation,

hASC-exos have the ability to stimulate or enhance tissue regeneration via Wnt- β -catenin activation. In a study conducted by Cui et al. (2017), cardioprotective role of hASC-exos against ischemia/reperfusion injury was strongly correlated with Wnt- β -catenin activation. Ischemia/reperfusion (IR) *in vivo*, and hypoxia/reoxygenation (HR) *in vitro*, determined a decrease in Wnt3, p-GSK-3 β (Ser9) and β -catenin expression levels, these proteins being essential in signal transduction. hASC-exos significantly

immunomodulation, angiogenesis, matrix remodeling and anti-apoptotic effect

counteracted IR and HR effects, by increasing expression levels of the aforementioned proteins. Overall, hASC-exos determined an increase in cell viability along with a decrease in cell apoptosis. An inhibitor of Wnt- β -catenin pathway, XAV939, reversed hASC-exos' cardioprotective effect *in vitro*. Further investigations are needed to provide insight into the mechanisms underlying Wnt- β -catenin activation by hASC-exos. Inhibition of cell apoptosis and stimulated proliferation was also observed in case of cutaneous wound healing, where activation of Wnt– β catenin pathway occurred after treatment with hASCexos (Ma et al. 2019). A possible mechanism of Wnt- β -catenin activation by hASC-exos was offered by He et al. (2020) in a recent study regarding wound healing. hASC-exos containing metastasis-associated lung adenocarcinoma transcript 1 (MALAT1) are responsible of silencing another ncRNA, miR-124 (He et al. 2020). It was observed that Wnt- β -catenin pathway was activated in MALAT1 presence and inactivated in condition of MALAT1 knockdown. Furthermore, miR-124 silencing determined regaining the promotion of Wnt- β -catenin signaling.

hASC-exos were used in diabetic cutaneous wound healing as a nanodelivery vehicle for exogenous miR-21-5p to promote regeneration in vivo and in vitro (Lv et al. 2020). miR-21-5p along with hASC-exos were expected to have higher regenerative properties than each component alone, the two of them acting in a synergic manner. Activation of Wnt-\beta-catenin pathway in vitro was the result miR-21-5p being efficiently delivered to HaCaT cells by hASC-exos, determining the promotion of keratinocyte migration. In vivo, Wnt-\beta-catenin signaling promoting keratinocyte migration played a major role in wound regeneration by re-epithelization (Lv et al. 2020).

Wnt-β-catenin signaling pathway was also reported to be active in case of osteogenic differentiation. Lu et al. (2017) used TNF- α as a pre-conditioning agent for hASCs to stimulate exosomes secretion, highlighting its role in acute inflammation, a process necessary for regeneration. Exosomes belonging to pre-conditioned hASCs had a potentiated effect towards human primary osteoblastic cells' migration and differentiation. These exosomes had higher expression levels of Wnt-3a protein, while β -catenin levels in correspondent osteoblast cells were increased. In the presence of Wnt-β-catenin signaling inhibitor (IWR-1), osteogenic markers, such as Runx2, sialoprotein and osteopontin bone were decreased. Wnt pathway activation by hASCexos was also reported in chondrogenic differentiation of periosteal cells. Incubation of these precursor cells with hASC-exos led to elevated levels of β -catenin mRNA and consequently this proved Wnt- β -catenin signaling activation. Simultaneously, other mRNAs of chondrogenic markers (Sox9 and Col II) were also increased along with a change in chondrocyte morphology. Similarly, treatment with an antagonist, ICG-001, prevented the change in morphology and decreased chondrogenic markers (β - catenin, Sox9 and Col II) (Zhao et al. 2020).

3.2 hASC-Exos Interaction with PI3K-Akt Pathway

Phosphoinositide 3-kinase (PI3K)/Akt is a complex, survival pathway, with a variety of upstream stimulators that consist of growth hormones, cytokines and foreign molecules (Chen et al. 2013). Its activation can occur through tyrosine kinase receptors, cytokine receptors, integrins, B and T cell receptors or G protein coupled receptors (Shi et al. 2019). The first event implies activation of PI3K enzyme that produces phosphatidylinositol3,4,5-triphosphat (PIP3). PIP3 recruits 3-phosphoi-nositide-dependent protein kinase 1 (PDK1) and Akt, which is phosphorylated by PDK1. Akt, known as Protein Kinase B (PKB), meets three different izoformes, Akt1 (PKB α), Akt2 (PKB β) and Akt3 (PKB γ), participating in cell growth and survival, angiogenesis or regulation of glucose homeostasis. These processes are regulated through other proteins, such as mTOR for proliferation, VEGF for angiogenesis B-cell lymphoma 2 (Bcl2) and Rac-1 for survival and migration respectively (Hers et al. 2011; Shi et al. 2019).

For tissue regeneration purposes, it was observed that different PI3K/Akt pathways were activated in cases of bone (Zhang et al. 2016), liver (Zhong et al. 2019) and nervous tissue regeneration (Dong et al. 2019). hASC-exos were used to stimulate processes necessary for tissue regeneration, by activating PI3K/Akt signaling cascade, especially for wound healing results. Paracrine function of hASCs was emphasized by Zhang et al. (2018c) who used a cell-free strategy with exosomes to characterize underlying mechanisms in cutaneous wound healing. Treatment with hASC-exos resulted in human dermal fibroblast proliferation in vitro and collagen secretion, mediated by PI3K/Akt signaling pathway. As expected, signaling inhibition resulted in blocked proliferation and decreased expression of Col I. Col III, Akt and phosphorylated Akt. More insight into the wound healing properties of hASCs secretome via PI3K/Akt pathway was provided by Ren et al. (2019), who assessed its role on proliferation, migration and angiogenesis. Time-depended phosphorylation of Akt protein was observed in HUVEC, HaCaT cells and fibroblasts after exposure to hASCs secretome. This observation was correlated with enhanced migration and proliferation of all three types of cells, as well as enhanced angiogenesis in vitro. Furthermore, keratinocyte migration was demonstrated to be the result of Akt/HIF-1 α activation. HIF-1 α actions downstream PI3K/Akt pathway and is activated by phosphorylated Akt. HIF-1a levels decreased after inhibiting Akt phosphorylation, along with proliferative activity of keratinocytes (Zhang et al. 2020).

However, none of these studies offered explanation of the exact mechanism by which PI3K/ Akt signaling pathway is activated in response to hASCs paracrine function. Recently, An et al. (2019), as well as Yang et al. (2020) discovered a small non-coding RNA, miR-21 possibly involved in PI3K/Akt signaling activation, having proliferative and angiogenic effects in wound healing. miR-21 was found to be one of the important factors that promote tumor angiogenesis and it was overexpressed in hASC-exos. In response to this type of hASC-exos, HUVEC cells were capable of vascularization, having higher protein expressions for HIF1-a, VEGF and stromal cell derived factor (SDF-1). hASCs that overexpressed miR-21 presented increased levels of phosphorylated Akt and decreased levels of phosphatase and tensin homolog (PTEN), which is a tumor suppressor protein (An et al. 2019). Yang et al. (2020) observed positive effects of miR-21 from hASC-exos on HaCaT cells migration that was attributed to PI3K/Akt signaling pathway activation. This led to changes in expressions levels of matrix metalloproteinases 9, 2 (MMP-9 and MMP-2) and in tissue inhibitors of metalloproteinases 1 and 2 (TIMP-1 and TIMP-2). Additionally, mir-21 does not act alone in modulating cell signaling, but it cooperates with TGF- β I protein, in a negative feedback loop, both inhibiting each other.

hASC-exos exercised therapeutic effects in urinary stress incontinence, having high expression levels of proteins involved in various signaling pathways, PI3K/Akt included. Therapeutic potential comprised of enhancing the growth of skeletal muscle and Schwann cell lines. Thus, overexpressed proteins were associated not only with PI3K/Akt, but also with Jak- signal transducer and activator of transcription (STAT) and Wnt pathways that participate in nerve and skeletal muscle regeneration (Ni et al. 2018).

3.3 Other Signaling Pathways Involved in Regenerative Properties of hASC-Exos

Mitogen-activated protein kinases/Extracellular signal-regulated kinases (MAPK/ERK) signaling pathway is activated by growth factors and mitogens through various types of receptors, in order to regulate gene expression and consequently promote cell survival. Genes that are targeted by it, code for proteins involved in apoptosis control, such as Bcl associated agonist of cell death (Bad), Bcl-2-like protein 11 (Bim), induced myeloid leukemia cell differentiation protein 1 (Mcl-1) or caspase 9. MAPK/ERK signaling pathways comprises a series of kinases that activate each other by downstream phosphorylation. It interacts with PI3K/Akt pathway in cell growth and tumorigenesis (McCubrey et al. 2007). The studies conducted by Ren et al. (2019) and An et al. (2019) also discovered ERK pathway to be activated along with PI3K/ Akt in wound healing promoting cell migration and angiogenesis. Additionally, activation of ERK/MAPK signaling by hASC-exos contribute extracellular matrix (ECM) remodeling by increasing expression of MMP3 (Wang et al. 2017). On the other hand, hASC-exos with immunoregulating effect suppressed MAPK and

nuclear factor-kB (NF-kB) pathways in neural tissue regeneration. This led to inhibition of microglia activation, which take part in neuroinflammation (Feng et al. 2019).

PKA pathway is another cell signaling cascade activated by hASC-exos that was found to be involved in regenerative processes such as angiogenesis. More precisely, hASC-exos from cells that were kept in hypoxic condition stimulated angiogenesis of HUVEC cells by activating PKA pathway. Its inhibition suppressed angiogenic effects, confirming PKA activation as an underlying mechanism to promote vascularization (Xue et al. 2018). Other signaling pathways regulated by hASC-exos are sphingosine 1 phosphate(S1P)/sphingosine kinase 1(SK1)/sphingosine 1 phosphate receptor 1 (S1PR1) which have immunomodulating effects in cardiac damage (Deng et al. 2019), or sirtuin 1 (SIRT1) with immunomodulating effects in acute kidney injury (Gao et al. 2020) (Fig. 2).

4 Biological Functions of hASC-Exos and Contribution to Tissue Regeneration

The biological processes in which exosomes are involved are numerous. Due to their varied content of proteins and nucleic acids, they can be found to take part in multiple crucial cellular events. In depth molecular analysis revealed 148 miRNA molecules in hASC-exos and proteomic investigations detected the presence of over 1400 exosomal proteins which play different roles in biological processes (Hong et al.



Fig. 2 The major tissue regeneration-related signaling pathways modulated by hASC-exos cargo in ncRNAs and the downstream effects associated with wound healing, immunomodulation, angiogenesis and differentiation processes during regeneration

2019) such as, wound healing, extracellular matrix remodeling, immunomodulation, angiogenesis, anti-apoptotic activity and cell migration, proliferation and differentiation.

Wound healing represents a complex process that involves multiple mechanisms and many cell types in order to regenerate the damaged tissue. This process has three stages: inflammation, proliferation and remodeling, each represented by a main cellular event (cell migration, cell proliferation and ECM deposition) (Broughton et al. 2006; Shingyochi et al. 2015; Hassanshahi et al. 2019). Upon injury, the inflammatory stage is initiated and involves the formation of a provisional wound matrix and initiation of clotting cascade. The clot serves as scaffolding for the inflammatory cells that are attracted to the injury site and further contribute to clearing the invading bacteria and cellular debris (Broughton et al. 2006; Reinke and Sorg 2012). The next phase is the proliferative stage that represents the response of progenitor cells to the chemoattractants secreted by the inflammatory cells. Epithelial progenitor cells, fibroblasts and keratinocytes migrate to the wound site, proliferate, some of them differentiate, and then start producing collagen and other extracellular matrix proteins. Moreover, angiogenesis is induced, aiming to restore the vascular system. During the last stage, as the wound matures by replacing collagen III in stronger collagen I, the cells that produced the granulation tissue undergo apoptosis (Reinke and Sorg 2012). Prolonged healing may lead to excessive scar formation that is usually associated with defective healing (Hong et al. 2019). The correlation between hASC-exos activity and these biological functions will be further discussed in detail in the following section.

4.1 hASC-Exos Function in Immunomodulation and Anti-Inflammatory Activity

In some tissue regeneration processes, inflammation is an important first step. Inflammation is a response of the body to damaging stimuli and which presents as a goal homeostasis restoration in organisms. A regulated inflammatory response is normal and favorable for tissue regeneration (Wu et al. 2018).

The immunomodulatory characteristics of hASCs are associated with cell-to-cell connection and production of immunosuppressive mediators (Blazquez et al. 2014). hASCs are involved in regulation of immune system through cell-to-cell intercommunication and secretion of different factors, such as EVs, growth factors, soluble mediators (Fang et al. 2019). Due to hASCs interaction with immune cells in the adipose tissue, they can direct the T and B cells and macrophages activity. Through cell-to-cell contact, hASCs are able to decrease the proliferation of allogenic lymphocytes (Yañez et al. 2006). Also, hASCs can be used for allogenic and xenogenic transplantation, without immunosuppression (Lin et al. 2012).

hASCs support the activation of T-reg cells, macrophages interaction, IL-10 secretion and TH1 cells proliferation downregulation (Al-Ghadban and Bunnell 2020). hASCs secretion of soluble mediators, EVs and growth factors is useful for regenerative medicine. In addition, immune diseases could be alleviated using cellfree therapy represented by hASC-exos.

hASC-exos have the property to decrease the intensity of the inflammatory responses. This is possible due to the pro-inflammatory cytokines TNF- α , IL-1 β , inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS), monocyte chemoattractant protein (MCP)-1and cyclooxygenase (COX)-2 downregulation, and the anti-inflammatory cytokines IL-10 up-regulation (Yu et al. 2016). hASCexos include in their composition different cytokines, metabolites or ncRNAs which have anti-inflammatory and regenerative properties (Seo et al. 2019). Due to the already proven role of hASCs in immunosuppression, hASC-exos started to be used for similar applications (Al-Ghadban and Bunnell 2020). The therapeutic effects of hASC-exos are performed through a paracrine mechanism of content release into target cells cytosol.

The immunomodulatory characteristics of hASC-exos are represented by peripheral tolerance (Mokarizadeh et al. 2012), regulation of immune response (Zhang et al. 2014). Like hASCs, hASC-exos influence the activity of B and T lymphocytes. Immunosuppressive activity of hASC-exos are represented by the conversion of T lymphocytes into the T-regulatory phenotype (Wu et al. 2018).

hASC-exos influence the secretion of IL-10 and TGF- β , reduce the secretion of IL-1 β , IL-6 or TNF- α , and decrease the activation and differentiation capacity of T cells (Blazquez et al. 2014).

In 2017, Jaimes et al. reported that in microglia cells, the control of inflammatory responses is determined by p38, MAPKs, c-Jun N-terminal kinases (JNK) and ERK 1/2 suppression. The reduced inflammatory responses and microglia cells activity can support the regeneration of neural tissue (Jaimes et al. 2017).

A study employed by Domenis et al., showed that the presence of inflammatory cytokines influences the hASC-exos immunosuppressive and anti-inflammatory reactions and M2 phenotype polarization (Domenis et al. 2018). It is known that M2 phenotype polarization is supported by hASC-exos. Balaphas et al., studied the role of EVs in steatohepatitis. One of the observations was that hASC-exos determine the polarization of M2 macrophages, contributing to decrease of steatosis and promoting liver regeneration (Balaphas et al. 2019).

Another study conducted by Sanchez-Margallo et al. proved the inhibitory effect of hASC-exos on the propagation and differentiation of CD4 and CD8 T cells and IFN- γ production. In the end of the study, they suggested that hASC-exos represent an alternative for regeneration of damaged tissue and local immunosuppression, because IFN- γ is involved in immune and anti-inflammatory responses (Blazquez et al. 2014).

In 2017, Zhao et al. investigated the effect of hASC-exos treatment on mice with obesityassociated inflammation. The treatment influenced M2 macrophages polarization, arginase-1 (Arg-1) activation and reduce the inflammatory responses. M2 macrophages stimulation determines STAT3 activation, Arg-1 and IL-10 expression and inhibition of inflammatory responses after lipopolysaccharides and IFN- γ recognition. The results indicated the interplay between hASC-exos and macrophages, control over the progression of obesity, hepatic steatosis mitigation, regulation of homeostasis and increased insulin sensitivity (Zhao et al. 2018).

Different studies were employed in order to evaluate the immunomodulatory characteristics of hASC-exos. Among the immunomodulatory effects are the increased CD163, CD206, Arg-1, STAT6, MAF BZIP transcription factor B (MafB) expression, characteristics to M2 macrophages activation (Heo et al. 2019), increased neovascularization and reduced inflammation (Bai et al. 2018), decreased infiltration of mast cells and inflammatory dendritic cells (Shin et al. 2020) and low levels of TNF- α , IL-1 β , IFN- γ expression (Patel et al. 2018).

On the other hand, Nojima et al., indicated that hASC-exos increased the proliferation of hepatocytes and supported the regeneration of the liver (Nojima et al. 2016a). The same group showed that EVs production is dependent on two chemokine receptors CXCR1 and CXCR2 (Nojima et al. 2016b).

4.1.1 Anti-inflammatory miRNAs Specific to hASCs-Exos and Their Effects

miRNAs contribute to inflammatory responses regulation and manage the immune cell phenotype (Ti et al. 2016). Ti et al. reported that regulation of macrophage polarization and the decrease of the inflammatory response are performed by miRNA-let7b through inhibition of TLR4/NF-kB pathway and STAT3/AKT signaling pathways activation (Ti et al. 2015).

Hutchison et al., studied the role of miR-181 in inflammation and tissue regeneration. Therefore they used an experimental neuroinflammatory model treated with LPS and concluded that miR-181 is important for astrocytes activation, anabolic metabolism in immune cells and to reduce inflammation during regeneration (Hutchison et al. 2013).

Zhao et al. researched the activity of miR-145 and miR-221 from hASC-exos used as treatment for bone regeneration. They observed that miR-145 is involved in TNF- α mediated inflammation suppression and miR-221 is involved in proliferation and differentiation of periosteal cells, contributing to tissue regeneration (Zhao et al. 2020).

Withal, miR-126 was studied in myocardial cells. miR-126 secreted by hASC-exos has the ability to prevent inflammation, tissue damage and apoptosis and to contribute to decrease of myocardial ischemic injury and regeneration initiation (Luo et al. 2017).

Wang et al. indicated that miR-233 has suppressing influence over TNF- α , IL-1 β , and IL-6 secretion. miR-223 intervenes at the level of the STAT3 signaling pathway, interacting with semaphorin (Sema) 3A and STAT3 in macrophages. Sema3A is involved in axon branching and synapse formation, but also in bone and cardiac development and regeneration processes and immune disorders (Wang et al. 2015).

M2 macrophages polarization is supported by miR124-3p, miR-34a-5p, miR135b-5p and miR146a-5p activity. An interesting observation was that M1 and M2 polarization depend on the miR-21-5p activity. Diversely, miR-34 is involved in pro-inflammatory cytokine inhibition by targeting Notch1 signaling pathway, miR-146 support the expression of the genes associated with M2 phenotype and targets interleukin-1 receptor-associated kinase 1 (IRAK1) and TNF receptor associated factor 6 (TRAF6) mediators of NF-kB signaling pathway (Domenis et al. 2018). Common to both inflammation and tissue damage is the production of miR-21 by exosomes. Caescu et al. noticed that M2 phenotype of macrophages is supported by colonystimulating factor 1 receptor (CSF-1R) downregulation provoked by miR-21. They demonstrated that the knockdown of miR-21 in mice models, reduced the Arg-1, mannose receptor 1, IL-4 receptor α (IL-4R α) and found in inflammatory zone (FIZZ) protein expression levels. MiR-21 supported the M2 macrophages responses through suppression of a MEK/ERK1/ 2 pathway activator, named SIRPb1 (Caescu et al. 2015).

4.2 hASC-Exos Effect on Cell Growth, Proliferation and Differentiation

Adult stem cells are quiescent cells that once prompted, they proliferate with the potential to differentiate into multiple cell types providing novel tools for cure and rehabilitation in regenerative medicine. Thus, the key to developing novel and effective therapies lies with the understanding of cell growth, proliferation and differentiation (Lambrou and Remboutsika 2014).

Many studies have described the involvement of hASC-exos in proliferation and migration processes through several mechanisms in different cell types, such as vascular endothelial cells, epithelial cells, fibroblasts, and cancer cells (Hong et al. 2019). Thus, it has been reported that the expression of some growth factors and receptors, such as platelet-derived growth factor subunit A (PDGFA), platelet-derived growth factor receptor (PDGFR), VEGFA, VEGF receptor 2 (VEGFR2), fibroblast growth factor 2 (FGF2), and hypoxia inducible factor 1 subunit alpha (HIF-1A) was increased by hASC-exos in endothelial cells. Moreover, hASC-exos upregulated PDGFA, VEGFA, VEGFR2, epidermal growth factor (EGF), and FGF2 in HaCAT cells and fibroblasts, thus contributing to the neovascularization of endothelial cells in wounds (Ren et al. 2019).

Several studies have shown that hASC-exos play an important role in wound healing through the Wnt/ β -catenin (Ma et al. 2019) and PI3K/ AKT signaling pathways (Yang et al. 2020). For example, it has been reported that hASC-exos stimulated proliferation and migration of HaCaT cells after their exposure to H_2O_2 by activating the Wnt/ β -catenin pathway (Ma et al. 2019), and via exosomal miR-21, which increases MMP-9 and decreases TIMP-2 expression by regulating the PI3K/AKT pathway (Yang et al. 2020). Furthermore, it has been demonstrated that hASCexos participate in the proliferation and tube formation of endothelial cells through the activation of the ERK and AKT signaling pathways, by increasing the phosphorylation of p-ERK1/2 and p-AKT (Hong et al. 2019).

Many studies have demonstrated that hASCexos significantly promoted the proliferation of dermal fibroblasts during wound healing, by activating the PI3K/Akt signalling pathway, which intervenes in cell cycle progression and in the expression of growth factors, including TGF-β1 and bFGF (Zhang et al. 2018c). Human dermal fibroblasts (HDFs) could incorporate hASC-exos, which stimulated HDFs' migration and expression of long non-coding RNA MALAT1, which plays an important role in the regulation of different molecular signaling pathways and participates in cell cycle, proliferation, angiogenesis, migration, and tumorigenicity (Hong et al. 2019). Choi et al. (2018) reported that hASC-exos can promote proliferation of dermal fibroblasts and regeneration of skin through a series fibroblasts of miRNAs (miR-4,484, miR-619-5p, miR-6,879-5p), which can inhibit some aging-associated genes, including npm1, pdcd4, ccl5 and nup62. Thus, hASCexos secrete a number of growth factors and cytokines, which potentially affect cellular growth and proliferation and play important roles in the wound healing process (Zhang et al. 2018b).

The promotion of epithelial cells, endothelial cells, and fibroblasts proliferation by hASC-exos has been supported by upregulation of *cyclin A1*, *cyclin A2*, *cyclin D1*, *cyclin D2*, and partially supported by overexpression of *c-myc* gene, which are involved in cell cycle progression, being considered proliferative markers (Ren et al. 2019).

Zhang et al. (2018b) demonstrated that hASCexos have the potential to increase the number of chondrocytes in the cartilage repair process, through a synergistic combination of increased proliferation, reduced apoptosis and enhanced recruitment while promoting matrix synthesis. They also observed exosome-mediated increases in the expression of genes associated with proliferation (proliferating cell nuclear antigen (*PCNA*) and *FGF-2*) and anti-apoptosis (*Survivin* and *Bcl-*2). hASCs derived exosomal lncRNA KLF3-AS1 transplantation could contribute to chondrocyte proliferation and inhibition of apoptosis via miR-206/GIT1 axis, thus facilitating cartilage repair. Therefore, cellular delivery of exosomal lncRNA KLF3-AS1 could be a possible mechanism for osteoarthritis (OA) therapy. hASC-exos treatment led to an increase in type II collagen alpha 1 (Col2A1) and aggrecan, which are essential for normal cartilage function, and a decrease in MMP-13 and runt-related transcription factor 2 (Runx2), that are involved in chondrocyte differentiation and cartilage degradation, thus indicating the potential role of hASC-exos in inhibiting chondrocytes degradation (Liu et al. 2018).

Li et al. examined the effects of hASC-exos on bone growth and they observed that hASC-exos combined with a poly lactic-co-glycolic acid (PLGA) scaffold led to rapid repair of criticalsized mouse skull defects. Besides, they reported that hASC-exos increased the proliferation and osteogenic differentiation of human BM-MSCs (Li et al. 2018a). hASC-exos also have an important role in treating many bone diseases such as osteoporosis, osteoarthritis etc. In this regard, it has been demonstrated that hASC-exos, under the influence of TNF- α , could induce the proliferation and differentiation of osteoblastic cells by stopping the Wnt signaling pathway (Maqsood et al. 2020).

Studies have shown that hASC-exos could increase neurite lengths via neural growth factors (nerve growth factor (NGF), glial cell-derived neurotrophic factor (GDNF), brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF), fibroblast growth (FGF-1), and IGF-1), and by factor 1 overexpressing cyclin Ki67 in Schwann cell nuclei, thereby stimulating neurite outgrowth (Ching et al. 2018; Bucan et al. 2019; Hong et al. 2019). Moreover, it has been demonstrated that miR-222 from hASC-exos enhance Schwann cell proliferation and migration by targeting longevity assurance homologue 2 (LASS2) which suppresses cell growth, promotes neurite outgrowth with increased expression of PTEN, a known inhibitor of nerve regeneration. hASCexos were shown to incorporate miR-222 and miR-21, with an increased expression noted upon differentiation (Ching et al. 2018). It has been reported that hASC-exos enhanced secretion of BDNF and NGF by Schwann cells, which led to increased proliferation, myelination, and migration of cells in a dose-dependent manner. Also, it was reported that treatment with the hASC-exos improved muscle atrophy by promoting axonal regeneration and myelination, but exosomal components that exerted these effects remained unidentified (Chen et al. 2019b).

Studies have demonstrated that mice treated with hASC-exos exhibited decreased renal injury and increased proliferation of renal tubular epithelial cells, thus attenuating acute kidney injury (AKI). Also, treatment with hASC-exos led to upregulation of tubular *SOX9* gene expression, a key gene involved in renal repair and renal tubule epithelial cell regeneration, and inhibited TGF- β 1-induced renal fibrosis (Zhu et al. 2017). In addition, Jin et al. introduced hASC-exos derived from rat into the iliac veins of rats in an acute liver disease model, thereby enhancing their survival rate at 72 h by over 70% compared to controls (Wong et al. 2019).

hASC-exos could increase the proliferation of the ovarian granule cells and inhibit their apoptosis through the regulation of SMAD signaling pathway, thus managing to restore ovarian function in premature ovarian failure (Huang et al. 2018).

Regarding the role of hASC-exos in cancer, it appears that hASC-exos have dual contradictory) functions in regulating (or tumorigenesis, both by promoting and inhibiting the growth of cancer cells (Shukla et al. 2020). For example, it has been shown that hASC-exos stimulated the proliferation and migration of the breast cancer cell line MCF7, through the activation of Wnt pathway and accumulation of Wnt target genes, including Axin2 and Dkk1 (Lin et al. 2013). In contrast, miR-122-transfected hASCs can generate miR-122 encapsulated exosomes to deliver miR-122 into hepatocellular tumor cells, which elevated tumor cell sensitivity to chemotherapeutic agents via gene expression alternations and tumor proliferation in vitro and in vivo (Vakhshiteh et al. 2019). Studies have shown that internalized hASCs-CM (conditioned medium)-derived exosomes inhibited the growth and proliferation of A2780 and SKOV-3 ovarian cancer cells, thus suggesting that the relationship between hASCs and cancer could be partially explained by the mechanisms involved in exosome activity, given that hASC-exos contain miRNAs, which could be involved in cancer suppression or progression (Reza et al. 2016). Besides, it has been demonstrated that hASCexos could inhibit prostate cancer via delivery of miR-145 by reducing the activity of Bcl-xL and promoting apoptosis through the caspase-3/7 pathway (Vakhshiteh et al. 2019).

A study has reported that miR-503-3pf, released by adipocyte secreted-exos, may inhibit tumor growth regulating cancer stem cells (CSCs) proliferation and self-renewal, reducing the expression of pluripotency genes. Also, xenograft tumor growth is inhibited by the administration of miR-503-3p, supporting this miR as a stemness-attenuating factor via cell-to-cell communication (Gentile and Garcovich 2019).

Many miRNAs from hASC-exos are very important in proliferation and differentiation processes. For example, they are involved in cell cycle and proliferation (miR-191, miR-222, miR-21, let-7a), and in endothelial cells differentiation (miR-6087) (Gurunathan et al. 2019). Wang et al. have shown that exosomal miR-132 derived from hASCs/VEGF-C can be transferred directly to lymphatic endothelial cells (LECs), thus promoting LECs proliferation and migration, also lymphangiogenic response through the modulation of TGF- β /Smad signaling (Wang et al. 2018). Moreover, it has been demonstrated that in nasopharyngeal carcinoma, miR24-3p, miR106a-5p, miR-20a-5p, miR-891a, and miR-1908 from exosomes participate in cell proliferation and differentiation through downregulation of the microtubule affinity regulating kinase 1 (MARK1) signaling pathway, while in lung cancer, exosomal miR-302b inhibits cell proliferation through the TGFβRII/ERK pathway (Gurunathan et al. 2019).

As a novel type of cell communication, exosomes have drawn much attention in cell differentiation. Several studies have demonstrated that exosomal miRNAs participated in multiple differentiation processes, such as osteogenesis, neurogenesis, myogenesis and angiogenesis, thereby indicating that miRNAs may be the main mechanism for exosomes-mediated differentiation (Zhang et al. 2017). From another point of view, exosomes are mediators of communication between stem cells and mature tissue cells. Once the stem cells differentiate into mature cells, they in turn also induce stem cells towards differentiation through exosomes, thus a positivefeedback loop mechanism is formed during differentiation (Zhang et al. 2017).

It has been shown that hASC-exos are involved in cutaneous wound regeneration through extracellular matrix reconstruction. This process is accomplished by modulating the levels of collagen type III: type I, MMP3: TIMP1, TGF- β 3: TGF- β 1, and stopping the differentiation of fibroblasts into myofibroblasts to reduce scar formation (Wang et al. 2017).

Shen et al. have reported that hASC-exosmiR-19a could be used in the treatment of corneal fibrosis, because miR-19a suppressed fetal bovine serum (FBS)-induced differentiation of rabbit corneal keratocytes into myofibroblasts through the inhibition of homeodomain interacting protein kinase 2 (HIPK2) expression, which participate in the enhancement of p53 and Smad3 pathways in FBS-induced keratocytes (Shen et al. 2020).

Li et al. (2019) have demonstrated that the adipogenic differentiation process, which is involved in adipose tissue regeneration and certain problems related to obesity, can be regulated by an axis consisting of lncRNA H19, miR-30a, and C8orf4. It has been reported that adipogenesis could only be induced by adipose tissue (AT)-Exos, while hASC-exos had small effect (Hong et al. 2019). Thus, 14 miRNAs enriched in AT-Exos were previously reported to promote adipogenic differentiation of MSCs. For example, miR-450a-5p is a regulator of hASCs differentiation into adipocytes by downregulating WISP2 in hASCs. Moreover, a number of adipogenesisrelated proteins were detected in hASC-exos including preadipocyte factor 1 (PREF-1), adenylate kinase 2 (AK2), peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor γ (PPAR γ), and MMP-2, MMP-9 (Zhang et al. 2017).

Furthermore, hASC-exos promoted chondrogenesis in periosteal cells and increased chondrogenic markers, including collagen type II and β -catenin. Periosteal cells treated with exosomes exhibited higher levels of miR-145 and miR-221, which were associated with the enhanced proliferation of periosteal cells and chondrogenic potential (Zhao et al. 2020).

hASC-exos can regulate the Wnt signalling pathway and endocytosis, thus contributing to the modification of miRNAs profiles and promotion of osteogenic differentiation, according to the phase of differentiation (Gurunathan et al. 2019). Studies have indicated that miRNAs such as let-7a and miR-218 were up- or downregulated at different time points and the alteration was helpful to the osteogenic differentiation of hASCs (Li et al. 2018a). Moreover, it has been demonstrated that exosomes. from TNF-α-preconditioned hASCs (which is supposed to mimic the acute inflammatory phase following a bone injury), stimulated the osteogenic gene expression through the Wnt signaling pathway, which is a fundamental pathway in osteogenic differentiation. Also, the mir-130a-3p/SIRT7/Wnt axis could be a molecular mechanism underlying the effectiveness of exosomes in the modulation of hASCs osteogenic differentiation (Storti et al. 2019).

Studies have demonstrated that neuronsconditioned medium-derived exosomes contributed to differentiation of hASCs into neural cells (Zhang et al. 2017). Moreover, hASCexos assist in neural differentiation by miR-124 delivering to neural precursor cells (NPCs). miR-124 suppresses *Sox9* expression, involved in NPC multipotent capacity and maintenance, hence the effect of miR-124 on *Sox9* promotes NPC differentiation (Reza-Zaldivar et al. 2018).

It has been shown that hASC-exos have cardioprotective roles through their paracrine effects (reduction in the levels of apoptotic proteins detected (e.g. Bcl-2-associated X protein (Bax)), increase in the levels of proteins Bcl-2 and Cyclin D1, activation of Wnt/ β -catenin pathway) rather than the direct differentiation into cardiomyocytes (Shukla et al. 2020).

hASC-exos participate in the modulation of immune response through their paracrine activity. For example, hASC-exos inhibit the differentiation of CD4+ and CD8+ T cells into effector or memory cells *in vitro* via anti-CD3/CD2/CD28 stimuli (Hong et al. 2019).

4.3 hASC-Exos Involvement in Angiogenesis

Angiogenesis implies the formation of new blood vessel such as capillaries starting from a preexisting vascular network. This could take place either by the phenomenon of endothelial cells sprouting from old blood vessels or by inserting tissue pillars within already existing vessels in order to split them. In regenerative medicine, angiogenesis is very important for generating functional tissues (Rouwkema and Khademhosseini 2016). It is essential mainly in cases of ischemic diseases when damaged tissues need supply with oxygen and nutrients. Since sometimes stem cell therapy could pose ethical impediments or biological limitation (immune rejection/tumorigenicity), stem cell EVs have emerged as intensively exploited alternative to promote angiogenesis (Bian et al. 2019).

hASC-exos, as being carriers for different types of molecules, especially ncRNA species, can work as stimuli to promote angiogenesis of endothelial cells. Human umbilical vein endothelial cells (HUVEC) are widely used to study angiogenic properties of hASC secretome (Liang et al. 2016; Han et al. 2019; An et al. 2019). hASC-exos can be absorbed by HUVECs, determining higher proliferation rates and tubular-like structures formation, both in vitro and in vivo in BALB/c male nude mice, along with augmented expression of VEGF (Zhang et al. 2018a). Two models, HUVECs and a nude mouse model of subcutaneous fat grafting, were used by Han et al. (2019) to identify the molecular mechanism underlying angiogenic properties of exosomes from hypoxia-treated hASCs. These hASC-exos had elevated levels of angiogenic proteins, like VEGF, VEGF-R, FGF, EGF, MCP-2 and MCP-4. In vivo, neovascularization is most probably mediated by VEGF/VEGF-R signaling, as their expression is also increased in grafted tissues. Xu et al. (2019) identified miR-423-5p as a mediator delivered by hASC-

exos to HUVEC to promote angiogenesis. Sufu protein is targeted by miR-423-5p which downregulates its expression in HUVEC cells with increased proliferation and tube forming capabilities. miR-125a is another angiogenesis' regulatory molecule delivered by hASC-exos to HUVECs. Its target is represented by the angiogenic inhibitor delta-*like* 4 (DDL4), whose protein expression levels are decreased after hASCexos internalization (Liang et al. 2016).

In ulcerative injuries, hASC-exos overexpressing nuclear factor-E2-related factor 2 (Nrf2) transcription factor increased cutaneous wound healing by promoting vascularization. hASC-exos were capable to reduce glucoseinduced senescence of endothelial progenitor cells (EPCs). Nrf2 inhibit ROS formation and cytokine expression in EPCs, while treatment with EPC and hASC-exos resulted in improved vessel density in a diabetic rat model (Li et al. 2018b). In vitro, EPCs' migration was also improved by exosomes derived from hASC overexpressing miR-126. Treatment with these exosomes promoted angiogenesis in vivo, showing protective effects in acute myocardial ischemic injury in a rat model (Luo et al. 2017). hASC-exos could improve vascular remodeling processes after stroke in rats. Positive effects were reported towards brain microvascular endothelial cells' (BMEC) migration and angiogenesis, miR-181b-5p/TRPM7 through axis, after oxygen-glucose deprivation. Transient receptor potential cation channel subfamily M member 7 (TRPM7) is directly targeted by miR-181b-5p, decreasing its expression in BMEC. Furthermore, hASC-exos expressing miR-181b-5p regulated other protein expressions, upregulating VEGF, hypoxia- inducible factor 1α and downregulating TIMP-3 (Yang et al. 2018). In mice frat graft retention, hASC-exo manifested increased angiogenesis similar to their cell source, meaning they could be effectively used in cell-free therapies in regenerative medicine (Chen et al. 2019a). Another strategy is proposed by Du et al. (2018), who transfected hASC with a miR-199-3p mimic to assess exosomes effects on angiogenesis. Thus, exosomes derived from those modified hASCs promoted migration and proliferation of human peripheral blood mononuclear cells (endothelial tip cells). miR-199-3p acted by downregulating expression of Sema3 protein. Additionally, there was also increased expression of MMP9, PCNA and a decreased expression of TIMP3.

4.4 hASC-Exos Influence on Matrix Remodeling

As part of the wound healing process, matrix remodeling represents the last stage and it is typically associated with the extent of scar formation. This mainly depends on ECM production and reorganization, processes that are targeted as a way to reduce excessive scarring (Hong et al. 2019; Qiu et al. 2020). Even though hASC-exos main impact on wound healing is focused on the first two stages, inflammation and proliferation, there are some studies that investigate the positive effect of hASC-exos on matrix remodeling.

Hu et al. (2016) stimulated dermal fibroblasts with hASC-exos and observed that collagen and elastin synthesis is promoted during the first steps, but then it is inhibited in the late stages to reduce scar formation. A more complex study was conducted by Wang et al. (2017) on mice with full-thickness dorsal wounds, that received hASC-exos intravenously and were investigated over 21 days. hASC-exos induced a reticular pattern of collagen that resembled the surrounding unwounded skin and the ratio of collagen III to collagen I was increased compared to control group. In addition, after 14 days of hASC-exos treatment, fibroblasts were inhibited to differentiate to myofibroblasts, which are responsible for granulation tissue formation. Furthermore, the study comprised in vitro results as well, on derfibroblasts treated mal with hASC-exos. Remodeling of ECM was regulated by hASCexos by activating ERK/MAPK pathway and increased the ratio of MMP3 to TIMP1. TGF- β isoforms play an important role in scar formation, and more importantly TGF-\u03b31/3. TGF-\u03b31 promotes fibroblasts to myofibroblasts differentiation and granulation tissue formation, while TGF-β3 is involved in inhibiting myofibrobast differentiation and reduces scar formation. In this study, the collagen III to collagen I and TGF- β 3 to TGF- β 1 ratios were also increased that helped to reduce excessive scarring. Another study by Zhang et al. (2018c), showed that human dermal fibroblasts stimulated with hASC-exos, promoted collagen synthesis by activating the PI3K/Akt signaling pathway. Collagen III to collagen I ratio was also increased by hASC-exos, by approximatively 50%, positively influencing the extent of scar tissue.

In a recent study, Yang et al. (2020) correlated the highly expressed miR-21 in hASC-exos with increased MMP-9 expression and reduced TIMP2 expression through PI3K-AKT pathway. Moreover, mirR-21 from hASC-exos specifically targeted TGF- β 1 in HaCaT cells, reducing its expression and therefore having a positive impact on scar formation.

4.5 Anti-apoptotic Signals Mediated by hASC-Exos

Among other biological behaviors, it was found that hASC-exos contain signals that exhibit antiapoptotic effects in pathological conditions. For example, during ischemic reperfusion injuries, oxidative stress and inflammation lead to apoptosis of myocardial cells which will further decrease cardiac function. Liu et al. (2020) found that treatment with hASC-exos reduced oxidative stress-induced apoptosis in myocardial cells in vitro, thus demonstrating their exosomes protective effect against cardiac affections. Evidence indicate that hASC-exos inhibit the apoptotic process, by transfer of several proteins and miRNAs (Hong et al. 2019). Also, in case of HaCaT cells exposed to H₂O₂ it was demonstrated that hASCexos managed to enhance cell proliferation and stopped apoptosis via increasing the expression of anti-apoptotic protein Bcl-2 and inhibiting the expression of pro-apoptotic protein Bax (Ma et al. 2019). Furthermore, the same outcomes were confirmed in ischemia-reperfusion injuries where treatments with hASC-exos decreased apoptotic biomarkers such as Bax, caspase 3 and poly ADP-ribose polymerase (Lin et al. 2016; Bai et al. 2018). Additionally, the effect of hASC-exos has been also studied in case of peripheral nerve injuries models. Liu et al. (2019) elaborated a study where they induced sciatic nerve injuries in rats. They harvested and purified Schwann cells and analyzed proliferation and apoptosis of these cells post-injury. They treated Schwann cells cultures with various hASC-exos concentrations and the results indicated that the proliferation rate of cells increased significantly in a concentration-dependent manner. Flow cytometry analysis and immunofluorescence staining also indicated a significant decrease in apoptotic cells for the Schwann cells treated with hASC-exos. Last, qPCR results demonstrated that anti-apoptotic exosomes upregulated Bcl-2 expression and downregulated the pro-apoptotic factor, Bax. To sum up, there is clear evidence that hASC-exos have an impressive control over the apoptotic process and present tremendous potential for therapeutic use against serious affections.

5 Conclusions

Human adipose derived stem cells show great potential for regenerative medicine applications, mediated by the molecules produced in their rich secretome. While chemokines, cytokines and protein growth factors in hASCs secretome have been widely studied for their properties, the EVs secreted by hASCs and the effect of their content on the regenerative process and its phases is just starting to be explored. There is clear evidence that hASC-exos can be used as a cell-free therapy in patients in order to promote regenerative processes such as wound healing, extracellular matrix remodeling, immunomodulation, angiogenesis, anti-apoptotic activity and cell migration, proliferation and differentiation. hASC-exos are able to modulate signaling pathways such as Wnt-β-catenin, PI3K-Akt, MAPK/ERK and others involved in tissue regeneration. Therefore, one of the future targets in tissue engineering and regenerative medicine would be to explore the properties of hASC-exos in order to activate the first steps of tissue regeneration more efficiently than the currently used methods and to provide a personalized alternative for regenerative applications.

References

- Al-Ghadban S, Bunnell BA (2020) Adipose tissue-derived stem cells: immunomodulatory effects and therapeutic potential. Physiology 35:125–133. https://doi.org/10. 1152/physiol.00021.2019
- An Y, Zhao J, Nie F et al (2019) Exosomes from adiposederived stem cells (ADSCs) overexpressing miR-21 promote vascularization of endothelial cells. Sci Rep 9:12861. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-019-49339-y
- Anand S, Samuel M, Kumar S, Mathivanan S (2019) Ticket to a bubble ride: cargo sorting into exosomes and extracellular vesicles. Biochim Biophys Acta Proteins Proteomics 1867:140203. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.bbapap.2019.02.005
- Bae S, Brumbaugh J, Bonavida B (2018) Exosomes derived from cancerous and non-cancerous cells regulate the anti-tumor response in the tumor microenvironment. Genes Cancer 9:87–100. https://doi.org/10. 18632/genesandcancer.172
- Bai Y, Han Y, Yan X et al (2018) Adipose mesenchymal stem cell-derived exosomes stimulated by hydrogen peroxide enhanced skin flap recovery in ischemiareperfusion injury. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 500:310–317. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc.2018.04. 065
- Bala S, Petrasek J, Mundkur S et al (2012) Circulating microRNAs in exosomes indicate hepatocyte injury and inflammation in alcoholic, drug-induced, and inflammatory liver diseases. Hepatology 56:1946–1957. https://doi.org/10.1002/hep.25873
- Balaphas A, Meyer J, Sadoul R et al (2019) Extracellular vesicles: future diagnostic and therapeutic tools for liver disease and regeneration. Liver Int 39:1801–1817. https://doi.org/10.1111/liv.14189
- Bian X, Ma K, Zhang C, Fu X (2019) Therapeutic angiogenesis using stem cell-derived extracellular vesicles: an emerging approach for treatment of ischemic diseases. Stem Cell Res Ther 10:158. https://doi.org/ 10.1186/s13287-019-1276-z
- Blazquez R, Sanchez-Margallo FM, de la Rosa O et al (2014) Immunomodulatory potential of human adipose mesenchymal stem cells derived exosomes on *in vitro* stimulated T cells. Front Immunol 5:556. https://doi. org/10.3389/fimmu.2014.00556
- Broughton G, Janis JE, Attinger CE (2006) Wound healing: an overview. Plast Reconstr Surg 117:1e-S– 32e-S. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.prs.0000222562. 60260.f9
- Bucan V, Vaslaitis D, Peck C-T et al (2019) Effect of exosomes from rat adipose-derived mesenchymal stem cells on neurite outgrowth and sciatic nerve regeneration after crush injury. Mol Neurobiol

56:1812–1824. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12035-018-1172-z

- Caescu CI, Guo X, Tesfa L et al (2015) Colony stimulating factor-1 receptor signaling networks inhibit mouse macrophage inflammatory responses by induction of microRNA-21. Blood 125:e1–e13. https://doi.org/10. 1182/blood-2014-10-608000
- Carre AL, Hu MS, James AW et al (2018) β-Catenin– dependent Wnt signaling. Plast Reconstr Surg 141:669–678. https://doi.org/10.1097/PRS. 000000000004170
- Chen J, Crawford R, Chen C, Xiao Y (2013) The key regulatory roles of the PI3K/Akt signaling pathway in the functionalities of mesenchymal stem cells and applications in tissue regeneration. Tissue Eng Part B Rev 19:516–528. https://doi.org/10.1089/ten.teb.2012. 0672
- Chen B, Cai J, Wei Y et al (2019a) Exosomes are comparable to source adipose stem cells in fat graft retention with up-regulating early inflammation and angiogenesis. Plast Reconstr Surg 144:816e–827e. https://doi. org/10.1097/PRS.00000000006175
- Chen J, Ren S, Duscher D et al (2019b) Exosomes from human adipose-derived stem cells promote sciatic nerve regeneration via optimizing Schwann cell function. J Cell Physiol 234:23097–23110. https://doi.org/ 10.1002/jcp.28873
- Ching RC, Wiberg M, Kingham PJ (2018) Schwann celllike differentiated adipose stem cells promote neurite outgrowth via secreted exosomes and RNA transfer. Stem Cell Res Ther 9:266. https://doi.org/10.1186/ s13287-018-1017-8
- Choi JS, Yoon HI, Lee KS et al (2016) Exosomes from differentiating human skeletal muscle cells trigger myogenesis of stem cells and provide biochemical cues for skeletal muscle regeneration. J Control Release 222:107–115. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jconrel.2015.12.018
- Choi EW, Seo MK, Woo EY et al (2018) Exosomes from human adipose-derived stem cells promote proliferation and migration of skin fibroblasts. Exp Dermatol 27:1170–1172. https://doi.org/10.1111/exd.13451
- Cocucci E, Meldolesi J (2015) Ectosomes and exosomes: shedding the confusion between extracellular vesicles. Trends Cell Biol 25:364–372. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.tcb.2015.01.004
- Cui X, He Z, Liang Z et al (2017) Exosomes from adiposederived mesenchymal stem cells protect the myocardium against ischemia/reperfusion injury through Wnt/β-catenin signaling pathway. J Cardiovasc Pharmacol 70:225–231. https://doi.org/10.1097/FJC. 0000000000000507
- Deng S, Zhou X, Ge Z et al (2019) Exosomes from adipose-derived mesenchymal stem cells ameliorate cardiac damage after myocardial infarction by activating S1P/SK1/S1PR1 signaling and promoting macrophage M2 polarization. Int J Biochem Cell Biol 114:105564. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocel.2019. 105564

- Dinescu S, Galateanu B, Albu M et al (2013) Sericin enhances the bioperformance of collagen-based matrices preseeded with human-adipose derived stem cells (hADSCs). Int J Mol Sci 14:1870–1889. https://doi. org/10.3390/ijms14011870
- Dinescu S, Hermenean A, Costache M (2018) Human adipose-derived stem cells for tissue engineering approaches: current challenges and perspectives. In: Stem cells in clinical practice and tissue engineering. InTech
- Domenis R, Cifù A, Quaglia S et al (2018) Pro inflammatory stimuli enhance the immunosuppressive functions of adipose mesenchymal stem cells-derived exosomes. Sci Rep 8:13325. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-31707-9
- Dong L, Li R, Li D et al (2019) FGF10 enhances peripheral nerve regeneration via the preactivation of the PI3K/Akt signaling-mediated antioxidant response. Front Pharmacol 10. https://doi.org/10.3389/fphar. 2019.01224
- Doyle L, Wang M (2019) Overview of extracellular vesicles, their origin, composition, purpose, and methods for exosome isolation and analysis. Cell 8:727. https://doi.org/10.3390/cells8070727
- Du L, Li G, Yang Y et al (2018) Exosomes from microRNA-199-3p-modified adipose-derived stem cells promote proliferation and migration of endothelial tip cells by downregulation of semaphorin 3A. Int J Clin Exp Pathol 11:4879–4888
- El Bassit G, Patel RS, Carter G et al (2017) MALAT1 in human adipose stem cells modulates survival and alternative splicing of PKC8II in HT22 cells. Endocrinology 158:183–195. https://doi.org/10.1210/en.2016-1819
- Fang Y, Zhang Y, Zhou J, Cao K (2019) Adipose-derived mesenchymal stem cell exosomes: a novel pathway for tissues repair. Cell Tissue Bank 20:153–161. https:// doi.org/10.1007/s10561-019-09761-y
- Feng N, Jia Y, Huang X (2019) Exosomes from adiposederived stem cells alleviate neural injury caused by microglia activation via suppressing NF-kB and MAPK pathway. J Neuroimmunol 334:576996. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jneuroim.2019.576996
- Fortunato O, Gasparini P, Boeri M, Sozzi G (2019) Exo-miRNAs as a new tool for liquid biopsy in lung cancer. Cancers (Basel) 11:888. https://doi.org/10. 3390/cancers11060888
- Fröhlich D, Kuo WP, Frühbeis C et al (2014) Multifaceted effects of oligodendroglial exosomes on neurons: impact on neuronal firing rate, signal transduction and gene regulation. Philos Trans R Soc B Biol Sci 369:20130510. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2013.0510
- Galateanu B, Dinescu S, Cimpean A et al (2012) Modulation of adipogenic conditions for prospective use of hADSCs in adipose tissue engineering. Int J Mol Sci 13:15881–15900. https://doi.org/10.3390/ ijms131215881
- Gao F, Zuo B, Wang Y et al (2020) Protective function of exosomes from adipose tissue-derived mesenchymal

stem cells in acute kidney injury through SIRT1 pathway. Life Sci 255:117719. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. lfs.2020.117719

- Gentile P, Garcovich S (2019) Concise review: adiposederived stem cells (ASCs) and adipocyte-secreted exosomal microRNA (A-SE-miR) modulate cancer growth and proMote wound repair. J Clin Med 8:855. https://doi.org/10.3390/jcm8060855
- Gentile P, Piccinno M, Calabrese C (2019) Characteristics and potentiality of human adipose-derived stem cells (hASCs) obtained from enzymatic digestion of fat graft. Cell 8:282. https://doi.org/10.3390/cells8030282
- Gimble JM, Katz AJ, Bunnell BA (2007) Adipose-derived stem cells for regenerative medicine. Circ Res 100:1249–1260. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.RES. 0000265074.83288.09
- Gong Y-Y, Peng M-Y, Yin D-Q, Yang Y-F (2018) Long non-coding RNA H19 promotes the osteogenic differentiation of rat ectomesenchymal stem cells via Wnt/β-catenin signaling pathway. Eur Rev Med Pharmacol Sci 22:8805–8813. https://doi.org/10. 26355/eurrev_201812_16648
- Gonzalez-Rey E, Gonzalez MA, Varela N et al (2010) Human adipose-derived mesenchymal stem cells reduce inflammatory and T cell responses and induce regulatory T cells *in vitro* in rheumatoid arthritis. Ann Rheum Dis 69:241–248. https://doi.org/10.1136/ard. 2008.101881
- Gurunathan S, Kang M-H, Jeyaraj M et al (2019) Review of the isolation, characterization, biological function, and multifarious therapeutic approaches of exosomes. Cell 8:307. https://doi.org/10.3390/cells8040307
- Han C, Sun X, Liu L et al (2016) Exosomes and their therapeutic potentials of stem cells. Stem Cells Int 2016:1–11. https://doi.org/10.1155/2016/7653489
- Han Y, Ren J, Bai Y et al (2019) Exosomes from hypoxiatreated human adipose-derived mesenchymal stem cells enhance angiogenesis through VEGF/VEGF-R. Int J Biochem Cell Biol 109:59–68. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.biocel.2019.01.017
- Hassanshahi A, Hassanshahi M, Khabbazi S et al (2019) Adipose-derived stem cells for wound healing. J Cell Physiol 234:7903–7914. https://doi.org/10.1002/jcp. 27922
- He L, Zhu C, Jia J et al (2020) ADSC-Exos containing MALAT1 promotes wound healing by targeting miR-124 through activating Wnt/β-catenin pathway. Biosci Rep 40. https://doi.org/10.1042/ BSR20192549
- Henne WM, Buchkovich NJ, Emr SD (2011) The ESCRT pathway. Dev Cell 21:77–91. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. devcel.2011.05.015
- Heo JS, Choi Y, Kim HO (2019) Adipose-derived mesenchymal stem cells promote M2 macrophage phenotype through exosomes. Stem Cells Int 2019:1–10. https:// doi.org/10.1155/2019/7921760
- Hers I, Vincent EE, Tavaré JM (2011) Akt signalling in health and disease. Cell Signal 23:1515–1527. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.cellsig.2011.05.004
- Hong P, Yang H, Wu Y et al (2019) The functions and clinical application potential of exosomes derived from

adipose mesenchymal stem cells: a comprehensive review. Stem Cell Res Ther 10:242. https://doi.org/ 10.1186/s13287-019-1358-y

- Hristov M, Erl W, Linder S, Weber PC (2004) Apoptotic bodies from endothelial cells enhance the number and initiate the differentiation of human endothelial progenitor cells *in vitro*. Blood 104:2761–2766. https:// doi.org/10.1182/blood-2003-10-3614
- Hsiao ST-F, Asgari A, Lokmic Z et al (2012) Comparative analysis of paracrine factor expression in human adult mesenchymal stem cells derived from bone marrow, adipose, and dermal tissue. Stem Cells Dev 21:2189–2203. https://doi.org/10.1089/scd.2011.0674
- Hu L, Wang J, Zhou X et al (2016) Exosomes derived from human adipose mensenchymal stem cells accelerates cutaneous wound healing via optimizing the characteristics of fibroblasts. Sci Rep 6:32993. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep32993
- Huang B, Lu J, Ding C et al (2018) Exosomes derived from human adipose mesenchymal stem cells improve ovary function of premature ovarian insufficiency by targeting SMAD. Stem Cell Res Ther 9:216. https:// doi.org/10.1186/s13287-018-0953-7
- Hurley JH (2015) ESCRTs are everywhere. EMBO J 34:2398–2407. https://doi.org/10.15252/embj. 201592484
- Hutchison ER, Kawamoto EM, Taub DD et al (2013) Evidence for miR-181 involvement in neuroinflammatory responses of astrocytes. Glia 61:1018–1028. https://doi.org/10.1002/glia.22483
- Jaimes Y, Naaldijk Y, Wenk K et al (2017) Mesenchymal stem cell-derived microvesicles modulate lipopolysaccharides-induced inflammatory responses to microglia cells. Stem Cells 35:812–823. https://doi. org/10.1002/stem.2541
- Janas AM, Sapoń K, Janas T et al (2016) Exosomes and other extracellular vesicles in neural cells and neurodegenerative diseases. Biochim Biophys Acta Biomembr 1858:1139–1151. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbamem. 2016.02.011
- Kalluri R, LeBleu VS (2020) The biology, function, and biomedical applications of exosomes. Science 80(367): eaau6977. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aau6977
- Keshtkar S, Azarpira N, Ghahremani MH (2018) Mesenchymal stem cell-derived extracellular vesicles: novel frontiers in regenerative medicine. Stem Cell Res Ther 9:63. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13287-018-0791-7
- Khan M, Nickoloff E, Abramova T et al (2015) Embryonic stem cell-derived exosomes promote endogenous repair mechanisms and enhance cardiac function following myocardial infarction. Circ Res 117:52–64. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.117.305990
- Lambrou GI, Remboutsika E (2014) Proliferation versus regeneration: the good, the bad and the ugly. Front Physiol 5. https://doi.org/10.3389/fphys.2014. 00010
- Li X, Liu L, Yang J et al (2016) Exosome derived from human umbilical cord Mesenchymal stem cell mediates MiR-181c attenuating burn-induced excessive inflammation. EBioMedicine 8:72–82. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.ebiom.2016.04.030

- Li P, Guo X (2018) A review: therapeutic potential of adipose-derived stem cells in cutaneous wound healing and regeneration. Stem Cell Res Ther 9:302. https:// doi.org/10.1186/s13287-018-1044-5
- Li W, Liu Y, Zhang P et al (2018a) Tissue-engineered bone immobilized with human adipose stem cellsderived exosomes promotes bone regeneration. ACS Appl Mater Interfaces 10:5240–5254. https://doi.org/ 10.1021/acsami.7b17620
- Li X, Xie X, Lian W et al (2018b) Exosomes from adipose-derived stem cells overexpressing Nrf2 accelerate cutaneous wound healing by promoting vascularization in a diabetic foot ulcer rat model. Exp Mol Med 50:29. https://doi.org/10.1038/s12276-018-0058-5
- Li K, Wu Y, Yang H et al (2019) H19/miR-30a/C8orf4 axis modulates the adipogenic differentiation process in human adipose tissue-derived mesenchymal stem cells. J Cell Physiol 234:20925–20934. https://doi. org/10.1002/jcp.28697
- Liang X, Zhang L, Wang S et al (2016) Exosomes secreted by mesenchymal stem cells promote endothelial cell angiogenesis by transferring miR-125a. J Cell Sci 129:2182–2189. https://doi.org/10.1242/jcs.170373
- Lin C-S, Lin G, Lue TF (2012) Allogeneic and xenogeneic transplantation of adipose-derived stem cells in Immunocompetent recipients without Immunosuppressants. Stem Cells Dev 21:2770–2778. https://doi.org/10. 1089/scd.2012.0176
- Lin R, Wang S, Zhao RC (2013) Exosomes from human adipose-derived mesenchymal stem cells promote migration through Wnt signaling pathway in a breast cancer cell model. Mol Cell Biochem 383:13–20. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11010-013-1746-z
- Lin K-C, Yip H-K, Shao P-L et al (2016) Combination of adipose-derived mesenchymal stem cells (ADMSC) and ADMSC-derived exosomes for protecting kidney from acute ischemia–reperfusion injury. Int J Cardiol 216:173–185. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijcard.2016.04. 061
- Liu Y, Lin L, Zou R et al (2018) MSC-derived exosomes promote proliferation and inhibit apoptosis of chondrocytes via lncRNA-KLF3-AS1/miR-206/GIT1 axis in osteoarthritis. Cell Cycle 17:2411–2422. https:// doi.org/10.1080/15384101.2018.1526603
- Liu Z, Xu Y, Wan Y et al (2019) Exosomes from adiposederived mesenchymal stem cells prevent cardiomyocyte apoptosis induced by oxidative stress. Cell Death Discov 5:79. https://doi.org/10.1038/ s41420-019-0159-5
- Liu C, Yin G, Sun Y et al (2020) Effect of exosomes from adipose-derived stem cells on the apoptosis of Schwann cells in peripheral nerve injury. CNS Neurosci Ther 26:189–196. https://doi.org/10.1111/ cns.13187
- Locke M, Windsor J, Dunbar PR (2009) Human adiposederived stem cells: isolation, characterization and applications in surgery. ANZ J Surg 79:235–244. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1445-2197.2009.04852.x

- Lu Z, Chen Y, Dunstan C et al (2017) Priming adipose stem cells with tumor necrosis factor-alpha preconditioning potentiates their exosome efficacy for bone regeneration. Tissue Eng Part A 23:1212–1220. https://doi.org/10.1089/ten.tea.2016.0548
- Luo Q, Guo D, Liu G et al (2017) Exosomes from MiR-126-overexpressing Adscs are therapeutic in relieving acute myocardial Ischaemic injury. Cell Physiol Biochem 44:2105–2116. https://doi.org/10. 1159/000485949
- Lv Q, Deng J, Chen Y et al (2020) Engineered human adipose stem-cell-derived exosomes loaded with miR-21-5p to promote diabetic cutaneous wound healing. Mol Pharm 17:1723–1733. https://doi.org/10. 1021/acs.molpharmaceut.0c00177
- Ma T, Fu B, Yang X et al (2019) Adipose mesenchymal stem cell-derived exosomes promote cell proliferation, migration, and inhibit cell apoptosis via Wnt/β-catenin signaling in cutaneous wound healing. J Cell Biochem 120:10847–10854. https://doi.org/10.1002/jcb.28376
- MacDonald BT, Tamai K, He X (2009) Wnt/β-catenin signaling: components, mechanisms, and diseases. Dev Cell 17:9–26. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.devcel. 2009.06.016
- Majidinia M, Aghazadeh J, Jahanban-Esfahlani R, Yousefi B (2018) The roles of Wnt/β-catenin pathway in tissue development and regenerative medicine. J Cell Physiol 233:5598–5612. https://doi.org/10.1002/jcp.26265
- Maqsood M, Kang M, Wu X et al (2020) Adult mesenchymal stem cells and their exosomes: sources, characteristics, and application in regenerative medicine. Life Sci 256:118002. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. lfs.2020.118002
- Mazini L, Rochette L, Amine M, Malka G (2019) Regenerative capacity of adipose derived stem cells (ADSCs), comparison with mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs). Int J Mol Sci 20:2523. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms20102523
- McCubrey JA, Steelman LS, Chappell WH et al (2007) Roles of the Raf/MEK/ERK pathway in cell growth, malignant transformation and drug resistance. Biochim Biophys Acta, Mol Cell Res 1773:1263–1284. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.bbamcr.2006.10.001
- McIntosh K, Zvonic S, Garrett S et al (2006) The immunogenicity of human adipose-derived cells: temporal changes *In vitro*. Stem Cells 24:1246–1253. https://doi. org/10.1634/stemcells.2005-0235
- Minteer D, Marra KG, Rubin JP (2012) Adipose-derived mesenchymal stem cells: biology and potential applications, pp 59–71
- Mokarizadeh A, Delirezh N, Morshedi A et al (2012) Microvesicles derived from mesenchymal stem cells: potent organelles for induction of tolerogenic signaling. Immunol Lett 147:47–54. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.imlet.2012.06.001
- Murphy MB, Moncivais K, Caplan AI (2013) Mesenchymal stem cells: environmentally responsive therapeutics for regenerative medicine. Exp Mol Med 45:e54– e54. https://doi.org/10.1038/emm.2013.94

- Ni J, Li H, Zhou Y et al (2018) Therapeutic potential of human adipose-derived stem cell exosomes in stress urinary incontinence – an *in vitro* and *in vivo* study. Cell Physiol Biochem 48:1710–1722. https://doi.org/ 10.1159/000492298
- Nojima H, Freeman CM, Schuster RM et al (2016a) Hepatocyte exosomes mediate liver repair and regeneration via sphingosine-1-phosphate. J Hepatol 64:60–68. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhep.2015.07.030
- Nojima H, Konishi T, Freeman CM et al (2016b) Chemokine receptors, CXCR1 and CXCR2, differentially regulate exosome release in hepatocytes. PLoS One 11:e0161443. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone. 0161443
- Park RJ, Hong YJ, Wu Y et al (2018) Exosomes as a communication tool between the lymphatic system and bladder cancer. Int Neurourol J 22:220–224. https://doi.org/10.5213/inj.1836186.093
- Patel NA, Moss LD, Lee J-Y et al (2018) Long noncoding RNA MALAT1 in exosomes drives regenerative function and modulates inflammation-linked networks following traumatic brain injury. J Neuroinflammation 15:204. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12974-018-1240-3
- Qi X, Zhang J, Yuan H et al (2016) Exosomes secreted by human-induced pluripotent stem cell-derived mesenchymal stem cells repair critical-sized bone defects through enhanced angiogenesis and osteogenesis in osteoporotic rats. Int J Biol Sci 12:836–849. https:// doi.org/10.7150/ijbs.14809
- Qiu H, Liu S, Wu K et al (2020) Prospective application of exosomes derived from adipose-derived stem cells in skin wound healing: a review. J Cosmet Dermatol 19:574–581. https://doi.org/10.1111/jocd.13215
- Raiborg C, Stenmark H (2009) The ESCRT machinery in endosomal sorting of ubiquitylated membrane proteins. Nature 458:445–452. https://doi.org/10. 1038/nature07961
- Raposo G, Stoorvogel W (2013) Extracellular vesicles: exosomes, microvesicles, and friends. J Cell Biol 200:373–383. https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.201211138
- Reinke JM, Sorg H (2012) Wound repair and regeneration. Eur Surg Res 49:35–43. https://doi.org/10.1159/ 000339613
- Ren S, Chen J, Duscher D et al (2019) Microvesicles from human adipose stem cells promote wound healing by optimizing cellular functions via AKT and ERK signaling pathways. Stem Cell Res Ther 10:47. https:// doi.org/10.1186/s13287-019-1152-x
- Reza AMMT, Choi Y-J, Yasuda H, Kim J-H (2016) Human adipose mesenchymal stem cell-derived exosomal-miRNAs are critical factors for inducing anti-proliferation signalling to A2780 and SKOV-3 ovarian cancer cells. Sci Rep 6:38498. https://doi.org/ 10.1038/srep38498
- Reza-Zaldivar EE, Hernández-Sapiéns MA, Minjarez B et al (2018) Potential effects of MSC-derived exosomes in neuroplasticity in Alzheimer's disease. Front Cell Neurosci:12. https://doi.org/10.3389/fncel. 2018.00317

- Rouwkema J, Khademhosseini A (2016) Vascularization and angiogenesis in tissue engineering: beyond creating static networks. Trends Biotechnol 34:733–745. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tibtech.2016.03.002
- Schmidt O, Teis D (2012) The ESCRT machinery. Curr Biol 22:R116–R120. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub. 2012.01.028
- Seo Y, Kim H-S, Hong I-S (2019) Stem cell-derived extracellular vesicles as immunomodulatory therapeutics. Stem Cells Int 2019:1–10. https://doi.org/10.1155/ 2019/5126156
- Shen T, Zheng Q, Luo H et al (2020) Exosomal miR-19a from adipose-derived stem cells suppresses differentiation of corneal keratocytes into myofibroblasts. Aging (Albany NY) 12:4093–4110. https://doi.org/10.18632/ aging.102802
- Shi J (2016) Considering exosomal miR-21 as a biomarker for cancer. J Clin Med 5:42. https://doi.org/10.3390/ jcm5040042
- Shi X, Wang J, Lei Y et al (2019) Research progress on the PI3K/AKT signaling pathway in gynecological cancer (review). Mol Med Rep. https://doi.org/10.3892/mmr. 2019.10121
- Shiah S-G, Shieh Y-S, Chang J-Y (2016) The role of Wnt signaling in squamous cell carcinoma. J Dent Res 95:129–134. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 0022034515613507
- Shin K-O, Ha DH, Kim JO et al (2020) Exosomes from human adipose tissue-derived mesenchymal stem cells promote epidermal barrier repair by inducing de novo synthesis of ceramides in atopic dermatitis. Cell 9:680. https://doi.org/10.3390/cells9030680
- Shingyochi Y, Orbay H, Mizuno H (2015) Adiposederived stem cells for wound repair and regeneration. Expert Opin Biol Ther 15:1285–1292. https://doi.org/ 10.1517/14712598.2015.1053867
- Shukla L, Yuan Y, Shayan R et al (2020) Fat therapeutics: the clinical capacity of adipose-derived stem cells and exosomes for human disease and tissue regeneration. Front Pharmacol 11:158. https://doi.org/10.3389/ fphar.2020.00158
- Si Z, Wang X, Sun C et al (2019) Adipose-derived stem cells: sources, potency, and implications for regenerative therapies. Biomed Pharmacother 114:108765. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopha.2019.108765
- Storti G, Scioli MG, Kim B-S et al (2019) Adipose-derived stem cells in bone tissue engineering: useful tools with new applications. Stem Cells Int 2019:1–18. https:// doi.org/10.1155/2019/3673857
- Suman S, Domingues A, Ratajczak J, Ratajczak MZ (2019) Potential clinical applications of stem cells in regenerative medicine, pp 1–22
- Sun Z, Jin H, Zhou H et al (2019) Guhong injection promotes fracture healing by activating Wnt/betacatenin signaling pathway *in vivo* and *in vitro*. Biomed Pharmacother 120:109436. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. biopha.2019.109436
- Tan SHS, Wong JRY, Sim SJY et al (2020) Mesenchymal stem cell exosomes in bone regenerative strategies—a

systematic review of preclinical studies. Mater Today Bio 7:100067. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mtbio.2020. 100067

- Taylor DD, Gercel-Taylor C (2008) MicroRNA signatures of tumor-derived exosomes as diagnostic biomarkers of ovarian cancer. Gynecol Oncol 110:13–21. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.ygyno.2008.04.033
- Ti D, Hao H, Tong C et al (2015) LPS-preconditioned mesenchymal stromal cells modify macrophage polarization for resolution of chronic inflammation via exosome-shuttled let-7b. J Transl Med 13:308. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12967-015-0642-6
- Ti D, Hao H, Fu X, Han W (2016) Mesenchymal stem cells-derived exosomal microRNAs contribute to wound inflammation. Sci China Life Sci 59:1305–1312. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11427-016-0240-4
- Vakhshiteh F, Atyabi F, Ostad SN (2019) Mesenchymal stem cell exosomes: a two-edged sword in cancer therapy. Int J Nanomed 14:2847–2859. https://doi.org/10. 2147/IJN.S200036
- Van Giau V, An SSA (2016) Emergence of exosomal miRNAs as a diagnostic biomarker for Alzheimer's disease. J Neurol Sci 360:141–152. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.jns.2015.12.005
- Wang Z, Brandt S, Medeiros A et al (2015) MicroRNA 21 is a homeostatic regulator of macrophage polarization and prevents prostaglandin E2-mediated M2 generation. PLoS One 10:e0115855. https://doi.org/10. 1371/journal.pone.0115855
- Wang L, Hu L, Zhou X et al (2017) Exosomes secreted by human adipose mesenchymal stem cells promote scarless cutaneous repair by regulating extracellular matrix remodelling. Sci Rep 7:13321. https://doi.org/10.1038/ s41598-017-12919-x
- Wang X, Wang H, Cao J, Ye C (2018) Exosomes from adipose-derived stem cells promotes VEGF-C-dependent lymphangiogenesis by regulating miRNA-132/ TGF-β pathway. Cell Physiol Biochem 49:160–171. https://doi.org/10.1159/000492851
- Whiteside TL (2018) The emerging role of plasma exosomes in diagnosis, prognosis and therapies of patients with cancer. Contemp Oncol (Poznan, Poland) 22:38–40. https://doi.org/10.5114/wo.2018.73882
- Wong DE, Banyard DA, Santos PJF et al (2019) Adiposederived stem cell extracellular vesicles: a systematic review. J Plast Reconstr Aesthet Surg 72:1207–1218. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bjps.2019.03.008
- Wu P, Zhang B, Shi H et al (2018) MSC-exosome: a novel cell-free therapy for cutaneous regeneration. Cytotherapy 20:291–301. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jcyt.2017.11.002
- Xu F, Xiang Q, Huang J et al (2019) Exosomal miR-423-5p mediates the proangiogenic activity of human adipose-derived stem cells by targeting Sufu. Stem Cell Res Ther 10:106. https://doi.org/10.1186/ s13287-019-1196-y
- Xue C, Shen Y, Li X et al (2018) Exosomes derived from hypoxia-treated human adipose mesenchymal stem cells enhance angiogenesis through the PKA signaling

pathway. Stem Cells Dev 27:456–465. https://doi.org/ 10.1089/scd.2017.0296

- Yañez R, Lamana ML, García-Castro J et al (2006) Adipose tissue-derived mesenchymal stem cells have *In vivo* immunosuppressive properties applicable for the control of the graft-versus-host disease. Stem Cells 24:2582– 2591. https://doi.org/10.1634/stemcells.2006-0228
- Yang Y, Cai Y, Zhang Y et al (2018) Exosomes secreted by adipose-derived stem cells contribute to angiogenesis of brain microvascular endothelial cells following oxygen–glucose deprivation *In vitro* through MicroRNA-181b/TRPM7 Axis. J Mol Neurosci 65:74–83. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12031-018-1071-9
- Yang C, Luo L, Bai X et al (2020) Highly-expressed micoRNA-21 in adipose derived stem cell exosomes can enhance the migration and proliferation of the HaCaT cells by increasing the MMP-9 expression through the PI3K/AKT pathway. Arch Biochem Biophys 681:108259. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.abb. 2020.108259
- Yu B, Shao H, Su C et al (2016) Exosomes derived from MSCs ameliorate retinal laser injury partially by inhibition of MCP-1. Sci Rep 6:34562. https://doi.org/10. 1038/srep34562
- Zappia E, Casazza S, Pedemonte E et al (2005) Mesenchymal stem cells ameliorate experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis inducing T-cell anergy. Blood 106:1755–1761. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2005-04-1496
- Zhang B, Yin Y, Lai RC et al (2014) Mesenchymal stem cells secrete immunologically active exosomes. Stem Cells Dev 23:1233–1244. https://doi.org/10.1089/scd. 2013.0479
- Zhang J, Liu X, Li H et al (2016) Exosomes/tricalcium phosphate combination scaffolds can enhance bone regeneration by activating the PI3K/Akt signaling pathway. Stem Cell Res Ther 7:136. https://doi.org/ 10.1186/s13287-016-0391-3
- Zhang Y, Yu M, Dai M et al (2017) miR-450a-5p within rat adipose tissue exosome-*like* vesicles promotes adipogenic differentiation by targeting WISP2. J Cell Sci 197764. https://doi.org/10.1242/jcs.197764
- Zhang J, Yi Y, Yang S et al (2018a) Effects of adiposederived stem cell released exosomes on proliferation, migration, and tube-*like* differentiation of human umbilical vein endothelial cells. Zhongguo Xiu Fu Chong Jian Wai Ke Za Zhi 32:1351–1357. https:// doi.org/10.7507/1002-1892.201804016
- Zhang S, Chuah SJ, Lai RC et al (2018b) MSC exosomes mediate cartilage repair by enhancing proliferation, attenuating apoptosis and modulating immune reactivity. Biomaterials 156:16–27. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. biomaterials.2017.11.028
- Zhang W, Bai X, Zhao B et al (2018c) Cell-free therapy based on adipose tissue stem cell-derived exosomes promotes wound healing via the PI3K/Akt signaling pathway. Exp Cell Res 370:333–342. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.yexcr.2018.06.035
- Zhang Y, Liu Y, Liu H, Tang WH (2019) Exosomes: biogenesis, biologic function and clinical potential.

Cell Biosci 9:19. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13578-019-0282-2

- Zhang Y, Han F, Gu L et al (2020) Adipose mesenchymal stem cell exosomes promote wound healing through accelerated keratinocyte migration and proliferation by activating the AKT/HIF-1α axis. J Mol Histol 51:375–383. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10735-020-09887-4
- Zhao H, Shang Q, Pan Z et al (2018) Exosomes from adipose-derived stem cells attenuate adipose inflammation and obesity through polarizing M2 macrophages and beiging in white adipose tissue. Diabetes 67:235–247. https://doi.org/10.2337/db17-0356
- Zhao L, Jin Y, Donahue K et al (2019) Tissue repair in the mouse liver following acute carbon tetrachloride depends on injury-induced Wnt/β-catenin signaling. Hepatology hep.30563. https://doi.org/10.1002/hep. 30563
- Zhao C, Chen J, Peng W et al (2020) Exosomes from adipose-derived stem cells promote chondrogenesis and suppress inflammation by upregulating miR-145 and miR-221. Mol Med Rep. https://doi.org/10.3892/ mmr.2020.10982

- Zhong H, Wu H, Bai H et al (2019) Panax notoginseng saponins promote liver regeneration through activation of the PI3K/AKT/mTOR cell proliferation pathway and upregulation of the AKT/Bad cell survival pathway in mice. BMC Complement Altern Med 19:122. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12906-019-2536-2
- Zhou Y, Xu H, Xu W et al (2013) Exosomes released by human umbilical cord mesenchymal stem cells protect against cisplatin-induced renal oxidative stress and apoptosis *in vivo* and *in vitro*. Stem Cell Res Ther 4:34. https://doi.org/10.1186/scrt194
- Zhou M, Weber SR, Zhao Y et al (2020) Methods for exosome isolation and characterization. In: Exosomes. Elsevier, pp 23–38
- Zhu F, Chong Lee Shin OLS, Pei G et al (2017) Adiposederived mesenchymal stem cells employed exosomes to attenuate AKI-CKD transition through tubular epithelial cell dependent Sox9 activation. Oncotarget 8:70707– 70726. https://doi.org/10.18632/oncotarget.19979
- Zlotogorski-Hurvitz A, Dayan D, Chaushu G et al (2015) Human Saliva-derived exosomes. J Histochem Cytochem 63:181–189. https://doi.org/10.1369/ 0022155414564219



A Museum of Stem Cells Points to Muse Cells as Robust Transplantable Cells for Stroke: Review

You Jeong Park, Jeffrey Farooq, Justin Cho, Blaise Cozene, Bella Gonzales-Portillo, Nadia Sadanandan, Madeline Saft, Jea Young Lee, and Cesar V. Borlongan

Abstract

Stem cell-based therapy stands as a robust experimental treatment for ischemic stroke. Stem cells derived from fetal, embryonic, and adult tissues serve as potential sources for transplantable cells in the setting of ischemic stroke. However, the search continues for finding an optimal cell line for clinical use. Muse cells, a distinct subset of mesenchymal stem cells found sporadically in the connective tissue of nearly every organ, may be a suitable candidate due to its safety and accessibility. These cells have been investigated for therapeutic usage in chronic kidney disease, liver disease, acute myocardial infarction, and stroke. Muse cells display the ability to engraft and differentiate into the host neural network unlike many other cell lines which only display bystander immunomodulating effects. Taking advantage of this unique engraftment and differentiation mechanism behind Muse cells' therapeutic effects on the central nervous system, as well as other organ systems, will

Y. J. Park, J. Farooq, J. Cho, B. Cozene, B. Gonzales-Portillo, N. Sadanandan, M. Saft, J. Y. Lee,

and C. V. Borlongan (🖂)

Department of Neurosurgery and Brain Repair, University of South Florida Morsani College of Medicine, Tampa, FL, USA

e-mail: cborlong@usf.edu

undoubtedly advance the cells' utility for cell-based regenerative medicine in stroke.

Keywords

Stem cells · Stroke · Transplantation · Regenerative medicine · Brain repair

1 Introduction

Stroke is currently the fifth leading cause of death in the United States and can cause disabling neurological deficits including cognitive impairment, hemiparesis, sensory disturbance, and aphasia (Ovbiagele et al. 2013). Ischemic stroke comprises 87% of all stroke cases and is characterized by inadequate perfusion to vital organs like the brain, leading to oxygen and nutrient deprivation and eventually cell death (Benjamin et al. 2019; Sacco et al. 2013). The ischemic cascade following stroke is divided into three phases. The acute phase occurs within the first few hours after the ischemic event. Blood flow, ATP, and energy stores in the affected brain tissue plummet, causing ionic disruption and metabolic failure. The ensuing ionic imbalance and neurotransmitter release (glutamate excitotoxicity) promotes an excess influx of sodium and calcium into the cell. Increased intracellular calcium activates downstream phospholipases and proteases that degrade integral membrane components and proteins, while the surplus of sodium leads to cellular swelling (Lo et al. 2003). In addition, the production of oxygen free radicals and other reactive oxygen species during the acute phase causes further damage and cell death (Hao et al. 2014; Lakhan et al. 2009). The subacute phase occurs after the acute phase and lasts for the first few days after the ischemic event. During this phase, injured cerebral tissue releases cytokines, chemokines, cellular adhesion molecules (CAMs), and matrix metalloproteases (MMPs) (Lo et al. 2003; Stonesifer et al. 2017). The release of MMPs and immune cell modulators increases the permeability of the blood-brain barrier (BBB), allowing peripheral leukocytes to infiltrate and upregulate the inflammatory process (Hao et al. 2014; Stonesifer et al. 2017). However, neuroinflammation is a selfregulated process and eventually subsides to prepare for structural and functional reorganization (Iadecola and Anrather 2011). Thus, in the transition from the subacute to the chronic phase, inflammation resolves and tissue repair begins, but such endogenous regenerative process is not sufficient to confer functional recovery in stroke patients. Although the mechanism behind the reestablishment of homeostasis is still poorly understood, evidence suggests that it is orchestrated by mediators that suppress the inflammatory response. Major steps include the removal of dead cells and the introduction of exogenous treatments designed to deliver anti-inflammatory and pro-survival factors that promote tissue reconstruction and repair (Iadecola and Anrather 2011; Nathan and Ding 2010).

The complex regulation of the ischemic cascade changes the neural, vascular, and connective tissues in the affected areas of the brain (Krause et al. 2019). These changes and subsequent neurological deficits can persist long after the stroke itself and prevent patients from fully reintegrating into society. With the country's aging population, the number of yearly cases is expected to increase. Projects indicate that 3.88% of the US population over the age of 18 will have a stroke by 2030 and the total annual stroke-related costs are expected to reach \$240.67 billion (Ovbiagele et al. 2013). There are only two approved acute treatment options currently available – tissue plasminogen activator (tPA) and endovascular thrombectomy – despite the American Heath Association and American Stroke Associations' emphasis on implementing effective acute and chronic stroke care. Unfortunately, their use is limited by short therapeutic time windows and risks of additional damage. Although rehabilitation is an option for chronic stroke care, functional recovery remains modest. With the central nervous system's (CNS) limited capability to recover after injury, treatments to regenerate neural cells is an unmet need.

In 1988, Sharp et al. described the first successful cell transplant in animal models of ischemic brain injury using rat fetal neocortical cells (Mampalam et al. 1988). Studies that followed illustrated the ability of the grafted cells to integrate with the injured host brain and receive afferent fibers and vascularization (Grabowski et al. 1992a, b). Since these discoveries, the fields of stem-cell therapy and regenerative medicine have amounted impressive preclinical evidence of stem cell transplantation's restorative effects on disorders of the CNS including ischemic stroke (Lindvall and Kokaia 2006; Song et al. 2018). However, evidence for the donor cells' survival, differentiation, and functional integration in the host brain have repeatedly failed to translate in human clinical trials (Kondziolka et al. 2000, 2005; Savitz et al. 2005). As the search continues for cell source targeted for ischemic brain injury, it is important to keep in mind that the degree of repair depends primarily on the selection of appropriate cell types for transplantation. Embryonic stem cells (ES) and adult tissuederived stem cells have unique characteristics that determine their specific responses to stroke. The following sections provide a concise overview of different stem cell types and their potential value in targeted stroke therapy.

2 Identifying the Optimal Cell Type for Stem Cell Transplantation

2.1 Embryonic Stem Cells

ES cells are derived from the embryonic inner cell mass (ICM) prior to the 5th day of development post-fertilization. These pluripotent cells can replicate indefinitely and differentiate into any cell type in the body. ES are isolated from the surrounding embryo by fine-needle aspiration, laser dissection, or by growing the ICM on the surface of feeder cells (Lee and Lee 2011). After purifying the cell-isolate, ES cells can be grown and maintained *in vitro* until they are ready for transplantation. In the context of targeted stroke therapy, ES develop into neuronal progenitor cells to assist in repairing damaged neurons and brain tissues. In addition, they promote angiogenesis, release neurotrophic factors such as erythropoietin, and upregulate neuroprotective factors such as BcL-2 (Liu et al. 2014). However, ethical concerns surrounding the destruction of embryos and high risk of tumorigenicity severely limit the use of ES cells in clinical applications (Stonesifer et al. 2017).

After implantation of the embryo on the 5th day of development, the ES cells of the ICM begin to permanently differentiate into more specialized cells and are no longer pluripotent. These new, more differentiated stem cells are multipotent and still have a strong capacity to self-renew but can only give rise to cells of one lineage. The ES cells eventually disappear completely, and the 'adult' multipotent stem cells are responsible for maintaining adult tissues. There are several key adult-tissue derived stem cells that may be beneficial in the post-stroke care of patients. Neural stem cells (NSCs) directly differentiate into the various neuronal cell types to expedite recovery (Zhao and Moore 2018). Induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSCs) are a recently discovered source of autologous ES-like cells. Extraembryonic, adipose, and dental-derived stem cells also improve stroke outcomes. Next, we will discuss bone-marrow derived stem cells, in particular mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs). Finally, we focus on Multilineage-differentiating stress enduring (Muse) cells which are primarily derived from bone marrow, but subsequently harvested in other tissues, such as adipose and umbilical cord.

2.2 Neural Stem Cells

NSCs form the entire central nervous system (CNS) by differentiating into neurons, astrocytes,

and oligodendrocytes (Okano and Temple 2009). However, many NSCs terminally differentiate once neural development is complete, leaving only a small population in the subventricular zone (SVZ) and subgranular zone (SGZ) (Kempermann et al. 2015). The markedly reduced quantity of these stem cells limits the brain's ability to renew itself after injury. Harvesting techniques using needle-aspiration or biopsy are dangerous, and while newer techniques such as magnetic isolation may be safer, they are still constrained by the scarcity of NSCs. Nevertheless, NSCs remain a prime candidate for stroketherapy because hypoxia and injury stimulate these cells to migrate from the SVZ and SGZ to damaged tissue where they promote angiogenesis, neurogenesis, and secretion of various neuroprotective factors (Santilli et al. 2010; Zhang et al. 2014). These effects are most pronounced if NSC transplantation is autologous and administered within 72 h of insult (Chen et al. 2016). However, maintaining a premade store of autologous NSCs is impractical given the difficulty of obtaining these cells.

2.3 Induced Pluripotent Stem Cells

Unlike the other stem cell types, iPSCs are not normally present throughout development. Cellular differentiation is naturally a unidirectional process; however, scientific advancements have allowed researchers to reverse cell development such that stem cells can be artificially generated from terminally differentiated somatic cells like fibroblasts and blood cells. Exposing the cell to specialized genes and signals reprograms adult cells to become embryonic-like iPSCs capable of asymmetric division. The major advantage to using iPSCs is that adult cells can be easily harvested from any tissue source, converted into stem cells, then induced to become nearly any other type of cell, including T-regulatory cells, microglia, and other neural cell types. Like traditional stem cells, iPSCs reduce infarct size and modulate the immune system to create more suitable environments for recovery (Zents and Copray 2016). Despite the numerous benefits of iPSCs, their value is offset by two major flaws. First, although autologous in nature, they may

still be rejected by the host (Zhao et al. 2011). Second, iPSCs have the highest tumorigenicity of any of the studied stem cell types (Liang et al. 2013).

2.4 Other Sources of Adult Stem Cells

Bone marrow, adipose and extraembryonic tissues (e.g., umbilical cord, placenta) are two sources of mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs). Adipose tissue is a type of loose connective tissue composed primarily of adipocytes. Adipose tissue-derived mesenchymal stem cells (AD-MSCs) are acquired by enzymatically digesting fat samples obtained from fat suctioning or excision. Transplantation with AD-MSCs improves neurological recovery, decreases the size of the infarct, and reduces inflammation (Gutiérrez-Fernández et al. 2013). Furthermore, treatment is very accessible due to the high prevalence of adipose tissue and the ability to administer treatment intravascularly with encouraging results (Gutiérrez-Fernández et al. 2013). However, treatment with AD-MSCs is diminished by its' propensity to cause cancer cells to rapidly proliferate (Eterno et al. 2014).

While adipose tissue is plentiful, extraembryonic tissues like the umbilical cord and placenta are not. The umbilical cord arises from the placenta during gestation and together these organs connect the circulatory systems of the mother and fetus. As they are both shed after delivery, stem cells can be easily harvested from them (Gutiérrez-Fernández et al. 2013; Shinozuka et al. 2013). Tissue injury induces extraembryonic tissuederived MSCs to inhibit immune cell migration, increase angiogenesis and neurogenesis, and potentially preserve neuroplasticity (Shinozuka et al. 2013). Despite the promising potential for neurological repair, extraembryonic stem cell use is constrained by the availability of placentas or umbilical cords to harvest cells from (Stonesifer et al. 2017).

Other sources of adult-tissue derived stem cells include breastmilk, menstrual blood, and dental tissue. Preliminary stroke models have shown that breast milk and menstrual bloodderived stem cells may also have beneficial effects, but few studies have investigated this thoroughly enough to warrant their consideration as a transplantation source (Stonesifer et al. 2017). Similarly, dental tissue-derived stem cells have been shown to preserve neurological function post-stroke, but their utility is minimized by the higher availability of other tissue sources with comparable outcomes (Stonesifer et al. 2017).

2.5 Bone Marrow-Derived Stem Cells

Because of its long track record of safety as graft source for hematologic diseases, the bone marrow has been extensively studied for stem cell therapy in stroke. Bone-marrow is a highly active spongy tissue that produces billions of new cells each day (Higgins 2015). There are four key multipotent cells that accomplish this extraordinary feat: hematopoietic stem cells (HSCs), endothelial stem cells (ESCs), very small embryonic-like stem cells (VSELs), and MSCs. This diversity in cell type makes bone-marrow an attractive target for stem cell harvesting. Typically, marrow is extracted from the iliac crest of anesthetized patients using needle-aspiration and is cryopreserved until it is ready for purification (Gorin 2019). These cells can then be isolated and transplanted into stroke patients, with each stem cell type having different effects. We will briefly consider HSCs, ESCs, and VSELs before discussing MSCs in detail.

HSCs develop into all the different types of blood cells in the body. In response to stroke and hypoxia, they preferentially differentiate through the myeloid lineage, which may be important in resolving the hypoxic environment (Felfly et al. 2010). The beneficial effects of HSC are limited by its tendency to promote inflammation, thereby delaying and possibly diminishing recovery (Kasahara et al. 2016).

EPCs are a potentially valuable transplant source due to their ability to repair the bloodbrain barrier and brain vasculature, which are often compromised during or prior to the onset of stroke (Stonesifer et al. 2017). Damage to the blood-brain barrier allows inflammatory cells from the systemic circulation to migrate into the site of injury, leading to inflammation and even more damage. The strong angiogenic properties not only result in increased vessel density and reduced quantity of apoptotic cells, but also provide mild anti-inflammatory effects by limiting inappropriate immune cell access to the brain (Chen et al. 2008). Nevertheless, the usefulness of EPCs is limited by the difficulty in producing purified cell cultures.

VSELs are present in both the brain tissue and the blood in low quantities. They have excellent potential for stroke treatment due to their ability to differentiate into neurons, microglia, and oligodendrocytes (Hsiao et al. 2014). However, like EPCs, they are very difficult to harvest in clinically relevant numbers.

2.6 Mesenchymal Stem Cells

MSCs were originally isolated from bone marrow but have been harvested from multiple tissues including the umbilical cord, amniotic fluid, placenta, and adipose tissue (Friedenstein et al. 1966; McElreavey et al. 1991; Zuk et al. 2002). MSCs have been found to have a high potential for regeneration while maintaining multipotency. These cells exhibit plastic adherence, have the ability to self-renew, and exhibit a specific set of cell surface markers, such as cluster of differentiation (CD)73, CD90, and CD105, while lacking expression of CD14, CD34, CD45, and human leukocyte antigen-DR (HLA-DR) (Mushahary et al. 2018). MSCs have the ability to differentiate into mesodermal cells such as adipocytes, chondrocytes, myocytes, and osteocytes (Ullah et al. 2015). MSCs express various growth factors that are proven to facilitate tissue repair and maintain homeostasis within the immune system (Ma et al. 2014). MSCs therapeutic potential allows for the treatment of chronic diseases including Parkinson's disease, Alzheimer disease, and Type 1 diabetes because of their ability to secrete anti-inflammatory molecules and immunoregulatory effects (Ullah et al. 2015).

MSCs can interact with cells of the innate and adaptive immune system to control effector functions (Li and Hua 2017). The mechanism of MSCs involves the migration to injured tissues through specific target pathways where they inhibit the release of pro-inflammatory cytokines and help promote the survival and growth of the damaged cells.

MSCs have been used *in vitro* to expand the cells and differentiate into specific cell lineages. Cultured MSCs have been shown to modulate immune responses and reroute the progression of inflammatory diseases (Ma et al. 2014). As tissue injuries correspond with inflammation, MSCs can effectively mobilize to damaged tissue sites. Their mechanism of action involves modulating inflammatory processes and releasing growth factors to facilitate tissue repair (Ma et al. 2014). MSCs contain immunomodulatory features and secrete cytokines and immune receptors to maintain homeostasis and regulate the environment in the host tissue. Their multilineage potential and secretion of antiinflammatory molecules make MSCs an effective treatment for chronic diseases (Ullah et al. 2015). When MSCs migrated to the site of damaged tissue, cytokines, toxins of infectious agents, and hypoxia allow for the release of growth factors that promote the development of fibroblasts, endothelial cells, and tissue progenitor cells which carry out tissue regeneration and repair (Ma et al. 2014). MSCs are useful for treatment of chronic diseases due to their functions in inflammatory niches but also immunomodulatory properties. The immunosuppressive functions of MSCs are triggered by the environment of the cells and allows for the release of inflammatory factors.

The therapeutic effects of MSCs allow for the cells to work in action with immune cells, stromal cells, and endothelial cells to promote tissue repair. In vitro, MSCs have the ability to differentiate into all the three lineages: ectoderm, meso-derm, and endoderm and act as a potential source for stem cell therapy for ischemic stroke (Ullah et al. 2015) (Kondziolka et al. 2005). The ability of MSCs to differentiate into several different types of tissues and expansive properties allows

them to be used in stem cell-based therapies. (Mushahary et al. 2018) The use of MSCs to protect against ischemia/reperfusion, however, is influenced by the culture conditions that influence function and depends on how the MSCs are administered and expanded in vitro (Ma et al. 2014). In studies of ischemic stroke, MSCs are able to modulate an immune response and act neuroprotective, through stimulation of neurogenesis, oligodendrogenesis, astrogenesis, and angiogenesis (Dabrowska et al. 2019). MSCs derived from bone marrow are commonly used due to the secretion of neurotropic factors which help to stimulate cerebral repair processes. The use of MSCs demonstrates the ability to promote cell survival and modulate the immune response, however, in vivo studies indicate that MSCs do not functionally replace the injured cells and do not serve as a promising stem cell therapy to regenerate the injured neurons after an ischemic stroke.

2.7 Multilineage-Differentiating Stress Enduring (Muse) Cells

Reported in 2010 by Kuroda et al., Multilineagedifferentiating stress enduring (Muse) cells are a subset of endogenous regenerative MSCs that reside in the peripheral blood and connective tissue of nearly all organs (Wakao et al. 2018). They are also found in mesenchymal tissues but are hypothesized to originate in the bone marrow where they make up $\sim 0.03\%$ of the mononucleated cell fraction (Tanaka et al. 2018). These cells possess the ability to self-renew, exhibit triploblastic differentiation, and regenerate a plethora of tissues when administered topically or intravenously. A small concentration is also present in peripheral blood, 0.01-0.2% of the mononucleated cell fraction, however this number may increase during injury or disease due to activation via stress (Tanaka et al. 2018; Wakao et al. 2014). Muse cells may be isolated and distinguished using the marker SSEA-3 (Wakao et al. 2011). Muse cells also reside in extraembryonic tissues such as the umbilical cord making them distinct from other somatic cells (Leng et al. 2019). Muse cells' unique regenerative capacities could provide a feasible treatment for many diseases.

When compared to MSC's, Muse cells have demonstrated the potential to fully engraft into the site of injury and replenish dead or ischemic tissue in vivo (Kuroda et al. 2018; Hu and Longaker 2017; Minatoguchi et al. 2018; Nishina et al. 2018; Uchida et al. 2018). In terms of ischemic stroke, MSC's have shown the ability to regenerate damaged tissue in vitro, however in vivo models have not indicated a full incorporation into area of infarct (Ikegame et al. 2011). Although attenuation of post-stroke inflammation was visible in vivo, it is plausible that this is due to stimulation of MSC secretome inducing endogenous paracrine-mediated brain regeneration pathways (Dabrowska et al. 2019; Leong et al. 2012; Ishizaka et al. 2013; Doeppner et al. 2015). Muse cells have demonstrated paracrine characteristics alike those of MSC's as well as the ability to travel and reside at injured sites (Tanaka et al. 2018). The regenerative capacities of Muse cells may provide a more beneficial cellbased therapy to treat ischemic stroke and other diseases when compared to MSC's, however further investigation is necessary.

The pluripotency exhibited by Muse cells allows for Muse-cell based therapy to treat a wide range of diseases such as myocardial infarct (MI), stroke, chronic kidney disease, liver disease, chronic skin wounds, and soft tissue defects (Kuroda et al. 2018; Hu and Longaker 2017; Minatoguchi et al. 2018; Nishina et al. 2018; Uchida et al. 2018). These cells are non-tumorigenic and exhibit low telomerase activity making them a great candidate for cellbased therapy (Tanaka et al. 2018). Many of these diseases do not have a standard treatment besides end-stage transplantation, and a regenerative cellbased therapy may be a possible avenue to treat these diseases.

Endogenous Muse cells have shown to play an important role in the acute phase of MI. Acute Myocardial Infarct (AMI) patients with a higher concentration of endogenous Muse cells in the peripheral blood have shown greater progress in cardiac remodeling, cardiomyocyte regeneration, and cardiac function during chronic phase. Upon intravenous administration of exogenous allogenic Muse cells, AMI rabbit model exhibited a significant decrease in myocardial infarct size, a 6-month cardiac remodeling phase, and improved cardiac function over a long period of time without immunosuppressant treatment (Uchida et al. 2017). Muse-cell based therapy could also potentially be beneficial in treating patients suffering from an acute myocardial infarct (Minatoguchi et al. 2018). In a recent murine stroke model, cultured human bone marrow-derived Muse cells were administered to 2 weeks post-lacunar infarction. Transplantation during the subacute phase resulted in differentiation into neurons and oligodendrocytes, promoted neuronal reconstruction and improved overall brain function (Minatoguchi et al. 2018). Muse cells have demonstrated positive results both in vitro and in vivo to treat chronic liver disease (Ogura et al. 2014). Cell-based therapies using bone-marrow derived stem cells and peripheral blood-derived stem cells did not display efficacy in clinical trials when treating chronic liver disease (Ogura et al. 2014). Muse cells derived from human bone marrow were intravenously administered to immunodeficient mice with liver fibrosis. Spontaneous differentiation of the Muse cells into tissue compatible cells was exhibited as well as homing at the site of injury in the liver (Ogura et al. 2014). Chronic kidney disease may also utilize a Muse cell-based therapy (Uchida et al. 2018). There are many underlying causes of renal dysfunction and a cell-based therapy is needed as alternative to dialysis and transplantation. A rodent model of chronic kidney disease indicated differentiation at the site of injury of intravenously administered Muse cells into glomerular cells as well as improvement in renal function (Uchida et al. 2018). Chronic wounds and soft tissue defects have shown favorable improvement when treated with exogenous Muse cells. Research has shown that through differentiation of Muse cells into fibroblasts, keratinocytes and melanocytes, Muse cells may be an avenue of therapy for skin reconstruction (Hu and Longaker 2017). Muse cells exhibit regenerative characteristics that make them a potential candidate as a cell-based therapy for many diseases. The non-tumorigenic, pluripotent and regenerative abilities of these cells warrant their potential as therapy.

The ability of Muse cells to regenerate tissues have been exhibited in the brain, kidneys, liver, heart, and skin (Kuroda et al. 2018; Hu and Longaker 2017; Minatoguchi et al. 2018; Nishina et al. 2018; Uchida et al. 2018). Exogenous and endogenous Muse cells migrate to the injury through the peripheral blood, and home to the damaged host tissue site through the sphingosine-1-phosphate (S1P)-S1P receptor 2 (S1PR2) system (Yamada et al. 2018). Muse cells are able to survive the harsh environment at the target site due to their high stress tolerance (Alessio et al. 2018). Muse cells also possess immunomodulatory abilities allowing them to evade host immune cells at the injury site. Muse cells integrate into the site of injury and spontaneously differentiate into tissue compatible cells. In addition to differentiation at the site of injury, Muse cells were also found to exhibit paracrine characteristics through secretion of therapeutic factors such as hepatocyte growth factor, stem cell-derived factor 1, and epidermal growth factor that promoted functional recovery in tissue injuries (Tanaka et al. 2018). In the case of an ischemic stroke rodent model, 2---3 months after Muse cell transplantation the Muse cells had formed synapses with host neurons as well as integrated axons into the pyramidal tract (Uchida et al. 2016). Both of these findings resulted in improved motor function and somatosensory evoked potential. Findings indicate that Muse cells could potentially be used as a regenerative stem cell therapy for many diseases however further elucidation is necessary.

3 Preclinical Studies on Muse Cells

There have been several recent *in vitro* and *in vivo* studies exploring the efficacy of Muse cells in treating ischemic injury (Leng et al. 2019; Uchida et al. 2017; Yamada et al. 2018; Alessio et al. 2018). Preclinical studies showed that Muse cells migrate to the site of injury, incorporate

into peri-infarct tissue, and differentiate spontaneously into cells that are congruous with injured tissue (Leng et al. 2019). In addition, Muse cells derived from adipose tissue have been shown to have anti-inflammatory activities, decreasing the secretion of cytokines, such as interferon- γ , which indicates their potential efficacy in ameliorating post-ischemic neuroinflammation (Uchida et al. 2016). When comparing Muse cells to non-Muse cells (cells other than Muse cells in MSCs), Muse cells differentiate into neurons and oligodendrocytes, remain integrated in the peri-infarct while non-Muse cells release therapeutic factors but do not replace ischemic cells (Dezawa et al. 2019). However, before the clinical application of Muse cells can be considered, the optimal timing, dosage, and means of delivery need to be further investigated.

In order to establish the optimal timing for Muse cell stroke therapy, preclinical trials investigating the differential effects of acute, subacute, and chronic delivery need to be examined. In a recent study, human fibroblast-derived Muse cells were transplanted stereotaxically into three regions near the ischemic cortex 2 days after the middle cerebral artery occlusion (MCAO). The Muse cells remained in the rat's brain for 84 days. Substantial amelioration in neurological and motor performance was observed after more than 84 days (Alessio et al. 2018). Another study found that immunodeficient MCAO rat models showed recovery 35 days after acute transplantation of Muse cells (Dezawa et al. 2019). In an immunodeficient lacunar infarction mouse model. human bone marrow-derived Muse cells were transplanted into the site of the peri-lesion at the subacute stage of lacunar infarction (Uchida et al. 2017). At 56 days post transplantation, the Muse cells differentiated into NeuN, MAP 2 expressing neurons and GST-pi expressing oligodendrocytes, and the mice with the Muse cell transplantation showed substantial improvement in neurological function (Uchida et al. 2017). The cylinder test in a different study fetal porcine cells found that neurological and motor recovery were not significantly different between immunodeficient lacunar mice given either subacute treatment or chronic treatment (Abe et al. 2020). Moreover, the recovery time for ischemic animal models varies between acute and subacute treatment but may not differ between subacute and chronic delivery (Abe et al. 2020). While delivering Muse cells in the acute phase is ideal, delivery during subacute or chronic phases may still confer benefits.

Additionally, preclinical studies have investigated the efficacy of various does for Muse cell ischemic stroke treatment. Multilineage-differentiating stress-enduring cellbased product (CL2020) was injected through the cervical vein in an immunodeficient mouse lacunar model. CL2020 was administered in three different doses: high dose (5 \times 10⁴ cells/body), medium dose (1 \times 10⁴ cells/body) low dose (5 \times 10³ cells/ body) at both the subacute phase and chronic phase. As seen in the cylinder test, the mice that were given the high dose demonstrated the greatest neurological and motor function improvement in both the subacute and chronic group when compared to the vehicle. For the mice which were given the high dose, their rehabilitation lasted up to 22 weeks (Abe et al. 2020). In another study, comparing the effects of Muse cells and non-Muse cells, a dosage 2.5×10^4 cells/body was used. The results indicated that the Muse cells improved neurological function of MCAO mice, as observed 35 days after transplantation (Dezawa et al. 2019). Furthermore, preclinical studies suggest that higher doses of Muse cell treatment are more effective in alleviating stroke-induced injury, bringing these cells closer to clinical application.

Before moving to clinical trials, the least invasive mode of delivery for Muse cell treatment must be established. Preclinical trials have examined intravenous injection as possible means of delivery for Muse cells (Dabrowska et al. 2019). The reparative properties of Muse cells through intravenous injection can be observed in a variety of tissues, such as the brain, liver, and skin (Leng et al. 2019). In the study that intravenously administered CL2020 to lacunar mice through the cervical vein, neurological and motor recovery was observed. When the human cells were depleted by the intraperitoneal injection of diphtheria toxin, the recovery was abolished, indicating that intravenous administration may be a viable, non-invasive method to deliver the cells (Abe et al. 2020).

Although the preclinical trials involving Muse cells are promising, there are some limitations. Allogeneic Muse cells can stay in the host brain as differentiated neuronal tissue for longer than 6 months (Dezawa et al. 2019). However, before moving to clinical trials, a long-term engraftment system, where donor cells continue to integrate themselves into the host's nervous tissue must be engendered. Preclinical studies have demonstrated encouraging results regarding the efficacy of Muse cells in treating ischemic stroke models.

4 Clinical Studies on Muse Cells

Treatment of neuronal cells through stem cell transplantation evidently enhance the motor and cognitive recovery in rodent stroke models (Kondziolka et al. 2000). However, the same significant improvement was not seen in clinical trials (Kondziolka et al. 2000, 2005; Savitz et al. 2005). Savitz et al. (2005) conducted a clinical trial to observe the effects of fetal porcine neural cell transplantation. A burr hole was created during the surgical process to implant the fetal cells at the infarct site in the basal ganglia (Savitz et al. 2005). In preclinial studies, the specific cell transplantation was deemed safe in animal models for basal ganglia infarcts (Savitz et al. 2005). In the clinical trial, some patients did not display adverse effects while some improved in speech and motor functions over long periods of time (Savitz et al. 2005). Other patients, however, temporarily experienced motor deficits weeks after transplantation (Savitz et al. 2005). One patient specifically developed seizure a week after treatment, and the study was terminated by the FDA (Savitz et al. 2005). Some studies have suggested that stem cells are doing more harm than good. Amariglio et al. (2009) first reports a human brain tumor after the 13-year-old patient with Ataxia Telangiectasia (AT) underwent fetal neural stem cell therapy. Although the patient was healthy after the treatment, a small tumor was discovered adjacent to the site 4 years later (Amariglio et al. 2009). Through cytogenetic and molecular examinations, the tumor was concluded to have originated outside the body, suggesting that the tumor was derived from the transplantation (Amariglio et al. 2009). Incidents mentioned above raises concern for the safety of patients receiving cell therapy. With inconsistent results in clinical trials, a new method of approach should be developed for cell therapy to improve the safety and efficacy of the treatment.

Compared to other stem cells, MSC is the most suitable type of stem cell for neural cell therapy for ischemic stroke patients. One study examined the safety and efficiency of MSC treatment in nonacute ischemic strokes (Valeria Battistella et al. 2011). In the study, patients received the maximal amount of MSC (5 \times 10⁸ cells) during the clinical trial, but no adverse events were reported for 180 days after transplantation (Valeria Battistella et al. 2011). Even with large amounts of stem cells were introduced to stroke patients, the intervention did not cause detrimental effects to their health. This finding ensures the safety of nonacute stroke patients when undergoing this method of treatment. Additionally, long-term studies have demonstrated no significant side effects in patients treated with MSC (Jin Soo Lee et al. 2010). Patients treated with MSC did not develop malignant tumors and no significant structural change was observed after a year of treatment (Jin Soo Lee et al. 2010). Studies investigating cell therapy with MSC have consistently provided no evidence regarding health concerns or consequences. Due to its safety and accessibility, MSCs are a favorable source for cell therapy. However, some MSC studies are concerned about the lack of evidence of the stem cell's efficiency.

Recent clinical trials have been conducted using Muse cells (CL2020) in Japan, further highlighting its safety and efficiency in ischemic strokes. Japanese studies consist of treatments for neonatal hypoxic ischemic encephalopathy, myocardial infarction, ischemic stroke, spinal cord injury, and epidermolysis bullosa (JapicCTI-183834, J.I. 2020; JapicCTI-184103, J.I. 2018; JapicCTI-184563, J.I. 2018; JapicCTI-194841, J.I. 2019; JapicCTI-195067, J.I. 2019). All clinical trials administered patients with allogenic CL2020 through intravenous infusion. Immunosuppression was not necessary during the clinical trials because of the HLA-G expression in human Muse cells. This molecule allows the stem cells to function in the target site without the living body and its immune system reacting (Shohei Wakao et al. 2014). Muse cell's unique ability to develop into various types of cells and tissues allows it to target and repair damaged sites in vivo (Shohei Wakao et al. 2014). During clinical treatments for spinal cord, epidermolysis bullosa, and ischemic stroke, no significant evidence suggested that the intervention was detrimental or ineffective for patients with the mentioned conditions. Clinical studies for the three health conditions deemed CL2020 to be safe and efficient, further supporting the notion to utilize MSC and Muse cells for stem cell therapy (JapicCTI-184103, J.I. 2018; JapicCTI-184563, J.I. 2018; JapicCTI-194841, J.I. 2019). Muse cell therapy has also been explored for neonatal hypoxic ischemic encephalopathy patients (jRCT2043190112, J.I. 2020).

Muse cells can be directly administered to their unique patients because of antiinflammatory and anti-immune mechanisms (Dezawa 2018; Young 2018). This mechanism prevents the body from rejecting the stem cell, avoiding the need to genetically manipulate the Muse cells for acceptance (Dezawa 2018). Additionally, unlike embryonic stem cells (ES) and induced pluripotent stem cells (iPS), Muse cells do not need to be administered to the target site directly (Dezawa 2018). Instead, Muse cells can be administered through intravenous injections, removing the need for surgical operations (Dezawa 2018). Due to these advantages, Muse cells bring new light to stem cell therapy. Further research and clinical studies should be conducted to investigate the efficiency and reliability of Muse cells in ischemic stroke.

5 Summary

Ischemic stroke, caused by areas of the brain being deprived of oxygen and nutrients, lead to neurological damages and cognitive impairments (Benjamin et al. 2019; Sacco et al. 2013). The affected areas acutely experience ionic disruptions and metabolic failures due to lack of sufficient blood flow, ATP, and energy. Chronically, the release of free radical oxygen species and inflammation cause additional damage and cell death within the affected regions of the brain (Hao et al. 2014; Lakhan et al. 2009). Unfortunately, tPA and endovascular thrombectomy are the only approved treatments for acute stroke and their use is limited by the narrow effective time window and risk for additional damage. Rehabilitation helps chronic management and stroke care but is does treat the loss of function. An intervention that could regenerate neural cells and restore lost function of the brain would be a valuable addition in our toolkit to treat stroke.

Stem cell therapy offers a potential solution, and preclinical studies have highlighted the regenerative abilities of donor stem cells to neural tissue (Lindvall and Kokaia 2006; Song et al. 2018; Kondziolka et al. 2000). However, ethical and logistical concerns limit the use of stem cells in regenerative medicine. For example, the extraction of ES involves the destruction of human embryos (Bernard and Parham 2009). iPSC, despite its impressive ability to become any cell type, is infamous for having the highest tumorigenicity, where cultured cells give rise to tumors over time (Liang et al. 2013). These issues bring controversy to stem cell research, hindering the advancement of stem cell therapy. Compared to previously mentioned stem cells, adult stem cells, such as MSCs, are more suitable for stem cell therapy. No ethical issues regarding their procurement is present because MSCs are harvested from the placenta, bone marrow, and umbilical cord (Shinozuka et al. 2013). Additionally, MSCs evidently possess the same proliferative ability as iPSC while also being safe to use (Valeria Battistella et al. 2011). However, MSCs possess their own limitations. Studies have shown the variability and heterogeneity of MSC when the stem cell is extracted from different donors and tissue source, making it difficult for different research groups to compare methods and results (Mohamed-Ahmed et al. 2018). To circumvent this and previous limitations, Muse cells, a distinct subset of MSCs, are favored in cell therapy for ischemic stroke. Preclinical studies have investigated the efficiency of Muse cells. Studies have highlighted the mobility and anti-inflammatory activities of Muse cells (Leng et al. 2019; Uchida et al. 2016). Unlike non-Muse MSCs, Muse cells are able to differentiate into neurons, replace ischemic cells, and remain integrated (Dezawa et al. 2019). Clinical trials have commenced to investigate the safety and efficiency of Muse cells. Muse cells were administered through intravenous injections, removing the need for surgical operations (Dezawa 2018). This was possible due to Muse cell's ability to identify and repair damaged neural sites. Additionally, Muse cells were not genetically modified and no signs of rejection were observed in ischemic stroke patients because of the stem cells' anti-inflammatory mechanism (JapicCTI-184103, J.I. 2018). The evidence generated from preclinical and clinical studies makes Muse cells the most suitable candidate for cell therapy in ischemic stroke due to its safety, accessibility, and efficiency. Further clinical studies should be conducted to determine the consistency of Muse cells.

References

- Abe T, Aburakawa D, Niizuma K et al (2020) Intravenously transplanted human multilineagedifferentiating stress-enduring cells afford brain repair in a mouse lacunar stroke model. Stroke 51 (2):601–611
- Alessio N, Squillaro T, Özcan S et al (2018) Stress and stem cells: adult muse cells tolerate extensive genotoxic stimuli better than mesenchymal stromal cells. Oncotarget 9(27):19328–19341
- Amariglio N, Hirshberg A, Scheithauer BW, Cohen Y, Loewenthal R, Trakhtenbrot L, Paz N, Koren-Michowitz M, Waldman D, Leider-Trejo L, Toren A, Constantini S, Rechavi G (2009) Donor-derived brain tumor following neural stem cell transplantation in an ataxia telangiectasia patient. PLoS Med 6(2)
- Benjamin EJ et al (2019) Heart disease and stroke statistics—2019 update: a report from the American Heart Association. Circulation 139(10):e56–e528
- Bernard L, Parham L (2009) Ethical issues in stem cell research. Endocr Rev 30(3):10
- Chen ZZ et al (2008) Beneficial effect of autologous transplantation of bone marrow stromal cells and endothelial progenitor cells on cerebral ischemia in rabbits. Neurosci Lett 445(1)

- Chen S et al (2016) Differentiation of isolated human umbilical cord mesenchymal stem cells into neural stem cells. Int J Ophthalmol 9(1):41–47
- Dabrowska S et al (2019) Neuroinflammation as a target for treatment of stroke using mesenchymal stem cells and extracellular vesicles. J Neuroinflammation 16 (1):178
- Dezawa M (2018) Clinical trials of muse cells. Muse Cells 1103:3
- Dezawa M, Niizuma K, Tominaga T (2019) Actualization of neural regenerative medicine by intravenous drip of donor-derived muse cells. Brain Nerve 71(8):895–900
- Doeppner TR et al (2015) Extracellular vesicles improve post-stroke neuroregeneration and prevent postischemic immunosuppression. Stem Cells Transl Med 4(10):1131–1143
- Eterno V et al (2014) Adipose-derived mesenchymal stem cells (ASCs) may favour breast cancer recurrence via HGF/c-met signaling. Oncotarget 5(3):613–633
- Felfly H et al (2010) Hematopoietic stem cell transplantation protects mice from lethal stroke. Exp Neurol 225(2)
- Friedenstein AJ, Piatetzky S II, Petrakova KV (1966) Osteogenesis in transplants of bone marrow cells. J Embryol Exp Morphol 16(3):381–390
- Gorin NC (2019) Bone marrow harvesting for HSCT. In: The EBMT handbook. Springer
- Grabowski M, Brundin P, Johansson BB (1992a) Fetal neocortical grafts implanted in adult hypertensive rats with cortical infarcts following a middle cerebral artery occlusion: ingrowth of afferent fibers from the host brain. Exp Neurol 116(2):105–121
- Grabowski M et al (1992b) Vascularization of fetal neocortical grafts implanted in brain infarcts in spontaneously hypertensive rats. Neuroscience 51(3):673–682
- Gutiérrez-Fernández M et al (2013) Adipose tissuederived stem cells in stroke treatment: from bench to bedside. Discov Med 16(86):37–43
- Hao L et al (2014) Stem cell-based therapies for ischemic stroke. Biomed Res Int 2014:468748
- Higgins JM (2015) Red blood cell population dynamics. Clin Lab Med 35(1):43–57
- Hsiao HH et al (2014) Acute cerebral infarct with elevated factor VIII level during the thrombocytopenic stage after hematopoietic stem cell transplant. Exp Clin Transplant 12(2):171–172
- Hu MS, Longaker MT (2017) A MUSE for skin regeneration. J Invest Dermatol 137(12):2471–2472
- Iadecola C, Anrather J (2011) The immunology of stroke: from mechanisms to translation. Nat Med 17 (7):796–808
- Ikegame Y et al (2011) Comparison of mesenchymal stem cells from adipose tissue and bone marrow for ischemic stroke therapy. Cytotherapy 13(6):675–685
- Ishizaka S et al (2013) Intra-arterial cell transplantation provides timing-dependent cell distribution and functional recovery after stroke. Stroke 44(3):720–726
- JapicCTI-183834, J.I (2020) Exploratory study of CL2020 in patients with ST-elevation acute myocardial infarction

- JapicCTI-184103, J.I (2018) A randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled clinical study of CL2020 in ischemic stroke patient
- JapicCTI-184563, J.I (2018) A clinical study of CL2020 in patients with epidermolysis bullosa
- JapicCTI-194841, J.I (2019) A clinical study of CL2020 in patients with spinal cord injury
- JapicCTI-195067, J.I (2019) A confirmatory study of CL2020 in patients with ST-elevation myocardial infarction
- Jin Soo Lee JMH, Moon GJ, Lee PH, Ahn YH, Bang OY, STARTING Collaborators (2010) A long-term followup study of intravenous autologous mesenchymal stem cell transplantation in patients with ischemic stroke. Stem Cells 28(6):8
- jRCT2043190112, J.I (2020) The clinical trial of CL2020 for neonatal hypoxic ischemic encephalopathy
- Kasahara Y et al (2016) Transplantation of hematopoietic stem cells: intra-arterial versus intravenous administration impacts stroke outcomes in a murine model. Transl Res 176:69–80
- Kempermann G, Song H, Gage FH (2015) Neurogenesis in the adult hippocampus. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol 7(9):a018812
- Kondziolka D, Wechsler L, Goldstein S, Meltzer C, Thulborn KR, Gebel J, Jannetta P, DeCesare S, Elder EM, McGrogan M, Reitman MA, Bynum L (2000) Transplantation of cultured human neuronal cells for patients with stroke. Neurology 55(4):5
- Kondziolka D, Steinberg GK, Wechsler L, Meltzer CC, Elder E, Gebel J, Decesare S, Jovin T, Zafonte R, Lebowitz J, Flickinger JC, Tong D, Marks MP, Jamieson C, Luu D, Bell-Stephens T, Teraoka J (2005) Neurotransplantation for patients with subcortical motor stroke: a phase 2 randomized trial. J Neurosurg 103(1):8
- Krause M et al (2019) Cell-based therapies for stroke: are we there yet? Front Neurol 10:656
- Kuroda S et al (2018) Muse cell: a new paradigm for cell therapy and regenerative homeostasis in ischemic stroke. Adv Exp Med Biol 1103:187–198
- Lakhan SE, Kirchgessner A, Hofer M (2009) Inflammatory mechanisms in ischemic stroke: therapeutic approaches. J Transl Med 7:97
- Lee JE, Lee DR (2011) Human embryonic stem cells: derivation, maintenance and cryopreservation. Int J Stem Cells 4(1):9–17
- Leng Z, Sun D, Huang Z et al (2019) Quantitative analysis of SSEA3+ cells from human umbilical cord after magnetic sorting. Cell Transplant 28(7):907–923. 52
- Leong WK et al (2012) Human adult dental pulp stem cells enhance poststroke functional recovery through non-neural replacement mechanisms. Stem Cells Transl Med 1(3):177–187
- Li N, Hua J (2017) Interactions between mesenchymal stem cells and the immune system. Cell Mol Life Sci 74(13):2345–2360
- Liang Y et al (2013) The propensity for tumorigenesis in human induced pluripotent stem cells is related with genomic instability. Chin J Cancer 32(4):205–212

- Lindvall O, Kokaia Z (2006) Stem cells for the treatment of neurological disorders. Nature 441 (7097):1094–1096
- Liu S-J et al (2014) Co-grafting of neural stem cells with olfactory en sheathing cells promotes neuronal restoration in traumatic brain injury with an anti-inflammatory mechanism. J Neuroinflammation 11
- Lo EH, Dalkara T, Moskowitz MA (2003) Mechanisms, challenges and opportunities in stroke. Nat Rev Neurosci 4(5):399–415
- Ma S et al (2014) Immunobiology of mesenchymal stem cells. Cell Death Differ 21(2):216–225
- Mampalam TJ et al (1988) Neuronal changes in fetal cortex transplanted to ischemic adult rat cortex. J Neurosurg 69(6):904–912
- McElreavey KD et al (1991) Isolation, culture and characterisation of fibroblast-like cells derived from the Wharton's jelly portion of human umbilical cord. Biochem Soc Trans 19(1):29S
- Minatoguchi S et al (2018) Acute myocardial infarction, cardioprotection, and muse cells. Adv Exp Med Biol 1103:153–166
- Mohamed-Ahmed S, Fristad I, Lie SA, Suliman S, Mustafa K, Vindenes H et al (2018) Adipose-derived and bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells: a donormatched comparison. Stem Cell Res Ther 9(1)
- Mushahary D et al (2018) Isolation, cultivation, and characterization of human mesenchymal stem cells. Cytometry A 93(1):19–31
- Nathan C, Ding A (2010) Nonresolving inflammation. Cell 140(6):871–882
- Nishina T, Hoshikawa KT, Ueno Y (2018) Current cellbased therapies in the chronic liver diseases. Adv Exp Med Biol 1103:243–253
- Ogura F et al (2014) Human adipose tissue possesses a unique population of pluripotent stem cells with nontumorigenic and low telomerase activities: potential implications in regenerative medicine. Stem Cells Dev 23(7):717–728
- Okano H, Temple S (2009) Cell types to order: temporal specification of CNS stem cells. Curr Opin Neurobiol 19(2):112–119
- Ovbiagele B et al (2013) Forecasting the future of stroke in the United States: a policy statement from the American Heart Association and American Stroke Association. Stroke 44(8):2361–2375
- Sacco RL et al (2013) An updated definition of stroke for the 21st century. Stroke 44(7):2064–2089
- Santilli G et al (2010) Mild hypoxia enhances proliferation and multipotency of human neural stem cells. PLoS One 5(1):e8575
- Savitz SI et al (2005) Neurotransplantation of fetal porcine cells in patients with basal ganglia infarcts: a preliminary safety and feasibility study. Cerebrovas Dis 20(2):7
- Shinozuka K et al (2013) Stem cell transplantation for neuroprotection in stroke. Brain Sci 3(1):239–261
- Shohei Wakao HA, Kushida Y, Dezawa M (2014) Muse cells, newly found non-tumorigenic pluripotent stem cells, reside in human mesenchymal tissues. Pathol Int 64(1):9

- Song CG et al (2018) Stem cells: a promising candidate to treat neurological disorders. Neural Regen Res 13 (7):1294–1304
- Stonesifer C et al (2017) Stem cell therapy for abrogating stroke-induced neuroinflammation and relevant secondary cell death mechanisms. Prog Neurobiol 158:94–131
- Tanaka T, Nishigaki K, Minatoguchi S et al (2018) Mobilized Muse cells after acute myocardial infarction predict cardiac function and remodeling in the chronic phase. Circ J 82(2):561–571
- Uchida H et al (2016) Transplantation of unique subpopulation of fibroblasts, Muse cells, ameliorates experimental stroke possibly via robust neuronal differentiation. Stem Cells 34(1):160–173
- Uchida H et al (2017) Human muse cells reconstruct neuronal circuitry in subacute lacunar stroke model. Stroke 48(2):428–435
- Uchida N, Kumagai N, Kondo Y (2018) Application of muse cell therapy for kidney diseases. Adv Exp Med Biol 1103:199–218
- Ullah I, Subbarao RB, Rho GJ (2015) Human mesenchymal stem cells – current trends and future prospective. Biosci Rep 35(2)
- Valeria Battistella GRdF, da Fonseca LMB, Mercante D, Gutfilen B, Goldenberg RCS, Dias JV, Kasai-Brunswick TH, Wajnberg E, Rosado-de-Castro PH, Alves-Leon SV, Mendez-Otero R, Andre C (2011) Safety of autologous bone marrow mononuclear cell transplantation in patients with nonacute ischemic stroke. Regen Med 6(1):8

- Wakao S et al (2011) Multilineage-differentiating stressenduring (Muse) cells are a primary source of induced pluripotent stem cells in human fibroblasts. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 108(24):9875–9880
- Wakao S et al (2014) Muse cells, newly found non-tumorigenic pluripotent stem cells, reside in human mesenchymal tissues. Pathol Int 64(1):1–9
- Wakao S, Kushida Y, Dezawa M (2018) Basic characteristics of Muse cells. Adv Exp Med Biol 1103:13–41
- Yamada Y et al (2018) S1P-S1PR2 Axis mediates homing of muse cells into damaged heart for long-lasting tissue repair and functional recovery after acute myocardial infarction. Circ Res 122(8):1069–1083
- Young W (2018) Future of Muse cells. Muse Cells 1103:7
- Zents K, Copray S (2016) The therapeutic potential of induced pluripotent stem cells after stroke: evidence from rodent models. Curr Stem Cell Res Ther 11 (2):166–174
- Zhang RL et al (2014) Stroke increases neural stem cells and angiogenesis in the neurogenic niche of the adult mouse. PLoS One 9(12):e113972
- Zhao X, Moore D (2018) Neural stem cells: developmental mechanisms and disease modeling. Cell Tissue Res 371(1):1–6
- Zhao T et al (2011) Immunogenicity of induced pluripotent stem cells. Nature 474(7350):212–215
- Zuk PA et al (2002) Human adipose tissue is a source of multipotent stem cells. Mol Biol Cell 13 (12):4279–4295

Index

A

Abdel Aal, S., 119 Abdelhameed, A., 51–67 Amariglio, N., 173 An, Y., 147 Anti-fibrotic effect, 43–44 Ardeshirylajimi, A., 20–33 Attia, N., 108–123

B

Balahura, R., 139–157 Beltrami, A., 60 Bian, S., 121 Blanpain, C., 61 Bondue, A., 61 Borlongan, C.V., 165–175 Bose, B., 1–15 Brain repair, 166–168 Butler, J., 114

С

Cagavi, E., 76-91 Candini, O., 116 Cao, H., 116 Caplan, A.I., 119 Cardiac diseases, 43, 46, 75, 89-91, 134 Cardiac progenitor cell, 51-67 Cardiac repair, 39-47, 58, 65, 116 Cardiomyocytes, 26, 39-42, 53-58, 60-63, 65-67, 79, 80, 82-85, 89, 91, 110, 121, 122, 170 Cell-based therapy, 20, 31, 101, 111-112, 171 Chatziparasidou, A., 20-33 Chen, B., 117 Chen, J., 113 Chen, J.-J., 117 Chen, L., 60 Chen, Z., 60 Cheung, W.Y., 118 Chimenti, S., 60 Cho, J., 165-175 Choi, E.W., 152 Choi, J.S., 143 Chong, J., 61

Chong, J.J., 60 Chu, Y., 117 Chudickova, M., 119 Clinical trials, 13, 15, 19–33, 41, 42, 45, 58, 62, 64, 89–91, 102–104, 111, 113, 123, 132, 133, 166, 171–174 Coronavirus, 2, 4, 13, 15 Costache, M., 139–157 COVID-19, 2–15, 133 Cozene, B., 165–175 Cui, X., 145 Curtin, C.M., 116 CVD, 40, 46

D

Dahbour, S., 119
Davis, D.R., 60
Diabetes, 2, 21, 23, 26, 32, 66, 81, 87, 97–104, 122, 133, 169
Differentiation, 6, 21, 22, 26–30, 40–45, 55–57, 59, 60, 62, 64–67, 91, 108–110, 112, 116, 120, 122, 123, 132, 133, 142–145, 147–149, 151–157, 166, 167, 170, 171
Dinescu, S., 139–157
Dobranici, A., 139–157
Domenis, R., 150
Dong, H.-J., 111
Doyle, M.J., 60
Drug delivery, 46, 112–116, 118, 134, 135
Dyer, L.A., 61

Е

El-Badri, N., 51–67 Elçin, A.E., 39–47 Elçin, Y.M., 39–47 Elshaboury, S., 51–67 Exosomes, 26, 112, 119–121, 131, 135, 141–157 Extracellular vesicles (EVs), 45–46, 119–121, 131–137, 142

F

Fandel, T.M., 25 Farooq, J., 165–175 Fathi, E., 60
G

Geffner, L., 113 Genead, R., 61 Gene therapy, 115, 117 Ghavamzadeh, A., 114 Gimbel, M., 113 Golchin, A., 20–33 Gonzales-Portillo, B., 165–175 Gonzalez-Fernandez, T., 116 Graft *versus* host disease (GvHD), 45, 102, 119, 121, 123, 133

H

Haga, H., 121 Han, Y., 155 He, L., 146 He, X., 118 Heart embryology, 53 Heart failure, 21, 23, 26, 32, 58, 62, 64, 66, 82, 84, 85, 88, 90, 91, 113, 114 Heldman, A.W., 113 Hibi, H., 113 Hombach, A.A., 117 Hu, L., 121, 156 Human adipose-derived stem cells (hASCs), 141–157 Human embryonic stem cells (hESCs), 20–33, 58 Hutson, M.R., 61

I

Ignat, S., 139–157 Imafuku, A., 131–137 Immune modulation, 44–45, 90, 132 Immunoelectrophysiology, 79, 80, 91 Immunology, 30, 45, 75–91, 114 Induced pluripotent stem cell (iPSCs), 1–15, 20, 26, 27, 30, 32, 40, 42, 58, 63–64, 116, 133, 167–168, 174 Inflammatory diseases, 82, 83, 169 Ionescu, L., 119 Iseri, A.M., 119

J

Jeon, S.Y., 117 Jeong, S.R., 117, 118

K

Kapoor, S., 1–15 Katagiri, W., 119 Kaye, M., 4 Keilhoff, G., 113 Keyte, A., 61 Kidd, S., 118 Kim, S.H., 116 Kim, S.M., 118 Kirby, M.L., 61 Koc, A., 76–91 Kuroda, S., 170

L

Laso-García, F., 121 Laugwitz, K.L., 61 Le, T., 61 Lee, J.Y., 165–175 Lee, S., 111 Li, D., 154 Li, P., 152 Liao, R., 60 Lim, J.Y., 116 Liu, C., 156 Liu, H., 157 Lu, Z., 146 Lung stem cell organoids, 3–4

М

Macular degeneration, 21, 23, 24, 27 Malik, Y.S., 118 Malliaras, K., 60 Manner, J., 61 Mashal, M., 108-123 Mehanna, R.A., 119 Mesenchymal stromal cellMesenchymal stem cells (MSC), 39-47, 58, 64-65, 97-104, 107-123, 132, 141, 143, 168-170 MicroRNA (miRNAs), 56, 65, 114, 148, 150-151, 153, 154, 156 Mizrahi, O., 116 Mohamed, H., 51-67 Moon, H.-H., 117 Morbach, S., 113 Moretti, A., 61 Myocardial infarction (MI), 39, 40, 42-46, 64-66, 76-78, 83-87, 90, 117, 121, 122, 170, 173

N

Nakae, M., 113 Nakajima, M., 118 Neovascularization, 40, 42–43, 46, 150, 155 Niess, H., 117 Nihad, M., 1–15 Niknam, Z., 20–33 Nissan, X., 116 Noiseux, N., 117

0

Oh, H., 61 Orozco, L., 113 Otero, L., 114 Oyama, T., 60 Öztürk, S., 39–47

Р

Paracrine function, 45–47, 123, 146, 147 Park, H.H., 116 Park, Y.J., 165–175 Pfister, O., 60 Pharmacological, 43, 62, 97, 100–101, 103, 132, 137 Pires, A.O., 120 Piri, Z., 116 Premer, C., 119

R

Raisin, S., 117
Ranjbarvan, P., 20–33
Regenerative medicine, 20–22, 31, 32, 42, 46, 47, 108, 110, 114, 117, 123, 131–137, 141, 144, 149, 155, 168, 174
Rejman, J., 118
Ren, J., 147
Respiratory tract infections, 2, 4
Rifai, L., 97–104
Roch, A.M., 119
Rossignoli, F., 117
Rostom, D.M., 121
Rota, M., 60
Ruppert, K.A., 121
Ryu, C.H., 117

S

Sadanandan, N., 165-175 Saft, M., 165-175 Sakr, S., 51-67 Saleh, F.A., 97-104 Sanchez, M.B.H., 121 SARS-CoV2, 1-15 Sato, H., 117, 118 Secretome, 45, 47, 102, 112, 119, 120, 139-157, 170 Selaru, A., 139-157 Seo, S., 118 Shahror, R.A., 117 Shan, X., 119 Sharp, J., 166 Shen, T., 152 Sheyn, D., 116 Shibata, T., 113 Shouman, S., 51-67 Signaling pathways in regeneration, 42, 142-148, 150, 157 Sjoqvist, S., 131-137 Smart, N., 60 Son, S., 116 Srifa, W., 118 Stem cell application, 46 Stem cells, 3, 20, 40, 53, 101, 108, 132, 141, 166 Stroke, 84, 86, 87, 117-119, 133, 155, 165-175

Т

Tani-Matsuhana, S., 61 Tao, S.-C., 121 Tecucianu, R., 139–157 Tissue regeneration, 132, 141–146, 148–157, 169 Tomita, Y., 61 Tompkins, B.A., 113 Trachtenberg, B., 113
Transplantation, 21, 24, 25, 27, 28, 30, 40, 42, 44, 45, 47, 56, 63, 65, 66, 101, 103, 108, 111–114, 116, 120, 123, 152, 160, 166–173
Treatment, 13, 15, 20, 21, 25–28, 32, 40, 42, 43, 46, 62, 65–67, 81, 89–90, 97–104, 112, 113, 122, 132–134, 146, 147, 150, 152–156, 166, 168–170, 172–174
Trembley, M.A., 60
Trudel, S., 117
Tsai, M.-J., 119
U

Uchida, S., 61

v

Vaquero, J., 114 Vega, A., 113 Vonk, L.A., 121

W

Walravens, A.S., 60 Wang, H., 117, 118 Wang, J., 121 Wang, L., 121, 156 Wang, X., 61 Wang, Y., 120 Wang, Z., 151 Wiehe, J.M., 116 Wilson, J.G., 113 Winter, E.M., 60 Wong, A.C., 2 Wu, S.M., 61

Х

Xu, Y., 155

Y

Yamahara, K., 119 Yamanaka, S., 30 Yang, C., 116, 147, 156 Yu, B., 121 Yu, X., 117 Yu, Y., 116

Z

Zaher, A., 51–67 Zhang, S., 152 Zhang, W., 156 Zhao, H., 150 Zhao, L., 117 Zhao, M.-Z., 117, 118 Zheng, L., 118 Zhou, B., 60, 61 Zhou, S.-H., 117 Zhou, Y., 143 Zhu, Y.G., 121 Zurita, M., 114